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Introduction

No country's history is so well documented yet so poorly
understood as that of a former colony. This is particularly true in
the case of Malaya. What normally passes as its history usually
begins with a discussion of the “country” trade between India and
China. The Malayan Peninsula and the Dutch were in the way, and
had to be dealt with, so the story goes. It thus treats the foundation
of Penang in 1786 as the beginning, then quickly moves to the
foundation of Singapore and follows the growth of that settlement,
the increase of its trade, and the gradual penctration of British
influence in the Malay states of the Peninsula.

Tt h the aims, i i and li of the
Europeans are treated as being of primary importance. The
standard histories tell a great deal about what the Europeans were
trying to do; however, the story of what actually happcnad to the
colonized areas is often I More imp
peoples and institutions are treated in a negative fashion. Much of
the history that has been written to date does not exhibit that
necessary awareness of the continuity between the Malay past and
their present situation.

The process of colonization always has a traumatic effect on
the cultural integrity of any society. This is doubly true in the case
of the society's historical traditions.-In the case of Malaya, the very
function of writing history was taken over by the colonizing group.
As a result, the region's past was reworked from an entirely new
viewpoint with much emphasis laid on justification for the colonial
take-over. Despite the commendable job of restoration of ancient
texts and that i in most South: Asian
countries undertook, the general shape of their histories has been found
lacking in numerous arcas. The shortcomings of colonial
hnslormns arc most apparent in their m:aun:nl of the process of

I ion and in the question of ions between the colonial
power and indigenous groups.

xiii
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This study is an attempt to remedy the imbalance. It
accomplishes this firstly by adhering closely to the history of one
Malay dynasty — that of the Temenggongs of Johor. People,
particularly families, were the agents of continuity in the traditional
Malay world, and not places. Secondly, this work pays close
attention to political and economic institutions, because these
culturally conditioned patterns of bringing about order and system
tend to be linked with the people. When change occurs in the
historical environment, the people begin by trying to modify and
adapt their existing institutions in order to survive,

A third measure taken to establish a *“Malay™ viewpoint has
been to base this study, as much as possible, on indigenous
historical materials. Traditional works, such as the Tufhat al-Nafis
and other chronicles, as well as more recent data, especially the
documents of the Johor archives, make it possible to understand
the indigenous perception of events. However, since the available
Malay materials in no way offer a complete narrative, they have
been supplemented by substantial reliance on the standard English
language sources. These include the Straits Settlements Records,
Straits Settlements Factory Records, Colonial Office Records
(CO/273), as well as comtemporary newspapers, books, articles,
and other standard works.

Of particular importance are the Johor Archival records which
make possible a much more d:ﬁnmv: description of the gambier

y and the hip between Sil and
Johor than has hitherto been presented. This study is the first
scholarly attempt to make extensive and systematic use of the
documents in this collection which deal with the Kangchu system.

The study begins with an examination of the Malay/Bugis
entrepot of Riau in order to establish the status of the Malay state
system at the end of the eighteenth century. Following the fall of
Riau in 1784, there was a period of general disorganization and
warfare in the archipelago which i well after the found
of Singapore in 1819.

The history of the dynasty of the Temenggongs of Johor
provides certain threads of continuity through this period of chaos.
The most important representatives of the line were the nineteenth-
century Temenggongs: Abdul Rahman (r. 1806-25), Daing
Ibrahim (r. 1841-62), and Abu Bakar (r. 1862-95). This group of
Malays was closest to the agencics of change. The impact of the
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British was felt first by those Temenggongs who occupied
Singapore together with them. Not only were these chiefs the first
to exhibit the effects of the British influence but they themselves
also had a substantial influence on the manner in which the power
of Singapore was exerted in the surrounding Malay states.

However, the dynasuc conununy that the Temenggongs

is, in itself, insuffi Itisimp to examine not the
hnslory of a state callcd Johor, ora territory called Johor, but of the
political and that ined the Mnlay empire
“below the wind". Both Singapore and Johor shared, in some
respects, the heritage of the Malay maritime empire. Thus, what is
important here is the history of the relationship between Johor and
Singapore and, finally, with the rest of the world.

Temenggong Abdul Rahman was a sea lord, like most of the
major Malay chiefs of his era. Before the founding of Singapore, he
lived at Riau and Bulang and appears to have functioned as an
official of the Riau entrepot under its Bugis rulers. Riau was a part
of the ancient Kingdom of Johor, the maritime state which had
ruled much of the Malay world since 1512. Abdul Rahman's
domain has been styled a perentah in one Malay source. It was not
really a state (or negeri) but a part of a larger political unit which at
that time was very fragmented. There were then about five or six
such groupings. Abdul Rahman's perentah consisted of a ring of
islands in the northwestern part of the Riau Archipelago and
included Singapore and a portion of the Johor coastline. There
were about ten island suku of sea peoples living here who owed

llegi to the T They bered close to 10,000.

There was, in fact, no “'state” in the area now called Johor, At
this time, "“Johor" referred only to a vague geographical area, much
of it insular. There was nothing of great importance on the land in
any case. The Temenggong's government was really the sea peoples.

The phenomenon of piracy is indicative of the peculiar nature
of the ancient Johor kingd It was i itime state.
The major political and economic concerns of its rulers were the sea
peoples of the Riau-Lingga Archipelago and the international trade
route which passed through the Straits of Malacca. The state
centred on a trading entrepot. This was the essence of the classical
Malay state. The Riau entrepot of 1784 was but the last in a
succession of similar “‘urban" centres whose history stretches back
to Srivijaya in the seventh century.
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This state system was more or less dictated by what one might
term “‘ecological' realities. Until recently, the region of the Malay
world offered only a limited range of possibilities to human
endeavour. Although the area had been inhabited since the dawn of
time, in 1800 it remained one of the most sparsely populated areas
on carth. In the main, there was the jungle and the sea. Given
traditional technology, human life could sustain itself only in small
niches scattered throughout this desert of forest and water. These
habitats were the islands, the beaches, and the riverbanks.

Even when cleared of forest, the land could only support small
groups of people living in relative isolation. Overland
communications were difficult if not impossible. This hostile

i p d the i of dense i

of agricultural peoples and thus militated against the growth of any
kind of powerful political unit on the land. Geography did,
however, offer one positive advantage to the skilled maritime
peoples of the coasts and islands. International trade routes
between China and the West were forced to pass through the sieve-
like network of islands, shoals, and channels which make up the
Riau-Lingga Archipelago. Likewise, the pattern of the seasonal
monsoons made this *land below the wind™ a natural stopping-
place.

Following the development of long-range cast—west trade
came the creation of political units in this region. These entrepot
states were able to fairly large lations in one place
because of the trade which supplied wealth to the ruler and food for
his subjects. It also brought contact with other, more developed
cultures, which supplied many of the cultural patterns by which
Malays came to organize their lives. First, the state was
*“Indianized", then it was Islamicized — but it remained maritime.

The maritime empire was based on a trading city, usually
located at, or controlled from, the Riau-Lingga Archipelago. The
empire was ruled by a Sultan who exercised power through a
grouping of officials or chiefs. At the centre were the sea lords, the
chiefs who exercised direct control over the orang laut and who
controlled the international and local trade. This group in fact
usually dominated the office of the sultanate as well. Normally,
these chiefs all seem to have been territorially associated with the
south Johor or island area, but this was not always the case — any
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chief who could gather a following of sea peoples about him could
bid for a share of power at the centre.

The second level of chiefs held power on the periphery. They
controlled riverine negeri and drew their wealth from the trade
passing along their rivers. At times when the Riau/Johor entrepot
was prosperous and influential, they tended to be dependent upon
it. When the centre was weak, they exercised a good deal of
autonomy and, in some cases, managed to establish relatively stable
dynasties within their river systems, as was the case of Perak and
Selangor.

The dividing-line between the two levels was never a sharp one.
Chiefs could rise up out of the hinterland, as it were, and seck
power at the centre. Alternatively, sea lords from the entrepot could
fall back onto the land and displace or subordinate the “'natives”.
This is what happened in the east coast states of the Peninsula
during the eighteenth century. There was a good deal of movement
between the two levels, depending largely on the relative strength of
the entrepot at any given time. As a result, there were continual
intermarriages, alliances, and warfarc among the Malay aristocrats.
Despite the tendency for scholars to treat the class of Malay rajas as
a single group, to distinguish them from the commoners, the
distinction between sea lords and “land” lords is an important one.

Viewed from the entrepot, the riverine principalities of the
Peninsula and Sumatra were of secondary importance. These areas
supplied raw materials for the international trade network and
could become troublesome if allowed too much independence.
Malay trading empires were rarely based on riverine states. Power
in this context was always sea power. Thus traditional political
systems emphasized the control of a majority of sea peoples and the
management of the trade. If the ruler of the entrepot was successful
in these two policy objectives, then control of the outlying land
areas was a relatively easy matter, for the balance of political and
economic power was concentrated at the centre.

The traditional Malay maritime state was always a fragile
entity. Its lines of control were the sea routes and its authority was
strung out from island to island and from one river mouth to
another. It was held together, as Professor O. W. Wolters has
argued, primarily by wealth and the generally high standard of
living which was possible only in the capital. The empires were
extremely vulnerable to changes that affected the international
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trade, no matter how distant. The fall of a dynasty in China or the
Napoleonic wars in Europe could and did have serious
repercussions in the Malay world. Any decline in trade revenues
seriously endangered the state’s food supply, since food for these
entrepot cities had always to be imported from Siam and Java. In
such periods of *decline”, the sea peoples had to fend for
themselves by becoming pirates, and chaos would reign anew.
The realities of that world, however, did not change very much
when the British founded Singapore in 1819. The new empire
created by Raffles was initially formed in the image of earlier
maritime states. This, in fact, is probably one of the reasons it was
so successful. While it would be simplistic to say that this was an
instance of “‘putting new wine in old bottles”, it does appear that
the early history of the port roughly paralleled that of Malacca and
Srivijaya. All three states had explosive growth patterns and owed
much to the characteristic mobility of the maritime peoples.
From the Malay viewpoint, the dation of Si was
scen as an attempt to reorganize an empire based on the traditional
pattern. The Temenggong sought to make himself the head of a
refurbished empire in partnership with the English. This did not
coincide with British aims, and the ensuing conflict led to a
rearrangement in 1824 in favour of the East India Company. The
Temenggong was dispossessed and lost all legal authority in
Singapore. This agreement, however, overlooked the political and
cconomic realitics of the situation, and by 1835, it became clear that
a number of readjustments were nceded. In particular, the English
viewed the problem of “piracy™ as most intractable. Thus a new
accommodation was reached with Ibrahim, the successor of the
Temenggong with whom Raffles and Crawfurd had signed their
treatics. He becaime the colony's official pirate suppressor.
While the T are itually treated by historians as
having been outside the European power structure of Singapore,
the facts suggest otherwise. In their negotiations, their wars and
overall policies, the Temenggongs acted in the interest of the
entrepot complex. Admittedly, they generally set their own
priorities in these matters but the important factor is that they
identified their own interests with those of the port, and not with
those of the Peninsular states.
Like the British, the Temenggongs viewed the world from the
entrepot. Both parties identified themselves more with the interests
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of the port than with those of the other Malay chiefs who remained
on the fringes. It was to their advantage to extend the political and
economic influence of the port over the surrounding region. What
conflict there was between the British and the Temenggongs should
be properly viewed as an internal affair of the capital.

From the beginning, the relationship was an unequal one. The
British held the ultimate balance of power, and, when it came to a
confrontation, the Malay rulers had no choice but to submit. The
Temenggongs® history is thus one of compromise after compromise
and, in the final analysis, continual retreat. The position which
these Malay chiefs held in Singapore was never given official
recognition. The British saw it as only a temporary expedient. The
sea peoples under the Temenggong were co-opted nnd graduully
rendered harmless. By mid ry, the ad
maritime technology, major shifts in the population balnnu ol‘ the
region, and changes in the manner in which trade was conducted all
tended to diminish the importance of the maritime Malays and the
orang laut.

The Temenggong’s political survival depended on his making
the shift away from the role of sea chicf to something more in
keeping with the demands of the time. The island of Singapore had
been populated by thousands of Chinese planters who grew pepper
and gambier. In about 1844, when these planters had begun to feel

d in Si Te Ibrahim began moving
them into Johor. This laid the foundation for his own territorial
state on the mainland and, at the same time, supplied him with an
independent source of wealth.

The state of Johor was the agency by which the apparatus of
the Temenggong's government, or perentah, was transferred from
the port to a piece of land. This then became a negeri. The group of
dependents — minor chiefs, family members, and hangers-on who
had formerly been called the “following™ of the Temenggong —
was transformed. They became bureaucrats who now learned how
to administer the of a Chinese agricul system. The sea
peoples, on whom these chiefs had once relied, faded into oblivion
or moved to the land. They were no longer a source of wealth or
power, The Temenggong and his followers, however, did not starve,
With the wealth generated by their new Chinese subjects, they
became the wealthiest Malays in the world.
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In the beginning, Johor was like no other Malay state. It was
an empty picce of land, desolate and unpopulated. The government
of the Temenggong was built up from a scratch. There were no local
peoples or regional chiefs in Johor to help or, more likely, to hinder
him. His only competition was the shadow of the old sultanate, and
this soon vanished. It was thus a less complicated matter to send the
Chinese into the interior. The local chiefs were Teluk Belanga
Malays and all were the Temenggong's men. Like the Chinese and
the British, these Malays saw Johor as a frontier. Their job was to
encourage settlement in this hinterland of Singapore and, beyond
this, to police the coastline and collect the Temenggong's revenues.

Modern Malaysia, with its system of communal politics,
controlled by a small elite of Chmm and Malay magnates, grew

out of the political and ar lished during
the nineteenth century. Thc qu:snon of how these came about is
thus one of p y The pxclurc d here
is that of Malays pting o lves to the

British presence while at the same time mlcgrallng the Chinese into
their political system. In the face of the great changes sweeping the
Malay world in this period, indigenous peoples had little but their
traditional institutions and priorities to guide them. While their
means did not always achicve the desired ends, they did have a
decisive effect on the ultimate outcome. It is a mistake to consider
them as having been only passive or, at best, reactionary clements
in the colonial situation.

On the other hand, it is also a mistake to ignore the
accommodations which the English had to make in order to rule (hc

Malay world. Despite their i and overwhel;
ph)s:cal power, they could not havc been successful without
ions to local di and promises with

indigenous institutions. While some historians have tended to view
these expedients as imperfections or aberrations in colonial policy,
it can also be argued that they made possible whatever gains the
British achieved. In the broader sense, an appreciation of this
urcumsmnce is particularly |mporlam in understanding the
hip between Malaysia and Singap

If we consider Singapore in its indigenous context, it is clear
that it was not only the successor of Dutch Malacca but, more
immediately, the successor of Malayo-Bugis Riau. Singapore
supplanted Riau and to a great extent reconstituted a type of
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maritime empire. The status of the other Malay states of the
Peninsula, particularly Johor, should also be considered in their
relationship to the various Straits Settlements which dominated
their economics. The states of the Peninsula were dependencies of
Singapore and Penang, in the first instance, and not of Britain.
Beyond this, it will become clear that it was the Chinese, rather than
the English, who established and maintained this colonial
dependence.

This then is an outline of the “indigenous™" viewpoint which
this work proposes. It is not, in any sense of the word, nauonallsl
history, and it would be p P for a N to
attempt such a history. It dnes’ however, attempt to compensate in
some respect for those studies which ignore the problem of
continuity and the need for measuring historical change against
some clear standard. It seems impossible to make any clear
statement regarding the English impact on the Malay world
without considering the political and economic institutions of that
world prior to the European arrival. Furthermore, a consistent and
logical narmuvc dcmands lhnt one demonstrate what actually
h d to the 1 I ions and describe how they and
the indigenous pcoplcs received the forces of change. That is the
aim of this study.







1
Prelude to Singapore
1784-1819

The term “Johor" is used by historians to refer to two different
states — an old one and a new one. Old Johor was the maritime
Malay empire that succeeded Malacca. It began in 1512 when the
defeated Sultan of Malaccn eslahhshcd a capital on the Johor
River,' and dually di d in the eigh h century. Sir
Richard Winstedt has written the first comprehensive account of
this state in his A History of Malaya.* Modern Johor occupies the
southern tip of the Malay Peninsula and is one of the eleven states
of the Federation of Malaysia. It-dates from the mid—nineteenth
century.

There are historical, geographic, and dynastic connections
between these two states, as Winstedt has shown in his **History of
Johor™.? In many respects, the present state of Johor is a successor
of the earlier empire. While the relationship between old Johor and
modern Johor is undeniable, other Malay states, including Pahang,
Trengganu, Selangor, Perak, and the nincteenth-century Residency
of Riau, have as much claim to the heritage of old Johor as does
new Johor. The dividing-line between the two, as near as one can
make out, was the foundation of Singapore by Sir Thomas
Stamford Raffles in 1819.

Raffles received the island of Singapore for the East India
Company from a chicf who was known as Abdul Rahman,

1. The capital of the Johor kingdom was moved about twenty times between
1512 and 1682, generally because of Portuguese or Achchnese attacks or
because of the installation of a new ruler. From 1513 to 1526, it was at Bentan
(Riau). From 1526 to 1618, it was at various sites on the Johor River. In 1618,
it was moved 1o Lingga and then to Tambelan. From 1637 to 1673, it was
again located at various places on the Johor River, gencrally Batu Sawar. It
was again at Riau in 1673 - 85. It was back on the Johor River at Kota Tinggi
from 1688 to 1700. From 1722 to 1819, it was at Ri
Richard O, Winstcdt, 4 History of Malaya (Singapore, 1935). First published
as JMBRAS. v. 13 (1935), pp. 1-270. All references are to the first edition.
3. R.O.Winstedt, A History of Johor 1365~ 1895 A.D.", JMBRAS. v. 10, pt. 3
(December 1932), pp. |- 167, with appendices. His treatment of post-1819
Johor is contained in Chapters 10, 11, and 12 of this work (pp. 86-120).

"~



2 PRINCE OF PIRATES

Temenggong Sri Maharaja of Johor. He was one of the officials of
the former Johor court which was then located at Riau on the
island of Bentan.* As his domain, he claimed Singapore, a number
of islands in the northern part of the Riau Archipelago, and a
portion of the tip of the Malay Peninsula. In the course of the
nineteenth century, Temenggong Abdul Rahman and his successors
gave up their claims to the island of Singapore and to the islands in
Riau. They eventually concentrated all their efforts towards
building up a government to rule the state which we now call
Johor. By 1885, the state had reached its present boundaries and the
ruler stood at the zenith of his power. In that year, he received the
title of Sultan of the State and Territory of Johor from Queen
Victoria.

This study is concerned with the family of the Temenggongs
who created this new Johor — as the name of its capital, Johor
Baharu, implies. It begins by examining the family's origins and
their standing in the former Johor empire, and proceeds to study
the manner in which they built their new state and the reasons they
chose the methods they employed. These questions, it seems, have
relevance not only for Johor but for every Malay state, and perhaps
for any state that came under the influence of a foreign power
during the nineteenth century.

Following Winstedt, one can usefully trace the family back to
the beginning of the eighteenth century when the old kingdom of
Johor began its decline. In many ways the rise of the Temenggongs
developed in counterpoint to the decay of old Johor.

During the cighteenth century, the seat of the Johor empire
came to be located at Riau. Here the Temenggongs represented a
minor branch of the family which ruled the Johor empire after

o

Riau (also Rhio, Riow, Riouw, Rio, etc.) refers to the seat of the Johor empire
during the eighteenth century. It was located near the present site of Tanjong
Pinang, but during our period there were also establishments (i.c., markets,
fortresses, palaces, etc.) at Sungai Riau, Pulau Biram Dewa, Pulau Bayan,
Pulau Penyengat, and Sungai Galang Besar. All these places are in the vicinity
of Tanjong Pinang in the western part of the Bay of Bentan.

Bentan is the largest island in the Riau-Linggs Archipelago and
occasionally it is referred to simply as Riau. The term Riau is also sometimes
used 10 refer 1o the entire Riau Archipelago.

In this study, Riau will refer only to the port and the island of Bentan itself.
Otherwise the term Riau Archipelago or Riau-Lingga Archipelago will be
used to indicate the entire island group.
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1699. The key eighteenth-century Temenggong was Temenggong
Abdul Jamal, who was a grandson of the founder of the second
Johor dynasty. (See Figure 1)

The reason for beginning with Temenggong Abdul Jamal is
that he appears to be the first of this line who held only the office of
Temenggong. Following him, the office became hereditary among

Sultan Abdul Jalil (d. 1719)

Sultan Sulaiman (d. 1759) Bendahara Tun Abbas (d. after 1736)

Temenggong Tun Abdul Jamal (d. after 1762)*
Figure I. Genealogy of Temenggong Abdul Jamal

his direct descendants. Before him, the office of Temenggong, like
that of the Bendahara, circulated among various minor members of
the Johor royal family.* We have no data on what these offices
meant during the eighteenth century, nor do we know if they were
always associated with the same territories. Winstedt has pointed
out: i there were Bendah of Trengganu as well as of
Pahang and perhaps Temenggongs of Riau as well as of Johor."”

Given that there was some sort of territorial significance to the
offices, there is no real answer to the question of what the territorial
divisions actually meant in practice. After 1750, these distinctions
become a little clearer. Riau remained the seat of the Johor empire
and the site of the entrepot from which the state drew its wealth. It
was ruled by the Yang Di-Pertuan Muda, a descendant of the Bugis

5. Winstedt, “A History of Malaya™, Appendix.

Winstedt, “The Bendaharas and Temenggongs™, JMBRAS, v. 10, pt. 1
(January 1932), p. 60. This gencalogy indicates that these two offices were
gencrally held by brothers of the ruler. For example, two brothers of Sultan
Abdul Jalil (d. 1719) are known to have held both offices. Likewise, Tun
Abbas, Tun Hussain, and Tun Tahir, all of whom were brothers of Sultan
Sulaiman (r. 1723-59), held both offices. Finally, the elder brother of
Temenggong Abdul Jamal, Bendahara Abdul Majid (d. c. 1802), had
previously been Temenggong.
1bid., p. 58.

o
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chiefs who had moved into the state at the beginning of the century.
The Sultan maintained a residence at Rmu as well as at the island of
Lingga to the south. The Bendah ing with T

Abdul Jamal's brother, Tun Abdul Majid, became increasingly
identified with Pahang. It is from him that the present ruling house
of Pahang traces its ancestry.

During the eighteenth century, the Temenggongs remained
associated with Riau, or at least the immediate vicinity of the port.
The island of Bulang appears to have been a family fief, and was
perhaps the real h ters of the T gs during the
second half of the century. Tun Abbas was buried there as was
Temenggong Abdul Jamal and his own son Engku Muda.'
Temenggong Abdul Rahman, although deeply involved in the
politics of Riau before 1818, is also reported to have begun his
carcer at Bulang.* The family did not shift its base to Johor until
much later. However, the fact that the officer was never called the
Temenggong of Bulang warns against putting too much stress on
the territorial association here.' Rather, the cvidence suggests that
the office of T was closel; with the main
centre of the state at Riau, and it was only after 1818 that the family
began to seek a different base.

We know very little about the function of the office of
Temenggong at Riau in the mid -eighteenth century. During this
period, the family was declining and there is only a sketchy version
of its history. We learn of it only from the accounts of the partisans
of rival families. For instance, the most reliable history of
cighteenth-century Riau is the Tufhar Al-Nafis" which was written
by a descendant of one of Riau's Yang Di-Pertuan Mudas. During
the eighteenth century, these officials were engaged in a struggle for
power with the Temenggongs. Another account, the Hikayat

Ibid.. pp. 60, 66.
9. Ibid.. pp. 63-66.
10. Ibid., p. 64. Winstedt reports that Engku Muda in 1801 styled himself **Raja
of Bulang and Bintang [Bentan), ex-Sultan of Riau™.
Munir bin Ali, ed., Tufhat Al-Nafis, Al-Marhum Raja Ali-Haji Riau,
Romanized edition (Singapore, 1965), hereafter referred to as the Tufhat. This
mmnmnlmn is based on the jawi text published by Winstedt in JMBRA.
10, pt. 2 (1932). According to Virginia Matheson “The Tufhat Al Nifu
Structure and Sources™, 8ijd, 127, v. 3 (1971), pp. 37595, neither of these
texts is without errors and omissions. The romanization is reported to be
inaccurate in a number of passages. However, authoritative versions are not in
print and are therefore uscless to the average scholar, let alone the average
reader. The romanized version is followed as the authority in this study nmply
as a matter of convenience in terms of reference and general availal
passages and information quoted from this version have been checked
Winstedt's for accuracy, but the page references are to the romanized edition.
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Negeri Johor," has been identified as a Selangor-based history and
thus connected with a lineage which was closely related to the Bugis
of Riau. A third account, the Hikayat Keraja'an,” which was not
available to the present writer, is said by Winstedt to represent the
Temenggongs' side of the story.

It is best to begin with the classic definition of a Temenggong.
For this, it is necessary to go back to fifteenth-century Malacca.
Before 1512, the Bendahara and the T were the two
major officers of the state. Newbold's translation of the **Code of
Malacca” lists the Bendahara as second to the ruler and the
Temenggong as third. A fourth officer was the Laksamana or
admiral. The Bendahara was defined as “he who rules the
peasantry, the army and thosc dependent on the state. His sway
extends over all the islands, and it is he who is the king's law giver."
The Temenggong was a kind of minister of Justice: “It is this
functionary’s duty to cnquire diligently and to seek out persons
who perpetrate crime, to prevent oppression, and to find and
punish transgressors". In terms of precedence, the Code also notes:
“Should the king mount his elephant, the Tumungong's place is at
its head. The Lacsamana and the Sri Biji di Raja bear the king's
sword in the rear.""

These descriptions of duties indicate that the state was
visualized as being divided into three functional domains or spheres
of influence. There were, in other terms, the peasantry or ra’ayat,
the city, and the navy. The Bendahara, as a kind of Prime Minister,
controlled the ra'ayar and the islands. In terms of people, this
meant both the orang laut and the orang benua, or sca people and
land people. Of this dual domain, the sea and the islands were
undoubtedly the most important. In the sixteenth century, this was
where the bulk of the population was located. Professor O. W.
Wolters has remarked on the importance of the islands and believes

12. R. O. Winstedt, “A History of Johor 1673-¢. 1800 A.D.", JMBRAS. v. 10,
pL 1 (January 1932), pp. 164-70[f. This also includes the 31-page jawi
transcription of the manuscript and Winstedt's summary of the manuscript.
Matheson, in *“The Tufhat Al-Nafis™, identifics the Hikayat Negeri Johor as
the “Siarah Sclangor™ referred 1o by the author of the Tufhat Al-Nafis.
Winstedt, in “The Bendaharas and Temenggongs™, pp. 60- 66, describes and
quotes from this manuscript.

14, T.J. Newbold, Political and Statistical Account of the British Settlements in the

Straits of Malacca, v. 2 (London, 1839), pp. 312-13.

=
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that these sea peoples had been the major prop of the Malacca
dynasty:

Not merely were these off-shore islands situated at the

crossroads of international sailing routes, enabling their

to i pt and molest from India,

China and the archipelago; the islanders, as we have seen, were

also a sturdy maritime folk. The Malay chiefs who ruled in the

islands had at their disposal the sea-gypsies.... It is not
surprising that in the Sejarah Melayu, spheres of local power

(pegangan) in this region arc often measured by the number of

three-masted cruisers at the disposal of the chiefs. Bentan is

accredited with four hundred ships and has the largest
complement mentioned in the text.”
On the land, there were forest dwellers and agricultural peoples.
The former were useful in collecting forest produce. The
agricultural peoples, mostly located near Malacca, had orchards
and presumably produced a portion of the foodstuffs consumed by
the city of Malacca.'

The city was the realm of the Temenggong. According to
Winstedt's definition, he was the minister in charge of defence,
police, and markets." In his A History of Malaya, he describes the
Temenggong Tun Mutahir of Malacca (later Bendahara) as a kind
of municipal official who was in charge of the city police." Perhaps
we may also call him a kind of mayor.

15. O. W. Wolters, The Fall of Srivijaya in Malay History (London, 1970), pp.
=12

16, Paul Wheatley, Impressions of the Malay Peninsula in Ancient Times
(Singapore, 1964), p. 163. Wheatley discusses the amount of arable land under
the direct control of Malacea: *Despite the wealth and importance of Melaka,
the immediate hinterland of the port appears to have been very little
developed. At the time of Tome Pires' visit it was clothed with an almost
uninterrupted mantle of forest, diversified only occasionally by an isolated
kampong. Muar and Batu Pahat were small farming communities; Singapore
was practically deserted.... Northwards the country was more closely scttled.
The Sejarah Melayu relates that an unbroken line of villages stretched from
Kampong Kling. the Tamil quarter of Melaka, to the Linggi River, and there
was no need for travellers journcying cven as far as Jenggera to take firing
with them, for wherever they stopped on the way there would be a settlement.
Sungai Ujong, Klang, Perak, Sclangor and Bernam, all undel Ih: direct rule
of Melaka, were small coastal villages of from 200-400 pet 2

17. R. O. Winstedt, Malay - English Dictionary, Fourth :dmnn (1964). p. 189,

18, Winstedt, A History of Malaya (1962), p. S1.
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Meilink-Roelofsz, in her di ion of Malacca, also indicates
that the Temenggong was very much tied to the urban sector of the
Sultan’s domain:

The tumenggong, whose authority only extended to the town of

Malacca, had charge of the guard and jurisdiction over the

town. All criminal cases came before him in the first instance

and from there went onto the bendahara. The tumenggong was

a very important personage as far as trade was concerned since

he received all the import and export duties. According to

Alb the also had jurisdiction over

forclgncrs In the Annals the tumenggong appears as sort of

Minister of War and Justice. Al court he was in charge of all

ies and official , in which capacity the
foreign merchants must have come to know him best because
of their audiences at court, while they could also be summoned
to appear before him if they infringed the laws of Malacca."

He was under the Bendahara, but only in the sense that he was
a direct deputy and often heir-apparent to the higher post of
Bcnd.lham Temenggong Tun Mutahir (d. 1510) later became the

h While he was Bend his son, Tun Hasan, held the
office of Temenggong.” We have already mentioned similar
examples of the close connection between the two offices during the
eighteenth century as well, when three brothers and their sons held
both offices in succession between about 1723 and 1762.

The third-ranking officer, the Laksamana, was in charge of a
third functional domain, the navy. This appears to have covered a
kind of extra-urban military force, which stood distinct from the
larger mass of sea peoples. At certain periods of Malacca and Johor
history, the Laksamana dominated the state in a swashbuckling
way. Hang Tuah of Malacca was a good example of this type. The
Laksamana Paduka Raja of the late sixteenth century was also
quite powerful. Winstedt, quoting Dutch sources, notes that “the
Dato Laksamana alias Paduka Raja and his sons administer the
whole of the Johore kingdom™.” After this Laksamana's death in
1688, the rival faction under the Bendahara Tun Abdul Majid, Sri
19. M. A. P. Mecilink-Roclofsz, Asian Trade and European Influence in the

Indonesian Archipelago Between 1500 and about 1630 (The Hague, 1962), p. 41.
20 Scjarah Melayu [Malay Annals), trans. C. C. Brown (1953). Reprint in Oxford

m Asia Historical Reprints (Kuala Lumpur, 1970), p. 127. Original teat, p.

21 w.nmm “The Bendaharas and Temenggongs™, p. 57.
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Maharaja, took power. It was this Bendahara who grew so bold as
to found a new dynasty when the insane Sultan Mahmud was
assassinated in 1699.

The period 16991722 was one of grave crisis for the Johor
empire. These years have been the subject of an inquiry by Leonard
Y. Andaya.* He describes the impact of the regicide of Sultan
Mahmud 11 in 1699. After Bendahara Abdul Jalil declared himself
Sultan, a pretender, Raja Kechil, rose up in Siak and won the
allegiance of the navy of orang laut who had probably once served
the Laksamana.” Abdul Jalil fled to Pahang and Raja Kechil
assumed power on the Johor River. The Bendahara-Sultan, as
Winstedt called him, was killed at Kuala Pahang in 1719.

In search of a new naval force to pit against the orang laut of
Raja Kechil, the successor of Abdul Jalil, Sultan Sulaiman (d.
1759), recruited five Bugis* adventurers, all brothers. It was thus
the Bugis and not the orang laut who supplied the naval forces
necessary (o defeat Raja Kechil. Andaya notes that these years saw
the beginning of the decline of the orang laut within the Johor
kingdom:

The trauma of the regicide in 1699, which resulted in the

confusion within the ranks of the Orang Laut and culminated

in the betrayal of the new dynasty. . . was a significant turning
pointin the history of the Orang Laut people within the Malay
world.... the Orang Laut underwent such a significant

phosis in the cigh h century that by the
nineteenth century foreign observers were wont to characterize
the Orang Laut groups they occasionally encountered as a shy,
nomadic sca people of little consequence.”

22 Leonard Y. Andaya, The Kingdom of Johor 16411728 (Kuala Lumpur,
1975).

23, Leonard Y. Andaya, “Raja Kechil and the Minangkabau Conquest of Johor
in 1718", JMBRAS. v. 45, pt. 2 (1972) pp. 59-60. Andaya notes that the
Laksamana was thought 1o have been Raja Kechil's grandfather.

24. Andaya, The Kingdom, pp. 116-21. Continuing political disturbances in
southwest Celebes in the late seventeenth and early cighteenth centurics made
the presence of numerous roving bands of Bugis refugees a common
phenomenon in the island world of Southeast Asia. Their settlements were to
be found in Java, Borneo, Sumatra, and the Malay world of the Straits during
this period. These adventurers formed a ready source of manpower for the
rulers of the area, particularly as mercenaries.

25. Andaya, The Kingdom, p. 323.
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Andaya reports that not all of Ihc orang laut dcfccled to Raja
Kechil. The T and Bend d some forces of
sca peoples during this period. But these alone were not sufficient to
protect the new dynasty. There was thus a need for the stronger
Bugis allies. The Bugis soon came to challenge the former position
held by the orang laut and their chicfs, the Temenggong and the
Bendahara.

By 1728, the new dynasty had regained a measure of control in
the region and managed to occupy Riau and drive out Raja Kechil.
But the intense struggle for power and recognition had brought
significant changes in the new Johor state. Andaya has summarized
the future of the state as follows:

The old Kingdom of Johor under its new ruling house, the
Bendahara family, survived on the strength of Bugis fighting
men. The latter became an essential part of the power structure
of Johor, but, like the Orang Laut, were never considered to be
of the Malay community. The difference lay, however, in the
greater aspirations and ambiti of the Bugi who would
not be content to occupy the periphery of a Malay kingdom
whose rulers owed their position to them [as had the orang
laut). The conflict of an outside group wanting to enter into the
internal structure of a society and thereby encroaching on the
privileges and positions of established members of that society
is a theme in the history of Johor through the cighteenth
century...."

The Malay-Bugis conflict at Riau can be seen, at least
partially, in terms of a dynastic feud. The Bendahara family had
originally taken over the Sultanate and most of the major offices of
the Johor state. Later, two of the Bugis brothers married into the
family. The main branches of the family and the various lincages
were related to the major offices.” (See Figure 2)

From Abdul Jalil, we trace five lincages which lay at the heart
of the Malay-Bugis conflict. As of about 1760, all of these lincages
were competing among themselves for power in the Riau state. The
three “*Malay™ lineages dominated the offices of Sultan,
Bendahara, and Temenggong, while the two Bugis lines controlled

26. Ibid,, p. 312
27. These gencalogics arc based on Winstedt's gencalogical charts in “A History
of Johor™.
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Sultan Abdul Jalil (d. 1719)

I
Sultan Sulaiman (d. 1759)
i Tun Abbas (d. 17367)
Tengku Tengah__ Tengku Mandak
- |

Tun Abdul Majid ~ Tun Abdul Jamal 7 '

v v v
Sultanate Bendahara Temenggong  Yang Di-Pertuan Muda
\ 4w

v
Malays Bugis
Figure 2. Johor Lineages and Offices

the most powerful position, Yamtuan Muda, between them. The
g ies up to the inning of the nil h century are as
shown in Figure 3.

1. Sultanate
Sultan Abdul Jalil (r. 1699-1718)

Sultan Sulaiman (r. 1728-59)
Sultan Abdulllnlil (r. 1759-60)

r 1
Sultan Ahmad (r. 1761) Sultan M'.\hlmud (r. 1762-1812)
I 1
Sultan Hussain of Singapore Sultan Abdul Rahman of
(r. 1819-35) Lingga (r. 1812-30)

2. Bendaharas of Pahang
Sultan Abdul Jalil

ch‘[lahulu Tun Abbas (d. ¢ 1736)
Bendahara Tun Abdul Majid (r. 1757-1803)
|

s 1
B. Che Engku Sentul (d. 1803) B. Tun Koris (r. 1803-6)

B. Tun Ali (r. 1806-47)
Figure 3. Genealogies of Johor, 17001830



PRELUDE TO SINGAPORE, 1784~ 1819 1]

3. Temenggongs of Johor
Sultan Abdul Jalil
Bendahara Tun Abbas

Temenggong Abdul Jamal=Raja Maimunah
(d. . 1765) [see below]

[ ]
Daing Chelak Daing Kechil ~ Engku Muda (d. 1806)
[de facto Temenggong]
Temenggong Abdul Rahman (d. 1825)
Temenggong Ibrahim (r. 1825-62)

Temenggong Abu Bakar (r. 1862-95)
[Maharaja after 1866 and Sultan in 1885]

Figure 3 (comt.)

The two Bugis Lincages which controlled the office of Yang Di-
Pertuan Muda traced from marriages to two of Sultan Abdul Jalil's
daughters.

4. The Yamtuan Mudas of Riau
a. This was the lesser of the two lines:

Sultan Abdul Jalil

Tengku Tengah=Daing Parani (d. 1723)

Daing Kemboja, 3rd Yamtuan Muda Raja Maimunah [sce above)
(d. 1777)

Raja Ali, 5th Yamtuan Muda (r. 1784 1806)

Figure 3 (cont.)
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b. The other, more illustrious line was:
Sultan Abdul Jalil

Tengku Mandak = Daing Chelak, 2nd Yamtuan
Muda (d. 1745)

Raja Haji, 4th Yamtuan Muda Raja Lumu, Sultan of Selangor
(r. 1777-84) i
v
Ruja Ja'afar, 6th Yamtuan Muda  Sultans of Selangor
(r. 1806-31)

Figure 3 (cont )

The two Bugis lineages passed the office of Yamtuan Muda
(Yang Di-Pertuan Muda) between them, from uncle to nephew,
through the cighteenth century. All these lineages began to follow
patrilineal succession in the nineteenth century.

In general, the two Bugis lincages proved the more cohesive
faction, and from 1760 to 1784 they completely dominated the
state. In 1784, they lost control of the Sultanate and were forced to
flee from Riau after the Dutch defeated them. However, they
regained power after 1805. Although there was conflict between the
Bugis families, they generally presented a united front to the
Malays during the cighteenth century.

The Malay faction was led by the Bendahara and the
Temenggong.™ In 1762 thesc two were defeated in a succession
dispute with the Bugis, who nominated their own candidate for
Sultan (Sultan Mahmud 111). As far as the Tufhat Al-Nafis is
concerned, the Bendahara and the Temenggong then ceased to play
any remarkable role in Riau politics until after 1784. Temenggong

28, The leadership of the so-called Malay fuction was held by Sultan Mansur
(known as Yang Di-Pertuan Kcchil) of Trengganu, also a descendant of
Sultan Abdul Jalil, until about 1760. Siak princes, 100, involved themselves in
the conflicts between the Malay officials and the Bugis Yang Di-Pertuan
Muda. However, the group of officials most immediately affected by the Bugis
{ake-over appears to have been the Bendahara, the Temenggong, and the Raja
Indera Bungsu.

29, No notice is given in the Tufhat of Temenggong Abdul Jamal's death nor is
the appointment of his successor mentioned. This text does not mention any
Temenggong at all for the years between 1762 and 1784.
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Abdul Jamal was reputedly insane.” He seems to have been crafty
enough, however, to attempt an alliance with the Bugis through his
marriage to Raja Maimunah.” However, the marriage did the
Temenggong little good in his relations with the Bugis. The Tufhat
has left a description of the incident in which the Bugis ousted the
Malays. It is of interest since it also gives us a brief view of
Temenggong Abdul Jamal and his sons.

In 1762, the armed forces of the Malays and Bugis confronted
cach other at Riau. They were disputing the succession to the
Sultanate after the deaths of Sultan Sulaiman and his two short-
lived successors.

The Malays and Bugis were sitting opposite each other. The

Yang Di-Pertuan Muda Daing Kemboja and Raja Haji were

sitting close to the Malay chiefs, and Daing Kemboja was

staring at them. Then he saw Daing Kechil and Daing Chelak
and Engku Muda, the threc brothers, sitting next to the

Temenggong, their father. He commanded them: “Kechil!

Chelak! Muda! Why are you not here at my side?”" And the

three brothers went over to the side of the Yang Di-Pertuan

Muda because they were sons of Raja Maimunah, Daing

Kemboja's sister.”

Then Daing Kemboja sat down on the Lion Throne
(Singasahna) and took the infant Sultan Mahmud on his lap and
installed him with the regalia.” Following the installation, the
Malay chiefs rebelled but their move was aborted by the Bugis. The
Malays were outmanocuvred and all their weapons were
confiscated and locked up in the fort at Palau Bayan where they
were guarded by Bugis warriors.™

Thus the Temenggong is shown to have been deserted by his
own sons. He was defeated in his political ambitions and almost

30. There appears to have been a streak of insanity running through this family,
According to Winstedt, in “A History of Johor™, p. 60, Temenggong Tun
Abbas went mad in 1736. The Hikayat Johor Serta Pakang, (se¢ below, p. 14
fn. 35), reports that his son Abdul Jamal was also insanc. In addition, one of
Temenggong Abdul Rahman's sons, Abdullah, was reputedly an imbecile.
Raja Maimunah was apparently the only major Bugis princess to marry a
Malay. (See Figures 3.3 and 3.4a)

32 The Tufhat, p. 138.

33 Ibid,

34, Ibid., pp. 142-47.

3




14 PRINCE OF PIRATES

totally destroyed as a locus of power. The Tufhat's account can be
compared with a Pahang story about Abdul Jamal.

In about 1757, Abdul Jamal is said to have become enraged
when Sultan i d one of the dahara's sons over
his own. He went mad and killed the son of the Bendahara and then
fled. On the way back to Riau, he captured a small boat and towed
it with him as a prize. The Pahang version then notes that the
Temenggong and his wo sons were killed when the powder
magazine of the craft exploded.”

Winstedt accepts the Pahang version, which would put the
death of the Temenggong and all his sons at some date before 1762.
This conclusion seems open to question. Winstedt himself admits
that much of the dating and genealogical information in this text is
clearly wrong, and this account directly contradicts the Tufhat
which mentions a Temenggong and his three sons as being alive in
1762 at the coronation of Sultan Mahmud. Since the Tufhat clearly
indicates that they were sons of Raja Maimunah and mentions
them by name, it scems reasonable to discount the dates suggested
by the Pahang story.

The Tufhat does report that Daing Chelak” was killed in an
explosion or fire on a boat that he had pirated, so there is
undoubtedly some truth in the Pahang account, but itis difficult to
say where it lies. The Tufhat is silent on the Temenggong's death;
however, it may be that he and perhaps Daing Chelak died during
the abortive Malay revolt in 1763-64. This would certainly go a
long way towards explaining the failure of the Malays at Riau to
reassert themselves during the next two decades.

Another i ing point in both isthe g lly low
estimate they have of Temenggong Abdul Jamal. He seems to have
been considered an outcast by both sides. It is thus perhaps
appropriate that he fathered a line of outcasts. Even his own sons
deserted him in 1762 (or so the Tufhat would have us believe) and
yet one of them, Engku Muda, eventually found himself in a similar

35, R. 0. Winstedt, “Abdu'l Jalil, Sultan of Johore (1699 -1719), *Abdu’l-Jamal,
Temenggong (c. 1750) and Rafles' Founding of Singaporc™, JMBRAS, v. 11,
pt. 2 (December 1933), pp. 161-65, Winstedt here summarizes the text
entitled Hikayat Johor Serta Pahang. although he does not give the title in this
article. A romanized typescript of this manuscript is available in the Johor
Archives and is on microfilm in the University of Singapore Library.

36. The Tufhat, pp. 10-11.
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situation. In order to show how this came about, it is necessary to
examine events at Riau in the years that followed.

The state and the Sultanate now came under the control of the
Bugis Yang Di-Pertuan Muda. If one assumes that the
Temenggong and Daing Chelak died sometime in the later 1760s,
that left only two sons surviving. These, Daing Kechil (also known
as Tun Ibrahim) and Engku Muda (or Raja Muhammad), appear
to have lived at Riau with their mother, Raja Maimunah. The
mother was reportedly still alive in 1795, and Engku Muda died
about 1806.”” We know practically nothing about Daing Kechil,
other than that he is mentioned as the father of Temenggong Abdul
Rahman in most of the genealogies. It is not clear whether anyone
became Temenggong after Abdul Jamal's death. One genealogy
gives Tbrahim,” but the Hikayar Negeri Johor and the Tufhat are
silent on the subject of the Temenggong between 1762 and 1784. It
would appear that after Abdul Jamal died, the Bugis saw no reason
to appoint a successor. This left Engku Muda and/or Daing Kechil
disfranchised — they had no office and therefore no official status
within the state.

Thus, one reason we cannot describe Temenggong Abdul
Jamal's official duties at Riau is that he was out of power. There
was no place for a Malay official in a state run by a Bugis Yang Di-
Pertuan Muda. Former Temenggongs had always been
subordinates of the major officer, whether he was a Bendahara or a

Te only lled the port. This was an
important function and it was an office where one could grow very
wealthy from revenue farms and taxes. After 1762, the Bugis
Yamtuan Muda appears to have taken over the position formerly
occupied by the Bendahara. For the Bugis, it must have been

37 Winstedt, “A History of Johor", p, 12

38. Buyong bin Adil, Sejarak Jokor (Kuala Lumpur, 1971), p. 388. This follows
the official gencalogy of Johor, a copy of which is in the Johor Archives.
Presumably both are based on the tree which Winstedt got from Kampong
Glam which he titles “Kampong Glam Variant" (Winstedt, “A History of
Johor™, pt. 3, Preface). There is a copy of this on microfilm in the University
of Singapore Library, and perhaps in the Johor Archives, but I never saw it
there. Winstedt himself, rejects this version of events and states (Ibid., pt. 3,
pp. 64-65): “Daing Kechil (alias Tun Ibrahim) never was Temenggong, but
Netscher agrees with the Johore authorities in saying (p. 243) that Engku
Muda was the son of a Temenggong." The Hikayat Negri Johor also confirms
this (pp. 28-29).
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impossible to tolerate control of Bugis traders by a Malay official.
Despite Temenggong Abdul Jamal's marriage to Raja Maimunah,
he was not considered close enough to the Bugis to gain approval
for his governance of the port. It is probable that he never exercised
such powers under Daing Kemboja. However, this should not rule
out the possibility that he aspired to such a function.

Bugis power was based on the large numbers of Bugis traders
and warriors that the new officials had drawn to Riau. As the
official directly in charge of foreigners, these Bugis traders should
have been forced to deal with the Temenggong. However, since
1722 when the Bugis were taken into the Johor kingdom as major
chiefs, all traders from the Celebes were under the authority of the
Riau Bugis and not the Malays.” The management of the Celebes
trade appears to have been directed through the offices of a native
Bugis chief.* He does not scem to have had any particular title, but
the gencalogics show marriage alliances between the Yang Di-
Pertuan Mudas and certain Bugis chicfs. A daughter of Daing
Chelak (the second Yamtuan Muda) married one Arong Lengga. A
daughter of Raja Haji married Engkau Karaeng Talibak, a major
figure at Riau until 1818, These individuals may have supplanted
the Temenggongs as direct rulers of foreigners at the port of Riau in
the cighteenth century. At least, it is likely that they were in charge
of the native Bugis traders who frequented the port. Thus the
functions of the Temenggong as ruler of the port, governor of
foreigners, collector of taxes, and chicf of police had been taken
over by the Bugis and their allies. This event was especially
unfortunate for the Temenggong's family since it came at a time
when Riau began to regain prominence as an international trading
centre.

In taking control of Riau, the Bugis were able to capitalize on
the tradition of the maritime state which had dominated the Straits
since Srivijaya. Their entrepot became an unprecedented success,
partly through their own cfforts and partly through luck. The
Tufhat, after giving a glowing account of Riau's prosperity in about
1780, notes that very few Malays shared in it." For the average

39. Andaya, The Kingdom, p. 297

40, 1tshould be understood that there was a growing distinction between the Riau
Bugis and more recent arrivals. As the founding gencration died off, their
children who had been born at Riau were known as peranakan or locally born.
Natives of Celebes were known as Bugis jaui.

41, The Tuphat, p. 189
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Malay this meant severe . The

family and followers, in particular, would have suffered badly. The
Malay-Bugis feud was more than a dynastic conflict — it was social
and economic warfare. The orang laut were replaced by thousands
of Bugis traders and warriors who flocked to Riau and made it their
base. The Tufhar indicates that by 1780 the Malay and Bugis
populations of Riau were practically equnl in size.” Not only were
the Malays and orang laut — they were

The growth of Bugis Riau was largely an :conumnc
phenomenon. A complex of new trading patterns grew up around
the port in the latter part of the cighteenth century. The basic
features of these new patterns involved a gradual trend towards an
increased demand for two products of the archipelago: tin and
pepper. The age when spices and forest produce were the major
products sought by foreigners had passed.” In addition to Bugis,
Chinese, and Dutch trade, increasing numbers of other foreign
traders were coming into the region. Most important among these
were the English. These groups were drawn to Riau — first, because
it occupied an ideal position in the Straits of Malacca; second,
because it enjoyed a reputation as a trading centre, inherited from
Johor; third, because it was a favourable alternative to Dutch
Malacca; and finally, because of the good management of the trade
by the Bugis rulers themselves.

In the years before 1760, the Yang Di-Pertuan Mudas had
already made significant innovations which reinforced the
economic position of the Bugis at Riau. In the tradition of former
entrepot states, they recreated the tight, centralized polity that had
characterized Malacca and old Johor. Wealth came from the trade
and from the foreigners who brought it. It was necessary to

ablish a stable and maintain regular patterns
with foreign traders.

Another important facet of the Bugis resuscitation of the Johor
economy was the expanded role the Chinese now began to play.

42, Ibid.

43, Two articles put forward the view that the rise of the Dutch in the archipelago
created an increased demand for tin and pepper. Graham W. lrwin, “The
Dutch and the Tin Trade of Malaya in the Seventeenth Century™, in Studies in
the Social History of China and South East Asia, ed. Jerome Ch'en and
Nicholas Tarling (Cambridge, 1970), pp. 267-88; and John Bastin, “The
Changing Balance of the Southeast Asian Pepper Trade”, Essays on
Indonesian and Malayan History (Singapore, 1965), pp. 19-52.
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Chinese trading activities had, since Sung times, been a regular
feature of the commerce of Southeast Asia. This trade began to
expand greatly during the early years of the eighteenth century.
There were major Chinese commercial settlements at Batavia, other
places in Java, Malacca, and in Siam. Around the 1730s, a new type
of Chinese activity began in the Nanyang. This was of great
significance for Riau. Chinese miners and agriculturists began
coming to work and settle in certain parts of the region.

The earliest notice of Chinese settlements of this type were
those of the gold miners at Pontianak in Western Borneo in the
carly eighteenth century. In 1732, some miners from Borneo and
more from China opened the tin mines of Bangka.* In 1734-40,
due to the decision of Daing Chelak, the second Bugis Yamtuan
Muda of Riau, Chinese coolies were brought in to open up gambier
plantations on Bentan, the island on which Riau was located.” By
the 1780s, there were Chinese pepper growers scttled at Brunei,* tin
miners in Kelantan,” and tin smelters in Phuket. These coolies
brought an improved technology and helped alleviate the severe
manpower shortages faced by many Southeast Asian political
leaders. As G. William Skinner has noted, the same things were
happening in Siam.*

Through their own trading connections, together with those of
the Chinese traders and the labour of the coolies, the Bugis leaders
of Riau were able to build a prosperous and thriving entrepot.
Gambier cultivation was of particular importance in assuring the
prosperity and sccurity of the port.

A major concern of all previous entrepot-states in the Straits
had been the food supply. These trading centres drew large

44, Thomas Horsficld, “Report on the Island of Bangka™, JIA, v. 2 (1848), pp.
299-336, 373-427, 705-25, 779-824. See especially pp. 302-14 for a
discussion of the rise of Bangka's tin industry and the role which the Chinese
scttlers played in it.

45, The Tuhat, pp. 96-97.

46. Thomas Forrest, Voyage to New Guinea (London, 1972), p. 381. See also, J. R.

Logan, “Notices of Chinese Intercourse with Borneo Proper prior 10 the

Establishment of Singapore in 1819, JI4. v. 2 (1848), p. 615.

H. Marriot, trans. and ed., “A Fragment of the History of Trengganu and

Kelantan™, JSBRAS. no. 72 (May 1916), pp. 3-23.

48. G. E Gerini, “Historical Retrospect on Junkceylon Island™, JSS, v. 2, pt. 2
(December 1905), p. $5.

49. G. William Skinncr, Chinese Society in Thailand: An Analytical History
(Ithaca, 1957), pp. 80 and 97.

41



PRELUDE TO SINGAPORE, 1784 - 1819 19

numbers of people together, sometimes as many as 100,000. Ships
needed food supplies as well. Yet, there were no good rice-lands in
the immediate vicinity of the Straits of Malacca which could have
been put under direct political control from the entrepot. The
Malay ports had always found it necessary to depend on Java and
Siam as major sources of food. Lewis reports that *‘a thriving trade
had also developed between Riau and the ports of Java, which
supplied foodstuffs to the Johore ports, probably in return for cloth
and opium.”™

The Tufhat indi that a major dity for
Javanese rice was gambier: “Then for several years everyone was
happy. The country was prosperous, food was cheap and everyone
traded with great profit. For instance, gambier was priced at two
Jjaktun at Riau and was sold for cight and sometimes ten jaktun in
Java. And Javanese rice was only three Bengal rupees a pikul.”*!
Until the 1830s, Java was the major market for Riau's gambier. The
Tufhat notes that “ships came from Java and Celebes and they
traded the produce of Java for the gambier.”** Gambier, however,
did not just go to Java. It seems that most of it went first to Java
and then to China, which explains to some extent the role of the
Chinese in its cultivation.

At some time carly in the eighteenth century, the Chinese
evidently began to use gambier as a tanning agent on a significant
scale. The first definite word comes from Milburne in 1813. He
noted that gambier was being purchased in Batavia by the Chinese
*‘along with hides, in the tanning of which it was destined to aid".”
The Tufhar hints that it was being so used as early as 1784, when it
notes that there were Chinese coolies in the jungles gathering
hides.*

Gambier production had been a traditional Malay
and, in the mid h century, was blished in Sumatra,
the west coast of the Malay peninsula, and in west Java. The

50. Diane Lewis, “The Growth of the Country Trade 1o the Straits of Malacca
1760-1777", JMBRAS. v. 43. pt. 2 (1970), p. 116.

51. The Tufhar, pp. 188-89. It has not been possible to find out what a jaktun is.

52, Ibid., p. 221.

$3. William Milburne, Oriental Commerce (etc.), v. 2 (London, 1813), p. 312; also,
1. H. Burkhill, A Dictionary of the Economic Products of the Malay Peninsula,
v. 2 (London, 1935), p. 2201.

54, The Tufhat, p. 97.
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gambier “lozenges” which the Malays produced were an item of
trade at that time. Gambicr’s astringent properties made it useful as
a medication and it was also chewed as a component of the betel
quid.”

The establishment of the cultivation at Riau by Daing Chelak
marked two important i ions in the traditional producti
and use of gambier. The first was in the use of Chinese coolies to
cultivate the crop and to extract the commercial gambier. This
appears to be the carliest ded instance of a I of
Chinese agriculturalists in the Malay world. The second innovation
was the joint ivation of pepper. Ulti ly, it was gambier's
leather-tanning property that made it important to the West;
however, this did not occur until 1835.

Since the Dutch do not appear to have been very interested in
gambier during the eighteenth century, there is little mention of
these developments in the Dutch sources for this period but, to
date, an exhaustive study of these records has yet to be conducted.
What we know of it comes from the Tufhat and other odd

in porary European sources, mostly from later
dates. These show, however, that the gambier trade was obviously
of great importance to the Bugis rulers of Riau. The profits
contributed substantially to the prosperity of the Riau entrepot in
the mid - cighteenth century.

By 1784, gambier cultivation and trade had become an
important part of the indigenous economy of Riau. In fact, it
appears that gambier was the only crop that Riau ever produced.
More importantly, the cultivation and trade were significant
because they facili d the relatively I of large
numbers of Chinese coolies in the Malay world. In 1784, there may
have been as many as 10,000 Chinese settled on Bentan Island.*

The Bugis, by opening gambicr plantations at Riau, had
created an item which was always certain of a market in Java and

55, Burkhill, A Dictionary, v. 2, p. 2201.

56. This is only a rough guess. However, Begbie reports a population of over
13,000 in 1825, While there had no doubt been substantial growth in this
population since 1818, there had clearly been settlements which had survived
since the earlier period. Thus, one must assume that the overall population at
the worst of the period of piracy never went below 5,000, The Tufhat (p. 189)
mentions a Chinese merchant population of 800 and claims a Malayo-Bugis
population of 90,000 for about 1780. Even if it was only half that, 10,000
Chinese is still a plausible estimate.




PRELUDE TO SINGAPORE, 1784~ 1819 21

Siam.” Together with hides, gambier assumed an important place
in the new exchange pattern. Riau produced gambier which was
traded for Javanese or Siamese rice by Bugis or Chinese traders.
Merchants in these countrics then sold hides and gambier in
exchange for Chinese products such as porcelains, silk, and tea.

Viewed in this light, the gambier cultivation at Riau was a
significant part of the Bugis power structure. It assured the port of a
food supply, yet one which was under the control of the Bugis. It
brought wealth to both Malays and Bugis, partly from the trade,
partly from the plantations (some of which were Malay-owned),
and finally from the fact that a stable food supply ensured a
successful entrepot. In addition, the agriculture and commerce
brought allies for the Bugis peranakan at Riau — these were the
Bugis jati and the Chinese. The cultivation was a tool or lever which
the Bugis used in their struggle for dominance within the maritime
polity.

The development of this new pattern of commercial
agriculture, despite the rather limited objectives of the Bugis, had
Wlde repercussions for the maritime state. From this time until the

ing of the ieth century, it ined the major prop of
Riau's cccnomy. It would also be of even greater importance to
Singapore and the new Malay state of Johor in the nineteenth
century.

Thus with the defeat of the Malays and the success of gambier,
Bugis domination of the state was secure by 1762. At this time
another element entered the picture. In the 1760s, British country
traders began to enter the archipelago with cargoes of what rapidly
became the most sought-after item in the Asian trade — opium.

57, There also appears to have been an exchange of gambier for rice with Siam.
During the late Ayuthia (until 1767) and early Thonburi-Bankok periods
(especially after about 1780), Siam was sending gambier to China as tribute.
Ch'in Ting Ta Ch'ing Hui Tien Shih Li (Y558 H< i 42 $L5{5)), 1898 edition
(Taiwan, 1963), reports that gambier (also referred to as cutch) was sent to
China from Siam in 1729 (p. 11768), in 1766 (p. 11772), and in 1795. 1 am
grateful to Mrs. Jennifer Cushman for this information. The Tufhat reports
that Siamese topes frequented Riau (p. 97) and that Siamese rice sold for ten
Spanish dollars a koyan (a koyan is 5,333.33 Ib). $10.00 Spanish was worth
about £2 sterling at the time. Since most Siamesc trade at this time was in the
hands of Chinese (Skinner, Chinese Society, p. 41), it would scem that all the
clements for a thriving rice-gambier traffic to China via Siam were present.
Gambier was not produced in Siam at this time.
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These traders made the third and perhaps most important addition
to the complex of economic forces that were gathering around
Riau, the other two being those represented by the Bugis and the
Chinese.

The opium traffic quickly became the mainstay of Riau's
international as well as local commerce. The Tufhat mentions ships
carrying opium from Bengal as early as 1740.* By the 1760s, it was
so well established that Daing Kemboja obtained half the cargo of a
British opium ship on credit in order to pay the Dutch indemnities
demanded for the Linggi wars.” The procceds from that sale
amounted to §77,754.%

It is revealing to note the speed with which this trading pattern
developed. According to Diane Lewis' findings in the Dutch
archives, “in the first half of the century, no more than ten private
English merchant vessels had ever called at Malacca in any one
year; in 1769 the number had increased to twenty-six. Ten years
later it had more than doubled again. Many of these European
vessels were known to visit Riau.™

Animp P ion of the expanded country trade was
that it brought a new group of Europeans to the archipclago. These
men were the forerunners of British expansion in the Malay world.
Not only were their cargoes of opium extremely valuable — opium
was worth its weight in gold at this time — but they brought a
weapons technology which rivalled that of the Dutch. Through the
British, the Malays and Bugis were able to purchasc arms in order
to continue their wars against each other and the Dutch. In
addition, the Bugis were producing some of their own armaments,
including gunpowder and bullets, at Riau with the aid of Chinese
and Indian or Arabian craftsmen.*

The Dutch had reason to be worried about the military threat
posed by the Bugis. The Malacca authorities were involved in the
politics of the Malay states of the Peninsula, particularly Perak,
where they had a vital interest in the tin. One Dutch source reports
that the Bugis had gained a virtual monopoly over the tin trade in

8. The Tufhar, p. 97.
59. 135,

6. R. stedt, “Outline of a Malay History™, p. 158.
61 Lewis, “The Growth™, p. 117, n. 27.
62. Ibid., p. 115, n. 5: see also the Tufhat, pp. 143, 232.
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the Straits.* In addition, the Bugis had already fought the Dutch to
a standstill when they laid sicge to Malacca in 1757.%

Naturally, the Dutch were very concerned about the commerce
in arms and opium. They were running rival entrepots in Java and
at Malacca and had been the dominant European power in the
Straits for almost a century. Since 1760, they had monopoly treaties
with many of the Malay and Bugis states in the region covering the
sale of tin, pepper, and spices. Riau was one of these. Lewis notes
that “though the terms of the 1757 treaty stipulated that no foreign
Europeans should be allowed to come to trade in the ports of
Johore, Riau soon became a favourite port of call for many of the
English private merchants who now began to trade regularly
between India and China."*

Writing in 1785, the Dutch governor of Malacca, P. G. de
Bruijn, described with envy the flourishing trade which favoured
Riau under the Bugis.* This commerce involved in part the
exchange of four basic commodities: opium, piece goods, tin, and
pepper. Opium, which he considered the mainstay of the trade,”
was brought by English and Portuguese country traders to Riau.**
They also brought piece goods from Bengal, Coromandel, and
Surat. These textiles had been a major item of the India - Southeast

63. John Bastin and R. W. Winks, cds., Malaysia: Selected Historical Sources
(Kuala Lumpur, 1966), p. 102: *Memorandum handed by Governor Wilhem
Bernhard Albinus, on the oceasion of his departure to Bauvln. 10 Senior

Merchants and G ! Picter van
reference.” (Reprinted from Brian Harrison, JMBRAS, v. 27, pl 1(1954), pp.
24-34)

64. The Tufhar, pp. 118 19. The Linggi war resulted in a Bugis siege of Malacca
which was only broken when reinforcements came from Batavia.

65. Lewis. “The Growth™, pp. 114-15.

66. Brian Harrison, trans., “Trade in the Straits of Malacca in 1785,
Memorandum by P. G. de Bruijn, Governor of Malacca™, JMBRAS, v. 26,
pt. 1 (July 1953), pp. 57-58.

67. Ibid., pp. 58-59.

68. The so-called country traders were private merchants based in India who
traded with the archipclago and China. Originally, these had included
Indians, Portuguese, Dutch, and British shippers. By the 1760s, however, the
English came to dominate the country trade. They specialized in carrying
opium from Calcutta to Canton. See Holden Furber, John Company at Work,
Ch. 5 (Cambridge, Mass., 1948); also D. K. Bassett, “*British Commercial and
Strategic Interest in the Malay Peninsula During the Late Eighteenth
Century™, in Malayan and Indonesian Studies. ed. John Bastin and R.
Roolvink (Oxford, 1964), pp. 122-40.
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Asia trade for centuries. The opium traffic, however, had quite
recently become of much greater significance. Especially since the
1760s, it had increased considerably in volume.

From the east came Chinese junks, bringing tea, ceramics, and
silk. At Riau, they exchanged these goods for Indian opium and
piece goods as well as for the tin and pepper of the archipelago. De
Bruijn noted that most of the tin sold at Riau came from
Palembang and Bangka. In addition, some of the tin was
“smuggled” from the tin and pepper producing states on both sides
of the Malacca Straits and Borneo.”

The trade at Riau was brisk and this added to the profits. De
Bruijn noted that between 20,000 and 30,000 pikuls of tin were
imported to Riau annually. Tin arriving before August “‘was
carried away by foreign European ships sailing via the Straits [to
China on the southwest monsoon] or by Chinese junks which
visited Riouw; that which arrived after then was bought up by the
English and Portuguese returning from China and making for
India. Consequently the tin seldom lay longer than six months at
Riouw.™"™

De Bruijn’s account of the Riau trade is both confirmed and
supplemented by the Tufhar Al-Nafis: **... the trade of Riau became
great. Many perahu came from afar and ships large and small came
from Bengal by the scores carrying the trade goods of Bengal. From
China came red and green junks, also by the score. Ships also came
from Siam bringing rice and other things and perahu came from
Celebes and Java.™"

69, Lewis, “The Growth™, p. 115. “One of the staples of the trade there was tin,
but this was no longer brought mainly from the peninsular territorics of
Johore, for forcign merchants had begun to call at the mouth of the Sclangor
fiver itself. Riau's supplies came increasingly from Ujong Salang and
Palembang. Bugis trade to the former place Mlourished between the 1740s and
the end of the 17605, when the island became involved in the Thai-Burmesc
wars. Bugis vessels also brought pepper annually from the Manpauwa, Passir
and the further North Coast of Borneo ... to Riaw."

0. Harrison. “Trade™, p. 59.

1. The Tuhat, pp. 142-43. The colour of the junks signified the province of
origin of the craft. For purposes of registration and identification, the Chinese
government stipulated that the hulls of the junks of each province should be
painted a different colour. The red were fram Kwangtung and the green from
Fukien; Jennifer W. Cushman, *Fields from the Sea: Chinese Junk Trade with
Siam during the Late Eighteenth and Early Nincteenth Centuries™, (Ph. D.
Thesis. Cornell University. Ithaca. N.Y.. 1975), p. 69.
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The author of the Tufhat points to the quantity of foodstuffs
and everyday necessities as indices of Riau’s prosperity. Such items
as rice, sugar, and cloth were not only readily available at Riau but
were also very cheap.”™ H: also lists the names ol' mnny different
kinds of vessels as some indication of the of
the port. These ships, it is said, were “strung like fish on a line at
Sungai Riau from the river mouth far up-stream”.” De Bruijn was
such an admirer of Riau’s trading system that he wished to copy it
at Malacca.

In his report to Java he stated that the Siamese, Malays, and
Achehnese who frequented Riau could be drawn to trade at
Malacca if they could easily buy tin, pepper, opium, and piece
goods there. He also requested that an unlimited number of
Chinese junks be permitted to trade at Malacca. If this were done,
then great profits would accrue to Malacca.’* The Batavian
officials, however, were much more concerned about the prosperity
of Batavia and could see no benefits from Malaccan prosperity;
thus his reccommendations fell on deaf ears.

In her recent study of the country trade, Lewis remarks on the
ease with which trade was conducted at Riau. Duties were low,
trade was brisk, and the wid; ging Bugis traders provii Riau
with a selection of goods available at no other entrepot in the
region. For these reasons, it is easy to see why Riau became the
centre of the country trade in the archipelago.” The Bugis had thus
duplicated the pattern of successful Malayan entrepots of the past.
Like Srivijaya, Malacca, and old Johor, they had made Riau the
principal meeting-place of the commerce of China, the west, and
the Malayan Archipelago.

In about 1780, Riau stood on the brink of achieving great
political power in the Malay world. The empire of Johor had been
fragmented for almost sixty years. Raja Haji now began to put it
back together again. He is one of the great heroes of the Tufhat.
Since about 1760, he had been sailing around the Malay world,

72 Ibid.. pp. 188-89.

73 Ibid., p. 97. These included: kapal—ship; perahu—Malay canoe, 6-8 ton
burden; kichi—ketch; selob—sloop: wangkang—Chinese junk, about 150 tons
burden; tob Siam. or tope—a small-sized junk used in the Gulf of Siam;
santi—?.

74. Harrison, “Trade™, p. 58.

75, Lewis, “The Growth™, pp. 115~ 16.
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fighting wars and g Ily ising his i ilitarily.” He
fought for the rulers of Jambi and Indragiri and married their
daughters; he intimidated the Sultans of Palembang and Perak. He
and Daing Kemboja defeated Siak. He forced Sultan Mahmud of
Perak to give a daughter to his brother, the ruler of Selangor, in
marriage. He fought for, and installed, the ruler of Pontianak as
Sultan. Although he would have been considered a Bugis upstart by
many Malay rulers, he was beginning to make an impact. A
measure of his power was the Dutch fear of him. If he could have
gained Siak and Trengganu as allies, Raja Haji could have wiped
out Dutch Malacca altogether.

The Dutch were aware of this, however, and abandoned their
traditional policy towards Johor. As described by retiring
Governor Thomas Schippers in 1773, this policy was two-pronged.
The first “prong™ was to prevent the combination of “pirate”
bands. The second was to maintain neutrality in the conflicts
between Siak, Riau, and Trengganu.” Raja Haji appears to have
combined the “pirate” bands. The Dutch grew fearful of a repeated
Bugis attack on Malacca, and so they invaded Riau in 1784. They
very nearly lost. The siege of Riau lasted about three months and
failed. The Dutch then lifted the siege and returned to Malacca only
to find themselves under attack by both Selangor and Riau. The
fleet from Batavia was needed to break the Bugis blockade.™ They
then killed Raja Haji and drove the Bugis out of Riau.

One of the reasons for this diversion into the history of Riau
under the Bugis is to show how galling the situation must have been
to the Muluys and orang laut of Riau and Jchor Their state was

again rising to p but they were losing
power, When Riau fell, the reverb were felt throughout the
1 pirates and ding bands began roving the seas,

and the Malays of Riau rose up with a vengeance to reclaim their
state.

76. The Tufhar (pp. 163-85) gives a long account of Raja Haji's conquests
between about 1754 and 1777. Winstedt's version of these events is 1o be
found in his “A History of Johor™, Ch. 8, and A History of Malaya, 1962. pp.
148-53,

77, “Two Dutch Governor Reports™, in Malaysia. ed. Bastin and Winks, p. 107

78. The Tufhat (pp. 197-211) gives a good description of this war from the Bugis
viewpoint.
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Another reason is to note the structure of cconomic patterns
that Riau brought together. However, with the Bugis gone, the
trading patterns also fell apart. The trends which had sustained the
pre-1784 commerce were blocked by a number of events in the
archipelago which included the Bugis defeat, lhc upsurge of piracy,
and the of Siak and T: to these but
also having an impact were such occurrences as the Napoleonic
Wars and the Thai-Burmese wars. Thus, the attempted Malay
resurgence at Riau, which marked the period 1784 - 1815, came at a
time of general disorder throughout the world. Thls meant a decline
in trade. Malay prosperity was hindered lly poor
international conditions as well as local wnrl‘nrc Economic
prosperity only returned after 1815, when favourable trends
resumed again in the Straits of Malacca. However, the Malays of
Riau did not profit from this. These trading patterns were
ultimately drawn together at Singapore, under the British, And
once again the Malays and orang laut of the region found
themselves left out.

The situation of the Malays at Riau and Johor had a direct
bearing on the foundation of Singapore and the manner in which
this event was secen by the Malays. Engku Muda, the son of
Temenggong Abdul Jamal, grew to middle age at Riau between
1762 and 1784. He must have been about forty years old when the
Dutch fleet drove the Bugis out. The family’s status had probably
been slipping. What status he had probably came through his
mother, Raja Maimunah. Winstedt notes that Engku Muda's two
brothers generally used the Bugis title “*Daing”.” Through this
connection, he may at least have been able to maintain a certain
status and wealth. Perhaps he was onc of the Malay chiefs who
went into gambier planting.” Whatever the case, he appears to have
had little in the way of official status. In 1784, he suddenly found

79. Winstedt, “The Bendaharas and Temenggongs™, pp. 64-65. “Superficially
everything about Engku Muda suggests Bugis descent. The old Malay
honorific ‘Tun' has gone; in place of it we get Che Engku and for his ‘brothers®
the Bugis title *Daeng".”

80. The Tufhat (pp. 96-97) states that Bugis and Malays owned gambier
plantations which were worked by Chinese coolies. Temenggong Abdul
Rahman had introduced gambier planters to Singapore before 1819; thus one
concludes that the family had some previous cxpericnce in this kind of
enterprisc. W. Bartley, “Population of Singapore in 1819", JMBRAS, v. 11,
pt. 2 (December 1933), p. 177.
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himself in a position to reclaim power and office. Three years later,
in 1787, he proclaimed himself *“Sultan of Riau™."

The events that led to his rise began with the Bugis departure in
1784, Sultan Mahmud Il (then about twenty-three years old)
found himself surrounded by the new leaders of the Malay faction:
the Bendahara (Tun Koris), the *Temenggong" (Engku Muda, or
Daing Kechil), Raja Indera Bungsu, and Raja Tua Enche Andak.*
The five of them signed a treaty with the Dutch in 1784. In 1787,
they were forced to sign a new treaty which placed even more
restrictions on them. Dissatisfied with the treaties, the Malay chiefs
invited a group of lllanun sea rovers from Tempasuk in Northern
Borneo to drive out the Dutch. The raid was successful but the
Malays realized that the Dutch would return; so they all left, except
for Engku Muda."

Just how much time he spent at Riau is uncertain. The times
were troubled. The political structure had entirely broken down.
The forces of Malays and Bugls who had fought the Dutch under
Raja Haji were gh the archipel making a
living from piracy which was the only way they knew. The Illanuns
did not go home but stayed in the Riau-Lingga Archipelago to
continue raiding." A prince from Siak, Sayed Ali, organized a fleet
and roamed the archipelago for three or four years, staging raids

Winstedt, “A History of Johor™, p. 71. Winstedt cites the diary of the Dutch
Resident, F. G. Smidt: “Since 1784 when the Dutch had ousted the Bugis, Riau
had been the possession of the Malays in the persons of Raja Maimunah and
Engku Muda (son of her and of the Temenggong of Johor) who, according to
the diary of a Dutchman, F. G. Smidt, then at Riau, styled himself Sultan of
Riau." See also, Winstedt, “The Bendaharas™, pp. 64-65.

The Tufhat, pp. 211~ 14. Winstedt has covered these events in Ch. 8 of “A
History of Johor", The Malay text does not identify the Temenggong by
name.

The Tufhat makes no mention of his presence at Riau at this time. Rather it
reports that the Sultan went to Lingga together with Raja Indera Bungsu, and
about 200 perahu of Malays and peranakan Bugis accompanied them. The
Bendahara went to Pahang with about 150 perahu and about half of the Malay
suku went to Trengganu. No mention is made of Engku Muda, or the
Temenggong: rather, the Tufhat simply notes some Malays set up a base at the
Bulang Strait to “scek their livelihood™ (menchari rezeki), suggesting that they
became “pirates”, pp. 221-22.

84, Ibid, pp. 220-21, The Tufhar claims that the Ilanuns went back to
Tempasuk (Kota Belud, Sabah), but hints that a few remained at Riau. Other
sources indicale that most of the Illanuns stayed, set up bases, and began
raiding. Horsfield describes how Illanuns and orang faur from Lingga

s
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from Kedah to Singgora.* The Yang Di-Pertuan Muda, Raja *Ali,
was in Siantan. The Sultan went to Trengganu.* Engku Muda took
the opportunity to rebuild his own power. He seems to have
become a formidable power in the region between 1787 and 1795.
In the latter year, Sultan Mahmud returned and gave Engku Muda
control of Riau.

He was so strong that it took almost ten years for Raja *Alj, the
new Bugis Yamtuan Muda, to dislodge him and allow the Bugis to
reoccupy Riau. Between 1795 and 1805, Engku Muda was a
dominant force at Riau. The whole Malay-Bugis feud erupted again
around this new pair of antagonists."

With the English in power at Malacca, the Malays no doubt
expected a return to prosperity.” However, the feud dragged on.
Engku Muda was extremely reluctant to allow himself to be pushed
out as his father had been. He dug in his heels and hung on, either
at Riau or Bulang, until about 1804. After that time he simply
retired to Bulang and seems to have held his following intact. He
accepted a peace with the Sultan but refused the title of
Temenggong and insisted on that of Raja Muda. But he allowed his
nephew, Abdul Rahman, to accept the title of Temenggong from
Sultan Mahmud in about 1806.

Engku Muda’s own words, as quoted by Winstedt from the
Hikayat Keraja'an, an unpublished Johor manuscript, perhaps best

destroyed the tin-mining setrlements at Bangka, “Report”, pp. 315~ 16, They
also joined Malay princes such as Sayed Ali of Siak (sce below) and attacked
many other places in the Peninsula. See R. Bonney, Kedah 1771-1821: The
Search for Security and Independence (Kuala Lumpur, 1971), pp. 90-94,
Winstedt, in “A History of Johor", p. 71, notes that about half of Engku
Muda’s flect was composed of Illanuns in 1801, They remained a force in the
region until the mid - nincteenth century.

85. Suyed “Ali bin Othman was a son-in-law of Mohammad Ali, Yang Di-
Pertuan Muda of Siak, In about 178890, he set out from s base at Bukit
Batu and raided for about three or four years. Eventually he returned to Siak,
ousted the ruler, and made himsell Sultan in about 1795. The Tufhat, pp.
224-29, 248-53.

86 Ibid.. pp. 223-38.

87. Ibid., pp. 236-40, 244 -48, and 253-55. The Tufhat describes this conflict
between Engku Muda and the Yang Di-Pertuan Muda, Raja "Ali. Winstedt
has also discussed it in his “A History of Johor™, pp. 71-72. In addition, his
article “The Bendaharas and Temenggongs™ gives perhaps the most
comprehensive treatment of Engku Muda in English.

88. The British took Malacca from the Dutch in 1795 following Napoleon's
conquest of Holland,
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show his attitude and feclings. These set the family’s stance for the
next century.

But Engku Muda had the rank of Temenggong and governed

Riau and Johore, refusing however the title of Temenggong.

“If | can’t be Raja Muda, I don’t want a title. But all the

islands and islets and Johore are under me and certainly

Pahang belongs to my ‘father’, Dato’ Bendahara Abdu’l-

Majid: for today the Sultan no longer heeds Malays but lives at

Lingga and gives Riau to the Raja Muda. Look at our case.

We ought to own the country because we are co-inheritors with

the Sultan. Why should he do as he likes? Like him we are

descended from Sultan Abdu'l-Jalil and custom ordains we
rule the country and how can he stop us? Although I am not
installed, who shall object to my rule? If Engku Abdu'r-

Rahman wants to be called Temenggong, let him seck audience

at Lingga. I won't. If I die, you, Engku, will rule the islands

and never lose Johore because to my mind if the Sultan
behaves like this we've got to look after ourselves or be
worsted."™"

Engku Abdul Rahman did take the title of Temenggong and
shortly thereafter succeeded Engku Muda as the ruler of the island
peoples. As we can see from Engku Muda's words, the status of the
Sultanate was at a low levcl The office had been undergoing

of an itude since 1784. Driven from
Rlau Sultan Muhmud I11 had made a valiant effort to gather the
Malay and Bugis forces for a stand against the Europeans. The
attack never materialized. After 1795, the Sultan returned to Lingga
and began to try to get the entrepot at Riau started again.
Prosperity, however, did not return. The Malays and Bugis did, and
they spent much of their effort fighting one another.

Another signifi ion of the phic events of
1784 -87 was the change whlch now took place in the status of the
Chinese. Prior to the fall of Riau, possibly as many as 10,000
Chinese had settled there to grow pepper and gambier on
plantations owned by the Malays and Bugis. When they deserted
Riau, the Chinese remained. “All of the rajas, the important men
and the masses of the people had scattered each in his own direction
and there was no one left at Riau except for the Chinese who were

89. Winstedt, “The Bendaharas and Temenggongs™, p. 63.
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in the jungle getting hides for the Malays and Bugis who had
gambier plantations. There were also many Chinese who had been
their coolies and such from the beginning. Because there were many
Chinese who had come, they stayed and did not flee.”

The returning Dutch, under Admiral Jakob Van Braam, were
confronted by a delegation of Chinese who asked for support from
the Dutch now that the Malays and Bugis had gone: “'All of the
dark-skinned people will become pirates. We Chinese cannot live
here at Riau any longer. What will we eat? We cannot go to sea now
for fear of the pirates. In Riau, all of our food comes from
outside,™*

Van Braam ordered one Dutchman to remain at Riau as Resi-
dent and commanded the Chinese to return to work on the
plantations which the Malays had deserted. He also promised to
send Javanese ships to Riau with rice to trade for gambier.

As far as the available evidence shows, the Chinese did in fact
remain at Riau. They were still there in 1818 when the Dutch
returned to take possession of the island once again. In the
intervening years, they became largely autonomous and militarily
self-sufficient.” The lone Dutch Resident certainly could not have
exercised much influence over their internal affairs, and even he left
in 1795 when the British took over the Dutch possessions in the
Straits. Engku Muda, from his base at Bulang, could not have
exerted anything but a sporadic type of control over Chinese
affairs. The result was that the Chinese appear to have developed
their own institutions of political and economic control. For them
this was a period of virtual independence.

The unsettled conditions of the time affected the entire Malay
Archipelago. The American naturalist, Thomas Horsfield, who
accompanied Raffles to Java in 1810, has left a detailed report of
the manner in which the Chm:sc tin miners of Bangka reacted to

the * They rel d their \! and d
stockades for their own del’ence ngalnsl the Illanun and orang laut
pirates. Although prod ly dropped, the |

90. The Tufhat, pp. 221-22,

91. P.J. Begbic, The Malayan Peninsula (Madras, 1834), p. 315.

92. Horsfield, “Report™, pp. 314-81. He describes how the Chinese tin-mining
settlements here came under pirate attacks after the fall of Riau in 1784, The
Chinese, unable to depend on the Sultan of Palembang for protection, were
forced to relocate and build fortresses to protect themselves,
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managed to establish supply lines with the outside and survived.
Something very similar appears to have happened at Riau during
these years.

In terms of Malay history this development was of crucial
importance. Not only did the Chinese now come to represent yet
another autonomous force putting additional strain on the already
enfecbled Malay polity but they had developed institutions which
made it possible for them to operate with virtual independence on a
permanent basis. It is against this background that the subsequent
aggressiveness and prosperity which the Chinese displayed at
Singapore and in Malaya in the nincteenth century must be
understood.

This appears to have been the germinal period for the peculiar
variety of Chinese secret societies which later became of such great
significance in the Malay world. In addition, so far as Riau and
Johor are concerned it was during these years that the foundations
of the Kangchu system were laid down. P. J. Begbic's description of
the gambier cultivation at Riau, which is based on Dutch sources
dating from 1818 to 1825, show that it had become a purely Chinese
enterprise.” In 1825, there were over 13,000 Chinese settled on five
different rivers on Bentan Island. They were grouped in settlements
ranging from a few houses to over 1,000 people. In the larger
villages revenue “‘farms™ were maintained. These included
monopolies for the sale of opium, spirits, and pork and for

bling and broking. Another imp item is that the
Chinese terms kang and chukang were already being used to refer to
the river-mouth settlements where the farms were located.™ Begbie
himsell never uses the term Kangchu, but it is possible that the
Chinese themsclves were already using the term to refer to the
headmen of these settlements.

Al this time, the kang appears to have been the lowest level in
the hierarchy of a purely Chinese power structure that centred on
the town of Riau. At the top, and located in Tanjong Pinang or
across the harbour at Senggarang, were the Kapitan China of Riau.
There were two communities of Chinese there, the Hokkien, often
called “*Amoy™ in contemporary sources, and the Teochew, often

93. Begbic, The Malayan Peninsula, p. 31S.
94. Ibid.. pp. 304 and 306. He mentions settlements named “Singkang” and
“Pitjukang™.
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styled “Canton™.” At some periods cach kampong, as their port
settlements were called, had its own Kapitan; at other times one
Kapitan governed all Chinese. It seems likely that all of the pepper
and gambicr cultivators were under the Kapitan of the Teochew
community.*

Netscher has described a hicrarchy of “military™ officials
under the Kapitan Tan Hoo in 1818. This included two “'military

ders” called hania. P there was one for each
community. Then, over each district were two lesser officials styled
abooi and toeabak. The district officials were appointed by the
Kapitan, while the Kapitan and the toeahania were appointed by
the Yamtuan Muda. At this time it seems that all except the
Kapitan received a salary.” It is interesting that Netscher makes no
mention of Kangchu, thus leaving open the question as to whether
or not the term was in use at this time. It may be that Kangchu was
an alternative term for the abooi or toeabak or, perhaps, the
Kangchu was not a part of this hierarchy. Whatever the case, we
should also assume that the secret socicties were an integral part of
this power structure and that the main focus of the system would
have been the control and protection of the revenue farms which
were held under the Kapitan.

The signi point of this di: ion is that the independ
and economic unity which the Chinese had now achieved made it
possible for them to deal with the Malay chiefs on an individual
basis. The high degree of factionalism at Riau between 1800 and
1820 indicates that no single Malay chicf governed the market-place
as had been the case in the pre-1784 period. Thus we note that
Temenggong Abdul Rahman, the successor of Engku Muda, had
settled groups of his own Chinese at Singapore by 1818." The
Tufhat mentions at least one dispute between rival chiefs at Riau
which arose because of the Chinesc.” It is also noteworthy that for
the post-1800 period the Tufhat makes hardly any mention of either
the Chinese or the gambicr cultivation (which persisted and

95. Begbic, The Malayan Peninsula, p. 344.

96. E. Netscher, “Beschrijving van een Gedeclte der Residentic Riouw”,
Tijdschrift voor Indische Taal- Land- en, Volkenkunde v. 2 (1854), p. 159.

97 Ibid.

98, W. Bartley, “Population of Singapore in 1819", JMBRAS, v. 11, pt. 2 (1933),
pp. 177,

9. The Tufhat, p. 269.
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MNourished throughout the nineteenth century). This is in contrast to
numerous references for the pre-1784 period. This rather
conspicuous silence may be taken to indicate that the Malay and
Bugis rulers of Riau had lost control of the cultivation, the Chinese,
and, to a large extent, the market-place itself. It is not impossible
that the Chinese th ) a more cohesive unit than
did the Johor/Riau government. This must certainly have been true
in the cconomic area. There was probably an interlocking system of
debts and financial arrangements among the Chinese of Riau and
Malacca that cut across Malay political boundaries. This was also
reinforced by a parallel system of secret society relationships.

It was because of this foothold which the gambier planters and
merchants had established at Riau in the 1787-1818 period that
they were able to move with such speed when Raffles founded his
settlement at Singapore in 1819. In the later years of the century,
these developments would be of crucial importance in the
foundation of the new Malay state of Johor.

There were also external reasons for the domestic strife and the
lack of prosperity that characterized Riau between 1795 and 1819.
By 1795, there were two English settlements in the Straits of
Malacca. Penang had been founded in 1786 and Malacca had been
taken over in 1795. These events had knocked away one of the
props of Riau's formerly advantageous economic position. Riau no
longer held a virtual monopoly on the British trade in the region.
No Malay entrepot could successfully compete with two British
centres, no matter how favourable its location. This had serious
consequences for the Sultanate.

Between 1760 and 1784, Riau had been important to the
British as a major distribution point in the archipelago for their
opium. It was also a collection point for tin and pepper. The
country traders frequented Riau in order to avoid the Dutch and
their taxes. For the English, cighteenth-century Riau was almost a
free port.'™ There was a need for such a place as Riau so long as the
Dutch held Malacca.

The fall of Riau in 1784 left a gap that was partly filled by the
founding of a settlement at Penang in 1786. After 1795, the need for
a native port such as Riau — so far as the country traders were
concerned — had been filled. The British East India Company held
both Penang and Malacca. In fact, the country traders themselves
100 Lewis, “The Growth™, p. 115.




PRELUDE TO SINGAPORE, 1784~ 1819 s

now began to disappear or, rather, they began to transform
themselves and establish offices in these settlements.

Not only did the British no longer need a Malay or Bugis
entrepot — their whole style of trade began to change. With both
native and Chinese trade gravitating to the British ports, there was
less need for the individual English trader to frequent all the smaller
archipelago ports. The British, like the Chinese, were no longer
mere passers-by but had also become permanent residents. This
circumstance made a crucial difference. One reason for Riau's lack
of commercial success after the Dutch were driven out in 1795 must
have been the mere presence of the British settlements. These
became the major supply centres for the opium trade in the
archipelago.

Riau was still in a favourable position for native trade. Given
domestic peace, it might have managed to draw a substantial
number of native and Chinese traders. But even under
the best circumstances, it would still have been economically
dependent on the British scttlements. They were the source of
Riau’s supply of opium. The best that any chicf could have hoped
would have been for guaranteed consignments of opium, at slightly
reduced prices, from European or Chinese merchants at Malacca, "
However, the Malay rulers would have had to stop forcing native
trade into their ports. If they continued this practice they would
have been considered pirates. In effect this meant that the Malay
chiefs would have been forced to halt their traditional exercise of
political power. The poverty of Riau at this time no doubt
aggravated the conflict betwen Engku Muda and Raja *Ali. British
political invol may have i d to the led state of
affairs as well. The conflict at Riau drew the attention of most of
the other Malay states in the region. Between 1795 and 1806, while
Sultan Mahmud tried to make peace between Engku and Raja *Ali,
chiefs from Selangor, Siak, and Pahang travelled to Riau to aid or
interfere with his cfforts." The British were involved as well."” No
one was totally disinterested.

101 The Tufhat (pp. 224 and 268) indicates that the Yang Di-Pertuan Muda
Ja'afar (1805~29) had very cordial relations with the English at Malacca.

102. Winsteds, in “A History of Johor™, p. 71, reports on the involvement of
Sultan Ibrahim of Selangor and Bendahara Abdui Majid of Pahang. The
Tufhat (pp. 238-4) reports Sultan Ibrahim’s visit, and (pp. 252~54) tells of
Sayed Ali's (of Siak) involvement.

103. The Tufhat mentions British involvement in a peripheral way at this
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In 1805 there was a period of calm, or so it seems.' In that
year Raja ‘Ali, the Yang Di-Pertuan Muda, died. His chief
antagonist, Engku Muda, died the following ycar. The former was
succceded by Raja Ja'afar, a son of Raja Haji, and Temenggong
Abdul Rahman took over from Engku Muda at Bulang.” The
factions continued intact, but the fighting seems to have stopped
and some prosperity may have returned. This was perhaps because
the British were favourably disposed towards Raja Ja'afar,'* Also,
Sultan Mahmud was in a stronger position with these younger men.
The period of calm ended, however, in 1812 when Sultan Mahmud
dicd. He left two sons — Abdul Rahman was the younger and less
forceful individual; the older was Hussain, or Tengku Long. He had
marricd Enche Puan Bulang, a daughter of Engku Muda, and
enjoyed the support of the Temenggong. In 1812, when his father
died, he was in Pahang marrying the Bendahara's daughter, thus
forging another alliance.” Raja Ja'afar took advantage of his
absence to appoint Abdul Rahman as Sultan. This was naturally
opposed by the Temenggong, the Bendahara, and Hussain, who
were supported by another of Mah 's wives, Tengku Putri, who
held the regalia.

The Bugis, however, were also fighting among themselves. A
quarrel developed between Engkau Karaeng Talibak, the wealthy
and influential Bugis merchant, and Raja Idris, a brother of the
Yang Di-Pertuan Muda Raja Ja'afar."* Thus rivalry was rife.

penod. Certuinly ane of the considerations in allowing Raja Jw'afar 1o take
over the post of Yang Di-Pertuan Muda in 180 was his friendship with the
Malacea authorities (Ibid.. pp. 156-57). The British attempt to stop Sultan
Ibrahim from going to Riau in about 1800 also indicates their interest. John
Anderson, Political and Commercial Considerations Relative 10 the Malayan
Peninsula and the British Settlements in the Straits of Malacea (Prince of Wales
Island. 1824); reprinted as JMBRAS, v. 35, pt. 4 (December 1962), pp.
193-95

104, The Zufhat (pp. 255 - 56) speaks of prosperity at Lingga and a final settlement
over Riau. The Yang Di-Pertuan Muda, Raja *Ali, was installed and built
himself u palace, and Riau is said to have become populous — all in about
1804, But Winstedt, in “A History of Johor™, p. 72, reports that he was not
settled there until 21 December 1804; and the Tufhat reports his death the
following year. He was succeeded by Raja Ja'afar in 1806.

105, Winstedt, A History of Johor™, p. 72

106, The Tufhat, pp. 156-57.

107, Winsted, in “A History of Johor™, pp. 73~ 77, recounts the basic outlines of
this very complex incident.

108, The Tufhar, p. 269. “There was a misunderstanding with Raja Idris, the
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In 1818, the Dutch resumed control of Malacca as a result of
arrangements made at the end of the Napolconic Wars. They sent
Adrian Kock, a long-time Dutch merchant from Malacca, to
negotiate a treaty at Riau. When he arrived there, the various
power-holders had reached an armed stand-off. The Tufhat quotes
Koek’s letter to Raja Ja'afar:

-.. all of the other (chiefs) hold power cqual to yours. With

yourself there are two or three equal powers in the state and

cach is a rule unto himself. You have one rule; Engkau

Karaeng has one rule; the Temenggong has another which has

kept the government in confusion for some time already. Your

brother Raja Idris has one rule; and Tengku Long has yet
another. Finally they have fallen to fighting and quarrelling
such as the dispute between Engkau Karaeng and your
brother. Does all this not bring you great loss? Therefore, the

Dutch Company wants to aid you in all of these things,

wherever correct. And if there remain any deputics, they will

be your slaves; and neither the glory of your name, nor the
revenues of your government will be lost.'™

Charmed by these “sweet words”, Raja Ja'afar allowed the
Dutch to reoccupy Riau. They gave him the promise of military
support with which he could overcome his enemies. This was a blow
to the Temenggong who then retired to Singapore." For British
commerce the future was equally obscure. The situation of
1786-95 had been restored to a certain extent. The Dutch now
controlled Malacca and the entrance to the Straits at Riau. Penang
was cut off from much of the valuable trade of the archipelago.
Farquhar and Raffles had already begun looking around for an
alternative British settlement before Malacca was returned to the
Dutch.""" It was for this purpose that Farquhar had made a Treaty

brother of Raja Juafar, over the governing of the Chinese (pepper and
gambier cultivators).”
109, Ibid., p.272-73. Secalso, C. H. Wake, “Raffles and the Rajas, The Fovnding
of Singapore in Malayan and British Colonial History", JMBRAS, v. 48, pt.
1. pp. 50-52.
Ibid., p. 275. Other sources suggest that he may have set up the base at
Singapore as early as 1812, but no matier where his base was, he obviously
continued to exercise some influence at Riau until 1818,
SSFR. v. 67, 182, and 1824, contain most of the British correspondence
dealing with the activities and views of Raffles and Farquhar in the year or
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of Commercial Alliance with Raja Ja'afar' in 1818 just a few
months before the Dutch arrived. The British may also have made
some kind of ar with the T even before the
Dutch came back to Riau.'” In any case, the Temenggong was their
most logical choice for an ally after 1818. In January 1819, Raffles
and Farquhar met him at Singapore and signed their first treaty.

The scene of our story now shifts to Singapore, and we must
consider the question of relations between the Malays and British.
Riau, now under the Dutch, continued as a port and a seat of
Malay power, but from 1819 it had a very strong rival at Singapore
and was quickly outstripped. Singapore took over all the functions
that Riau had once performed. It was a centre for the Indian opium
traffic, and it drew the native and Chinese trade. It also became the
centre for the gambier trade. There was no nced for a Malay
entrepot in the Straits. With the entrepot in foreign hands, the
ecological niche that the Sultanate had once occupied was
destroyed.

The cntrepot had traditionally been the major source of
financial support for the Sultanate. Even though the Bugis Yang
Di-Pertuan Mudas had controlled the entrepot in the eighteenth
century, they still needed the Sultan; so they supported him. He was
given a palace and was symbolically elevated to give legitimacy and
status to the state.”* The Bugis may have exploited the Sultanate,
but they also preserved it.

Sultan Mahmud may have had little in the way of military
power after 1784, but he had strength of character. The Tufhat gives
a sympathetic picture of him as an able statesman working against
insurmountable odds."* His failure was not for want of skill and
courage but rather from his lack of money and guns. Munshi

two which preceded the founding of Singapore. See also, Wake, “Raffles and
the Rajas™, pp. 52-58, for the most recent discussion of this period.

John Anderson, “Political and Commercial Consideration™, pp. 24 26, gives
a translation of this treaty.

113, The Tuhat (p. 275) claims that there had been some arrangement made
between the Temenggong, Hussain, and Farquhar shortly before the founding
of the colony. British sources, however, which are based on Raffles’ writings
deny any such arrangement.

Ibid., pp. 189-89.

2.

14
115, Ibid., pp. 219~ 56. This covers the period 1787 to 1803, During part of this
time Sultan Mahmud was a refugee without a state, and the rest of the time he
was trying to patch up the feuds at Riau. The incident in Trengganu where he
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Abdullah also attests to the good qualities of Mahmud as a ruler."*
He had, unfortunately, lost the respect of the Europeans. The
Dutch saw him as an outlaw, and the English as only a petty and
ineffectual chief. But if he had lived until 1819, our story might well
have been very different. He could possibly have played off Raja
Ja'afar against the Temenggong on the one side and the British
against the Dutch on the other. His death, however, left no ruler
with an unquestioned claim to legitimacy at a time when Europeans
were ing and ing their ic position in the
archipelago.

In occupying Singapore with the co-operation of the
Temenggong and Hussain, the British founded a new entrepot on
the doorstep of Riau, As the major cconomic force (the wealthiest),
they also dominated the political situation. Their installation of the
ousted Tengku Long as Sultan Hussain of Singapore was their first
slep towards active involvement in Malay politics.

From this time on, Europeans became the primary source of
legitimacy in the Malay political system. A conscious awareness of
this reality of life was onc of the greatest advantages the
Temenggongs of Johor would have during the nineteenth century.
They did not readily realize this. Rather, they had to suffer
additional set-backs in their relations with Singapore before they
began to make any gains. Their experiences with the Bugis at Riau
in the cighteenth century may have taught the family the art of
perseverance in the face of adversity. The British would reinforce
these lessons.

is 5aid to have prevented a war between Siak and Trengganu (pp. 225-27) is
largely a statement of his legitimizing power,

116. Abdullah bin Abdul Kadir, The Hikayat Abdullah, trans. A. H. Hill (Oxford,
1970), pp. 271-72.




2
The Prince of Pirates
1819-1825

From 1819 on, the major theme of the history of the Temenggongs
is that of their relationship with the British at Singapore. The native
chiefs of Singapore, Temenggong Abdul Rahman and Sultan
Hussain, did not sever their connections with their relatives in Riau,
but these links became less critical. The survival of the Temenggong
and his descendants came to depend almost exclusively on the
goodwill and tolerance of the Singapore government. However,
even though the scene of their story had shifted, there was a great
deal of carry-over from the past.

It is necessary to define here the foundations on which the
association between the Malays and British was built, A major
historiographical problem of this period has been that the founding
of Singapore was treated almost exclusively as a chapter in British
colonial history. Until recently, virtually no attempt has been made
to examine the indi, iewpoint.' That the T and
the Sultan had any legiti irati or i in
permitting a British settlement at Singapore is given very little
consideration in the school of Malayan history originated by

Raffles and Crawfurd. The following d ion of the p
between the British and the Malays will thus attempt to present, as
completely as possible, the case for the Temenggong.

The relationship was not a smooth one. It began with
misunderstanding and moved quickly to conflict, almost open
warfare, The Malay chiefs of Singapore immediately lost ground
before the British advance. In 1826, seven years after the settlement
of Singapore was founded, there was not even a Temenggong. The
fortunes of the family had hit a new low point. For the next ten
years their forces were in disarray. After 1836, however, their
fortunes began to improve and they gradually regained a position
of power and importance in Singapore. By 1850, a certain amount

1. The outstanding exception 1o this is the recent article by C. H. Wake, “Raffles
and the Rajas”

0
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of mutual understanding had grown up between a new
Temenggong and the British. It was on the basis of this
understanding that the new state of Johor was founded by
Temenggong Daing Ibrahim.

It is important to recall that, between 1819 and 1850, Johor
was no more than a geographical expression. It is difficult to say
exactly when the term Johor came to mean only the southern tip of
the Malay Peninsula. In the sixteenth century, the Sejarah Melayu
refer to the area as simply Ujong Tanah (Lands-End).* The Tufhat
uses the term Johor to refer to the whole kingdom, including the
Riau-Lingga Archipelago, up to about 1822 or 1823. The same is
true of the Hikayat Negri Johor, where the term Tanah Johor clearly
includes Riau." The identification of only the peninsul
region as Johor seems to have been, at least partly, a function of
European perceptions. The first instance in the Tufhar where the
term Johor is used to refer only to the mainland comes in 1823 when
the Riau chiefs, probably at the urging of their Dutch sponsors,
attempted to lay claim to a portion of the mainland. The Yamtuan
Muda ordered the Shahbandar to erect a flag in the “country of
Johor™ (negri Johor).* Abdul Rahman was indecd Temenggong of
Johor, but of which Johor? And what was the significance of his
office in 1819? There are no unequivocal answers to these questions.
This was a period of such sweeping change that even the meaning of
words was altered.

Even in the 1830s there is little evidence that a comprehensive
term for what we now call Johor was in common usage. Rather, the
region was seen as a collection of tiny principalities, each one
known by its own name. Writing in about 1836, Newbold described
Johor as being made up of Muar, Padang, Batu Pahat, Pontian,
Benut, Johor (that is, Johor Lama), and Sedili. Outside of Muar,
these were little more than small villages of about 300-400 people
at the most. The Temenggong was said to rule only the portion
from Benut to Sedili.’

Muar, which was said to have a population of about 2,400, was
under a Temenggong of its own. It is not clear whom he recognized

2. Brown, trans., Scjarah Melayu. pp. 190-91.

3. Winstedt, “A History of Johor (1673-c. 1800 A.D.)", jawi text of Hikayat
Negeri Johor, p. 293

4. The Tufkar, p. 293

. Newbold, Palitical and Statistical Account, v. 2, pp. 41-44.

-
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as his overlord. Newbold claims that all of these “petty states” were
under the “Sultan of Johore”, but he does not say whether he
means Abdul Rahman of Lingga or Hussain of Singapore.
Winstedt, in one article, follows Newbold in stating that Engku
Konik, Temenggong of Muar (1801-30), had been installed by
Sultan Mahmud [T and that his successor was installed by Sultan
Hussain of Singapore in 1830.* However, in his “A History of
Johor”, Winstedt takes a different line. *“The immediate sway of the
Temenggong of Johor ran from Pontian round Cape Rumenia to
Sedili Besar. But Engku Konik, Temenggong of Muar from 1801 to
1830, was appointed by *Abdu’ r-Rahman Temcnggung of Johor
and Singapore™.” This P is pi dicative of the fact
that these territories were not very xmporlanx at this time.

It is of interest that no contemporary account (c. 1800 30),
whether Malay, English, or Dutch, has much to say about the
Temenggongs' government on the mainland of Johor. This is
probably because there really was not one to speak of. In addition,
neither Newbold nor Begbie indicate that the Temenggong
exercised authority in the islands to the south. But Dutch reports
and those from other British colonial officials do connect the
Temenggong with the sea peoples and the off-shore islands.

Legitimate authority on the mainland, whoever held it, did not
change the fact that outside of Muar there was hardly anything
worth governing. In 1826, some Europeans from Singapore
travelled up the Johor River as far as Kota Tinggi and found only
three settlements.* The account of Crawfurd's circumnavigation of
Singapore Island in 1825 reports that along the entire southern
cous( of Johor, from Tanjong Ramunia in the cast to Kukub in the

est, “the country is one dreary forest without human habitation or
appamnlly the marks of there cver having existed any.” Outside of
a few * hed and ¥y di * huts on Pulau Ubin

6. Winstedt, “The Temenggongs of Muar™, JMBRAS. v. 10, pt. | (1932), p. 31,
Sce also Newbold's article in J. H. Moor, Notices of the Indian Archipelago and
Adjacent Countries (Singapore, 1837), Appendix, pp. 73-76, “Skeich of the
State of Muar™.

Winstedt, "A History of Johor™, p. 90.

“Trip to the Johore River”, Singapore Chronicle, August 1826, in Moor,
Notices. pp. 264-68. The Temenggong did exercise authority on the Johor
River to some extent. The writer claims he had appropriated some old cannons
from Bukit Seluyut (p. 266). However, the Bugis of Johor Lama were
apparently under a Suliwatang in Singapore (p. 264).
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and a few small villages up the Johor River, the party found only
jungle and swamp.’ Newbold's statement that the population of
Johor in 1835-36 was about 25,000 is somewhat doubtful.” The
area may have been one of considerable settlement in earlier years
and only recently depopulated as a result of the pirate raids after
1784. Munshi Abdullah notes that the area around Padang
(modern Parit Jawa), on Johor's west coast, had once been heavily
populated but that the “depradations of petty rajas™ had left it
deserted."

In 1818, Temenggong Abdul Rahman was primarily concerned
about his island possessions. His dominion, the saru perentah that
Adrian Kock mentioned, was made up primarily of sea peoples.
Ethnically, these people were a mixture of Bugis, both peranakan
and jati, orang laut, and “*Malays", whatever the word meant at the
time. Politically, economically, and socially, their lives were
organized around boats, maritime activity, and trade. They
probably patrolled the coasts of Johor and collected trading
commodities from the wlu dwellers. This was the extent of their
connection with peninsular Johor. It was only a coastline which,
together with the many straits, shoals, swamps, and islands, made
up their territory. They drew a living primarily by policing small-
scale sea-borne trade. This following of maritime peoples was the
i ion of wh r power T Abdul Rahman
cxercised at Riau beforc 1818. When he was at Riau, the
Temenggong was primarily a maritime chief. His major concerns
were the politics of the capital, the entrepot, and the court. He led a
group of subsidiary chiefs' many of whom controlled small flotillas
of war perahu, perhaps as many as ten or twenty each. The nakhoda,
or captain, of cach boat was in charge of a crew of twenty to forty
men, some fighters, some rowers. The latter were often slaves and
sometimes orang laut. This was the “military” side of his following.

°

“Journal of & Voyage Round the Island of Singapore™, Singapore Chronicle,
November 1825, in Moor, Notices, pp. 268 -69.

10. Newbold, Political and Staristical Account, v. 2, PS4

1. A H. Hill, trans., The Hikayat, pp. 271-73.

12... Three of the major Malay chicfs under the Temenggong were the Panglima
Perang, who was living at the Temenggong's kampong on the Singapore River
in 1823 (C. B. Buckley, An Anecdotal History of Old Times in Singapore
(Singapore, 1969), p. 85), and Raja Lang of Bulang (*Report on Piracy by
Registrar of Imports and Exports Edward Presgrave™, SSR, 20 January 1829,
p- 71), and, 1o control the Bugis, Arong Belawa (sec below).
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In about 1824, the T 's ing of

peoples numbered anywhere from 6,000 to l0000 This figure
includes his kampong at Singapore which had about 1,000 people,
including 500 Bugis who fled from Riau in 1820 under their chief,
Arong Belawa."” Beyond this, or perhaps with this, the Temenggong
controlled the whole western section of the Riau Archipelago.
Taken together, various contemporary accounts show that the
T 1

d the following
TABLE 1
The T s ime Fo ing, c. 1823"
Island Suku* Population Boats
Karimon ? 1,250 2
Buru Buru 670 3
Galang Galang 1,300 20
Moro Moro 560 15
Batam Trong ? 10
Sugi Sugi 1,600 6
Bulang Pekaka 1,050 1
Timiang Timiang 1,100 30
Singapore 1,500 ?
Johor 1,000 2
10,030 84
* Tribe name

These islands, together with Johor and Singapore, gave the
T a chain of ically located bases which made
possible the control of all traffic moving between the Straits of
Malacca and the South China Sea (see Map 1). Whether or not the
population figures are accurate (Begbie does not give his source),

13, Arong Belawa apparcntly took over the following of Engkau Karaeng Talibak
(se p. 43 above). His wives included a daughter of Yang Di-Pertuan Muda
Rajs “Ali (1784 - 1805) and u daughter of Karaeng (Begbic, pp. 283-84). The
Tufhat has a long account of his expulsion from Riau, claiming that he
eventually returned to Riau and made his peace with the Dutch and Raja
Ja'afar (p. 279). However, Gibson-Hill reports that he was buried in the
Temenggong's cemetery at Teluk Belanga. C. A. Gibson-Hill, “Singapore, Old
Strait and New Harbour", Memoirs of the Raffles Museum, no. 3 (December
1956). p. 80.

14. Population figures based on Begbic, The Malayan Peninsula, pp. 270~72.
Boats based on Presgrave, “Report on Piracy”, p. 71. Sce also Appendix A.
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the variation in the several accounts indicates that the size of the
population under his control was probably quite fluid. It grew or
diminished ing to the general prosperity and the strength of
his position in the entrepot.

The Temenggong and his people left Riau in 1818 when the
Dutch gave their support to the Yamtuan Muda, Raja Ja'afar. This
move denicd them a share in the economic benefits of the port.
They went to Singapore and became “pirates”, according to the
Dutch. In fact, they probably continued their former occupations
but without the benefit of ition from Riau. Originally, the
T 8" blish at Singapore was probably meant to
be very much like the one Engku Muda had maintained at Bulang
in earlier years (that is, the headquarters of the opposition).

The coming of Raffles and William Farquhar in 1819 was a
godsend for the Temenggong. It gave him a chance to enter into a
privileged relationship with another important European power.
The Temenggong thus aspired to a prominent role in the Singapore
entrepot, as he had previously done at Riau. As before, he sought
power at the centre. He appears to have begun trying to carry out
the traditional functions of his office, which included managing the
trade, collecting taxes, and policing the harbour and surrounding
scas. There is every indication that after 1819 the Temenggong and
Sultan Hussain continued to consider Singapore as their state and
expected substantial political and economic benefits as a result of
their position. The serics of agreements that these chiefs signed with
the English in 1819 gave them a great deal of power at Singapore.

For about fi d-a-half years, Sii g d
under a unique set of conventions. Although these arrangements
were altered in 1823, and entirely cancelled by a new treaty in 1824,
the original treaties give an accurate picture of the expectations of
the Malay chiefs in 1819." Between 1819 and 1823, Singapore was

15, The authoritative source for these treaties, as well as all of those made by the
British with other Malay states, is W. G. Maxwell and W. S. Gibson, ed.,
Treatics and Engagements Affecting the Malay States and Bomeo. (London,
1924), pp. 115-22. Buckley, in An Anecdotal History, Chs. 1-14, also gives
these Ircatics together with prints of a great deal of closcly related primary
source material from the Straits Settlements Records, as well as his own ex-
perience (pp. 36-39) in bringing to light the last remaining original copy of the
first treaty.

The major engagements were between the Temenggong and Raffles, dated 29
January 1819 (Buckley, An Anecdotal History, p. 36); between the Temenggong
and Sultan Hussain and Raffles, dated 6 February 1819 (ibid., pp. 38-40);

_between the Temenggong and Sultan, and Raffles and Farquhar, dated 25 June
1819 (ibid.. pp. S8-59); between the Temenggong and Sultan, and Raffles,
dated 7 June 1823 (ibid., pp. 106-7); and between the Temenggong and Sultan,

and John Crawfurd, dated 2 August 1824,
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under tripartite rule. Authority was shared between the East India
Company, the Temenggong, and Sultan Hussain. The 1819
agreements gave cquality to all three parties.

On 30 January 1819, Temenggong Abdul Rahman was
recognized as the **Ruler of Singapore, who governs the country of
Singapore in his own name and in the name of Sree Sultan Hussein
Mahummud Shah...."” The T allowed the settl of
the East India Company in return for *“protection” and an annual
pension of $3,000.* A week later, Hussain was brought from Riau,
installed as Sultan by Raffles, and a formal treaty was drawn up.
Sultan Hussain app! d the earlier in for
protection and a pension of $5,000 annually. Both princes were
bound to “aid and assist the Honourable East India Company
against all enemies that may assail the Factory or Factories of the
said Company™ in their territories. The port was to be under the
authority of the British government, and all persons belonging to
the factory were under the protection of the British. The
Temenggong, however, was to receive half of all duties levied on
“Goods, Merchandise, Boats or Vessels....”"" The question of
authority was stated very ambiguously. The Temenggong was the
“Ruler of Singapore™ but the port was under the authority of the
E.LC. It is also noteworthy that the Temenggong was able to claim
such a potentially large revenue entirely for himself to the exclusion
of Sultan Hussain. The British considered him the more powerful of
the two chicfs, Hussain was but a legal necessity.

A further agreement, on 26 June 1819," did little to clarify
matters, although that was its stated purpose. The *Arrangements
made for the Government of Singapore™ fixed the boundaries of
the factory,” but it d the of the of

16. Ibid., p. 36.

. .. pp. 38-40. Sce Articles 2, 4, 6, and 9.

18. Pp. $8-59.

19. .. p. 58. Article 1: “The boundarics of the lands under the control of the
English are as follows: from Tanjong Malang on the west to Tanjong Katang
on the cast, and on the land side, as far as the range of cannon-shot, all round
from the factory. As many persons as reside within the aforesaid boundary, and
not within the campongs of the Sultan and Tumungong, are all to be under the
control of the Resident, and with respect to the gardens and plantations that
now are, or may hereafier be made, they are to be at the disposal of the
T but it is unds that he will always acquaint the

as
Resident of same."
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the Sultan and the Temenggong which were within the factory
territory. It also formalized the tripartite rule under which the
settlement was to function: *No Duties or Customs can be exacted,
or farms established in this Settlement without the consent of the
Sultan, the Tumungong and Major William Farquhar, and without
the consent of these three nothing can be arranged.”*

John Crawfurd has summarized the implications of these
treaties. His remarks also reflect the attitude of Englishmen of the
time towards such dealings with Malays.

In the first agreement with a native chief, the arrangement
amounted to little more than a permission for the formation of
a British factory and establishment, along two miles of the
northern shore, and inland to the extent of the point-blank
range of a cannon shot. There was in reality no territorial
cession giving a legal right of legislation. The only law which
could have existed was the Malay code. The native chicf was
considered to be the proprietor of the land, even within the
bounds of the British factory, and he was to be entitled, in
perpetuity, to one-half of such duties of customs as might
hereafter be levied at the port. In the progress of the
settlement, these arrangements were of course found highly
inconvenient and embarrassing, and were annulled by the
subsequent treaty of August, 1824

The authority of these chiefs was so broadly and ambiguously
defined by these treaties that even Raffles and Farquhar, who
together made the treatics, did not share a common idea of what
they meant. During the period when Farquhar was in charge of the
settlement,”” the Temenggong and Sultan gained additional
economic benefits. In November 1819, Farquhar established tax

20, Ibid, p. 59. Article 7.

21. Crawfurd, 1828, quoted in Buckley, An Anecdotal History, p. 40.

22. Li-Col. William Farquhar, Governor of Malacea (1803 - 18), was the Resident
at Singapore from its foundation until May 1823, when he was deposed by
RafMes. He had ruled the port while Raffles was abseat from Singapore
discharging his duties as Licutenant-Governor of Benkulen.

After founding Singapore and drawing up the initial treaties in January and
February 1819, Raffles keft for Penang. He returned in Junc to sign the third
agreement and then left shortly thereafier for Benkulen. He did not return
again until 10 October 1822, by which time the settiement had become well
established under the governance of Farquhar. (Ibid. pp. 48, 73.)
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farms for opium, liquor, and gambling. One-third of the proceeds
of these were to be paid to cach of the chiefs. The chiefs also
received presents from the captains of Chinese and native craft that
came to Singapore.” These arrangements ran counter to Raffles’
aims. When RafTles took charge of the settlement in October 1822,
he ran into conflict with both Farquhar and the native chiefs. He
condemned Farquhar’s impl ion of the 1819 and
was dissatisfied with the extent of the authority which had been
vested in the Temenggong and the Sultan,
.. the extraordinary principle assumed by Licutenant-Colonel
Farquhar, and maintained by him in opposition to my
authority, that the disposal of the land was vested in the native
chiefs, that the government of the country was native and the
port a native port, rendered indispensable that these points
should be fully explained and more clearly defined, and as that
officer had also permitted various exactions and privileges to
be enjoyed by their Highnesses incompatible with the freedom
of the port, I have availed myself of the opportunity offered in
iating with their High for the payment of an
cquivalent for the port duties, to stipulate such arrangements
as seem essential to form the bases of the good understanding
to be maintained for the future.*
Munshi Abdullah, one of Raffles’ Malay scribes who has followed
him there from Malacca, has described the influence which the
T ised at Si during Raffles” absence:
All the inhabitants were dismayed by frequent incidents,
houses catching fire, robberies taking place in the high noon,
people getting stabbed. When morning came people would be
found stabbed and wounded to death. The Temenggong’s men,
the Sultan's men and the foreigners of all races went about
fully armed; some of them robbed people in broad daylight,
some broke into houses and stole people’s property, for they
were afraid of nothing.... Every day it was the Temenggong's
men who started brawls, for their attitude towards the Malacca
men was like that of tigers towards goats. The Malacca men
were unarmed, knew nothing of dagger tactics, and had never
seen bloodshed. In any kind of clash between the Malacca-

23, Ibid., pp. 63-64.
24, Ibid.. pp. 120-21. RafMes to Supreme Government, 7 June 1823,
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born, whether Chinese, Malays or Indians, and the
Temenggong's men, Colonel Farquhar always took the side of
the former for he realized that their nature made them shy of
fighting with weapons.... The two sides were always at
loggerheads, and on many occasions violent quarrels flared up
between them, not individual combats but free-for-all fights,
when a man of one side harboured a grievance against a man
of the other. If they had not all been afraid of Colonel
Farquhar they would have gone on killing each other every day
without stopping.”

Raffles's contention that Singapore was being run as a “native

port™ was at least partly true. The Temenggong was clearly trying

to exercise his authority.

Early in 1823, matters came to a head. On 11 March, Farquhar
was slabbcd by an amok, Sayed Yassin.* This event happened
diately after Raffles’ 1 ion forbidding the carrying of
arms in the Settlement. Thc stabbing brought out all the hatred and
suspicion that had grown up between the Malays and Europeans.
Since it was dark and the assailant had been so badly slashed by
Farquhar’s men, immediate ldcnllﬁcuuun was impossible. The few
Europeans icked and fell on the T
Thcn some three or four hundred armed soldiers came running
. Behind them a squad of soldicrs ran past pulling twelve
guns already loaded. All the soldiers surrounded the I'cncc
which ran around the T 's and
the guns on the side facing his house. Other soldiers rushed up
holding flints in their hands and stood there only waiting for
the order to touch off the guns..... Not a single one of the
Malays was to be seen, all of them having been chased away
by the soldiers.”
Raffles, although he too suspected the T kept his head
and did not give the order to fire. He then discovered that the
assailant had been Sayed Yassin and not one of the Temenggong's
men. However, the animosity did not end there. The general ill-
feeling inued, and Si: d in a state of tension for
some months. Raffles had dccndcd to make an example of the

25 A H. Hill, trans., The Hikayar, p. 159.
26, Ibid., pp. 169-75
27, 1bid., p. 172.
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incident — he had the body hung on a scaffold and dragged around
the town. A Dutch visitor has left a record of those days:

The Lieutenant-Governor Raffles, who was in possession of

the body of the derer, had that, i ing all the

objections of the natives, hung on a gallows guarded by

soldiers, which had the effect that all the natives adopted a

h ing attitude and d i le fear amongst
the citizens. Settlers and traders, as well as the Chinese who
took the side of the Europeans, were night and day under
arms. And this unsettled state of affairs lasted just so long as
the body was hanging up, terminating on the third day, when

Mr. Raffles considered it wiser to hand over the body of the

misdoer to his friends and compatriots for burial. Since this

upset there has been no very great sense of security amongst
the merchants of Singapore....*
As if to challenge the Europeans, Sayed Yassin's body was buried
by the Sultan and became a local shrine and place of pilgrimage.”

The problem was clearly more than a question of mistaken
identity; there was a struggle for power. The Temenggong and the
Sultan were acting as if Singapore were their entrepot, and they did
as they would have at Riau. As maritime chiefs, they had
traditionally been entitled to a share in the wealth and status that
came with the entrepot. To them, Singapore was simply a slight
adaptation of the typical Malay port which had sustained their
ancestors for centurics. Raffles, although he must have been aware
of this, saw things from quite a different viewpoint: *'l have had
everything to new-mold from first to last; to introduce a system of
energy, purity and encouragement... Singapore is now perhaps the
only place in India where slavery cannot exist."*

To Raffles, Singapore was new; it was his own creation. Yet to
the Malays, it was simply one more variation on a very old theme.
Practically every Malay state known 10 history had been based on a
trading city. In the maritime world, the entrepot was the major
political structure. If a ruler sought power, his aim was to control
the port. The Malay chiefs at Singapore were fully aware of the
significance of the port, and the treaties reflect the demands they

28,

2

H. E. Miller, “Letters of Colonel Nahuijs", JMBRAS, v. 19, pt. 2 (October
1941), p. 195.

29 A. H. Hill, rans., The Hikaya, p. 174, fn, 9.

30. Quoted in Winstedt, “A History of Malaya™,

. 218,
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must have made on the Europeans. The trading city had always
been the focal point for the political forces of the Malay world. The
Malay chiefs may not have forescen the extent of Singapore's
success, but they must have known that the city would soon
dominate the region. From the beginning, it was their intention to
have a share in its power.

It is difficult to decide whether Raffles himself was aware that
he was founding the centre of a new empire. He had been in the
Malay world for almost fiftcen years by the time he founded
Singapore,” and he must have had some inkling of the power sucha
city could have. Regardless of Raffles’ statements, we must
question John Bastin's contention that Raffles’ idea of a free port
was anti-imperialistic. “Aware of the disfavour which further
territorial expansion would bring, Raffles had no idea of these ports
b ing colonial blish They were rather, he said, to
*be looked upon as so many outposts ... for the convenience and
security of our ... commercial interests, and not as governments
intended for the rule and detailed management of a dominion™.""

There was a gap between “*Raffles’ idea™ and the reality of the
situation. It is ironic that, in attempting to avoid the establishment
of an empire, Raffles patterned his settlement on the classic model
of the Malay maritime empire. For the next half-century, Singapore
continued to imitate the traditional political pattern that such states
had followed in the past. It controlled only commerce, but
commerce was the only source of political power that Malays had
ever known. It did not undertake “‘the rule and detailed
management of a dominion™, but the carlier maritime empires had
not done so cither. Srivijaya, Malacca, and Johor had controlled
their empires by managing commerce. The entrepot was the great
juncture of the communications and transportation systems of the
archipelago. Control of the entrepot gave the ruler economic and
every other kind of power over the riverine states of the Peninsula

31, Raffles first arrived in Penang in 1805 where he served as Assistant Sccretary.
He quickly learned the Malay language and was soon recognized as an expert
on Malay affairs. In 1811, he accompanied Lord Minto. the Governor-General
of India, during the invasion of Java and, when Minto left, he was appointed
Licutenant-Governor of Java. In 1816, after the British withdrew from Java, he
returned to England where he was knighted and returned to Sumatra to
become Licutenant-Governor of Benkulen in 1817,

32 John Bastin, “Raffies and British Policy in the Indian Archipelago™, JMBRAS,
v. 27, pt. | (May 1954), p. 82.
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and Sumatra. The ruler of the maritime state limited his political
infly to the legitimization and ition of “tributary”
chicfs. Rule was traditionally indirect. From its inception,
Singapore was locked into the classic patterns of traditional Malay
politics.

The Sultan and the Temenggong were aware of this, and
refused to step down from their position when Raffles offered them
a chance to become merchants. Munshi Abdullah has described a
meeting which took place between Raffles and the two Malay chiefs
sometime in 1823. The chiefs came to Raffles, complaining that
their allowances were insufficient. Raffles countered by offering to
obtain goods on credit for them from an English merchant in India,
He would even give them money and draw the plans to build
warehouses. Then they could conduct business with the native
traders who came to Singapore and could earn a commission on
sales. Raffles, however, had overplayed his hand — the chiefs just
laughed and said, “It is not the custom of rulers to engage in trade
for they would lose dignity before other rulers.””

Although he failed to buy off the chiefs in this manner, Raffles
sought other ways to limit their power at Singapore. He had no
intention of allowing the city to remain a “native port”. However,
he could not change the original treaty, because he still needed the
Malays. The dubious legality of Sultan Hussain’s title was the only
basis of the Company's claim to Singapore. In 1823, the Dutch
remained firm in their contention that the British occupation of
Singapore was illegal since it rightly fell within the territories under
Sultan Abdul Rahman of Lingga and thus ought to have been
Dutch. Because of this situation, Raffles was more or less required
to allow the original treaties to stand. The fact that both chiefs had
been in contact with the Dutch and the Riau chiefs after the
foundation of Singapore justified Raffles' concern that they might
yet go over to the Dutch.**

Instead, Raffles only tried to modify some of the privileges
originally given to the Sultan and the Temenggong with another

33 A H.Hill, trans., The Hikayat, p. 163,

34, Buckley, An Anecdotal History. pp. 50~ 51. Buckley gives copies of letters from
the Temenggong and Sultan to Yang Di-Pertuan Muda Raja Ja'afar, claiming
that the British had forced them against their will to allow the settlement.
Raffles also had an adversary in his collcague, Governor Bannerman of
Penang, but the latter had died in 1819,
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agreement on 7 Junc 1823. By this treaty, the chicfs gave up their
rights to port duties and their share in the revenue farms. They
could no longer receive presents from the captains of Chinese and
native vessels, and they were relieved from attendance at court. In
compensation, the Sultan received a pension of $1,500 per month
and the Temenggong $800. The Temenggong was given an
additional sum to finance the removal of his kampong to Teluk
Belanga. The chiefs also gave up their authority over Singapore
Island: “With the cxcepuon of lhe land appropriated to their
High for their resp: all land within the
island of Singapore, and islands immediately adjacent, to be at the
entire disposal of the British Government.™”*

Even these concessions were not really enough for the British.
However, as Raffles put it in his letter to the Indian Government:
*1 did not deem it prudent in any way to alter or revise the original
treaty, but the conventional agreement now made may be
considered cqually binding on the parties, and may of course be
hereafter adopted as the basis of any more definite treaty to be
entered into after the permanency of the Settlement has been
established."*

The of the settl " was i upon the
Dutch clmms This problem was resolved by the Anglo-Dutch
Treaty of London on 17 March 1824. The agreement provided for
the recognition of the British position at Singapore. In addition,
Malacca was given back to the British, and the Dutch promised to
make no treaties with the Malay states of the Peninsula. The British
agreed to forgo any treaties with the Sumatran states and withdrew
from Benkulen. This treaty split the Malay world through the
Straits of Malacca and Singapore, the middle of the Temenggong's
domain.” With Dutch recognition of the British scttlement at
Singapore, the English were no longer dependent on the tenuous
arrangements they had made with the native chiefs.

Raffles was unable to guide the fortunes of Singapore by this
time. Following the signing of the 1823 agreement, he returned to
England and never returned to Singapore. The settlement was taken

35, Ibid., pp. 106-7

36, Ibid., p. 121. Raffles to Supreme Government, 7 June 1823,

3. C.D. Cowan, ed.. “Early Penang and the Risc of Singapore, 1805 - 1832: A
Scries of Documents from the Manuscript Records of the East India
Company™, JMBRAS, v. 23, pt. 2 (March 1950), pp. 14547,
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over by the Resident, John Crawfurd. The new Resident expressed
the view that the native chicfs had contributed nothing to the
success of Singapore: “'It does not appear to me that the influence
of the native chiefs has in any respect been necessary or even
beneficial in the formation, maintenance, or progress of this
settlement, the prosperity of which has rested solely and exclusively
on the character and resources of the British Government.” It was
in this spirit that Crawfurd negotiated a new treaty with the Sultan
and the Temenggong on 3 August 1824. The Malay princes were
forced to make a full cession of Singapore and the adjacent islands
to the East India Company in exthange for a cash sclll:menl They
were allowed to maintain their at pore under
British_jurisdiction: the Sultan at Kampong Gelam and the
Temenggong at Teluk Belanga. They were also committed to help
suppress piracy.”

As a result of the 1824 treaty, the Malay chiefs lost all
legitimate claim to status and political power in Singapore. This
was the second time in six years that they had experienced such a
set-back. For the Temenggong, the situation of 1818 when he had
been forced out of Riau was now repeated. This time, however, he
had nowhere clse to go. Both the new treaty signed with the English
and the Anglo-Dutch treaty had deprived him of his former domain
in the islands.

The Carimon lslnnds and the Malayan Settlement of Bulang
are two of the p of the T of
Johore or Singapore, and his claim to them is not only allowed
by the rival chiefs [the Yang Di-Pertuan Muda at Riau and
Sultan Abdul Rahman], but more satisfactorily ascertained by
the voluntary and cheerful alliance yielded to him by the
inhabitants. By the present treaty, however, he must either
forgo all claims to these possessions, or removing to them,
renounce his connexion with the British Government.“

38. Crawfurd to Governor General, 10 January 1824, quoted in Buckley, An
Anecdotal History, p. 163.

39. “ATreaty of Friendship and Alliance ... etc.", quoted in Buckley, An Anecdotal
History. pp. 168-170. See also A. H. Hill, trans., The Hikayat, pp. 218-20,
which gives an interesting, if unsubstantiated, account of the manner in which
Crawfurd was said to have coerced the chiefs into signing the treaty,

40. Crawfurd to Calcutta, | October 1824, quoted in Buckley, An Anecdoral
History. pp. 178-179.
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There was no future for him at Riau with Raja Ja'afar and the
Dutch. All that was left was Johor, and there was nothing there to
attract him. Singapore, despite all its troubles, had become a
populous and successful port. There were many reasons which
compelled the Temenggong to remain there, beyond the fact that he
had no alternative.

While Crawfurd's argument regarding the success of Singapore
as being the responsibility of the British may have some validity, he
appears to have ignored certain realities which his successors
ultimately were forced to recognize. Singapore's size and prosperity
left many opportunities for the Malay chicfs to augment their
wealth and power. They had agreed to aid in the suppression of
piracy by the treaty of 1824, and there was really no way that the
British alone could police the many channels and straits of the
region. In the past the sea peoples under the Temenggong had
carried out the function of patrolling these waters. However, since
they were not allowed to collect presents or port duties from the
native and Chinesc vessels, who would pay to suppress the pirates?
The allowances given to the Sultan and the Temenggong were
insufficient to pay their followers. The only recourse for these
people was to continue in their former occupation on a free-lance
basis — they became pirates.

We should define the word pirates. As long as the Malay
political system of the region was operative, the activities of the sea
peoples had been violent but perfectly legitimate pursuits. The sea
peoples possessed the seas and what floated on them by hereditary-
feudal right from the Sultan of Johor. So long as their chicf held a
valid title from the Sultan, their “patrol™ activities regarding trade
were a legitimate naval operation.

Some groups of orang laut, however, did not come under
recognized chiefs. These were perompak — wanderers and
rencgades who included hereditary outlaw bands with no fixed
abode."" There were also perompak who were temporary bands of
outlaws under down-on-their-luck rajas and foreign adventurers.
At this time, certain groups were disorganized and in a turbulent
state because of recent economic difficulties. They too had a

41, Begbic, The Malayan Peninsula, pp. 271-73. Begbie describes some suku as
being perpetual wanderers, while most lived more or less ashore or at least had
bascs on the islands from which they drew their names. There were also the
Ianuns, whom everyone looked on as pirates.
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traditional role in Malay politics, supplying much of the dynamic of
political history in the region.” During the years 1787-95, when
there was no legitimate ruler resident in the archipelago, everyone
was a perompak. But it should be understood that this was an
exceptional penod in Malay hlslnry

G , Malays i ctween
and outlawed sca peoples. The Tu/hnl Al- Na/Is. even (hough
written from a pro-Bugis, anti-Temenggong point of view,
never calls the Temenggong’s people perompak. Before 1818,
the Temenggong's and Engku Muda's people were referred to as
suku-suku Melayu, “the Malay tribes". The Dutch turned these
people into “‘pirates” by aiding Raja Ja'afar in dispossessing them
of their traditional rights at Riau. However, even after 1818, the
Tufhat did not consider the Temenggong's authority over the
Karimons as illegitimate. Commenting on the effect of the 1824
Anglo-Dutch treaty, the author remarked on the Temenggong's
position in the islands: **In addition, the Karimon Islands and Buru
Island were included under the government of Sultan Abdul
Rahman and the Yang Di-Pertuan Muda of Riau. But in this affair,
the Yang Di-Pertuan Selat [Sultan Hussain], and the Temenggong
and his di d and people inued to hold them ding to
the old custom.™*

The Dutch, who had been instrumental in ousting the
Temenggong from Riau, seem to have been the first to accuse him
of piracy. The earliest printed reference which connects the
Temenggong with “pirates” is that of Colonel Nahuijs, a
Dutchman who visited Singapore in 1823. He charged that before
1819, Singapore “was a cavern and hiding place for murderers and
pirates™ and d that Si “would have ined the
same den of murderers as it was in the past had it not been taken
over by the English”. He went on to describe the activities of the
Temenggong at Singapore during the early years of the scttlement:

This Tommagung is generally said still to have a very good

undcrsl.mdmg with his elder brothers, the pirates, and to

in an active corresp with them, giving them

regular news of the comings and goings in Singapore harbour

42. The Tufhar, pp. 224-29, 248-53. The account of Sayed Ali of Siak
(1784 1805) is a classic version of the outcast raja as pirate state-maker. Engku
Muda perhaps representcd the same tradition.

43, Ibid., p. 296.
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and the destination, cargo and strength of the different ships.
The Tommagung lives with his dependents a short distance
away from the European town on a site allotted to him by the
British Government of Singapore, on account of the frequent
quarrels and murders for which his dependents have been
responsible. Over all these people as well as over the Bouginese
scttled in Singapore, the British Resident has not the least
authority, even when they attack Europeans.*
These charges may provide a clue to the structure of the
T g's g iti y, the T was a
“police chief". Colonel Nahuijs makes a distinction between the
Temenggong and his “clder brothers, the pirates™. There also seems
to have been another group, “his dependents™. Together with
Munshi Abdullah’s remarks, this suggests that these dependents
were going around the town trying to “collect taxes™ and “police™
the port. They checked cargoes and sailing information and fixed
the value of presents and port duties. In particular, they tried to
govern the Malacca people who had come to Singapore under
Farquhar. These people, numbering from 500 to 1,200, were the
T gong's d at Singap and lived in his
kampong/capital; they were a kind of “administrative" group.
Before he was forced to leave Singapore town in 1823 and to move
to Teluk Belanga, the Temenggong's kampong was hardly
distinguishable from the ial part of the town. Physical
of the T¢ 's k g to Teluk Belanga was the
only way to remove the many “fingers” of his dependents from all
the cconomic *“pies” of the port. These included everything from
presents to prostitution; port duties, trade monopolies, coolie-
broking, and the usual revenue farms on liquor, opium, gambling,
ganja, and the like. The Temenggong's dependents included both
blood relatives and certain employed aliens such as Chinese, Arabs,
Bugis, and Indians. At sea, outside the port, were the orang laut (the
“elder brothers™) who made up the bulk of the 10,000 people under
the Temenggong's government, or perentah. The Temenggong's
town followers gathered intelligence on shipping and walked the
streets. Through the authority of the Temenggong, the port people
passed information to their “clder brothers™ at sea. The
information concerned those who had or had not paid their taxes,
who should be attacked, and how much they should be worth. The

44, Miller, “Extracts™, pp. 192-95.
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trouble that they caused the British government is in some respects
an index of their relative strength and efficiency. It took Raffles
more than three years to get the Temenggong to agree to move to
Teluk Belanga — in August 1824, he still had not left the town. But
finally he did move at Crawfurd’s insistence.”

This was the final blow to his authority. Combined with the
1824 treaties, this Ision blocked the ications system
that was the life of his government. He was physically removed
from the port and its population. In addition, the treaties
recognized a dividing-line which split the Temenggong’s island
territory in half. Now the most important of his possessions were
on the Dutch side of the line, legally separated from the
Temenggong and the entrepot. Crawfurd remarked that the effect
of this division *virtually amounts to a dismemberment of the
principality of Johore, and must thus be productive of some
embarrassment and confusion™.*

The Temenggong had failed in his scheme to have the best of
both worlds — to continue to exercisc his power as a Malay chief
while, at the same time, governing the port of Singapore from under
the British umbrella. He may have alrcady been elderly, but it is
possible that his death, coming only sixteen months after he signed
away Si was with his d. i

A less resilient polity might have collapsed altogether.
Something, however, was salvaged of the apparatus of the old
political system. The new Temenggong, Daing Ibrahim, eventually
took over what remained of his father's state and combined it with

45. Crawfurd to Supreme Government, 10 January 1824, quoted in Buckley, An
Anecdotal History, p. 160, “The demand made by the same chief for a residence
in the town of Singapore has placed me in the same awkward position as his
pecuniary onc. The matter was never hinted to me, cither verbally or in writing,
from the source of my instructions on other paints, and it was with a good deal
of surprise that | first heard the demand. The residence of the Tumongong and
his numerous and disorderly followers was a nuisance of the first magnitude.
Three thousand dollars had actually been paid for his removal, Three thousand
more are demanded for the same object, and yet he wished to preserve a
temparary residence in the very same spot, and to occupy all the ground which
he had ever occupicd. This would have perpetuated every nuisance, for abating
which 50 large an expense had been incurred. The matter would probably have
been aggravated, when the followers of the Tumongong were living in his
enclosure removed from the control of their chicl.”

46. Crawfurd to Calcutta, 1 October 1824, quoted in Buckley, An Anecdotal
History, p. 175.
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new el to lay the foundation for an agri state in
Johor. It is hard to say just how much he had inherited from his
father. In 1825, Ibrahim was only fiftecn years old. He was too
young to effectively manage the affairs of his father's government.
From 1825, the state went into a period of interregnum and
disintegration. There was a power vacuum in the area around
Singapore. It was ten years before the Temenggong's successor
began putting the picces back together again. From 1826 to 1836
politics were in abeyance and “piracy” reigned.




3
The Temenggong of Singapore
1825-1848

Temenggong Daing Ibrahim' was the founder of modern Johor. He
was a transitional figure who bridged the gap between the ancient
maritime and the modern landed state. When he was left with the
responsibility for the family’s fortunes, he had very few resources.
If he was to survive as a ruler, he was faced with two apparently
mutually exclusive alternatives: the way of the English or the way of
his own followers and Malay tradition. He could be a puppet or a
pirate. He managed a compromise.

In 1826, his only tangible resources were his father’s pension,
which the Straits government continued to pay to him, and his own
kampong at Teluk Belanga. Cut off from the Riau court and the
Sultan, he had no title’ He was not officially installed as
Temenggong until 1841. The period between Abdul Rahman's
death and his own installation was one of trial and testing, during
which the young chicf made his own way in a changing and
dangerous world,

His father's death had very nearly brought about the
disil ion of the Tt 2's oV Many of Abdul
Rahman’s followers drifted off and went their own way; some may
have rallied briefly around Tengku Yahya, the son of Sultan
Hussain. In 1826, he is reported to have sent people to work the tin

Temenggong Daing Ibrahim (b. 1810, d. 1862), also known as Daing Ronggek,
Daing Kechil, and Tengku Chik, was a younger son of Temenggong Abdul
Rahman. The clder son, Abdullah, is reported to have been mentally
unbalanced (Winstedt, “A History of Johor", p. 91). Winstedt notes that he
was also wrongly called Ganggek and Renggek by Munshi Abdullah. Sce also
Major Dato Haji Mohamad Said bin Haji Sulaiman, Hikayat Johor dan
Tawarikh Al-Marhum Sultan Abu Bakar Johor (Johor Baharu, 1950), p. 3.
Winstedt, “A History of Johor", p. 91. Winstedt suggests: “Probably the delay
in installing Ibrahim as Temenggong of sixtcen years was duc to hesitation on
the part of Sultan Hussain of Singapore o usurp the prerogative of the Sultans
of Lingga and to the fact that after Sultan Hussain's decease in 1835 there was
7o Sultan of Singapore until 1855
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mines which had been opened in the Karimons.! However, he lost
much of his attractiveness as a Malay leader when these followers
were driven out. In 1827, a combined force of Dutch and Riau
Malays decided to enforce the boundary arrangements of the
Anglo-Dutch Treaty of 1824 which put the islands outside the
control of the English and the Singapore chicfs. The Karimons were
attacked and Tengku Yahya's men were defeated.* From this time
on, the Sultan, who shared in his son's debacle, declined in status
among the Malays of Singapore as has been chronicled by Munshi
Abdullah. He was forced to flec to Malacca in 1834 and died there
in disgrace the following year.”

It was perhaps fortunate that Ibrahim was not yet of age and
thus escaped involvement in the fiasco of the Karimons. His youth
may also have made him a less attractive leader for the sea peoples,
many of whom had turned to piracy as a means of support. In 1835
the Governor of Singapore, Samuel Bonham, noted that the
increase in piracy had come about as a result of the deaths of
Temenggong Abdul Rahman and Sultan Hussain, He expressed the
view, contrary to Crawfurd’s, that a strong chicf at Singapore was
necessary if piracy was to be brought to a halt.

That piracy has increased of late I cannot deny, and [ attribute

it to these reasons, the deaths of the Sultan and Temenggong,

and to the impossibility of our making any adequate provision
for these officers; formerly the Rayats or Orang-laut in our
immediate vicinity were under the control of these chiefs, but

Moor, Notices, p. 272, carries a report by John Crawfurd, “Journal of a
Voyage Around Singapore”, quoted from the Singapore Chronicle, November
1825. Crawfurd noted that mining efforts in the Karimons had begun about
1825. There were about seventy Malays and Chinese engaged in warking the tin
mines there in October.

The Tuhat, pp. 306~ 11. This is a lengthy account of the battle which was
fought in the Karimons. It concludes by noting that Ibrahim, or Daing
Ronggek, afterwards came to Riau to pay his respects to Raja Ahmad (the
father of the author) and reported that none of his people from Teluk Belanga
had participated in the occupation of the Karimons since it was against the law.
He also said that Sultan Hussain (the Yang Di-Pertuan Selat) had not himself
approved the “war”, but this had been the work of his wife and Tengku Yahya.
Sce also Nicholas Tarling. British Policy In the Malay Peninsula and
Archipelago. 1824 1871 (Kuala Lumpur, 1969). pp. 23-28.

A. H. Hill, trans., The Hikayat, pp. 265~19. Abdullah describes the last years
of this unfortunate prince, including his forced departure from Singapore in
1834 and his death at Malacea a year later

-
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of late in consequence of their deaths, they have split

themselves into separate parties, no longer acknowledging the

descendants of the late Sultan or Temenggong, but become, to

a considerable extent, under the influence of the Sultan of

Lingga.... The Karimuns, Moro, Sugi, Galang, and other

hordes of are all to the south of the Straits of

Singapore and we are th precluded by the treaty of

London from at all interfering with them, even though we be

inclined to do so, in assisting the Temenggong's family in

regaining and upholding the authority exercised by their
father.*

Following the foundation of Si Europ in the
Malay world came to be deeply concerned about Malay piracy. It
was generally felt that the continued attacks on the native traders
who came to Singapore would destroy the commerce of the port.
Throughout the decade from 1826 to 1836, the topic of piracy, its
causes, and how it could be suppressed came to occupy much of the
thinking of the Europeans at Singapore. Almost every
contemporary account of the Malay world dwells at some length on
the persistence of piracy as a way of life among the Malays.” A
book-length treatment of Malay piracy was compiled by Horace St.
John in The Indian Archipelago. He equated all Malay political
activity with piracy.

The coast dwellers of the Malay peninsula formed in other

parts several tribes, each of which, known in the country

dialect as suku was under the authority of a chief. All these
petty rulers were dependent on a prince of superior rank, who
held his authority direct from the sovereign throne. In this
manner the whole political system of the region was founded in
piracy. It was thus in former times they obtained from some
petty princes of Borneo and Sumatra supplies of rice,
munition, and arms, on condition that all their booty should

2

Nicholas Tarling, Piracy and Politics in the Malay World: A Study of British
Imperialism in Nineteenth Century South-East Asia (Singapore, 1963), p, 80.
See the following for various opinions regarding Malay piracy: Newbold,
Political and Statistical Account, v. 1, pp. 36-47; Begbic, The Malayan
Peninsula, pp. 210~174; Raflles, History of Java, pp. 246-62; Buckley, An
Anecdotal History. pp. 276-82; John Anderson, Mission to the East Coast of
Sumatra in 1823 (Oxford, 1971), pp. 227-25; and finally the lengthy series of
articles published under the title, “Piracy and Slave Trade of the Indian
Archipelago™, JIA, v. 3 (1849).
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be divided into three portions — two for the pirates themselves
and one for their ally. A proverbial saying among them
exhibits the whole rationale of this usurious system — *“to give
two and receive onc”. From the intercourse held with the
freebooters, many chiefs amassed wealth in gold and silver, in
picces of artillery, in masses of copper ore, and in beautiful
women to be sold as companions for the pillow of some richer
Indian prince.'

It is perhaps an exaggeration to say that the Malay political
system was never anything more than piracy. The previous
discussion of the history of the Johor empire and early Singapore
was intended to show that the difference between piracy and
political activity, as far as Malays were concerned, was largely one
of legitimation. The first two decades of the nineteenth century had
been a particularly unfortunate period for the maritime empire. By
1824 the Sultanate had been deprived of its last shreds of
legitimacy, the empire had been cut in half by the British and the
Dutch, and the entrepot, which had always served as a focal point
for Malay political organization, was firmly dominated by
Europeans.

Nicholas Tarling, who has investigated the subject of Malay
piracy at some length, suggests that Europeans were inclined to
classify most Malay political activity as piracy. He has offered a
reasonable explanation of the general shape of maritime Malay
states. Generally, these were founded by petty chiefs who
established outposts at the mouths of rivers and drew a | g by
taxing trade between visiting h and upriver iti
The conditions under which business was usually conducted,
involving ad 3 lies, and ition, offered many
opportunities for commercial disputes. In the European
settlements, such disputes were often treated as “piracy™. Likewise,
disturbances arising from conflicts within these states or with other
states, which often included attacks on trade, were also considered
piracy “rather than interference with neutral trade”.

Tarling also discusses the role of maritime empires, such as
that of Johor, which rose to power under “‘warrior-chiefs” who
subdued lesser states, taxed their trade, and forced ships into
central entrepots. This too was often treated as piracy rather than

8. Horace St. John, The Indian Archipelago, v. 2 (London, 1835), pp. 160-62.
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naval warfare and tax collection. Finally, he points out that the
decay of such an empire, as had recently happened in Johor *“would
leave at its centre an aristocracy and its followers, that, deprived of
imperial revenues, resorted to piratical means of submlenoe.
roaming the seas and ing traders indi:

Despite the “excuses” that Tarling offers for the Malnys. he
ultimately comes down on the side of the suppression. Such
activity, no matter what one called it, and what caused it, was
violence *“which the British might have a duty to suppress.... Both
sides were caught up here in the prevailing conditions, and their
struggle is tragic. A historical impasse existed, and no doubt the
only way out was to suppress the marauders. If, therefore, one
might find some explanation, even some excuse, for the Malays,
one might also find the same for the Brm fjdls Howev:r the fact
remains that the ders were ulti pp d. The British
declared war on them and, as ruourccs became available,
eventually wiped them out. The struggle was particularly tragic for
the orang laut and for the chiefs who sought to practise politics in
the old way.

This had been the mistake of Temenggong Abdul Rahman and
Sultan Hussain. In 1819, they had seen Singapore as a base from
which to reconstitute the old Johor empire. The disputes with
Raffles and Crawfurd between 1819 and 1824 were largely the result of
the chiel's attempts to collect revenues. The treaties of 1824 had
cut them off from their traditional territories and had placed the
activities of their followers outside the law. The chiefs were also
enjoined to aid in the suppression of piracy. The British attitude
towards piracy was one of the chief problems facing Ibrahim. He
was in a situation where his very legiti as a chief d ded on
British recognition. There was no doubt in the minds of the British
that his predecessor had been a pirate, and it was thus incumbent
upon Ibrahim to clear the family of any further charges.

And yet, his only political resource, his only subjects, were the
pirates th Ives. By 1830, the evid suggests that Te
Ibrahim’s government was a reconstituted but smaller version of his
father’s. Ibrahim’s state, too, was composed primarily of sea
peoples. Despite Bonham's that the Ti ’s

9. Tatling, British Policy. pp. 14-15.
10. Tarling, Piracy and Politics, p. ||
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following had become fragmented, by the time Ibrahim came of age
he had already begun to show his strength among these peoples.

In 1835, a report in the Singapore Free Press accused the
Temenggong and his followers of a number of piracies in the
immediate region:

It is reported that a number of piratical boats manned by
people belonging to Tellok Balanga have been and still are
lurking in the straits between this and Rio, committing
atrocities of more than usual number and daring. In the hope
that it may attract the notice of Government, | request that
you will publish this list of them in your next paper.

One Pucat which left Rio on or about the Ist inst. bound for
this place, captured; crew 25 or 26 in number missing,
supposed to have been all murdered."

The account goes on to give details about four more vessels which
had allegedly been attacked by pirates from Teluk Belanga.

Bonham's subordi also susp the T g of
being involved in piracy. In his book, T. J. Newbold recommended
*“a discreet surveillance over the conduct of the present Tumungong
of Johore; who is more than suspected of being the mainspring of
the daring system of piracy which has so long been an opprobrium
to the castern extremity of the Straits. A threat of withdrawing the
stipend he cnjoys gratuitously from the British Government might
be useful.”"

The Dutch, too, cast suspicion on the establishment at Teluk
Belanga. In 1836, the Resident of Riau “pointed out that although
the population of Rhio and Lingga was altogether bad, it was
notorious that a great number of pirates actually lived in the New
Harbour and Telok Belanga districts of Singapore itself — where
they got their information and their powder and shot, and where
they were able to get rid of their booty without difficulty”.”

Bonham h|msclr was well aware that Ibrahim had become a
rather disrep h at Sii He left the following
description of him in 1835:

11, SFP. 12 November 1835.

12, Newbold, Political and Statistical Account, v. 1,

13, Walter Makepeace, R. St.J. Braddell, and Gi.
Singapore (London, 1921), p. 383.

p.37.
. Beooke, One Hikdred Yoars of
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His father died in December, 1825, and was succeeded by his
cldest son who is naturally imbecile [sic)... his next brother
therefore has the management of the monthly sum we pay
him.... This young man is about 18 years of age [actually
Ibrahim was 25 at the time] idle and completely illiterate;
indeed, except by his clothes and consequent personal
appearance, not a remove higher on the scale of Civilization
than the meanest of his followers. 1 make these remarks
because an opinion exists here that the last is very deeply
involved in many of the Piracies which take place in the

ighbourhood.... they [the T g and the Sultan] are
indeed i ble of ining their own depend among
whom, though I have no tangible evidence to prove it, there
can be little doubt that there are many who live upon what they
get by this mischievious and atrocious way."

Despite the T 's y i Bonham
decided to set a new course in Anglo-Malay relations. In 1836, the
Temenggong agreed to cooperate with Bonham in suppressing
piracy. This was a turning-point for the T For the next
thirty years, he came to be considered the primary Malay ally of the
British, not only as a controller of the sea peoples but also as a
negotiator on behalf of the Straits government in its dealings with
other Malay chiefs. In order to do this, Bonham followed his
inclinations “in assisting the Temenggong’s family in regaining and
upholding the authority exercised by their father".

Why did Bonham do this? Tarling considers it a fatal mistake
which led the British into a fumbling policy of intervention in the
Malay states.” Other reports from the period suggest that Bonham
had decided on a comprehensive solution to a number of
Singapore's chronic problems. Piracy was one of these, taxes were
another, and the economic cycle was yet a third. In the years
183536, these problems converged on Bonham.

In April 1835, a public meeting was held in Singapore and a
letter drafted to India and the King in Council asking for
government assistance in suppressing piracy. In reply, the Indian
government proposed a plan to levy duties at Singapore to pay for
piracy-suppressing itions.” The Si h were

14, SSR. R-3, Bonham to Prinsep, 23 April 1835,
1. Tarling. Piracy and Politics, p. 61
16. Buckley, An Anecdotal History. pp. 276-77.
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outraged at this threat to free trade and enlisted aid from England
to forestall the proposal. Mary Turnbull reports that the East India
and China Association in London brought pressures to bear on the
Board of Directors of the E.I.C. The scheme of levying taxes at
Singapore was duly scuttled and the Straits Settlements continued
as free ports “‘exempt not only from import and export duties, but
also from tonnage and port dues, wharfage and anchorage duties,
port clearance and stamp dutics”. The Singapore merchants,
laissez-faire capitalists to the core, were willing to put up with
anything, even piracy, rather than pay taxes. This situation
continued until about 1867, and left the Singapore government in a
state of continual poverty, thus forcing it to seek rather
extraordinary means in order to make ends meet.”

Bonham and the Straits government were thus trapped
between the Singapore merchants and the East India Company.
The merchants would complain about piracy, but they would not
pay for its suppression. Undoubtedly, a certain amount of their
reluctance to pay taxes in 1835 stemmed from the current economic
crisis. Munshi Abdullah reports that there had been a crash and
that many Chinese merchants, who had borrowed heavily from
European merchants, had gone bankrupt. The European merchants
naturally were forced to absorb substantial losses."

Piracy may or may not have been a contributing cause of the
poor economic situation; it certainly did not help. In the early
1830s, not only Malay and orang laut traders were being attacked
but Bugis, Chinese, and even a few European vessels were victims.

Bonham was thus forced to find a means of ending piracy
which would cost the Singapore government nothing. Much of
Bonham's success in solving these outstanding problems lay
in the fact that he appears to have been an extremely practical
man. Buckley reports that he had had long cxperience in the Malay
world by the time he became Acting Governor of Singapore in
1836, and that *Mr. Bonham, afterwards Sir George Bonham, was
vr.ry popular among the Europeans and natives,” Bonham

“commenced hl’c m the Fasl in the Civil service in Bencoolen, and
hada id dge of kind, and, like a sensible man,

1. (. M Turnbull, The Straits Settlements 1826 - 1867 (Kuala Lumpur, 1972), p.

18. A ll Hill, trans., The Hikayat. p. 281.
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exerted himself to keep things in casy train and make them pleasant
when he could™."

We have identified some of the things that must have been
uppermost in Bonham's mind at the time. Many Europeans also
f d a more expansive and inter ionist policy than
Singapore had traditionally pursued. One of these was T. J.
Newbold, Bonham’s subordinate.®

Tarling shows the first evidence of Bonham's new policy with
the expeditions of the gunboat Andromache in 1836. In May 1836,
the Andromache arrived in Singapore under Captain Henry Ducic
Chads. Chads had a commission from the Indian government to
assist in piracy suppression and to deliver a proclamation to the
Malay chiefs, informing them of a system of passes which was to be
instituted for identifying trading boats. The Commissioners also
had authority to communicate directly with the Dutch.

After surprising a number of pirates in Singapore harbour, the
Andromache with Bonham and Chads headed for Riau in June
1836. They met with Goldman, the Dutch Resident, and informed
him of their intentions regarding the pass system stating that they
would henceforth hold the local chiefs responsible for piracies
committed in their jurisdiction. They also made reference to the
alleged pirate settlement on the nearby island of Galang, Goldman
pointed out that under the Treaty of 1824, the British
Commissioners had no authority in the Riau-Lingga Archipelago.
He said he would have to consult with Batavia before he could
cooperate with them. Upon this, the Andromache sailed straight to
Galang and wiped out the settlement there.

The following month, they went to Pahang where some
*Johor" pirates had sold as slaves the captives that they had taken
from a Cochin-Chinese trading junk. It was at this point that the

name of Ibrahim became iated with the anti-piracy
and undoubtedly with the activities of the And) he. Regarding
Pahang, Tarling points out that “as force could not be employed in
this Peninsular state, Bonham pted the offer of T

Ibrahim of Johore, still resident in Singapore, to use his good
offices with the Bendahara.”

Tarling describes this liaison with Ibrahim as a definite
departure from the policy which the Straits authorities had

19. Buckley, An Anecdotal History, p. 383.
20. Newbold, Political and Statistical Account, v. 1, pp. 40-46,
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followed since 1824. It was also continued by his successor,
Butterworth.

The significant fact here is the close association of Bonham
and Butterworth with Temenggong Ibrahim. Through their
operations for the suppression of piracy and the slave trade,
the Governors were carrying on “intercourse” with the native
states. The Temenggong was the first of the reformed princes,
and he offered his aid, readily accepted, in communicating
with other chiefs, particularly the Bendahara of Pahang. The
influence of Government and of the Temenggong were thus
closely associated.™

While Tarling is of the opinion that this association brought
unforeseen problems for the Straits government, there can be little
doubt that it worked to the benefit of Temenggong Ibrahim. In
1837, the Temenggong's status among the orang laut and the Malay
chiefs of the region visibly increased.

In April 1837, 270 small boats containing the families of suku
Galang came to Singapore to seck refuge under the Temenggong.™
Ibrahim asked the government for permission to receive them and
promised that he would be responsible for them. If Bonham's
statement about the various suku of Riau who had broken away
from the Temenggong's control is correct, the Andromache's raid
on Galang had had the effect of driving them back into the fold.
The Galang people had a very high reputation among other orang
laut. 1t is therefore possible that many of the other suku followed
their example and now looked to the Temenggong for protection,
support, and leadership.

A Malay report of the Andromache’s cruise indicates that the
Commissioners did not limit their attack to Galang but went down

21, Tarling. British Policy, pp. 48 -55.

22. Tarling, Piracy and Politics, p. 102

23 J. T. Thomson, “Description of the Eastern Coast of Johore and Pahang with
Adjacent Islands™, JIA, v. 5 (I851), p. 143. Thomson gives evidence of the
reputation of suku Galang among the other groups of orang laut. He reports a
conversation with some men from suku Buru: “Judging from occasional
expressions which escaped from them they appeared 10 look upon piracy as a
highly manly pursuit, and as giving them a claim to the approval of their
fellows, Thus Attak would occasionally say, ‘the orang Gallang (Men of
Gallang) do 50 and 50, or such is the custom with them." He appeared to think
that notorious class highly worthy of imitation; when asked 1o sing, he would
say | know none but Gallang songs.”
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through the Riau Straits shooting at every perahu they chanced
upon: “'As they sailed back to Singapore from Galang they kept
watch for native craft and whenever they met one it would be
destroyed by cannon fire." At that time, Sultan Muhammad was
travelling from Lingga to Riau with some other chiefs. *“When they
arrived at the Sambu Straits, they stopped to let the women go
ashore to bathe. There they heard the news that a gun-boat was
roving about the sea shooting at all perahus with mat sails,”*

Fear of the gunboats appears to have driven many sea peoples
to Ibrahim for protection. He was the only Malay chief who had a
legitimate voice at Singapore. The Galang raid and other
cexcursions of the Andromache, together with the coming of the
steam-cruiser Diana in 1837, and Ibrahim’s involvement in the
Pahang negotiations scem to have acted as a catalyst for the
Singapore chief's prestige among other Malay chiefs. Buckley
reports that in July 1837 “the Rajah of Selangor came to Singapore
in his own brig, and was received with a salute of 15 guns. The
Sultan of Lingga paid a visit to Singapore at the same time, so the
Frec Press remarked that there were *two crowned heads’ in the
same place; but both more than suspected of giving countenance to
piracy." The Tufhar's report of this visit indicates that some effort
was made at this time to patch up the split that had existed between
the Riau-Lingga and Singapore chiefs. Sultan Muhammad® of
Lingga had come to get the body of his aunt, Raja Maimunah, for
burial at Riau. While he was there, he also married Tengku
Ampuan, a half-sister of Ibrahim.”

Ibrahim was able to begin playing an important role in all
further contacts between the Straits government and Malay chiefs
throughout the region. Under Bonham, the Straits government
embarked on a policy of intervention to suppress piracy. This
intervention took the form of negotiations and occasional gunboat
diplomacy. We may also suspect, although no mention of the topic
is found in the sources, that the Temenggong himself must have
outfitted patrol boats of his own at this time.* Since the

24. The Tufhar, pp. 330-31.

25. Buckley, An Anecdoral History, p. 315,

26. Sultan Abdul Rahman had died in 1830. He was succeeded by his son, Sultan
Muhammad Muzaffar Shah (b. 1803, d. 1841),

27, The Tufhar, p. 334.

28, Ata later date, there is evidence that the Temenggong did outfit some boats to
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Temenggong was not a wealthy man, his source of provisions and
arms must have come from the government, or through
intermediaries on their behalf.

The most likely sources for such supplics were the European
merchants of Singapore. It is thus of great importance that the year
1837 also saw the relocation of two of Singapore's leading
merchants to Teluk Belanga. James Guthrie and William Wemys
Ker are both reported to have purchased land from Ibrahim and
built houses near his kampong.™ In the case of Ker, this marked the
beginning of a long and profitable association between his company
and the Johor government. The firm, Ker, Rawson & Co., later
known as Paterson & Simons, was the principal European agent for
the Johor government throughout the nineteenth century. The
exact nature of the association between lbrahim and these
merchants in its initial years must remain a matter of speculation,
but by 1843 there were reports of regular business dealings between
the Temenggong and Ker.

The year 1837 was a watershed for the Temenggong. The key
event was his relationship with Bonham, and everything else
followed from that. He aided in the Pahang negotiations and was
most likely suspected by other Malays of having had a hand in the
Galang raid. This made him a man of importance as far as the sea
peoples and many other Malay chiefs were concerned. His
relationship with Bonham was also instrumental in the connections
lh.u the Tcmcnggong was subscqucmly able to form with the

gap . This new configuration of
lati ips did not ically ensure the Temenggong's
success as a ruler; however, it did place him in a position where he
could utilize one type of resource to reinforce his influence with
other groups and thus acquire access to further resources. None of
this was done without fighting and struggle. The next twenty-five
years of Ibrahim’s life were marked by constant conflict and
turmoil. In 1841, the first of his many achievements was gained. He
was officially recognized as the Temenggong of Johor by Governor
Bonham in the presence of the Bendahara of Pahang.

suppress pirates; sce. SFP, 9 June 1859, which carries a report of the
apprehension of some “Galang" pirates by the Temenggong's men.

29. C. A. Gibson-Hill, "Singapore: Notes on the History of the Oid Strait,
1580~ 1850, JMBRAS, v. 27, pL. | (May 1954), p. 200,
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The Temenggong did not, however, rely solely on the British
for recognition of his new position. It is noteworthy that Bendahara
Tun Ali of Pahang had been present and had thereby given his
approval to the appointment. Since there was no longer a
recognized Sultan at Singapore, Temenggong Ibrahim then
travelled down to Lingga. The Tufhat reports: ... after Daeng
Kechil Ibrahim had been installed as Temenggong Sri Maharaja he
then went to Lingga to come before Sultan Mahmud Muzaffar
Shah and to meet his ‘uncle’ Raja Ali the Yang Di-Pertuan Muda.
Raja Ali was the husband of Ibrahim's sister, Raja Chik. When he
arrived at Lingga he was honoured by Sultan Mahmud and Raja
Ali according to the prescribed custom followed when rajas
meet,"?

Tarling has discussed at some length the leading role which
Temenggong Ibrahim now began to play in this phase of British
intervention in the Malay world. He began by negotiating with
Pahang. Ultimately, he became involved in the Pahang succession
dispute and brought in the British on his side. He and the British
lost this war, but the credibility he had gained with British
governors of Singapore was not d A ing to Tarling,
“Trengganu was named as one of the states in which the
Temenggong had influence.”” He goes on to describe a subtle series
of manocuvres which seem to have been initiated by the
Temenggong. In 1850, Sultan Omar of Trengganu suddenly started
negotiating with the Dutch, much to the alarm of the Singapore
authorities. “This was a move in native politics and the Dutch were
not instigators. Its cause was undoubtedly Omar's alarm at the

ding infl of the T in Pahang and in the
Peninsula as a whole, associated as it appeared to be with the power
of the British Government.”

The Temenggong also became involved in a struggle with the
successor of Sultan Hussain, Tengku Ali.

In 1852, after describing a visit from the Temenggong, Church

analysed the situation on the east coast. “In this

neighbourhood, there are two parties, on one side, the Sultan
of Lingga, the Sultan of Trengganu, and the young princes of

Johore [Tengku Ali]; on the other, the Raja Bendahara of

Pahang, and the Temenggong Sri Maharaja.” But as yet there

30. The Tufhar, p. 338.
- Tarling, British Policy. p. §7-58.

w




74 PRINCE OF PIRATES

were no hostilities to call for British “interference or

remonstrance”. Another element in the situation, of which

Church must have been aware, was that both Ali and the,

Temenggong had supporters among the merchants of

Singapore.”*

This conflict dragged on until 1855 when Governor William J.
Butterworth, in one of his last official acts, recognized Tengku Ali
as Sultan. This again, however, was largely a victory for the
Temenggong. In order to gain his title, Ali had to surrender all
claims to Johor. He was given only the small territory of Muar,
lying between the Muar River and the Kesang. He received a lump
sum of $5,000 and a pension of $500 per month from the

This ack of his claim to Johor was one
of Ibrahim’s major achievements, and it was a direct result of the
assistance he had begun rendering the Straits government in 1837,

In the official history of Johor, the Hikayat Johor of Major
Dato Haji Mohamed Said, we are given an explanation of
Ibrahim’s success. The author notes that Sultan Hussain lost his
power to the British because he did not “look after it”. “*There was
a small di between the T and the former Sultan.
The Temenggong was clever and conscientiously looked after
himself. He came to be on good terms with the officials of the
Company. Because he helped them in whatever affairs he was able,
the English came to like him."" This was particularly true of
Governors Bonham and Butterworth, both of whom followed a
similar policy towards the Temenggong and the other Malay states.

Tarling, who has examined in some detail the conflict between
Temenggong Ibrahim and Tengku Ali, has noted that the
settlement of the Johor question left the Straits government with
additional problems. “*The territorial division no doubt avoided
much of the confusion of a divided administration over all Johore.
But, affected as it was by the obstinancy of the two parties and by
the timidity of the Supreme Government, the treaty of 1855 did not
attain the real aim of the Straits Government, and the territorial
division was one cause of this failure.”

He points out that a few years later the tensions which had
grown up in the Malay world as a result of the British government's
association with the Tmenggong led to open warfare on the
32, Ibid., p. 58
33 Mohamad Said. Hikayar Johor, p. 3.
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Peninsula. In Pahang, a ion crisis developed into a full-scal
civil war with the Temenggong intervening to support one side and
Sultan Omar and Sultan Ali the other. “This war was a profound
problem for the Straits Government, anxious as ever to preserve
peace between the states. Its methods are illustrated by the history
of its relations with Trengganu, and these again are bound up with
the operations for the suppression of piracy."

One of the ultimate failures of British policy on the east coast of
Malaya was that Trengganu eventually became a tributary state of
Siam. Tarling suggests that this unfortunate result was owing to the
Temenggong *“‘on whose influence British policy on the cast coast
was largely founded".*

It is difficult to speak of the Temenggong as having pursued an
independent foreign policy. Since he continued to keep his
residence within the colony of Singapore, his freedom of action was
highly limited and ambiguous. Tarling shows him, however, as
having played a key role in the manipulating, if not directing, of
British policy towards the Malay states. For the British, it appears
to have been a relatively unsuccessful policy on the whole. But
while the Temenggong suffered set-backs, he also reaped some
permanent advantages, not the least of which was the ultimate
recognition of his claim to Johor in 1855.

Until the 1840s Johor had remained an uninhabited jungle. As
a resource, it was more of a liability than an asset. This was one of
the reasons why Ibrahim had first turned to the sea peoples and to
piracy when faced with the task of rebuilding the family's political
prestige. Although he was successful in gaining allies among the
British and respect from his fellow chiefs by this expedient, these
offered no permanent solution to the overriding question of his
poverty. One of Bonham's considerations in accepting the
Temenggong's aid was that it offered a reasonably cheap method at
a time when the government was beset with financial troubles.
Piracy suppression oould never have offered much in the way of
financial for the T and his foll L If

the pirates were to remain dormant and if the Temenggong was to
retain his power over them, he needed additional resources, and
Johor offered the only posslbl: alternative. It was wide open for
agricultural develop , this both labour

34. Tarling, British Policy, pp. 61-63.
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and capital, and the Temenggong had neither. At this time, the
Temenggong bencfited by a stroke of luck. Gutta-percha was
discovered in the forests of Johor.”

The story of gutta-percha illustrates the benefits which
recognition by the Europeans had brought to the Temenggong.
Malays had long been aware of gutta-percha and its remarkable
properties. There are reports that they had occasionally used the
rubber-like substance for making the handles of choppers.
However, it was of no great value to them. During the 1830s, some
enterprising Malays began to manufacture buggy whips from gutta-
percha and sold them to Europeans in Singapore. Some of these
found their way back to England.

In 1832, William Montgomerie, an English surgeon, published
a paper on the properties and potentialities of gutta-percha. His
research, however, did not attract general notice until 1843, when

the Royal Asiatic Society ized the p ial of the sub:
for manufacturing surgical and chemlcal apparatus. A few years
later, with the of y, gutta-percha

was found to be the only substance capable of protecting
underwater cables from the elements.”

Ibrahim was able to capitalize on this discovery through his
contacts with the European merchants of Singapore. His
neighbour, W. W. Ker, seems to have been instrumental in alerting
the Temenggong to the value ochhor 's gutta-percha.”” One source
reports that the first hi of g percha to
England was sent by Ker, Rawson & Co." Th: Temenggong

3s.

Burkhill, Dictionary, pp. 1623-25. Guita-percha (getah taban) is the latex-like
sap of various varieties of Blanco Palaguim. From the time of its discovery in
the 1840s, its most important usc has been in the coating of trans-oceanic
telegraph cables. It is also used for surgical and chemical apparatus, corks, golf
balls, and dental fillings. Ordinarily, gutta-percha is a hard, solid, yet slightly
clastic, substance. However, it can be softened simply by putting it in hot water
and then remoulded into shape. On cooling it resumes its original hardness.
36. Two good accounts of the story of the discovery of gutta-percha are generally
available. Buckley, An Anecdotal History, pp. 402-5; and Thomas Oxley,
“Gutta Percha™, JI4. v. | (1847), pp. 22-29.

W. H. Read, Play and Politics: Reminiscences of Malaya by an Old Resident
(London, 1901), p. 14. Read, without giving names, simply notes that the
Temenggong was made aware of the value of gutta-percha by “a Singapore
merchant™,

38, Allister MacMillan, comp. and ed., Seaports of the Far East, Historical and
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declared a monopoly on all gutta-percha in Johor and began
employing gangs of labourers to go into the jungles to collect the
substance.” It soon became clear that there was a market for all the
gutta-percha that could be delivered to Singapore.

By 1848 people all over the region had joined in the search for
sutta-percha, or getah taban as it is called in Malay. “‘Menaban",
according to J. R. Logan, now “‘became the cry throughout the
land".* Logan reports that news of gutta-percha had spread to
both coasts of the Peninsula from Penang to Pahang and
throughout the Riau-Lingga Archipelago, Borneo, and the east
coast of Sumatra. Most of this was finding its way to Singapore
and, oddly enough, to Temenggong Ibrahim. Buckley reports a

by the ity of Singapore against the
Temenggong.
In 1848, the Chamber of C itioned the auth
regarding the Temenggong's interference with the freedom of the
port. A ding to them, the T¢ had been i

monopolizing the traffic in gutta-percha coming to Singapore. They
claimed that his followers had been regularly intercepting boats
bringing the substance for sale in Singapore. He is said to have had
armed men in boats stationed at various points outside the harbour
to intercept boats carrying gutta-percha, intimidate the crews, and
purchase the gutta on the Temenggong's terms.

The report also shows the proportions which the trade had
reached by this time. The annual trade amounted to between 10,000
and 20,000 pikuls, valued at $150,000 to $200,000. The
Te is said to have lled about ninety per cent of this,
“whence it was inferred that extreme influence of some kind was
used, or some part of it would have found its way to parties who
offered much higher prices for it than that which the native traders
received from him".*

Thus, it turned out that all gutta-percha belonged to *“Johor".
W. H. Read, a prominent resident of Singapore at this time, and no

Descriptive, Commercial and Industrial Facts, Figures and Resources (London,
1923), p. 224,

39. J.R. Logan, “Range of the Gutta Taban Collectors, and Present Amount of
Imports into Singapore™, JIA. v. 2 (1848), p. 529.

0. 1bid.. p. 530, Logan explains menaban as * a word which the dictionary of Gitta
Taban has added to the Malay language.... Menaban, from taban, significs to
collect Gitta taban.”

41. Buckley, An Anecdotal History, pp. 482-83.
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friend of the Temenggong, has left an ironical description of the
Temenggong's methods. In 1846, a public meeting was called to
honour Ibrahim for his services in preventing piracy around
Singapore. There was a ceremony on Government Hill when
Governor Butterworth presented lhe Temenggong with a Sword of
Honour. “Whilst this ' was p at G
Hill 1, and the afore-mentioned mcrchnnu. counted several boats
stationed outside the island, and manned by the Tumonggong's
people, to seize any gutta percha which might be imported from
outside places, at arbitrary prices, probably often at no price at
all."" (See Plate 2.)
There is no mdlcanon in the sources that the Temenggong

dified his p -garding the collection of gutta-percha, but
complaints were not repeated and 5o one assumes that he did take
some steps in this direction. However, by this time he had become a
wealthy man and his fortune enabled him to begin the agricultural
development of Johor. In order to pacify the merchants, and to
build a better public reputation, the Temenggong gave a grand feast
on St. Andrew's Day, 13 November 1848. His guests at Teluk
Belanga found that the placé had been transformed.

A few years ago, Teluk Blangah only presented the appearance

of a very dirty Malay village, the royal residence being merely

from its neighb by being of brick, and if

possible, dingier and dirtier than the rest. Now everything has

put on a new face. The money, which has flowed so copiously

into the Teluk Blangah coffers, through the successful dealings

of His Highness and his followers in the gutta trade, has been

more judicially applied than is generally the case when Malays
become possessed of a little cash.

No longer satisfied with the *“rude huts in which they were formerly

content to live”, the Tem:nggong and his followers had built

h neat, E bung: *“'gay with green and

white paint” and tile mofs.“

With the dispatching of groups of gutta collectors to Johor,
Ibrahim affirmed his claim to the land. These people no doubt
acted as sources of information and the ruler became better

inted with the and phy of the state. He also

42. Read, Play and Politics, p. 14.
43, Buckley, An Anecdotal History. pp. 495-96.
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began moving people around. Many groups of aborigines, such as
the orang benua and the orang biduadanda kallang, were resettled by
the Temenggong in areas where they could be useful to his ends.

J. R. Logan, in what was one of the first anthropological
studies conducted in Southeast Asia, has left an account of the
abovementioned peoples.* This report gives an interesting picture
of the manner in which the Temenggong's government actually
operated on land as of about 1848,

The orang sabimba had been transported from the island of
Batam, near Riau, to Sungai Tamram at the southern tip of Johor.
There were about seventy people in the tribe when Logan observed
them. They included about twenty-five men, thirty women, and
fifteen children. He describes them as “living in a very degraded
condition as serfs of the Temenggong". They were under a Malay
official known as a jenang who employed them in collecting gutta-
percha, dammar, rattan, gharuwood, ebony, chandan, and wax. In
return, they were given rice, sago, and a little cloth. A number of
other Malays were allowed to trade with them as well.

The orang biduanda kallang used to live on Singapore Island
and, at some time after the founding of the settlement, were
transported to Pulai in Johor. Originally there were about a
hundred families but, by the time Logan made his observation in
about 1847, their numbers had been depleted by smallpox to only
cight familics. They too were engaged in the collection of forest
produce and were under a follower of the Temenggong.

Logan describes the relationship between the Temenggong's
““government'* and the orang benua who inhabited Johor as being
only nominal. Judicial matters, law and order, and other such
functions were not handled by the government but by the batin or
traditional headman of the tribe. With regard to the Temenggong's
government, he says the “‘relation to the Binuas is properly that of a

i and ! of the Mal ly of their
trade”. The rep ive of the T at the villages was
often called ** *To Jinnang". Logan states that the orang benua of
Batu Pahat were under a Bentara or the “Manki Pimanggan of
Boko™.

In addition to the orang benua and other aborigines, Logan
says that there were three types of Malays living in Johor in the
mid-1840s. These included the pengulu who had been posted to the

4. J. R. Logan, “The Orang Binua of Johore", JIA, v. | (1847), pp. 261-300.
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various river mouths to ensure the monopolies on trade with the
orang benua. They were in the employ of the Temenggong, and were
very often Teluk Belanga Malays. There were other Malays from
Teluk Belanga who were settled in different areas “enjoying some
consideration and influence from their means and connections with
Singapore™. Then there was a third group of “'miscellancous
settlers”, presumably Malays but perhaps Chinese as well, who did
not have the advantages of the former two groups.

Logan reports that most trade with the orang benua was in the
hands of the pengulu and Johor Malays, as he termed the
dependents and followers of the Temenggong. The pengulu or jenang,
or other variously named headmen of each river, was the chief of
the trade monopoly with the orang benua. Incoming traders were
required to visit the head of the river first. Sometimes they had to
trade directly with him; other times they were allowed to go up-
river and trade directly with the natives. As Logan noted: “This
system is enforced with more or less strictness according to the
character of the Pangulu, but traffic is always to a certain extent
carried on without his intervention. Strangers arc absolutely
forbidden from trading with the Binuas.""

Logan was rather critical of this system. He states that the
“industry of the Binua is limited to the acquisition of the necessities
which his own land produces”. In other words, they were self-
sufficient. But the Malays had taught him *'to covet things which he
knows not how to procure but from them". These included cloth,
carthenware, parangs, iron, sugar, coconuts, and rice. The Malays
would sell these to the orang benua and get them into debt. Being
obliged to the Malay traders, the orang benua were forced to collect
rotan, gharuwood, chandan, camphor, dammar, wax. All these
things, Logan stated, were of no inherent value or use to the natives
themselves and were collected only because of their debt to the
Malay traders.

Naturally, there was a good deal of price manipulation. Logan
claimed that the goods sold to the forest people were priced at
between 100% and 400% above their value at Singapore. Similarly,
the prices of jungle produce were fixed by the pengulu at 100% to
400% below the Singapore market price.

45, Ibid., p. 286.
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Gutta-percha. thus appears to have solved a number of the
Temenggong's chronic problems. First, it gave him an opportunity
to employ his only two resources — the sea peoples and Johor.
Also, it finally made possible an alternative to a life of piracy,
although this was more apparent than real at the time. Ibrahim was
well aware of the disad: ges that inued d di on the
sea peoples would bring him. Thus in 1844, one year after the
discovery of gutta-percha, the first pepper and gambier planters
were authorized to settle in Johor.

The wealth from gutta-percha, in addition to financing the
beautification of Teluk Belanga and gambier planting, also seems
to have made it possible for the Temenggong to begin organizing a
form of government in Johor. Ultimately, the major task of his
government would become the management of the pepper and
gambier plantations. However, in 1847, it appears to have been
organized along much more traditional lines.

What kind of prince was Temenggong Ibrahim in 1848? In
assessing the man, we should try to see him in relation to his
predecessors. This is probably how he saw himself — he was
“Temenggong™, heir to Abbas, Abdul Jamal, Engku Muda, and
Abdul Rahman. This conception did not require a great act of
imagination. His government, in Singapore and Johor, bears a
striking resemblance to those of his ancestors. There are two related
reasons for this: one is simply the force of family tradition; the
other is that the type of state which Ibrahim inhabited (that is,
Singapore) was in certain respects quite similar to eighteenth-
century Riau. This, 100, is probably the result of the force of the
tradition of the maritime Malay empire. In 1848, Ibrahim was an
exemplar of his ancestors. Like them, he was a kind of *official" of
the Singapore government; he was the local *“diplomatic™
representative of the Malay world. Not all, but much of the Malay
policy of Bonham, Butterworth, and Cavenagh was conducted
through him. Yet he was not recognized as a ruler in any place
outside of Johor and Teluk Belanga. He certainly received a
number of “votes of confidence” from the Malays. Among these we
can include the Galang refugees and the chiefs of Riau, Lingga,
Selangor, and Pahang. In this respect, he occupied a position
similar to that which Abdul Jamal had held at Riau. He represented
the “suku-suku Melayu".
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Like the earlier Tcmcnggongs. he was a kind ol‘ port official
and poli He was resp ble for the of piracy
and h: also enjoyed certain trading and tax monopolies,
particularly over gutta-percha. Until about 1862, he was also
allowed a share in the joint Singapore-Johor revenue farms. The
settlement of pengulu, traders, and pepper and gambier planters in
Johor also appears to have been a lmdluonal type of ncuvlly
Government was limited to the p of

The Temenggong's rclanonshlp with his subjecls or followers
seems to have been characteristically economic. His state
administration, if it can be called that, was largely a tax-gathering
operation. Both the pengulu on the rivers and the people in boats
were of tax polies. With the ion of these, he
appears to have had no other subjects.

On the other hand, all the Temenggong's political relations
were with equals or superiors — the chiefs of Riau and the
Peninsula, and the Singapore government. In this sphere of activity,
Ibrahim made marriage alliances, acted as a go-between, and
applied pressure wherever he could in his own interests. These
activities helped him attain ition as his father’s and
also gave him, in 1855, an unchallenged title to Johor itself. This
recognition gave him access to economic resources, and his wealth
gave him still greater influence in Malay political affairs.

The Temenggong had yet another sphere of relationships that

was both political and economic — his connection with the
Smgaporc merchants. Ibrahim was instrumental in helping certain
to gain i in native states. Thus,

Martin, Dyce & Co. was involved in Siak; and in Pahang the
Temenggong's friends, Paterson & Simons, had obtained mining
rights.*

How close was this pattern of statecraft to that of his
predecessors? It is difficult to tell since we know so little about the
affairs of earlier Temenggongs. Politically, there seems to be some
correspondence. Temenggong Abdul Jamal had married into the
Bugis lincage by taking Raja Maimunah as a wife. Yet the Tufhat
states that he was allied with the Malay faction at Riau. On the
other hand, the Hikayat Johor Serta Pahang indicates that his
popularity among the Malays was not very high. Could a part of his
unpopularity have been the result of his ambiguous relationships

46, Tarling, British Policy, p. 73, n. 290.
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with both groups, as Winstedt suggests?*’ Temenggong Ibrahim
certainly had his share of enemies, but in the long run he was more
successful in his statecraft than Abdul Jamal. It appears that this
was the real distinction between these two chiefs. Abdul Jamal had
been defeated, whereas Ibrahim was victorious.

All the T had d a following of sea
peoples. The family stronghold at Bulang appears to have been the
centre of their forces for some four generations, from Tun Abbas to
Abdul Rahman in 1824. The size and strength of the following may
have fl; d with general diti but it seems to have
remained more or less intact. Between 1830 and 1837, Ibrahim
enginecred a revival of this force. The distinction here was primarily
one of location. Bulang was off-limits to Ibrahim, and so he had to
relocate the suku under his command at Singapore or Johor, The
services rendered by the sea peoples to Temenggong Abdul
Rahman seem comparable to those done for Ibrahim.

Another area of similarity is in the relationships that these
various chiefs maintained ‘with the rulers of the entrepot. Almost all
of them seem to have formed an opposition group. Abdul Jamal
opposed both the Bugis and Sultan Sulaiman. Engku Muda faced
Raja Ja'afar and Sultan Mahmud. Temenggong Abdul Rahman
also opposed the Sultan and the Bugis and, after 1818, the Dutch as
well. Within a very short time after allying himself with Raffles, he
again found himself in opposition. Ibrahim was able to capitalize
on this role, and acquired a certain share of power within the Straits
government.

It is interesting to note that, in every case, the Temenggong
always played a secondary role in the entrepot. In a sense, all such
officials were dependent on the ruling group for legitimization,
whether it was the Bugis, a Sultan, or Europeans. The chiefs were
also economically dependent on the entrepot. They derived
whatever wealth they got as a result of the trade which came to the
port.

Raffles did not want to see Singapore run as a native state, But
the force of tradition was quite strong. Singapore had inherited

41

<]

Winstedt, * *Abdu'l-Jalil", p. 161. “It is however naw clearer than cver why the
children of Temenggong *Abdu’l-Jamal adopted the title of Daing from their
mother. It is just possible that the Temenggong's uncle, Sultan Sulsiman,
suspected ‘Abdu’l-Jamal of being t0o thick with Raja Maimunah’s Bugis
relatives™.
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some of the aristocracy of the former Johor empire. The British
port also took over the same trading patterns that had
characterized Riau's trade before 1784. Politically, by 1848, the
Singapore government was expanding its influence over a number
of Malay states. In many cases, it acted as a legitimizing and
pacifying force; so too had the earlier Johor sultans. Singapore was
the centre of the Malay world, both politically and economically. It
was indeed a free port under the government of the East India
Company, but for the average Malay everything at Singapore must
have secmed quite familiar. There was more correspondence
between Singapore and old Riau than there was between Singapore
and Dutch Malacca. Except for its European rulers, Singapore was
a native port but certainly a bigger and more affluent one than had
ever been scen before.
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The Temenggong's Kampong at the foot of Mount Faber, Singapore, 1837 —
from a lithograph by A. Bertrand and based on a sketch by M. Lauvergne. Mount
Faber was originally known as Teluk Belanga Hill. (See pp. 61, 78)
(Courtesy of the National Museum, Singapore)

Singapore laoking south from Government Hill (now Fort Canning) in August
1846 — a painting by J.T. Thomson which had its inspiration from the occasion of
the prescntation of a “sword of honour” by Gov. Butterworth to Temenggong
Daing Ibrahim, at Government House, Fort Canning Hill, on 1 Sept. 1846, in

s assistance in piracy. Present at the
ceremony were the Resident Councillor, the Sultan of Johore, and representatives of
the various communitics in Singapore. Butterworth is shown with his wife in the
foreground of the painting. The painting is not of the ceremony itself but is based
on the event which took place. Thomson took the opportunity fo give a view of the
town of Singapore and the sea from Fort Canning Hill, illustrating at the same
time the various types of people who were in Singapore at that time. (See p. 78)
(Courtesy of the National Museum, Singapore)
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The Temenggong and the Chinese
18441860

The 1840s saw the beginnings of a new model Malay state. This
polity was not based primarily on sea peoples and control of trade
but rather on commercial agriculture and control of a settled
Chinese population. This was not merely a different economic
system — it represented a transformation of the classical Malay
political unit. The essence of the change was the creation of a new
state and a more permanent economic resource in the territory of
Johor.

We need not look far for the causes of this new orientation.
The beginning of effective piracy-suppression measures in 1836
had, if nothing else, sealed the fate of the sea peoples. Henceforth
their political and economic importance began to decline. By 1860,
the once proud sea rovers of the archipelago were reduced to a few
scattered tribes of shy nomadic peoples. The Keppels, Brookes, and
Congaltons had blown them out of their island strongholds.'
Britannia ruled the waves, and no Malay ruler would ever again
build a statebased on the orang laut.

The indigenous peoples were being outnumbered and
outgunned at sea. Two trends which accelerated greatly in the 1840s
and 1850s cut very deeply into the structure of the maritime polity.
The first of these was the gradual displacement of the native traders
by Chinese traders and even larger square-rigged ships owned by
Europeans and wealthy Chinese and Arab merchants. Wong Lin
Ken reports that by 1842 the proportion of the archipelago trade

. Tarling's Piracy and Politics in the Malay World is a good guide for the major
piracy suppression campaigns launched from Singapore against the Malays of
the Riau-Lingga Archipelago in 1836 by Captain Congalton on the
Zephyr and Captain Chads on the Andromache. The following year, the
stcamer Diana came o Singapore 1o suppress the pirates. In the 1840s, James
Brooke began @ campaign against the Brunci Malays, the Ibans and the
Iilanuns of Borneo, In 1843, he was joined by Captain Keppel and the H.M.S.
Dido. By the 1860s, Malay “piracy” had ceased to be a major concern of the
Straits Government. See Tarling's chapters 2 and 3, pp. 67— 145.

85
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carried in square-rigged ships had come to exceed that carried by
native vessels.

In 1842, the total tonnage of the archipelago trade amounted
1o 109,387, of which 53,112 tons were carried by Malaysian perahu,
and 56,275 tons were carried by square-rigged ships. By 1865-66,
the total tonnage of the trade had increased to 233,465, of which
62,639 tons were carried in native vessels and 170,826 tons in
square-rigged ships. Thus the Malaysian traders’ share of the traffic
had shrunk to a mere twenty-seven per cent of the total.!

Piracy was perhaps related to this trend, but the connection is
not clear. Wong suggests that the overall decline in native trade
may have been due to piracy, particularly the resurgence of Malay
and Illanun piracy in 1843 -49. However, he points out that native
trade had done very well with extensive piracy in the pre-1836
period. Besides, British, Dutch, and Spanish naval attacks on
pirates between 1845 and 1851 had broken the backs of the great
pirate flects of the Illanuns and Balininis.” Thus he concludes that
piracy and native trade were not connected.

This is an interesting argument. Other writers have been
unable to resolve the question regarding the connection between
piracy and native trade. In 1828, Fullerton made a thoughtful
observation on the relation between native traders and pirates: *...
as Piracy is concerned, it is difficult to distinguish Pirates from
Native Traders. | fear as regards Malay Prahus they not
infrequently follow both pursuits as occasion points out prospect of
Profit.™

Christopher Hooi, who did a survey of piracy between the
years 1800~ 1867, brings us a step closer to a plausible solution. He
shows that as trade i d, there was a increase in
piracy. Despite remarks about piracy destroying the trade, he
points out that there are no statistics to show this.’ Tarling, quoting
Commodore Hay in 1862, comes closc to the mark: *“It does not
appear to be at all clear that the trade on the whole has been
affected by piracy. A change has taken place not in any way to be

2. Wong Lin Ken, “The Trade of Singapore, 1819 1869, JMBRAS. v. 33, pt. 4
(December 1960), pp. 82, 293, Appendix C, Table xiii.

3. Ibid., pp. 82-83.

4. _SSR A-S7, pp. 10-11.

. Christopher Hooi, “Piracy and Its Suppression in Malayan Waters,
1800~ 1867", Academic Exercise (University of Singapore, 1955). p. 66
Appendix D.

-
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regretted, by which square-rigged vessels have been substituted for
native craft in much of the coasting trade. These square-rigged
vessels are apparently not gencrally subject to the attack of pirates
who appear 1o respect their supposed means of defence.™

If this were the case, we might refute Wong's conclusion by

ing that the anti-piracy igns had the simull
effect of destroying native trade. This was the consequence
suggested by an item in the Singapore Free Press in 1846,
commenting on the raids launched by Brooke and Keppel on the
Illanun pirate settlements in Borneo.

The warlike operations of our men of war in Borneo of late
years have produced a disastrous effect on the native trade
between that quarter and Singapore. This trade which was
steadily augmenting is now all but annihilated. Last year there
was a falling off in the Exports to Borneo by native vessels of
above $85,000 dollars [sic] and this year it is almost certain will
exhibit a much worse result.”

Thus the Malays were on the decline. In Singapore, they were
being overwhelmed by sheer weight of numbers as well as by
technology. By July 1845, the Chinese had come to make up the
majority of Singapore's population. There were 32,132 Chinese in a
total population of 57,421." Over the next fifteen years, the Malays
actually declined in numbers. In 1849, out of a total population of
59,043, there were 12,206 Malays and 2,269 Bugis. Ten years later,
an estimate of the population in the Singapore Free Press noted that
there were only 10,000 Malays and 2,000 Bugis. During the same
period, the Chinese and European populations had doubled.”

With their general drop in numbers, the Malays at Singapore
declined in status. E i and politically, their infl was
decreasing. Cameron noted that there were no Malay merchants in
any of the Straits Settlements: *The Malay never rises to be more
than a hawker; and this is the result, no doubt, of that want of
ambition to be rich.”

On the official level, British and Dutch pressurc on the
maritime state destroyed it during the mid - nineteenth century. The
deposing of Sultan Mahmud 1V by the Dutch in 1857 and the terms

6. Tarling, Piracy and Politics, p. 173,
7. SFP, 4 August 1846.

8. SFP. 21 August 1845.

9. SFP. 30 July 1859.
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under which the British at Singapore gave recognition to Sultan *Ali
in 1855 make the late 1850s a watershed. The breakdown which had
been in progress since 1784 was finally complete. These twin moves
were merely the coup de grace. The Sultanate was stripped of its last
shred of legitimacy and fell into the hands of the European powers.
Major chiefs under the sultans, such as the Yamtuan Muda at Riau
and the Temenggong, who cooperated with the imperialists,
managed to make limited gains, but they too could not seek to
replace the Johor Sul They were dto in states
at the cost of forgoing the refurbishment of the empire. However,
even the attainment of control of a state depended on a productive
population which could be taxed. Without control of economic
resources, political power meant nothing.

The means by which the Johor ruler first filled his treasury
from the state was the trading monopoly in gutta-percha. Here he
collected no taxes but simply the profits on his investments. His
income was limited by both the strength of the sea peoples and the
supply of gutta-percha — both were decreasing. The pirates were
being eliminated and the jungles were being depleted of gutta-
producing trees. Collection of gutta-percha required the destruction
of the tree. Each one yielded about fifteen to twenty catties.” It was
estimated by J. R. Logan, in 1848, that some 270,000 trees had been
felled since 1844. No attempts were being made at this time to plant
new trees. In any case, these took about thirty years to mature. At
that time, Logan wrote: “The imports from Johore have greatly
diminished since last year. The trec in many districts has become so
scarce that the taban obtained does not repay the time consumed in
searching for it. The chiel supplies must now be looked for from
Sumatra, the northern countries of the Peninsula, and, above all,
Borneo."" .

With the establishment of pepper and gambier plantations in
Johor, the Temenggong embarked on an innovative and risky
enterprise. He joined forces with lhc Chmese pepper and gambier
planters who had previ at Si
Between 1835 and | 1844, these Chinese opened up large tracts of
virgin land in the interior of Singapore Island. In the 1840s,
disputes among the planters led to secret socicty wars in Singapore.

10. G. F. de Brujn-Kops, “Sketch of the Rhio-Lingga Archipelago™, JIA, v. 8
(1854), p. 400,
1. J. R. Logan, “Range of the Gutta Taban Collectors™, pp. $32-33.
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The refugees from these conflicts made up the first wave of
immigrants to Johor. They cleared the jungle, made the land “live”,
and produced a new and more stable income for the Temenggong.

Ultimately, this association between the Johor government
and the planters brought new problems for the Malay ruler. The
Chinese proved as difficult to manage as the British and his own
people, the orang laut. In addition, the Johor ruler found himself
embroiled in Chinese economic conflicts. However, he appears to
have had a certain measure of success in avoiding many potential
problems. At least there were no secret society conflicts in Johor.

In the 1840s, the Chinese planters represented an indispensable
resource for the Temenggong. They and the gambier crops were the
only means by which the jungles of Johor could be cut down and
the land brought under cultivation. So far, this had been the only
form of cultivation which had proved capable of producing a
reliable profit from the thin red soil of the region. Where all others
had failed, the Chinese pepper and gambier planters had succeeded
in Riau and then in Singapore. They were thus the most logical
candidates to settle Johor.

However, if he was to collect revenues and thus support his
own government, it was also necessary for Ibrahim to devise means
whereby he could control these immigrants. Here again, his
resources were very slim. The Chinese pepper and gambier planters
were very good at managing their own affairs. They had settled
Singapore with neither help nor permission from the government
and had relied solely on their own systems of control.

In looking for guidelines to organize his own g of
these people, the T had few ful les to
choose from. The Riau Malays, the Dutch, and the English all had
difficulty in ruling large populations of rural Chinese. Likewise,
there was little in his own heritage which would have prepared him
to undertake such a task. No Temenggong before him had ever
really governed a land area the size of Johor, and none had ever

lled ion of ble size and energy.

In secking precedents to organize his government, the
Temenggong appears to have fallen back on whatever traditional
patterns of rule seemed appropriate. He allowed the Chinese a great
deal of freedom to manage their own affairs within the state. This
was perhaps one of the oldest methods of Malay government, and it
was still the basis of control in Riau under the Dutch. At the same
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time, however, Ibrahim found it useful to borrow some
administrative techniques from the British. He introduced a system
of written grants of authority made to the headman of cach
settlement. The Johor government thus began as a minor
innovation on a very old theme.

By the end of the nineteenth century, a number of observers
noted that the Temenggongs had developed a unique type of
cconomic administration in Johor called the Kangchu system.” It
drew its name from the term used to refer to the Chinese headman
of each river where pl; ions had been established. The head
was the Kangchu — a Chinese term which, loosely translated,
means “‘lord of the river”. The Kangchu received a grant from the
Temenggong which was called a surat sungai (river document). This
document authorized him to open plantations on a certain river and
placed in his hands the right to collect taxes, exercise the functions
of government, and control cultivation within the river valley
covered by the grant.

To administer the settlement, he constructed a large house near
the mouth of the river. This was called the kangkar (**river foot")
and it housed the tax monopolies controlled by the Kangchu."

Our study of this system is based on the collection of surar
sungai which have been preserved in the Johor Archives. They
provide us with the first *“modern” written documents produced by
a Malay government. Through them we are able to trace the course
of settlement in Johor and also describe, in some respects, the
evolution of the Johor government itself. The system was, in the
final analysis, a unique combination of Malay, Chinese, Dutch, and
English administrative practices.

12. Coope, “The Kangchu System™, pp. 247-63. See also Tan Tk Soon, *Chinese
Local Trade™. SCAL. v. 6, no. 23 (September 1902), p. 91. Coope was the first to
use the term “Kangchu system™. Not being aware of Tan Tek Soon's article at
the time he wrote, he apparcntly considered his article the first published
description of the system under which Johor's cultivation was Managed.
Included in this article is a translation of several samples of Kangchu
correspondence: a sural sungal, a surat tauliah (Kangchu letter of authority),
and a translation of the Kanun Kangchu or the “Law of the Kangchus™.

13. Since it was primarily a Chincse system of cultivation, Chinese terms were used
by Malays as well to describe its institutions. Spelling of the terms is based on
their pronunciation in the Teochew dialect. The most commonly encountered
terms are: Kangchu {% 5 — lord of the river; kangkar j{ B9 — river foot; and
chukang Ji§ i — generally this term was used with a proper name such as Tan
of Lim and signified “the place of the Tan (or Lim) river™.
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It appears that the system by which the carlier cultivation at
Riau was organized provided the model for the Kangchu system
which was created in Johor. It is noteworthy that all the settlements
were riparian. This was primarily a function of the geography
which was common to both Bentan and Johor. Rivers provided the
only means of access to the land. A major feature of all of these
sculcmcms was the revenue rarms which were located there. Begbie

the of & on the Sebong River thus:
**The population in 1825 amounted to about 1,040 souls residing on
the banks of the river, and allowing for immigration and births, we
might be led to estimate it at present [1834] as not under 1,300." At
the time this estimate was made, however, it was stated that there
were only forty houses, one arrak distillery, one opium, and one
gambling farm." Everything was farmed out to the Chinese
themselves. In matters of economic administration, they were a
relatively autonomous community. This was a typical
administrative pattern which the Dutch adopted for ruling their
settlements in Southeast Asia. In Riau, at this time, the Dutch had
appointed a headman for each Chinese community, who was
known as the “captain” or kapitan. For example, the inhabitants of
the district of Scbong were mainly gambier planters and retail
traders who brought the gambier and pepper to Rhio. They were
governed by an individual selected from among themscives, who
was accountable for their behaviour to the Kapitan of the Chincse
of the Canton kampong."”

Thus the Kapitans at Riau were both administrative officials,
policemen, and revenue farmers for the government. When the
British founded Singapore, they adopted the practice of farming
out the revenues, but no such official as a Kapitan was ever
appointed.” While this meant that in theory all races of Singapore
were under the same legal system, in practice it meant that very

14; Begbie, The Malayan Peninsula, p. 305.
15, Ibid., p. 308,
16. No Chinese Kapitan was ever officially appointcd at Singapore. However,
" there were a number of respectable Chinese merchants who held posts in the
government. At first, RafMles placed the various kampongs of Chinese under
their own headmen, but there is no record of these or other appointments.
Prominent Chinese merchants did however function as headmen. These
included such individuals as Tan Che Sang, Tan Tock Seng, Tan Kim Ching,
Tan Kim Seng, Tan Jisk Kim, Seah Eu Chin, and others whose names
frequently appear on the pages of Song Ong Siang’s book.
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often the Chinese were not governed at all. So long as all Chinese
resided within lhc town limits of Smgnpore. the problems faced by
the British admi ion were but as soon
as large numbers of Chinese hegnn to settle in the interior of the
island, they were removed from gavcmmemzl conlrol ullogelhcr

This attempt at i duci tyll ative
practices to govern a foreign populauon proved to be a failure
particularly in regard to land administration. L. A. Mills devoted
an entire chapter of his book to the Malacca land problem. In
conclusion, he described the British policy as follows: *“It was born
of misconception, it lived in travail and tribulation, and it closed in
failure. Consi h h it was one ding chronicle of
excellent i i and faulty ion, of disappointed hopes
and continual losses — the most depressing chapter in the hislory of
British Malaya.""

While the Singapore land problem did not cause quite the same
kind of difficulty, other matters produced chaos, confusion, and
eventual bloodshed. Here the administrative breakdown was
intimately connected with pepper and gambier planting and
Chinese secret socicty conflicts. When cultivation in Johor began, it
must have appcared to Temenggong Ibrahim that the British
system had little to recommend itself. Thus, we shall find that the

based his admini: ive system on the old pattern
and appointed a Kapitan.

It should also be understood that Temenggong Ibrahim's
father had dabbled in gambier planting. The first cultivators at
Singapore were brought there by Temenggong Abdul Rahman
before 1819." There were twenty plantations on the island when
Raffles arrived. However, there is no evidence that this connection
of the Singapore Malay chiefs with Chinese gambier planters in any
way continued after 1824. In fact, by 1822 all of the original
plantations had been sold and became a part of the town. Whether
any Malays in Ibrahim's following possessed some particular
expertise as a result of this carlier experience is a matter of
speculation. It appears that Ibrahim had to relearn everything
anew.

Before discussing the settlement of Johor, however, it is
necessary to sketch briefly the history of gambier at Singapore.

17, L. A. Mills. British Malaya 1524~ 1567 (Kuala Lumpur, 1966), p. 114,
18, Bartley, “Population of Singapore in 819", p. 177.
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Gambier cultivation became established and spread across
Singapore almost without the British noticing it. For the period
from 1819 to 1835, Europeans paid little attention to gambier
cultivation at Singapore. Crawfurd makes a vague reference to it in
a paper published in 1825, so there must have been some
contemporary evidence of it.” The first European to observe the
extent of the cultivation at Singapore was the Resident Councillor,
Prince.

Buckley reports that in 1827 he visited Bukit Timah to survey
the ground before a road was cut: *He went on foot accompanied
by the contractor of the roads. They had a five hours’ walk... the
distance cut through undulating hill, marshes and rills was fourteen
miles; three-fourths of it in gambier and pepper cultivation,"*
Thus, by 1827 the planters had already cleared a belt of land ten
and a half miles long or even more. But, in 1830 Earl could still
write that there was an ind Chinese ity in the
interior which no European had ever visited.!

Before 1835, most gambier was exported to its traditiotial
markets in Java, Celebes, Siam, and China. Although Europeans
were aware of gambier's use for tanning and dyeing, a heavy import
duty in Great Britain prevented its export to that country, But in
1834 the tariff was lifted and the Singapore Chronicle regarded
gambier as likely to become a staple article of export from
Singapore to Britain.*

The rapid ion of gambier cultivation at Si after
this time was made possible partly because it was already
established, but more importantly because the gambier market
itself had been relocated at Singapore. In 1830, Earl reported that
the once thriving port at Tanjong Pinang in Riau had degenerated
to a sleepy little village. However, the interior of the island had been
“brought into a good state of cultivation by a large body of
industrious Chinese” who possessed extensive plantations of
pepper and gambier. Their numbers were said to amount to forty
thousand, but no census had been taken. Only a small part of their

19. John Crawfurd, quoted in J. R. Logan, “Agriculture in Singapore™, JIA, v. 3
(1849), p. 509.

20. Buckley, An Anccdotal History, p. 198.

21 G. W. Earl, The Eastern Seas (London, 1971), p. 353,

22, James C. Jackson, Planters and Speculators: Chinese and European Agricultural
Enterprise in Malaya 1786 -1921 (Kuala Lumpur, 1968), p. 9.
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produce came through the town of Rhio, the greater part being sent
to Singapore from the northern part of the island.” This traffic in
gambier to Singapore had been going on since shortly after the
founding of the settlement. Imports of gambicr, most of it probably
from Riau and Lingga, between April 1820 and April 1821,
amounted to 10,790 pikuls.* In August 1821, these ports sent 578
pikuls of gambier and 195 pikuls of pepper to Singapore.” In 1825
and 1826, the value of the gambier imports to Singapore totalled
$19,313 and $28,057 respectively, but no figures for weight are
available.”

This traffic was carried on in the sampan pukat which plied
between Riau and Singapore. The pukar trade was entirely in the
hands of Chinese merchants at Singapore. Song Ong Siang reports
that the wealthy Singapore merchant Seah Eu Chin began his career
as a clerk on one of these craft in 1823. The pukat trade also took in
both shores of the Straits of Malacca and the east coast of the
Peninsula.”

In 1830, Seah Eu Chin established his own business as a
commission agent to supply the traffic between Singapore, Riau,
Sumatra, and the Peninsula. In 1835, he went into planting himself
and bought a large picce of land which included most of the present
Tanglin district of Singapore. He planted gambier and pepper but
also experimented with other crops such as nutmegs. Eventually he
concentrated on gambier and pepper. As did many other Singapore
taukeh, he went on to make his fortune in the gambier business.

After 1835 gambier cultivation i rapidly in Singay
Jackson has traced the rise of this production: *In 1836 production
was estimated to total 22,000 pikuls This rose to about 48,000
plkuls in 1839 and to 80,000 pikuls in ‘1848. In the latter year the

i also produced 30,923 pikuls of pepper, and

2. Earl, The Eastern Seas, p. 142,

24 Cowan, “Early Penang”, p. 112.

25, Ibid., pp. 119-20. Riau — 164 pikuls of pepper and 170 of gambier; Lingga —
16 pikuls of pepper and 8 of gambier; and Scbong — 400 pikuls of gambier and
15 of pepper. Cowan incorrectly identifies Sebong as *Sabon, Island just South
of Carimon™. (p. 120, fn. 79.) This is clearly the Scbong River in northern
Bentan also knpwn as Singkang which was shipping its produce direct to
Singapore.

2. Ibid., p. 176.

27. Song Ong Siang, One Hundred Years' History of the Chinese in Singapore
(Singapore, 1967). p. 90.
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lh:se lwo crops together occupied over lhree—quaners of the total

area and d for ncarly three-fifths of
the total value of agricultural produce on the island.”*
Newbold's statistics on the Si gambier market in 1836

indicate that large shipments were already being made to the
West.™

TABLE 2
Gambier Imports and Exports (Singapore), 1836

(pikuls)
Stocked in Singapore:
Local Production (estimated) 22,000
Imports 19,624
Total 41,624
Exported to:
Great Britain 9,921
Calcutta 7,096
Celebes 9,961
China 1,095
Siam 1,060
Cochin China 3,310
Borneo 2,725
Bali 1,159
Other 979
Total 37,306

Evil Si 's gambier prod more than equalled

the imports whlch were probably from Riau. This must have been
marked by a rather substantial shift in population. The export
figures show that Britain, after only one year as a customer for
Straits gambier, was one of the two largest consumers. Apparently,
the demand for gambier had increased by thirty per cent within a
year.

From this time, gambier flourished in Singapore. It involved
the largest single group of the Iacal Chinese pupulauon Until the
1890s, gambicr was the most imp element of Si 's

28, Jackson, Planters, and Speculators, p. 8.
29. Newbold, Political and Statistical Account, v. 1, p. 320.
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local economy. This importance was more in terms of employment
opportunities than of its share in the total income of Singapore.”

Newspaper reports show that European interest in gambier
had been aroused. There were several long articles describing the
Chinese methods of cultivation and giving some idea as to the
average size and productivity of the plantations or bangsal, as they
were called.”

Ideally, a gambier plantation was worked by about three to
cight men. According to various reports, the acreage could have
been from 50 to 250, but the lower figure is more plausible. The
main equipment in a bangsal was a large cauldron used for boiling
the gambier leaves. After most of the liquid was boiled off, the
remainder was filtered and reboiled until it was fairly thick. It was
then poured into flat moulds and left to harden. These were cut up
into small cubes, wrapped, and prepared for shipment. The dregs
were used to fertilize the pepper plants.”

Certain natural limitations determined the optimum size and
location of a bangsal. The astringency of the gambicr leaves
deteriorated rapidly after picking and within twenty-four hours
they were “"brown and uscless”. This meant that harvesting and
processing had to be done together. Leaves had to be put into the
pot as soon as possible after they were picked.

This technology had already been well developed, both at Riau
and Singapore, by 1835. The terrain and soils of Singapore were
essentially the same as Bentan Island or Riau. Thus, once the
European demand for gambier developed, there was no obstacle to
start planting in Singapore. It was simply a matter of getting an
adequate supply of labour and equipment for planting operations,
Judging from the rapid increase in Singapore's Chinese population
between 1835 and 1849, this was no problem. Cultivation expanded
rapidly.”

By the mid-1840s, after a decade of almost unchecked
expansion and prosperity, a number of economic and social
problems began to plague Singapore’s pepper and gambier
cconomy. These were an important cause of Chinese secret society

30. Seah Eu Chin, “The Chinesc of Singapore™, JIA. v. 2 (I848), p. 290.

3L SFP, 28 March 1839. Sce also, Jackson, Planters and Speculators, pp. 19-22.

32 Burkhill, A Dictionary, v. 1, pp. 2199-2202.

33. Song, One Hundred Years' History, p. 23. In 1835, the Chinese population of
Singapore was 13,749, By 1849, it had grown to 24,790,
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conflicts which, ultimately, led to open warfare between various
groups. These disturbances worked to the advantage of
Temenggong Ibrahim, and in 1844 the first groups of planters in
Singapore were ready to move to Johor.

Expansion of the cultivation into Johor was only a temporary
solution to the cconomic problems which turned out to be chronic.
It will thus be useful at this point to describe briefly the three major
problem areas: prices, land tenure, and the financial system which
supported the cultivation.

Jackson has given the following sample prices for gambier
during the period 1831-61.*

TABLE 3
Gambier Prices at Singapore, 1831~1861
(Spanish § per pikul)

Date Prices
January 1831 1.30t0 1,75
January 1834 4.00t0 5.00
January 1837 3.00t03.25
January 1840 2.70t0 2.80
January 1844 1.50
January 1849 0.90to 1.00
January 1855 3.15t03.20
January 1859 26710270

January 1861

The gambier price tended to be very unstable and this made it a
highly i dity. Production was very much affected
by the laws of supply and demand and tended to alternate between
undery ion and overproduction. The high prices of the
183440 period encouraged fairly extensive planting and by 1849
large tracts of Singapore island had been brought under cultivation.
This drove down the price and put pressure on the planters.
Another problem was that of land and land tenure. In the
beginning, there was a great deal of unoccupied land and no legal
system of land tenure. Gambier cultivation was ideally suited to
these conditions. Jackson has described it as a form of shifting
cultivation. A gambier plantation had a productive life-span of only
about twenty years. After that, the soil became exhausted and the
cultivators moved on. Also, the means by which commercial

3. Jackson, Planters and Speculators, p. 13.
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gambier was produced required large supplies of firewood.” The

crop used up land very quickly.

By the early 1840s, the supply of available land and forest was
becoming exhausted and boundary disputes between the cultivators
came to the notice of the government. At this time, the government
began to implement a system for registering these rural
landholdings. In 1841, J. T. Thomson arrived in Singapore as the
first Government Surveyor.

A newspaper article suggested that the new surveyor should
immediately begin laying down boundaries of plantations and
implementing a system of quit rents and title deeds in order to
prevent conflict among the planters.* The survey went ahead, but
rather than stopping disputes, it created more. These conflicts,
according to Dr. Lee Poh Ping, were the fundamental cause of the
secret society warfare which then broke out in Singapore.”

By 1845 the interior of Singapore had been opened up with the
construction of roads, and for the first time the government had
access to the gambier plantations.”” The attempts then made to
survey the plantations and register the land caused quite a
controversy.” Many of the planters objected to paying quit rents,
particularly at this time when the price of gambier stood at a
relatively low $1.65 per pikul.* Other factors also came into play.

To the falling prices and the land shortage must be added
problems arising from the nature of the system by which planting
was financed. At best, gambier cultivation was a subsistence
occupation. The planter, if he was hardworking, frugal, and did not
smoke opium or gamble, could net about $300 to $400 per year.*
35, Ibid.. p. 10.

36. Buckley, An Anecdotal History, p. 353.

37, Lee Poh Ping, “Chinese Society in Nincteenth and Early Twenticth Century

Singapore: A Socioeconomic Analysis”, Ph.D. Thesis (Cornell University,

Ithaca, N. Y., 1974), pp. 120-27.

Buckley, An Ancedotal History, pp. 363, 440. In 1841, there were two major

roads into the interior of Singapore from the town. One went to Serangoon and

another to Bukit Timah. Each was about seven miles long. By 1845, the Bukit

Timah road had been extended across the island an additional eight miles to

Kranji on the Johor Straits.

39. SFP.26 March 1846 and 2 April 1846. These contain a series of letters dealing
with the assessment of the plantations. The first purports 1o be from a secret
society chief, one Tan Tek Hye “Keeper of the Quinquinangular Seal™, in the
issuc of 26 March and the other two in the issue of 2 April.

40. SFP. 21 August 1845.

SFP. 28 March 1839,

o
2
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All the planters were poor men who had come to Singapore with
little or no capital. In fact, they were often in debt from the moment
they got on the boat in China. Only a few became wealthy from
gambier, and these were not planters. Rather it was the merchants
in the town who grew rich. They supplied the planters with
provisions, capital, and credit.

They [the planters] were financed by Chinese shopkeepers and
merchants in Singapore town who usually claimed a
proportion of the future crops until the debt was discharged.
This system of pledging the future plantation and its products
was on ditions highly f: to the capitalist. Thus, it
was observed in 1841 that *Almost the whole of the Pepper
and Gambier plantations have been made, and are now it is
believed up-held by borrowed capital — so that the actual
cultivators are nearly at the mercy of the Chinese merchants of
the Town.™

Many of these pioncer planters never cleared their original
debt and remained under the control of Singapore financiers;
indeed, it was believed that two-thirds of the plantations
existing in 1839 were subject to encumbrances of this
description.®?

These shopkeepers were given an additional advantage over
the planters with the implementation of the new land laws. Since
they were town-dwellers, they. were the first to be notified of
government policies. They also knew best how to make the laws
work to their advantage. The title deeds could only benefit the
capitalists by giving them a legal hold over their debtors, the
planters. It should be noted that the monopoly purchase and sale
agreements alone would never have held up in an English court.

42 Jackson, Planters and Speculators, pp. 11-12.

43. Since these agreements violated the principle of free trade, it does not seem
that, if challenged, an English court would have upheld them. Naturally, they
never were challenged since the planters had no idea of their rights under
English law nor would they have imagined that free trade (if they understood
the concept) applied 1o any of them. Finally, these agreements, even if they
were written (which is doubtful) would have been in Chinese. For the
shopkeepers, the institution of title deeds was an ideal solution, since they made
the planters the tenants of the shopkeepers. In 1864, when this question again
arose in Johor, the shopkecpers demanded that the Johor government issuc
title deeds, saying that it was 100 easy for the planters to-break the monopoly
agreements.
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The cconomic tensions between planters and shopkeepers were
exacerbated by dialect differences.* Most of the planters and small
shopkeepers were Teochews who generally knew very little English.
The wealthier merchants who financed the Teochews were Baba, or
Straits-born Chinese, many of whom had originally come from
Malacca. These were generally Hokkien and most of them spoke
some English. The ultimate source of Singapore's capital reserves
were the European merchants. Since they had easier access to the
European world of Singapore, the Baba merchants were in a
position to dominate the flow of capital in the colony.

All the various Chinese dialect groups in the Straits
Settlements were represented by secret societies, or Aui. In 1846, the
major groups at Si were described in a paper article:
*“The Hoes in Singapore are numerous, the principal being the Tan
Tae Hoe (Heaven and Earth Society) otherwise called the Ghee Hin
Hoe (Justice Exalted Society) and the Kwan Tec Hoe. The former is
said to number from 10 to 20,000 members, the latter about
1,000." In terms of dialect-group alignments, the Ghee Hin (or
Ngee Heng) was the Teochew society. The “Kwan Tec Hoe™, also
known as the Ghi Hok, was the principal Hokkien society.*

The major outbreaks of violence at Singapore during the 1840s
and 1850s were between the Teochew Ngee Heng and the Hokkien
Ghi Hok. Their struggle appears to have included the gambier-
producing areas of both Riau and Singapore. Buckley reports that
in 1847 the Yamtuan Muda of Riau had allied with the **Quan Tek
Hoe™ (Ghi Hok) and that, as a result, the Tan Tae Hoe had gotten
the worst of a series of outbreaks there.” The Singapore Free Press
reported that about 1,500 refugees had left Riau and gone to
Singapore.* Some of these st up a base-on the Seletar River under
a planter named Neo Liang Quan. In 1847, they launched an attack
against Galang Island near Riau and destroyed a large number of
pepper and gambier plantations. Buckley's remarks as well as
Song Ong Siang's account show a definite connection between

44, Lee, “Chincse Socicty™, pp. 23-62.

45, SFP. 7 April 1846,

46. Leon Comber, Chinese Secret Societies in Malaya: A Survey of the Triad
Society from 1800 10 1900 (New York, Locust Valley, 1959), p. 61.

4. Buckley, An Anecdotal History, p. 463.

48. SFP. 12 February 1846.

49. Buckley, An Anecdotal History, pp. 463-64.
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secret society conflicts and pepper and gambier planting. Song also
reports that the Chinese Christians in Singapore, who were also
planters, were likewise involved in these conflicts. They too had
their organizations which were called **Hong-kahs".*

A series of newspaper letters in March 1846 gives a unique
insight into the manner in which the Chinese themselves perceived
the situation. On 26 March, the Singapore Free Press printed a
letter from a secret society headman called Tan Tek Hye, who
styled himself “*Keeper of the Quinquangular Seal". He raised a
protest against the assessments then being made on the plantations
in the interior by the government. He informed the general public
that, in retaliation, the society had commanded about 4,000 pepper
and gambier planters to leave for Johor."

In subsequent issues of the papers, letters were printed,
supporting or criticizing the stand of the secret society chief. All,
however, confirmed that the planters were leaving and that the
government policy was the major cause of their departure.

For Johor, these events were of some importance. The 4,000
planters of the Ngee Heng did go to Johor and this marked the
beginning of a long association between the Johor ruler and that
Chinese sccret society. Eventually, it was recognized as the only
legal Chinese society in Johor and remained as such until 1916
when the British authorities forced it to disband.

The records of the Johor Archives and Singapore newspaper
reports show that gambier planting had already started there before
March 1846. Both Mills and Coope have erred in stating that
planting in Johor began before 1844. Mills states that “between
1835 and 1840 ...the failure of the spice plantations on the island of
Singapore caused many of the Chinese to migrate across the Strait
of Johore.™ Aside from the fact that the influence of the nutmeg
failure is probls ical, it is also hy that he gives no source
for this date. In the following sentence, he ions the of
revenue farms in Johor, but his source here is one dating from
18477

Coope's error is twofold. He notes that “the first surat sungai
which I have traced is dated A. H. 1245 (A.D. 1833)".*' The writer's

S0. Song, One Hundred Years' History, p. 35.
51 SFP, 26 March 1846,

2. Mills, British Malaya, p. 183, fn. 32.

$3. Coope, “The Kangchu System”, p. 247.
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own rescarches in the collections of the Johor Archives show that
the carliest traceable surar sungai was issued on A. H. 26 Muharram
1260 (9 October 1844) for Sungai Sekudai. Coope appears to have
erred first in transcribing the jawi numerals, which admittedly are
close to illegible, and mistook 1260 for 1245. His second error was
in converting A.H. to A.D. A.H. 1245, began on 3 July 1829, and
ended on 21 June 1830. So his statement that A.H. 1245 is the same
as A. D. 1833 is likewise incorrect. We must take 1844 as the date of
the first known surat sungai.**

The second grant, made on 22 October 1844, gave the Tebrau
River to Kapitan Tan Kee Soon.” By April 1845, three more surat
sungai had been recorded. One of these was for the Melayu River
and the other two (apparently duplicates) were for the Tiram, a
tributary of the Johor River.**

A contemporary newspaper report gives the first notice of
planting in Johor. While it does not fully correspond to the
information in the Archives, the discrepancies are minor ones. It
states that cultivation had begun on four rivers and that, in all,

ixty 1 i were in ion, as follows:

TABLE 4
Gambier Plantations in Johor, June 1845

rivers plantations
Sekudai 20
Melayu 12
Danga 15
Tebrau 3

The total population of these rivers was estimated at 500."
This was clearly the start of pepper and gambier planting in
Johor. It is interesting to note that, from the beginning, all

S4. SKMK -1, No. 57, 23 April 1864, which refers to the original grant and gives
the correct date. For a comprehensive discussion of these documents see
Trocki, “The Johor Archives and the Kangchu System I844-1910",
JMBRAS. v. 68, pt. | (May 1975), pp. 1-46

. SKMAK-1.No. 60, 12 August 1864 cites the original grant as having been made
1o Kapitan Tan Kee Soon on 22 October 1844,

6. SKMK -1, No. 4, 18 February 1849 for Sungai Melayu, and the two Sungai

Tiram grants are SKMA 1. Nos. 8 and 8a, 17 January 1845 and 7 April 1845,

57. SFP, June 1845, quoted in Buckley, An Anecdoral History, p. 431.
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settlements were made under official grants from the Temenggong.
The settlement of Johor was under some form of Malay control
from the first. Within a year, five more rivers were opened. Between
July 1845 and April 1846, surat sungai were issued for the
following streams: Chat, Lunchu and Paksi, Tiram Duku, Buluh
Besar and Pendas.™

The continuing secret society disturbances in the interior of
Singapore and the government’s efforts to register the Singapore
plantations worked to Johor's advantage. The new settlements
probably absorbed the 4,000 planters that had been ordered to
migrate by the Singapore headman of the Ngee Heng Socicty. In
Johor, these settlers became the nucleus for a local branch of the
Ngee Heng. They appear to have come under the direct authority of
Kapitan Tan Kee Soon, the Kangchu of Tebrau. He is recognized
as the founder of the Teochew community in Johor.

An account of Tan Kee Soon is given in The Teochews in
Malaya. Part of it is given here in translation:

The organization of the Ngee Heng was very large. The policy
of the local government in early Singapore was one of /aissez-
Jaire, so they could carry on their activities freely. Later on,
however, the government began to restrict them. So, Tan Kee
Soon, who was an important leader, felt that the society could
no longer stand to operate in Singapore. He made plans to
expand into Johor.

At that time, Johor was an underdeveloped place. Tan Kee
Soon brought in some workers and proceeded bravely. They
first opened Tan Chukang. The cultivation was successful and
gradually he initiated the development of Johor Baharu.
Today we call Johor Baharu “New Mountain™, which means
the newly developed place.

Alter some years, when Muar disobeyed the Sultan, Tan
Kee Soon raised an army and went to pacify Muar. Thus, the
Sultan came to love and trust him. And he was commissioned
by the Johor government to be responsible for the police force.

S8, S$JB. No. 10, 5 July 1871 probably refers o SKMK - 1, No. 13, undated for
Sungai Tiram Duku; Sungai Chat, SKXMA -/, No. §, 26 August 1845; Sungai
Linchu and Paksi, SKMA - 1. No. 6, 27 October 1845; Sungai Buloh Besar,
SKMK -1, No. 9, 29 November 1845; Sungai Pendas, SKMK -1, No. 7, 26
April 1846. All rivers are located in South Johor and flow into the Johor
Straits
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Since he was the leader of the Ngee Heng, the government
i ly permitted their open activities. This is the reason
why the Ngee Heng of Johor was different from that of

Singapore.””

This Chinese report, together with the information from the
Archives, indicates that the Temenggong had, in some respects,
relied on traditional models in organizing the government of his
Chinese subjects. Like the rulers of Riau, both Dutch and Bugis
and probably the Malays beforc them, he had placed the pepper
and gambicr planters under a Kapitan. It is significant that this
Kapitan was probably not a merchant in the first instance, although
he no doubt became one later. At the beginning, however, Tan Kee
Soon was clearly a secret society chief and a kind of military
commander. Most points made in the Chinese account appear to be
corrob d by Yy paper reports about secret
socicty activities in Johor and Singapore. The surar sungai provide
additional confirmation. The building of roads in Singapore and
the government’s attempts to register the plantations certainly
brought Chinesc activities in the interior under much closer official
supervision.

The Tebrau ! pre-dated the founding of the Malay
government’s headquarters at Tanjong Putri by more than a
decade. Kangkar Tebrau (or Tan Chukang) seems to have been the
centre of local government in Johor for the period between 1844
and 1855. In the latter year, a police station was established at
Tanjong Putri. Being the headquarters of Johor's Kapitan China,
Tebrau would have been the seat from which the revenue farms of
all the Johor Kangchu were managed. Thus, the statement
regarding his military following should be taken at face value. The
surat sungai identify him as Kapitan and the Chinese account notes
that, as the major Ngee Heng headman, he was head of the police
force. While there is no mention in other sources about his
campaign against Muar, the unsettled state of affairs on that river,
as well as the Temenggong’s involvement in these conflicts, was
noted by other observers. The Chinese account is plausible and
reinforces the argument for Tan's role as a “policeman’’.

This settlement and its role in the cultivation during these ycars
is mentioned only in the Chinese sources. Apart from the relevant
39. Hsing Nung Pan, The Teochews in Malaya [ i§ i 5LA% + AR 0 )

(Singapore, Nan Tao Publications, Ltd., 1950), p. 42.
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surat sungai, no Malay or English accounts give further information
regarding Tebrau's carly prominence. The surat sungai suggest,
however, that it was an important settlement and, at least until
1869, remained the headquarters of the Kapitan. A surat sungai,
dated 1859, indicates that Tan Kee Soon had taken a partner who
later succeeded him both as Kangchu and as Kapitan. This was his
adopted son, Tan Cheng Hung.*” The latter individual then held the
post for scveral years and then sold off his holdings and
disappeared from the scene.* In 1873, a surat sungai indicates that a
new Kapitan had been appointed since 1869. His name was Scah
Tee Heng, a Sckudai Kangchu. He may possibly have become
Kapitan in 1871.* By this time, Tebrau had probably begun to
decline in importance with the growth of the new town of Johor
Baharu.

There is little definite information about the number of
plantations or bangsals opened at Tebrau or about the actual
population during the period 1844 -60. The only figures available
refer 1o the subsidiary holding at Sungai Pandan. In 1864, there
were forty plantations on this river.*” There should have been many
more further up the Tebrau itself beyond the kangkar. The nature
of the evidence in the Archives, however, does not give information
on acreage, produce, or population. The surat sungai merely
authorized the opening of an area. To the Johor government, the
Kangchu was primarily a concessionnaire whose major role was the
collection of taxes.

While the Kangchu must have had some responsibility for
ensuring that the planters’ debts with the shopkeepers were paid,
there is little evidence that such transactions were a matter of
government record. The government’s concern, as seen in the surar

60. SKMK -1, No.3, | August 1859, for Sungai Tebrau is made to Kee Soon and
Cheng Hung. A later surar sungai (SKMK -1, No. 60, 12 August 1864) records
the settlement of a dispute over the inheritance of Kapitan Tan Kee Soon. This
recognized Kapitan Tun Cheng Hung as Kangchu,

SJB, No. 74, 8 May 1883, reports that the Dato Bentara of Johor, Ja'afar Haji

Mohamed, had purchased the Kangchu rights to Sungai Tebrau from Kapitan

Tan Cheng Hung on 24 June 1869. The original bill of sale is missing.

62. SKMK 1. No. 99, 19 October 1873, is the first mention of Seah Tee Heng as
Kapitan. However, SJB, No. 8, 26 March 1871, records the sale of Sungai
Telor by Tan Cheng Hung. Cheng Hung was ot styled “Kapitan™ in the bill of
sale. He was however, in 1866, when he first acquired the rights to Sungai
Telor, SKMK -1, No. 74, 4 Junc 1866

63. SKMK -1, No. 60, 12 August 1864.

61.
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sungai and related documents, was with revenue farms and the
collection of taxes. In matters of tax-farms, as with the financing of
the planters, the cconomic life of Johor was determined by
Singapore.

The arrival of the 4,000 Chinese in about 1846 coincided with
the first mention of revenue farms in Johor. Buckley carries a
quotation by Mr. Thomas Church, the Resident Councillor of
Singapore, regarding an assault on one Ang Ah, a Chinese
merchant of Singapore, in July 1846: “The assault we have reason to
believe was prompted by a wish to annoy Ang Ah, because he has
recently become renter of the Opium Farm lately established in
Johore by the Tomoongong, whose Chinese settlers daily increase,
to the serious detriment of the Singapore Revenue Farmers....""

Even though there was a Kapitan in Johor, the farms of the
state were still held from Singapore. By 1847 the major Singapore
tax-farmer, Cheang Sam Teo, held the Johor farms as well. At that
time he paid $300 per month for them.** From this time, whether
officially sanctioned by the Singapore government or not, the Johor
and Singapore farms were generally held jointly by the same
syndicate.** So the revenue collection for Johor was, from the
beginning, based on and financed from Singapore. The Singapore
farmer supplied the capital and the opium, and the Kapitan and
other Kangchu in Johor were presumably responsible for the local
administration of this monopoly as well as for final processing and

64, Buckley, An Anccdotal History, p. 430.

65 Mills, British Malaya, p. 183.

66, Until 1862, the Singaporc and Johor farms were rented jointly under an
arrangement between the two governments. The British became dissatisfied
with the sharc which the Temenggong received under this agreement and it was
terminated. SKMK ~1. No. $9, 11 September 1863, reports that Tan Hiok Nee
was made the opium farmer for Johor Baharu and, one presumes, for all of
Johor. The SSD (1874) “Johor™, p. 4, reports that the Johor farms were held
by Cheang Hong Lim, Major Tan Hiok Nee, and Tan Seng Poh. Hong Lim
and Seng Poh were regular members of the syndicate which held the Singapore
revenue farms. Sce, Song. One Hundred Years' History, pp. 21, 131-33, and
168-69. Also, Sang (p. 159) quotes the Daily Times report that the Opium
farms for Singapore, Malacca, Johor, and Riau had been amalgamated in 1870,
These is no definite word in any of the sources available 1o the writer on the
status of the Johor farms between 1863 and 1870 It is possible that Tan Hiok
Nee held them independently; on the other hand, he may have found it
convenient (o make some arrangement with the Singapore farmers as soon as
he reccived the Johor farms in 1863,
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distribution. It is important to stress the continuing connection
bclwccn Johcu and Singapore and to note that Johor never became

dent of the British ghout the
nineteenth century. A major preoccupation of the Johor
government was the regulation of the relationship between the
Johor Kangchu and the Singapore tax farmers.

Even in the casc of the Malay government itself, the centre
remained in Singapore at Teluk Belanga until the 1860s. The first
moves at actually setting up any kind of government establishment
in Johor did not get underway until 1855. One obstacle, besides the
generally unsettled condition of the state before that time, was the
fact that the Temenggong's claim to Johor was not fully recognized.
The treaty of March 1855, by which Tungku Ali, the son of Sultan
H ussum was recognized as Sultan of Johor, also (strangely enough)

d the T as ign ruler of the state. Ali's
title was an empty onc, and the only territory which remained under
his control was the narrow strip of land between the Muar and
Kesang Rivers.”” This settlement removed all legal impediments to
the establishment of a formal governmental apparatus in Johor by
the Temenggong.

The only eyewitness account of the beginnings of the Johor
government is the Tawarikh Dato Bentara Luar, the biography of
Dato Mohamed Salleh bin Perang, one of the major officers of the
Johor government. Writing in 1894, he recounts the first
settlements in Johor:

... around 1855, Al-Marhum Ibrahim began to open Johor and
make it a state. At the place called Tanjong Putri, where the
state's capital is now located, he built a factory [gedung]. It was
situated on the hill where the military base is today, Bukit
Tambatan. The flag pole of the government was erected there
and the place was named Iskandar Putri. No trading was done
there as yet, nor were any merchants settled there. The only
other buildings were one or two houses for the people who
worked there, The chief was my uncle, Enche Dapat bin
Mohamad Salleh. The Chinese pepper and gambier planters
were already quite numerous in Johor. The head of cach river
had his own place.

67 Winstedt, “A History of Johor", pp. 92-94
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He reports that in 1855 his own father was taken into the
Temenggong's employ in Johor. About this time, he claims,
Cheang Sam Teo, the Singapore opium farmer, bought the Johor
farms. It was the job of the Dato’s father, Enche Perang bin
Mohamed Salleh, to guard these farms. He was empowered to
arrest anyone bringing illicit opium into the statc or anyone
manufacturing debased opium in Johor.*

However, Singapore remained the centre of government. The
Temenggong's court and palace remained at Teluk Belanga. Until
1858, all the government correspondence dealing with Johor (for
example, licences, summonses, warrants, etc.) were issued from the
government offices at Teluk Belanga. The Singapore kampong was
also the base for the Temenggong's minister (menteri), Enche Long.
Apart from the abovementioned factory, there was only a jail at
Iskandar Putri. Dato Mohamed Salleh himself first joined the
Temenggong's government in 1856, when he became a clerk under
Enche Long. His work included writing out licences for planting
and cutting timber.*

In about 1855, Ungku Abu Bakar, Temenggong Ibrahim's
cldest son, was named heir-apparent. As his father was growing old,
the young prince began to take over many of the functions of
government. “He had spent three or four years studying in the
English school.” At that time he was over twenty years old and had
already begun to take over some of the work of government... all of
the government business conducted with Europeans was under his
direction. In all of these affairs, he was prudent, sharp-tongued and
clear headed. He gained many friends among the Europeans and
merchants.” Abu Bakar then continued the work of building up the
government in Johor.

68. Mohamed bin Hay llyas, comp., Tawarikh Dato Bentara Luar Johor, Mohamed
Salleh bin Perang (Johor Baharu, 1928), pp. 67-68. This is an edited collection
of same of the Dato's diaries and publications.

69. Ibid., p. 74

70. This was the Teluk Belanga Malay School founded by the Rev. Benjamin
Peach Keasberry around the beginning of 1846. Sec Buckley's short account of
his lfe, An Anecdotal History, pp. 320~ 22. In addition to his school, Keasberry
also ran a printing press and taught printing, bookbinding, and lithography.
Others who were cither students or teachers at this school included Abu
Bakar's brothers and cousins as well as others like Dato Mohd. Salleh, Munshi
Abdullah and his sons, especially Mohd. Ibrahim, later Dato Bentara Dalam of
Johor
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In 1858, His Highness Ungku Abu Bakar requested permission
from his father to move all of the offices of the Johor
government to Iskandar Putri. He appointed his cousin, Raja
Ahmad, also known as Raja Kechil, to be the Resident at
Iskandar Putri. But Abu Bakar was also there and together
they put in order all of the things necessary to set up a police
station and made the laws which arc still in use today. Since
Johor was very close to Singapore, all of the legal measures
followed the system set up in Singapore. This was donc in
order not to upset the people who came to live in Johor. They
were made to feel that it was the same type of law that they had
been accustomed to in Singapore and Malacca.

Towards the end of 1858, Dato Mohamed Salleh reports that
his own office was moved to Iskandar Putri. Enche Long had him
appointed as chief secretary to the Resident, Raja Ahmad. His
duties included those of chiefl clerk, court recorder, and treasury
agent. He had three or four clerks working under him, but the
business of the government was rather light at this time. The court
was generally open for business only two or three days during a
week. Abu Bakar himself frequently returned to Teluk Belanga to
visit his father and the rest of his family who continued to maintain
their residences in Singapore.”

By the time of Temenggong Daing Ibrahim's death in 1862, the
cultivation in Johor had become well established. The Johor
Archives records show that about forty surat sungai had been issued
between 1844 and March 1862. The greater majority of these were
for rivers flowing into the Johor Straits which separated the
mainland from Singapore. Another major area of settlement was
the watershed of the Johor River. As an estuary, the river was
administered more as part of the sea rather than as outflow from
the land. Its banks were treated as a sca coast, not a river bank. The
surat sungai for the many small tributaries flowing into it were given
out individually and there was never any surat sungai for the entire
river.

Eventually, one man came to control most of one entire bank
of the Johor River, but that was a rather special case. It should also
be noted that no grants had as yet been made for Johor's east coast
on the South China Sea, and only two had been made for the west

71 Mohamed bin Haji llyas, comp.. Tawarikh. pp. 7678,
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coast. The population was clustered in south Johor. The statistics
are as follows:
TABLE §
Settlements in Johor, 1844 -1862"
Surat Sungai Rivers  kanghar(c 1862)

Johor Straits I8 16 14
Johor River 18 19 16
West Coast 4 2 2
Total 40 n 32

Wh.n lh|s rcprcscnlcd in terms of popula\mn number of

ion is a matter of | ding to

the figures g-vcn by Begbic, and this is confirmed by Inlcr evidence,
kangkar generally had populations ranging from 200 or 300 up to
about 2,000. The Singapore Free Press published an estimate of

TABLE 6
Rivers For Which Surar Sungai Had Been Issued By 1862

Straits Johor River West Coast
Sckudai Tiram Pontian Besar
Tebrau Layu Pontian Kechil
Melayu Papzh
Tiram Duku Kering
Chat Pecha Periok
Lunchu Tembaga
Paksi Chemarang
Buloh Besar Lebam
Pendas Chemak
Danga Redan
Tajun Galang Patah Ayer Putch
Choh Santi
Pulai (ulu) Bukit Berangan
Sengkuang Panti
Ulu Sekudai Seluyut
Semenju Temon
Renggit
Punggai
Nipah

72, Trocki, “The Johor Archives™, pp. 20~ 23. The figures for these two tables are
based on SKMA - 1. Johor Archives
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Singapore’s population in July 1859. This was a letter and it
included an estimate for Johor as well. The writer claimed that the
number of Chinese in Johor was estimated, *by those who have the
best means of knowing it”, at about 60,000,

This figure strikes one as excessive. If we use a rough average
of about 1,000 to a kangkar (which is probably still somewhat
high), 30,000 may be more likely. It is possible that the writer of the
letter got his information from the Temenggong. The latter would
be inclined to give an inflated figure so as to justify the percentage
of the joint Singapore-Johor revenue farms which he received from
the Singapore government.

Apart from this, there are no other records of Johor's revenue.
which would give us an indication of how much money the state
was receiving. A tax on gambier was collected, but there is no
indication of amounts of money or of gambier exported. The
gambier was all sent to Singapore and shows up on the record as an
unknown percentage of Singapore’s exports.

As a gambier cultivating arca, Johor was one of three major
producing centres at this time. The other two were Riau (Bentan
Island, Galang Island, and perhaps a few others) and Singapore
itself. In terms of agricultural population, the three regions seem to
have been of less equal size, depending on local diti
Politically, these were “'separate” entities: the Malay state of Johor,
the Dutch Residency of Riau under the Netherlands East India
Company, and the Straits Settlement of Singapore under the British
East India Company.

If this entire territory is seen from the viewpoint of the gambier
cconomy, the political boundaries within it become much less
defined. Gambier rep a unified y which blank
the three political zones. The cconomy was capitalized and
controlled by a handful of wealthy raukehs in Singapore such as
Seah Eu Chin, and his son Seah Liang Scah, Tan Seng Poh, Cheang
Hong Lim, Tan Hiok Nee. They were at the top of a vast
“pyramid” of humanity making a living out of gambier in some
way or other.

The gambier economy included a mixture of interdependent
relationships. There was the debtor-creditor arrangement between
the planter and the shopkeeper, which governed the exchange of
produce and provisions. There was a legal arrangement between the

73. SFP. 31 July 1859,
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Kangchu and the Malay rulers (in Johor and Riau). There was the
military hicrarchy of the secret socictics. There was a
merchandizing arrangement between the Kangchu and the
Singapore opium farmer or some smuggler — a dealer who was not
a part of the syndicate which held the farms. The Kangchu
managed the distribution of opium in his river valley. He probably
controlled a group of coolies as well and owned a share in the boat
which serviced his kangkar.

Everything converged on the Kangchu., He managed the
planter-shopkeeper relationship. He was the basic government
concessionnaire. He was also the local military chief and
undoubtedly the wealthiest man in the district. At this period (c.
1860) most Kangchus in Johor and Riau were probably residing in
their respective kangkar, although this was changing. Perhaps many
of the Singapore Kangchus were already beginning to live in the
town rather than at their settlement. Their military role appears 1o
have been declining at this time as the local governments organized
more effective official police forces.

Qur evidence suggests that most Kangchus had initially been
secrel socicty chieftains in charge of a small body of fighters.
Conditions in Johor during the 1840s had not changed much since
1787 and were none too secure. Such settlements would necessarily
have to be able to defend themselves, protect their revenue
concessions, prevent gambier smuggling, and keep the planters and
coolies at work, In both Johor and Riau, these Kangchus were
under the authority of a Kapitan who was appointed by the Malay
ruler. It is impossible to outline with any certainty the relationship
between the hicrarchy of the secret societies and the distribution
system for the opium, but one would suspect that these were quite
closely linked particularly at the lower level. There likewise would
have been a close connection between these groups and the coolie
brokers who supplied the human resources which they exploited.

The system was changing however. As conditions became
more secure in the 1860s, the need for the Kangchu's military role
decreased. This meant that the Kangchu himself often changed in
status. There was an increasing tendency for the Kangchu to be
primarily a capitalist or, in local terms, a taukeh.

This then was the situation in Johor at the beginning of 1860.
Iskandar Putri, a small but functional administrative centre, had
been established in Johor and a corps of Malay administrators were




THE TEMENGGONG AND THE CHINESE, 1844~ 1860 s

beginning to exercise control on the spot. As shown on map 3,
most of the small rivers flowing into the Johor Straits had been
opened to cultivation, as well as some of the tributaries of the Johor
River,

The Johor of about 1860 was largely the creation of
Temenggong Ibrahim. He had begun in 1825, without title or
estate, but only as the heir to his father's leadership of the Teluk
Belanga community. He did not begin to attract attention until
about 1834, when he emerged as a suspected pirate chief. In many
ways, his career began like those of hundreds of Malay rajas before
him — he was a disinherited prince forced to claim a state by
conquest.

His battleground was, however, British-controlled Singapore
and he faced a power that greatly outweighed anything he could
hope to muster. Thus, in 1836, he took the only opportunity
available to him and joined forces with Bonham against the pirates.
On the basis of this alliance, he gained power and received
recognition from Europeans as well as his brother chiefs at Riau
and on the Peninsula, and he finally received his title in 1841,

He began to build a state in Johor shortly after this. The
discovery of gutta-percha and the development of difficulties
among the Chinese pepper and gambier planters of Singapore
supplied him with the wealth and manpower to begin agricultural
settlements on the empty land. His government here was of a very
traditional style and seems to have amounted to no more than the
collection of taxes and of trade polies. The
Temenggong did not sce Johor as a sphere for political
administration. For him, politics were in Singapore and the Malay
world which centred around it. Johor was simply an economic
resource.

There was little need for him to exercise the actual powers of
government over the Chinese. He merely appointed a Kapitan, as
had been done at Riau, and took the precaution of excluding all
secret socicties with the exception of the Ngee Heng. The Kapitan
and the Kangchus were the major administrators of the cultivation
and whatever law and order was maintained on the plantations.
They were also responsible for the collection of taxes and the
Temenggong's revenues.

From a strictly pragmatic point of view, the Kangchu system
made possible the initial development of large tracts of virgin land
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in Johor. As a pattern of social, political, and economic
izati it was suited to the resources and
requirements of the period. Efforts were concentrated on the
cultivation of two crops which were in high demand throughout the
nincteenth century — pepper and gambier. Successful cultivation
and mmnl pmccmng ol‘ these crops required a minimum of
and They drew primarily
on the most readily available resources of the area: Chinese labour,
the unoccupied land and ample forests of Johor, and the many
small but navigable rivers which gave access to them.

At the same time, minimal and appropriate demands were
placed on the available capital and on the existing social and
economic institutions. The family-run Chinese businesses of
Singapore, the Chinese clan and secret society structures, and lhe
Malay political organization of the T were
suited to finance, manage, and control this system of agricultural
production. Moreover, they were able to do so at a profit.

It would be incorrect, however, to presume that such a task as
that of opening up the Johor wilderness to. cultivation could have
been done without the British p| in It is doubtful
that such an enterprise would havc been undertaken were it not for
the entrepot. As we saw with Riau, this cultivation had long been a
part of the entrepot complex. In the nineteenth century, British
Singapore provided a market at which the produce could be
gathered, sold, and exported. It was at Singapore that the monetary
resources, the supplics, and the labour force were concentrated.
Without the entrepot, the development of commercial agriculture
in Johor would have been impossible.

Singapore’s dominant position in the pepper and gambicr
business long pre-dated the opening of Johor. Singapore remained
the financial and commercial centre of the industry throughout the
nincteenth century. Johor was d:slmcd to conlmue its existence asa
state which, though liticall was
totally dependent on Singapore.

Until the end of the 1850s, Johor was largely governed in
absentia. The Temenggong and his more important followers
remained at Teluk Belanga. On the Chinese side, the merchants and
shopkeepers of Singapore financed the planters in Johor. As
Temenggong Ibrahim aged and his son Abu Bakar began to assume
control over the state, they set out to build a state administration in
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Johor. By the mid-1860s, Iskandar Putri had become a prosperous
little village and much of the administration of the state was
conducted from there.

However, the Chinese and the gambier and pepper market
remained at Singapore. Johor was tied to the entrepot. The story of
Abu Bakar's government in Johor begins with his attempt to end
this economic dependence. This move brought him into direct
conflict with the Singapore government and the Chinese merchant
community of the colony. Although the attempt itself failed, it
brought about a move to place the state’s administration on a much
more orderly basis. This in turn resulted in the growth of a Malay
bureaucracy which became the core of the future government of the
state.




5
Abu Bakar takes Command
1860 - 1873

The period 1860~73 was one of rapid progress for Johor. The
state's pepper and gambier agriculture expanded greatly during
these years as a result of a rising demand for gambier in the world
market. Johor also benefited from the decline of the plantations in

ingap and the i d Chinese immigration to the Malay
world. These favourable trends were enhanced through the policics
of the young and energetic ruler who succeeded Temenggong
Ibrahim in 1862. During the first decade of his rule, he became the
single most important Malay political figure of the entire century.

Temenggong Sri Maharaja Abu Bakar was twenty-cight when
his father died. In addition to being both fluent and literate in
English and Malay, he had already spent several years looking after
family affairs and running the newly-cstablished government in
Johor, and was thus admirably qualified to take full control. Both
mature and experienced, he also succeeded to a secure position. The
change of rulers created no lapse in the state such as that which had
occurred in 1825. Abu Bakar was able to begin his rule with his
father's achi as an li fact. It is, then, not
surprising that he moved on to much greater things.

On succeeding, Abu Bakar inherited the considerable influence
which his father had exercised among the other power-holders in
the region. His status and position were immediately acknowledged
by the officials and the merchants of Singapore as well as by the
other rulers on the Peninsula and in Riau. In 1866, he pushed
beyond the confines of the Malay world and travelled to England
where he was received by Queen Victoria. Later he made many
more trips and, according to the Hikayat Johor, formed a close
relationship with the Prince of Wales, later King Edward VIL.'
During his first five years in office, he quickly pulled together the
many interests of his father and recreated a new Johor.

I Mohammad Said, Hikayat Johor 1, pp. 12-13.
s
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Tan Hiok Nee
Courtesy of the Arkib Negara Malaysia)




ABU BAKAR TAKES COMMAND, (8601873 1ne

The 1860s were a turbulent period for the young chief. Both he
and his state were very much creatures of Singapore. In his quest
for power, Abu Bakar maintained stances which occasionally
alarmed the Singapore government. He was thus continually forced
to act according to either European sensibilities or his own
ambitions. The evidence suggests that his aims went far beyond the
borders of his own state. There was also a certain ambiguity
rcgardmg his status and his rclauonshlp to Singapore. It was this

ion that d much of the activity of the

pcnud.

It is important to remember that Abu Bakar's predecessors
were technically officials under the Sultan of Johor. The treaty of
1855 had given Temenggong Ibrahim a clear title to the territory of
Johor and he was recognized as an independent ruler. On the
surface, this agreement marked the accomplishment of the
transition from port ol’ﬁcml to (crmonal ruler. However, there

many ambi, g Abu Bakar's status and role.
The idea of the division of lh: Malny Peninsula into a number of
states was ively new. Johor, under Ibrahim and

Abu Bakar, was the first of the new model Malay states.

In addition to the vaguely defined states and territories of the
period, there remained the question of the old Sultanate. As the
office decreased in power, the number of “Sultans” increased.
There were three in 1860: Sultan *Ali of the Singapore line in Muar;
Sultan Sulaiman of Lingga who was under both the Yamtuan
Muda and the Dutch; and the predecessor of the latter, Sultan
Mahmud, whom the Dutch had deposed in 1857. None of them
possessed an independent source of wealth or a viable power base.
Al the same time, there were other, more powerful, territorial chiefs
who also traced their lineage back to Sultan Abdul Jalil (d. 1719).
These included Abu Bakar, the Bendahara of Pahang, and the
Sultan of Trengganu. Among the three, only Abu Bakar had direct
access to the immense economic and military power represented by
Singapore.

In 1862, there was a wide range of possibilities open to Abu
Bakar. He was in a position to try to redefine both himself and his
state as he saw fit. The British, however, had their own ideas about
the appropriate relationship between Singapore and Johor as well
as about that between Johor and the other states of the Peninsula.
They became concerned about the growing influence of the
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Temenggong. .lohn Cnmeron noled that the Trcaly of 1855 had

created some p 8 g the T 's status:
.. the present Sultan not long ago sold his birthright of the
sovereignty to Johore to the present Tumongong’s father, who
was his hereditary vassal; but, strange to say, retained as he
still does the title of Sultan. It has been a badly managed piece
of business, and has given rise to great dissatisfaction among
the rajahs of the peninsula, who refuse to acknowledge the
Tumongong — because, in point of hereditary rank, his is
beneath many of them. With respect to the island of Singapore
it is beyond doubt that the Tumongong’s family had great
claims, both because they so cordially assisted our settlement,
and because, though subject to the seignory of the Sultan, the
soil appears to have been their property. In point of ability and
education, too, the Tumongongs have been far in advance of
the Sultans; and, in the affairs of the island, have been the men
with whom our Government has invariably had to deal. But,
on the other hand, we have done a great deal for the
Tumongong's family, which by our occupation has been
raised to a wealth and importance it would never otherwise
have attained; and it appears to me that the English
Government will do wisely to abstain from much interference
in the native politics of the peninsula....

Cameron tended to absolve Abu Bakar of consciously sceking
pow:r for himself and to put the blame for the ruler” s advcmurs on
ing from the P

The Temenggongs were known to have close relationships with lhe
agency houses of Paterson & Simons, Guthrie's, and Martin,
Dyce & Co. Speaking of Abu Bakar, Cameron noted: “The present
Tumongong is an amiable and high-minded gentleman, more
desirous, 1 think, of peace and quiet than of great power; and if
difficulties should afterwards arise in our relation with him, it will
be very much the blame of those who inconsiderately forced
ambition upon him."*
The extent to which Abu Bakar was an innocent pawn in the
hands of “‘greedy" English merchants and lawyers remains an open
question. We have no record of his intentions nor of the merchants.

2. John Cameron, Our Tropical Possessions in Malayan India (London, 1865).
Reprinted in 1965 by Oxford University Press, Kuala Lumpur, p. 137-38.
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C. M. Turnbull has pointed out, however, that he was very much
his own man. “While he still employed Simons and Napier (the
lawyers), Abu Bakar did not put himself entirely in the hands of
agents and lawyers as his father had done, and he set out to free
himself from dependence on cither the government or the
merchants of Singapore.™

The events of the years 1862-66 tend to support Turnbull's
statement. They show the young Temenggong attempting to seize
both political and i y for Johor. Ulti ly, both
official Singapore and the Anglo-Chinese mercantile class
combined to oppose him. By 1866, he had been forced to retreat
from his initial advances. He did not, however, accept an
ignominious defeat. Rather, he beat a strategic withdrawal and
graciously accepted a certain amount of political and economic
restriction. He even found some ways of turning defeat to his own
advantage.

The first check to his power came as a result of his attempts to
extend his influence over the adjoining states of Pahang and Negri
Sembilan. His father’s relations with Pahang, initiated in 1836, had
bound Abu Bakar to the Bendahara. Winstedt has described the
nature of these ties in 1862: “In 1857 the Bendahara-designate
(Muda) of Pahang, Tun Koris, had married one of Abu Bakar's
sisters Che Engku Besar. Abu-Bakar himself, before his father’s
death, had married Che’ Engku Chik, a daughter of Bendahara
Tahir and a sister of Tun Koris. These alliances had not been
without political motive and Tun Tahir had even given Johor the
lerritory between Endau and Sedili Besar in return for a promise of
its assistance.” The Temenggong also had a mining concession in
Kuantan which he held in partnership with William Paterson.

In 1862, the ties between Johor and Pahang were strengthened
by a treaty which, despite earlier prohibitions on such relations, was
given the approval of the Singapore government. The treaty
provided for mutual assistance in case of attack and also gave Johor

dditi territorial i Pahang ized the Endau as
its southern border, and Pulau Tioman and all of the islands to the
south of it were given to Johor.*

3. C. M. Turnbull, “The Origins of British Control in the Malay States before
Colonial Rule™, in Malayan and Indonesian Studies, d. Bastin and Roolvink,
P14,

Winstedt, “A History of Johor", pp. 99~ 100.

-
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Bendahara Tun Tahir and his son, Tun Koris, were in need of
allies. Pahang had been torn by a succession dispute since 1847. The
Bendahara faced a strong rival in the person of his brother, Wan
Ahmad. By the middle of 1862, Wan Ahmad had allied himself with
Sultan Omar of Trengganu and the deposed Sultan Mahmud of
Lingga. He was also supported by Abu Bakar's rival, Sultan *Ali of
Muar. The Siamese, too, had become involved in the struggle.’

Winstedt suggests that Abu Bakar feared the loss of his
concessions in Pahang if Wan Ahmad were victorious. This
energetic contender could also become a serious political rival and
he would certainly block Abu Bakar's great influence in the Pahang
court.

On the other hand Abu-Bakar's brother-in-law, Bendahara
Tun Koris, was a puppet. He smoked opium: he refused
audience. Abu Bakar wrote to him to consult the old men and
the Hajis and not to lend his seal! He advised him to levy the
old taxes on opium, tobacco and salt and not to introduce new
taxes on boats and rice. He wrote as to a child or an inferior.
Later he wrote to one of his own captains that rulers ought to
have brains but Koris was a fool. Before the end Pahang chiefs
excused themselves from attacking Wan Ahmad on the ground
that the Temenggong was running the war and owned Pahang.*
Winstedt's description of the war indicates that Abu Bakar had
invested heavily in the conflict. He financed two chiefs from Negri
Sembilan to attack Pahang from across the mountains. He also
outfitted his cousin, Raja Kechil, the Resident of Tanjong Putri,
and sent him with an expedition along the coast to attack up-river.
A $500 reward was offered for the head of Wan Ahmad.” Abu
Bakar had even mnnagcd to get the British, ever fearful of Siamese
designs, to bombard T in N ber 1862." In May 1863,
Abu Bakar, from Winstedt's report, appears to have been running
the entire war, and he may have had as many as 3,000 men in the
field, not to mention boats, food, medical supplies, and ordnance.

However, it was all to no avail. In May 1863, Bendahara Tun
Tahir and Tun Koris fled to Johor and both died shortly thereafter.

S. Tarling, British Policy, pp. 6514,

6. Winstedt, “A History of Johor", p. 102.
7. Ibid.. p. 103,

8. Tarling. British Policy, pp. 12-73

————

—
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The remaining Pahang chiefs quickly acknowledged Wan Ahmad
and the war was over. Abu Bakar had overreached himself. The
best he could do at this point was to cut his losses. By 1864, he had
convinced Governor Cavenagh of Singapore of his good intentions.
The latter wrote on his behalf to the India Office stressing the fact
that Abu Bukar had disengaged himself from Pahang’s affairs and
cven made overtures of friendship toward Wan Ahmad.*

So ended Abu Bakar's first offensive. However, the Pahang
war appears to have lent impetus to his next move; this time a
purely economic one. The war had emptied Abu Bakar's treasury.
Even during the war he was in need of money. Winstedt reports that
he wrote to the Bendahara *“saying that till letters of administration
had been granted he had much property but no cash™ and asking
Tun Koris to *'send four or five fishing boats to bring his tin ore to
Singapore™."® After the war, his funds were so low that he tried
(unsuccessfully) to sell the family's fifty-acre Tyersall estate in
Singapore to the British for $20,000." However, the answer to his
money problems was the issuance of the “letters of administration"
mentioned above. Presumably these were the Kangchu grants that
he began to authorize in large numbers after May 1863.

Freed from his obligations and ambiti ding Pahang,
Abu Bakar turned his energics to the development of his own state.
In mid-1863, we note the beginnings of a reorganization of the state
admini ion and an ional ion of planting. The
Kangchu records show that an unprecedented number of surar
sungai were issued between June 1863 and December 1866."

TABLE 7
Surat Sungai Issued 1863 - 1866

Year No. of Grants
1863 15
1864 16
1865 5
1866 1

a7

e

Winstedt, “A History of Johor™, p. 106.
10, 1hid.. pp. 99-100.

1. Ibid.. p. 107.

12. SKMK -1, Nos. 37-85. For a chronological list of surat sungai, sce Trocki,
““The Johor Archives", pp. 20-35.

K
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These three-and-a-half years were the peak period for such
activity during the entire nineteenth century. This does not mean
that forty-seven new rivers were opened. A reorganization was in
progress and many of these documents dealt with the revision of
carlier grants. However, about half of the surar sungai from these
years were for entirely new areas. By the end of 1866, planting had
been extended far beyond the small core-area on Johor's south
coast and a few tributaries of the Johor River. Authorizations had
been made to begin planting on most of the major tributaries of the
Johor River; some start had been made on the east coast of Johor,
and all the rivers of the west coast as far north as the Batu Pahat
had been opened.

The reorganization showed that Abu Bakar had also made a
major shift in the policy which his father had followed regarding the
Chinese. If Kapitan Tan Kee Soon was typical, then the pioneer
generation of Johor Kangchu were most likely all Ngee Heng
Society headmen. They were primarily soldiers and not merchants.
The problem of this period was the ruler’s need for cash and not the
physical security of the plantations.

Abu Bakar thus formed close relationships with a different
strata of Chinese society. He decreased the power of the Ngee Heng
headmen and elevated the merchant or raukeh class. After 1860, it
appears that surat sungai were increasingly issued to merchants,
These individuals, ing to Coope's description of the change,
were known as tuan sungai, and the Kangchu, who resided at the
kangkar, was more often than not merely the deputy or manager
for the owner. A new form letter was introduced, distinct from the
surat sungai, which simply granted Kangchu authority to the
kangkar headmen. This was called the surat tauliah, or letter of
authority.

It should be noted, however, that with the introduction of this
new system, the meaning of the word Kangchu underwent
some modification. For the Kangchu who received the letter of
authority surat tauliah was not necessarily the ruan sungai
(owner of the river). The owner might well live in Singapore or,
sometimes, own more than one Kangkar. A (Government)
Kangchu naturally had to reside in the Kangkar and so in
many cases the (Government) Kangchu was really the owner's
manager. Actually of course he would invariably be the
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nominee of the owner of the river and be responsible to him as

well as to the government.”

The taukeh who appears to have been the primary beneficiary
of this change was Tan Hiok Nee. In 1863, he emerged as the most
important Chinese in Johor. The collection of surar sungai makes it
possible to fix with some accuracy the date of his scemingly sudden
rise. By 1870 he had been named Major China of Johor, and he was
recognized as the principal Chinese official in the Temenggong's
government.'*

Tan Hiok Nee made his first appearance in Johor in the 1850s.
In 1853, he formed a partnership with one Tan Ban Tye and
obtained a surar sungai for the Bukit Berangan, a tributary of the
Johor River.” In the following year, he was a sharcholder in
another partnership, or Kongsi, for what scems to have been a
stretch of the left bank of the Johor River between Bukit Berangan
and the Kong Kong River.*

However, it was not until September 1863 that he became

i i Ina k period, 5-11 September,
Tan Hiok Nee obtained four additional ions in Johor. On §
September he received a surar sungai granting him the rights over
three adjacent rivers: Keringkim (or Kim Kim), Kong Kong, and
Tukang.” This concession gave Tan control over a fairly big slice of
Johor's coastline. On the same day, another surat sungai made out
to Tan Hiok Nee and his partner in Bukit Berangan clarified their
1853 grant and noted that Tan Hiok Nee's holdings were now
contiguous with the new territory." Tan Hiok Nee had gained the
Kangchu rights for the entire left bank of the Johor River from
slightly south of Kota Tinggi to the western watershed of Sungai
Tukang, opposite Pulau Ubin. However, Tan himself was never the
actual Kangchu for any of these rivers.

13, Coope, “The Kangchu System”, pp. 249~ S1. Coope gives a translation of “a
somewhat late example, as the Ruler is referred 1o as *Sultan’
Song Ong Siang, Ong Hundred Years' History, p. 335. Judging from the
amount of power that Tan Hiok Nec excreised in Johor in 1866, it is possible
that he received the title much carlier than 1870. However, the first use of the
title in the correspondence of the Johor Archives is found on a SJB, |
November 872, No. 14.

15. SKMK-1. No. 80, 25 December 1853

16. SKMA -1, No. 20, 27 November 1854.

17. SKMK -1 No. 45, 5 Scptember 1863

18. SKMK 1. No. 46. S Scptember 1863

=

14,
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Then, on 8 September, another surat sungai was granted, giving
Tan Hiok Nee and two others (one of whom was the Malay
Resident of Tanjong Surat, Nong Yahya) control of the Santi
River, a large estuary on the right bank of the Johor River."

With such extensive Kangchu rights (see Map 4), Tan Hiok
Nee became the biggest taukeh in Johor. It appears that he was the
only one who was authorized to hold multiple grants such as these
at this time. It is thus not surprising that on 11 September he also
received sole control of the revenue rights for the town of Iskandar
Putri.®

Relatively little is known about this individual who became so
powerful in Johor and also in Singapore. However, thanks to Song
Ong Siang, we know more about him than most of the Johor
Chinese.

Atan carly age Tan Ycok Nee left his native town *'Sa-Ling, in
Teochew prefecture, China™ and came to Singapore. He began
his carcer as a cloth pedlar, making daily visits to Telok
Blangah, where the Temenggong's family became his
customers, and he struck up a friendship with the Temenggong
Abubakar.... By 1866, Tan Yeok Nee had already established
himself as a prosperous gambicr and pepper trader at Boat
Quay under the chop of Kwang Hong, and obtained extensive
kangchu rights in Johore territory. He was made Major China
of Johore by the Maharajah in or about 1870, and went into
partnership with Cheang Hong Lim and Tan Seng Poh in the
Singapore and Johore Opium and Spirit Farms. He amassed a
large fortune which was judiciously invested in the hase of
house property situated in what are to-day the busy parts of
Singapore. He was in his time a prominent Teochew towkay,
both here and in Johore.™

Tan’s rise coincided with the expansion of the Kangchu system
which followed the conclusion of the Pahang war. It is highly
probable then that he was primarily responsible for refinancing the
state of Johor for Abu Bakar. It is rather difficult to get any definite
idea of the size of his investment in Johor, but an estimate of the

19 SAMA -1, No. 44, 8 Scplember 1863,
20. SAMK -1. No. 59, 11 September 1863,
21 Song Ong Siang. One Hundred Years' History, p. 335.
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1863 concessions alone would have 10 be in excess of $10,000 and
might easily have been as high as $50,000.

Another surat sungai, dated 1864, suggests that the former
Chinese headman of lohor, Kapitan Tan Cheng Hung, had
suffered some loss in status. He was sued by Tan Teng Lok and Tan
Teng Huat who also claimed to be adopted sons of Tan Kee Soon.
Cheng Hung was not demoted; he retained the titles of Kapitan and
Kangchu. But, he did have to give up forty plantations on Sungai
Pandan, which appear previously to have been a part of Tebrau.”
The day of the secret society headmen was passing. Five years later,
he sold off his holdings in Tebrau and went back to China.**

The intimate relationship that was created between Abu Bakar
and the Singapore gambier merchants at this time is an indication
of Johor's progress. The shift, however, brought new and perhaps

probl; for the T Johor was now bound
closer than ever before to the Singapore economy. The state of
Johor was one of the major busi of Si . It is doubtful
that these Chinese taukehs actually considered Johor an independent
country, for as far as they were concerned, it was under the same
law as Singapore. Malay sources suggest that the rulers had
designed the law to give the impression that people coming to Johor
from Singapore “felt as if they were still in the same country”.” The
carliest surat sungai show that the holder of the river was subject to

22 This is a rather speculative (but conscrvative) estimate. The surat jual-beli
suggest that the initial investment in a river was about $1,000. For instance,
when Sungai Santi was reorganized in 1860 (SKMA - £, No. 26, § September
1860), one share scemed to be worth $290. There were four shares. However,
they could increase considerably in value. In 1871 (S/8. No. 7, $ March 1871),
when a share of this river was sold. it brought $2,600. Thus the total value was
about $10,000 for this one river. Most of the concessions that Tan Hiok Nee
bought at this time were, or seemed to be, established arcas rather than new
ones, thus they would have been more valuable

23, SKMK-1, No. 60, 12 August 1864,

24, SJB. No. 11,2 October 1872, refers 1o this salc and SJB, No. 74, § May 1883,

dates the sale as 24 June 1869, Kapitan Tan Cheng Hung received $6,000 for his

concessions in Tebrau, but held on o one share which he gave Ja'afar bin Haji

Muhamad under a power of attorney. This was later sold for $4,000. Dato

Ja'afar, who had purchascd the other shares in the river, sold them all to a

Kongsi made up of four Arabs in 1872 for $12,000.

Johor Baharu Saratus Takun (Johor Baharu, 1955), p. 14. Also Mohamad bin

Haji llyas, comp.. Tawarikh, p. 77

2

=




ABU BAKAR TAKES COMMAND, 1860- 1873 129

the same laws which were practised in Singapore.™* Although the
documents of the 1860s no longer carried this phrase, the Malays
went out of their way to make these Chinese feel welcome. One
young Malay official, the future Dato Bentara Luar, undertook the
study of Teochew and written Chinese in 1861. By his own
statement, he knew enough in two years' time to conduct
government business with Chinese petitioners without the need of a
translator.”

Thus, in the latter part of 1863, thousands of new Chinese
began moving into Johor. By May 1864, twenty-five new surat
sungai had been issued. About fifteen of them were for entirely new
rivers. This sudden expansion appears to have had a dislocating
effect on the Singapore cconomy. All the capital needed to finance
the opening of these new kangkar and plantations, like the men
who worked them, came from Singapore. This rush of capital was
quickly followed by a financial crisis in Singapore. May and June of
1864 were difficult months for the Singapore merchants. Two of the
major European merchant firms had failed, their liabilities
amounting to over a million dollars. At the same time, a large
number of Chinese merchants who were indebted to them were also
discovered to be operating with insufficient capital.

If the Johor investment had not caused their troubles, it
certainly must have contributed to them. Europeans were in
constant competition for the business of the Chinese merchants,
and it was often said that a Chinese coolic had only to put on a
clean shirt and go to the European godowns to be able to obtain on

26, Most of the surar sungat issued between 1844 and 1853 contained the following
clause: “The agreement of His Highness the Temenggong with this Chinese is
that for three years He will collect no taxes. After three years, the Chinese must
pay them without fail in accordance with the laws of Singapore which arc
followed by us in regard to the Chinese planters in Johor." See Trocki, “The
Johor Archives”, pp. 11-12, for a transcription of the entire document in
Malay and the English translation. However, after 1853 this clause was altered
to read “After three years, the Chinese must pay them without fail according to
the laws which we have madi Scc SKMK - 1. No. 20, 27 November 1854, in
Trocki, “The Johor Archives™, pp. 12-13.)

Mohamad bin Haji llyas, comp., Tawarikh, p. 80, “With the help of God, after
about two years | was able 10 read quite a bit and write in Teochew. | was able
to read all of the account books and no longer needed a Chinese translator.
Thus | was able to speak, read short letters and write. | no longer needed a
Chinese scribe.”

S
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credit as much as he wished. So long as there were no disturbances
of the trade these small traders managed to keep afloat, but if any
pressures rose they would collapse and often be found to have been
operating on no capital at all. The Singapore economy was thus
plagued by what one reporter described as “these periodical
smashes in the native™.®

Buckley's report of this event shows that June 1864 was the
high point of the crisis.

Trade in Singapore had never had such a shock and there was
almost a stagnation in the market as far as selling
manufactured goods was concerned. Very heavy failures
among the Chinese firms occurred in June, and in that month
there was a foolish panic among the natives about the security
of the bank notes, and there was a run upon the banks for
silver in place of them.®

The financial panic also affected Johor. A stray piece of
correspondence reports that at least two small pepper and gambier
traders went under in this crisis. The planters® debts which they held
were transferred to Seah Eu Chin by a surat kuasa or power of
attorney.” U y, no other corresp similar to these
documents seems to have been preserved: thus no definite statement
can be made about the magnitude of the crash as far as the pepper
and gambier cconomy was concerned.” It is quite probable that
there were many more who went under.

We are also on very lative ground in estimating the
overall amount of capital invested in Johor during the months
preceding the crash. From the large number of new rivers opened
and old ones reorganized, one gets the idea that Abu Bakar was
attempting to double the area under cultivation in a few years' time.
By latc 1864, there were at least thirty-four rivers opened for

8. SFP. 21 May 1864.

29, Buckley, An Anecdotal History, p. 711

0. SSSU.No. 9, 10 November 1863 (27 Jemadil “awal 1280), Surar Kuasa Kapada
Seah Eu Chin atas harta Lee Kai Tat dan Lee Chang War

The SSSU contains about two or three more surat kuasa, but numerous others
are referred to in other pieces of correspondence, particularly the surat jual-beli,
surat pajak, and surai gadai dan hutang. However, there does not appear to
have been a separate register for these documents, or, if there was, it has not
been preserved. It is a characteristic of the available documents that they
pertain mainly to the Kangchu and the river-holding Kongsi: correspondence
relating to individual planters and plantations is very rare and incidental

3
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cultivation;” about 1,000 plantations were in operation and the
total Singapore investment in Johor amounted to about
$1,000,000.” If, as the surat sungai suggest, half of these were newly
opened, then the total investment in Johor for this one-year period
(June 1863 to May 1864) may have been close to $500,000.

The crash that followed this boom must have seemed like a
direct threat to everything Abu Bakar was building. Hundreds of
small 1 were icking in Si They no doubt
placed ive d ds for rep; of debts on the newly
established Johor planters. Had they been allowed to retrieve some
of their capital, Johor could have gone under with them. The entire
hastily constructed development programme could have been
wiped out in a month or two.

It was at this point that Abu Bakar announced a new policy
which was, in effect, a declaration of economic independence. He
took steps to regulate the flow of trade between Singapore and
Johor. He announced new regulations which became the issue of a
political and economic dispute between the governments of Johor
and Singapore. The so-called Tanjong Putri Controversy has been
the subject of an article by C. M. Turnbull.*

In a letter to the Singapore government, Abu Bakar explained
his new regulations. The first and most controversial of these was
that all boats transporting gambier and pepper from Johor and all
those bringing goods from Singapore should stop at Tanjong Putri
for a pass, at the same time making a statement of their cargoes. No
charge was madc for this. The stated purpose was that such a
measure would allow the government to obtain an accurate record
of the state’s imports and exports and at the same time help to
prevent ling of such dities as opium, liquor, and
firearms. It would also prevent the boat people from disposing of
the cargoes on their own.

Other regulations involved the issuance of grants or leases for
individual plantations, a register of sales of plantations, and a

32 €O 273/16, “Petition from 34 Chinese Planters, residents in Johore (heads of
rivers)”, 22 May 1864 (15 Zulhaji 1280), which is enclosed with Abu Bakar to
Secretary of Government, 20 October 1864. See below pp, 13334, fn. 39, 40.
€0 273/16, **Petition from the Chinese merchants resident in Singapore to the
Honourable Colonel Orfeur Cavenagh, Governor of Prince of Wales Island,
Singapore and Malacca." Enclosed with Logan to Secretary of Government, 3
October 1864.

3. Turnbull, “The Johore Gambier and Pepper Trade™, pp, 4355,
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register of mortages of plantations. These, explained Abu Bakar in
his letter 1o the Singapore government, would provide better
security for the shopkeepers who had advanced money to the
planters.”

The merchants’ reaction came in October 1864 with a petition
to the Singapore Chamber of Commerce. One hundred and one
pepper and gambicr traders signed the petition objecting to Abu
Bakar's regulation requiring all boats trading between Johor and
Singapore to stop at Tanjong Putri. They viewed the measure as an
attempt to force the Singapore traders to relocate in Johor or else
forfeit repayment of the debts owed them by Johor planters. The
petition indicates that twenty Singapore traders had already taken
leases on buildings at Tanjong Putri and had resolved to move their
business from Singapore to Johor.*

The Singapore government took up the cause of the merchants
and protested to Abu Bakar. His refusal to repeal the
policy caused the dispute to become an international incident. In
May 1865, the Singapore government write to India: “on the
subject of an order recently issued by His Highness the
Tumongong requiring all boats laden with the produce of Johore
to proceed to the village of Tanjong Putri for the ostensible purpose
of allowing their cargoes to be registered, but, doubtless, with the
real object of securing either for himself or his advisers and their
friends a monopoly of the trade".

The writer quoted the 1824 treaty which Temenggong Abdul
Rahman had signed with Crawfurd noting that “His highness is
bound to maintain a free and unshackled trade everywhere within
his dominions...." In addition to violating this agreement, it was
also noted that the trip to Tanjong Putri would require a detour for
most of the boats plying between Singapore and the plantations
which could ““only be considered as a vexatious interference with
trade™.”

In an attempt to force the Temenggong to retreat from his
independent stance, the Singapore authorities seized upon an
ambiguous clause in the 1824 Treaty and denied that Johor had any
authority whatsoever in the Straits:

35. €O 273/16, Abu Bakar 1o Secretary of Government, 20 October 1864,

6. €O 273/16, Logan to Sccretary of Government, 20 October 1864, Enclosure.

37. €O 27316, Secretary of Government, Straits Settlements to Secretary of
Government, India, 27 May 1865,
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Under Article 2 of the Treaty of 1824, the Island of Singapore,

together with the adjacent scas, straits, and islets, to the extent

10 geographical miles from the coast of the said main island,

was ceded by the Sultan and our friend's ancestor to the British

Government; whilst, under the ordinary law of nations, a State

exercises jurisdiction over all waters within three miles of its

own coasts: hence, our friend's rights having been specially
transferred to the British Government and the old straits being
in no part more than three miles in breadth, that Government
exercises jurisdiction over the whole of waters between Johore
and Singapore."

In essence it was a threat to annex the entire south coast of Johor.

In order to support his case, Abu Bakar presented two
petitions to counter the charges made by the Singapore merchants.
One was from twenty-two pepper and gambier dealers in Singapore
and the other was from thirty-four Kangchus. Both petitions
supported the policy of requiring vessels to stop at Tanjong Putri,
but cach gave different reasons. The pepper and gambier dealers,
like those who had petitioned the Governor, complained that
boatmen and planters conspired to escape repayment of debts.
They requested that the Temenggong police the traffic at Tanjong
Putri to prevent the illegal sale of produce. They also requested that
the Temenggong issuc land grants to the planters which the raukeh
could hold as security for debts. They also asked the Temenggong
1o give the merchants land at Tanjong Putri so that they could build
godowns there.” )

The Kangchus, styling themselves planters, complained of the
treatment that they had received from their Singapore creditors.
They said that the Singapore taukehs cheated them by using false
weights, and requested that the tarffic be centralized at Tanjong
Putri where weights approved by the Temenggong would be used
and where they would, presumably, be free from violent treatment.

- should any differences or disputes arise between us, your

servants, or between others residing under the Government of

Johore, or between those in Singapore who come to Johore to

create disturbance, they never cease to show malice towards us

o
&

CO 273/16, Secretary of Government, Straits Settlements, to Abu Bakar, 12
January 1865.

CO 273/16, Abu Bakar 1o Secretary of Government, 20 October 1864,
Enclosurc

g
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when we go over to Singapore, and would often jeer us and
speak against those who reside in Johore; even in the public
streets and lanes they maltreat us and pull us ruffly [sic] about
till our bones ache.®

Abu Bakar d the Si 's claim to

8
jurisdiction in the Straits with an appeal to traditional usage, noting
that the question had not been raised carlier.

In order that the seat of Government might be as centrical [sic]
as possible, our father, a number of years ago fixed upon
Tanjong Putri for the capital of Johore. No objection was
made to this or to the resort of native craft to the place, or to
our exercising jurisdiction over them; and not only were
extensive steam saw-mills erected there several years ago, buta
id population has lly g: d together, the
trade of which must be principally carricd on by sea. Had the
British Government looked upon the whole of the waters of
the old strait from bank to bank as under its exclusive
dominion, it would surely have been a friendly act to have
warned our father or oursclves of the complication which
might be expected to arise from this state of things; but it is
only now, after much money has been spent in undertakings
for the improvement of this part of our territory, that we are
virtually told by the British Government that it is forbidden to
ship the produce of Johor direct from its shores, and that it
must all be brought to Singapore.*
The dispute continued until January 1866, when matters came

to a head. In a letter to Abu Bakar, the Secretary of Government
complained of the arrest of two Chinese in Johor for having
violated the Temenggong’s regulation. Orders for the arrest were
said to have been issued by Tan Hiok Nee on the grounds that the
two had failed to stop at Tanjong Putri to obtain their passes.*

Ibid.
€O 273/16, Abu Bakar to Secretary of Government, Straits Settlements, 7
April 1865.

One reason why there was such concern over this point was that Abu Bakar
had stated he would impose no penalty for non-compliance with his regulation
that boats should stop at Tanjong Putri (sce CO 273/16, Abu Bakar to
Secrctary of Government, Straits Settlements, 3 December 1864 and SSR, v
41. p. 375, Secretary of Government, Siraits Settlements to Abu Bakar, 24
January 1866).
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Macpherson, the Secretary of Government, suggested that
this arrest had been made on the initiative of Tan Hiok Nee alone
and that the Temenggong, on learning of it, would release the two
men. Before Abu Bakar could reply, the government received a
report from W. H. Read, Chairman of the Chamber of Commerce,
that Abu Bakar himself had gone to Johor and punished the two
Chinese. One was given a fine of $150, and the other, having no
funds, was beaten and again thrown into prison.*

Abu Bakar, however, denicd the entire charge, claiming that
the complaints raised by Read were “wholly without foundation”.
He continued with an accusation which perhaps gives some clue to
his motivation in maintaining his policy: **We have little doubt that
the report has originated with some of those Chinese residing in
Singapore who have an ill will towards us, because they find that,
from the measures we have taken and propose to take for the
regulation of the Gambier and Pepper plantations in Johore, a
check will be interposed to the uncontrolled influence which they
have hitherto exercised over the planters and which has contributed
to keep these planters in state of dependence and poverty."*

While this letter, dated 17 January 1866, took the hardest line
of all, it heralded Abu Baker's capitulation. On 26 January, he
issued a procl ion which desi d five more all i
registration stations.” In addition to Tanjong Putri, whose name
had been changed to Johor Baharu on 1 January 1866, stations
were to be set up at Pendas, Kukub, Batu Pahat, Tanjong Surat,
and Pengerang. Since vessels were no longer required to go to Johor
Baharu, which was the only one of these stations where shops,
godowns, merchants, and other port facilitics were located, there
was less concern that the cargoes would be sold off illegally. This
solution satisfied the Singapore government and the merchants.
The matter of Johor's sovereignty in the straits also ceased to be an
issuc. It was formally settled a few years later, together with another

43. SSR.W. 56, ltem 25, Read to Secretary of Government, 17 January 1866, p.
162.

44, SSR. W. 56, Abu Bakar to Sccrctary of Government, 17 January 1866,

45. SSR.W. 56, ltem 44, Abu Bakar to Secretary of Government, 26 January 1866,

46. Mohamad Said, Hikayat Johor, p. 12. He reports the change but gives no
reason for it. Winstedt, in “A History of Johor™, p. 108, notes: “His business
and political sense led him to change the fanciful name Iskandar Putri of his
new capital to one that all races could remember and all Malays associate with
the old-time history of the State.”
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question di Tanjong Surat, in Johor's

favour.*

At the samc time, Abu Bakar took the opportunity to institute
reforms regarding land registration which he had hinted at as carly
as October 1864, The Singapore government had never objected to
these measures; and the Chamber of Commerce, in fact, had given
him some encouragement on these points while asking that he
repeal the Tanjong Putri regulation. The arrangements for issuing
grants or leases and the establishment of registers of sales and
mortages were thought to be useful measures, and likely to be of
much benefit to the parties interested in the gambier and pepper
plantations.* Governor Cavenagh himself also appears to have
spoken to Abu Bakar regarding this matter, and he claims some
credit for having brought about the ruler's change of heart. On 24
January 1866, he wrote that he had been consulted by Abu Bakar
on the question of levying duties in Johor.

I pointed out that it would be out of my power to sanction any

duties being levied upon produce exported, as that would be a

breach of the treaty, and if once we consented to its violation in

any one respect, it would be difficult to require due adherence
to its provisions in others, as His Highness might fairly claim
freedom from its obligations on the ground that they had never
been strictly enforced. As it was then represented that the

Temenggong from 1,200 bamboo [gambicr?] plantations did

not receive more than $1,000 a month, I stated that, from what

I had heard, | believed the Chinese would willingly pay a

higher land revenue, provided that they could obtain some

document in the way of a title-deed that might be transferable
and of which the validity could not be disputed; that what they
complained of at present was the want of security for any
capital they might expend. | therefore recommended that such
title-deeds should be issued.”
Winstedt, who has also quoted these lines, then remarks: *With the
help of the Singapore government Abu-Bakar now drew up Johor

47, The British government had earlier laid claim to Tanjong Surat, also under
Article 2 of the 1824 Treaty. The low-lying ground is technically an island being
cut off from the mainland by swamp. Correspondence relating to this dispute is
also to be found in CO 273/16.

€O 273/16. Logan to Secretary of Government, 21 November 1864

49, Orfeur Cavenagh, Reminiscences of an Indian Official (London, 1884), p. 361

=
-
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land laws."* Two letters written in the latter part of 1866,
di ing new instituted by the Johor government,
suggest that some system of land tenure was being planned.”

It is of interest, however, that the purpose of the regulations,
which were later embodicd in the Kanun Kangchu of 1873, was the
safeguarding of investments and not of planters. All plantations
were registered by the Kangchu, according to Article 10 of the
Kanun Kangchu. Article 14 noted that contracts covering advances
made to planters and mortgages of plantations were to be registered
with the State Police. Likewise, Article 44 stated that all transfers or
sales of plantations had to be similarly registered. It was the
Kangchu's duty to see that the contracting parties did this. In
addition, Article 47 stated that all foreclosures of plantations had to
be investigated by the Kangchu before they could be registered.

The most significant aspect of these regulations was that they
also attempted to govern financial arrangements between
cultivators and raukehs. The system whereby planters were required
to sell their produce only to their creditors was to be regulated by a
system of account books. Under Article 42, it was the Kangchu's
responsibility to see that the planters in his districts kept these
books up to date. The government also fixed the amount of
commissions which the creditors could charge the planters. Under
Article 41, they could charge planters a commission of 30 cents per
pikul of rice and also collect 5 katis on each pikul of gambier or
pepper.*

The object of these regulations did nothing to improve the lot
of the exploited planters. In fact, it made it more difficult for them
to escape their disad ic situation. The Kanun
Kangchu appears to have institutionalized the economic system
which had characterized the pepper and gambier agriculture since
al least 1835, if not carlier. The issuing of title-deeds simply provided
onc more guarantee of the planters’ continued dependence. As the
twenty-two pepper and gambier dealers pointed out in their petition
to Abu Bakar, the title-deeds gave them a hold on the planters:

$0. Winstedt, “A History of Johor™, p. 108.

$1. SSR.v. 45, p. 46. Governor to Regent of Johore, 7 August 1866. SR, v. 45, p.
60, Governor to Regent of Johore, 29 September 1866. At this time Abu Bakar
was away in England and his Brother, Ungku Abdul Rahman, was Regent in
his place.

52 Coope. “The Kangchu System™, pp. 253-57.
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Whereas we, your servants, would beg, should your Highness

approve of it, to give a written grant to every owner of the

plantations in Johor according to the size of their land. We,
your servants, will then be able to reach the owners of the
plantations, and order every one to take out a grant; and if
they have no funds, we can assist them: but we shall be obliged,
of course, to ask them to let us hold their grants as security so
long as their debts are due.”

The initiation of a similar practice by the Singapore government in

the 1840s had given rise to the exodus of planters from Singapore to

Johor.

The tenor of these new regulations, together with the fact that
the scheme for alternative regulation centres was never put into
practice, has influenced the conclusions drawn by C. M. Turnbull.
In evaluating Abu Bakar's Tanjong Putri policy, she concurs with
the Singapore official point of view that the Temenggong's aim was
a monopoly of the trade, which was quashed by official
intervention on behalf of the Chinese and English merchants.

In attempting to analyse Abu Bakar's motives, she finds them
“obscure”. Abu Bakar, she notes, was a “wily young ruler” who
was sensitive to British opinions. She finds it difficult to believe that
he was movcd by altruism to protect his subjecxs‘ the Kangchus,
from I ion by their Si The British, she
notes, wanted to see progress and prosperity in the Malay states,
but in the carly days of his rule, Abu Bakar had done little to
promote the welfare of even his Malay subjects. Thus, she cannot
accept his arguments about “protecting” the Johor Chinese by the
Tanjong Putri regulations. She sees his later schemes for
registration then as simply a graceful retreat before inflexible
British d *“His app: itting the
opening of alternative registration cenlr:s was undoublcdly a face-
saving capitulation, and the fact that his system of registration was
completely abandoned within a few years indicates that the
Temenggong's original aim was not registration but monopoly.”*

$3. €O 273/16, Petition “Signed by 22 dealers in gambier and pepper. residents in
Singapore, Ist month Zool Hadjee 1280" (8 May 1864), Enclosed with Abu
Bakar to Secretary of Government, 20 October 1864.

S4. Turnbull, “The Johore Gambicr and Pepper Trade™, p. 53. Actually the new
regulations suggest that the business of registration of cargoes was taken over
by the Kangchus themselves. This would have made the alternative centres
redundant.
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There are a number of problems in Turnbull’s interpretation.
Itis quite clear from the evidence given thus far that Abu Bakar was
indeed ambitious. Since succeeding to office, he had shown
remarkable energy in building up the state, expanding the area
under cultivation, and in organizing and centralizing the powers of
government.” Johor was indeed the economic step-child of
Singapore, but the T had been ized as an
independent ruler by the British government. However, the fact
that Johor's status was by no means clearly defined is shown by the
manner in which both Abu Bakar and the Singapore authorities
sought to exploit the ambiguities of the treaties.

It was inevitable that some attempt would eventually be made
to clarify the situation. Such clarification, however, never comes
about until some sy arises to turn iguities into issues,
Turnbull states that Abu Bakar's motives are “‘obscure". It is very
possible that she has overlooked the significance of the financial
panic of 1864 in reaching her decision on this point. It is impossible
to say conclusively whether or not Abu Bakar and Tan Hiok Nee
(who was obviously iated with the T g in this matter)
had planned to centralize the trade at Tanjong Putri from the
beginning. It inly is a ibility.

On the other hand, it is also possible, and perhaps more
probable, that the new regulations were an emergency measure
precipitated by the crash of 1864. Abu Bakar was in the midst of
promoting a vigorous expansion of cultivation in Johor. He was
also hard-pressed for cash. The panic came at what appears to have
been the high point of the expansion and it certainly slowed further
growth of the state’s agriculture. In addition, the panic could have
had a positively destructive effect on the plantations which had just
been established.

For the Temenggong, this was a major crisis and one which
determined the state’s future. Overextended merchants were
swooping down on the newly established plantations and Kangchu

5.

Mohamad Said, Hikayat Johor, p. 12. He reports Abu Bakar's measures to
expand Tanjong Putri at this time: “Then the place opened by His Highness at
Tanjong Putri became large and many merchants came there to trade. His
Highness returned there often and issued commands for the construction of
government buildings to become a customs' station, police station, courthouse
and other offices. He also placed officials in charge of these offices. Then he
built a palace and a mosque. People built roads and houses and the place was
set in order.”
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and d. ing i di; of debts. These pressures
could have casily forced the planlcrs and Kangchu themselves into
bankruptcy. They had to be blocked. The effect would ultimately
have been the total ruination of the state. We cannot agree with
Turnbull that, since Abu Bakar's policy was not “altruistic”, it was
therefore monopolistic. The Johor planters and Kangchu were
engaged in a struggle for survival. The
Singapore merchants, we must assume, would gladly have
bankrupted the entire state in order to keep themselves out of the
debtor's prison. In fact, many of them did end up there.

The seriousness of the crisis, however, does not mean that Abu
Bakar misrepresented the facts to the Singapore authoritics, nor
does it necessarily mean that his premeditated motive was to
monopolize the trade. As an alternative suggestion, it seems that at
first the policy was intended to prevent a vast exodus of capllal
from Johor, thus protecting the pl ions from the depi
of panicking taukehs. This could casily have happened. Singapore
was a totally “frec” economy. Like the rest of Singapore’s
cconomy, the entire structure and operation of the gambier

was self- lated.* All credit ar appear to

have been based on word-of-mouth contracts between planters and

creditors, and the security of the rights of both parties depended

entirely on the balance of coercive force. Absconding planters and

opprcsszvc taukehs were nolhmg new. As we have seen, very similar

(poor diti and disputes between

planters and raukehs) had been at the root of the secret socicty
fights in Singapore during the 1840s and 1850s.

Abu Bakar's concern for the welfare of his subjects may not
have been entirely altruistic but, when their financial security
determined the prosperity of the state, he had every reason to
identify with them. Abu Bakar had begun the expansion in 1863
because he had no money. In issuing “letters of administration™,

6. As far as can be determined, the British government did nothing to regulate the
pepper and gambicr economy as such. They cstablished a system of land
registration and collected a quit rent. It is probable that most title-deeds in
Singapore were held by taukehs against the planters® debis. However, the system
of compulsary deliverics of produce and compulsory purchases of provisions
could not have been recognized as such under British law. The real difference
between the Singapore and Johor laws is that in Jobor under the Kanun
Kangehu of 1873 the basic features of the Chinese system were
institutionalized, codificd, and given legitimacy by the state.
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that is, the surat sungai, he had borrowed heavily against the future
of the agriculture. If he had not done something in 1864, the raukehs
probably would have foreclosed Johor. The fact that hundreds of
Johor planters were caught in the financial crisis is not mentioned
as a major issuc in any of the sources, but it does provide us with
the major background against which all of these events were taking
place. We conclude, therefore, that it was one of the primary causes
of the entirc controversy.

Everyone was suffering from the financial crisis.” The support
that the Chamber of Ci and the Si 80! ¢
gave to the cause of the merchants was cqually guided by self-
interest. After all, most of the European merchants who made up
the Chamber were creditors of the Chinese who were being wiped
out. The fact that two of the oldest European firms in Singapore
had gone under must have given them all cause for concern. Both
sides appear to have been primarily motivated by economic
considerations. The political and legalistic terms in which the
controversy was debated were mostly empty rhetoric. It is
noteworthy that the British dropped their claim to absolute
Jurisdiction in the straits just as quickly as Abu Bakar forgot his
alternative scheme for registration. I suggest that the Temenggong
had no long-term plan behind his policy; rather, it should be seen as
an “‘emergency” measure.

The merchants had brought other pressures to bear on Abu
Bakar besides the harrassment of the Singapore authorities. The
dramatic drop in the number of surat sungai issued after October
1864 indicates that the merchants had cut off funds for further
investment in Johor. Once the Tanjong Putri policy had been
repealed, however, credit was loosened and the growth of Johor

§7. Turnbull, “The Origins™, pp. 176, 178, and 180, indicates that Singapore
merchants, particularly Paterson & Simons, had invested heavily in the
Pahang war, partly by making loans to the Bendahara and partly through their
investment in the tin mines at Kuantan. Paterson had lent $12,000 to the
Bendahara and he lost heavily on the tin mines following Wan Ahmad's
victory, “His victory brought tranquillity to Pahang but did not restore
prosperity 1o the Singapore miners and traders. During the 1863 campaign
Wan Ahmad's men looted Paterson & Simons' warchouses in Kuantan,
and after his triumph the new Bendahara repudiated their claim for nearly
$50,000 Spanish dollars compensation for damage to property and loss of
mining rights. He confiscated the tin himself and shipped it for sale in
Singapore with a rival mercantile firm.
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resumed. This circumstance, too, lends support to the theory that
Abu Bakar's policy was somewhat hasty and perhaps
unpremeditated. If he had been serious about monopolizing the
trade, would it not have been wise to wait until the expansion had
been completed before attempting to put pressure on the
merchants? The policy was not in his best long-term interest and
was therefore probably a stopgap measure, which was maintained
only so long as it was necessary to wait for the panic to be over and
to allow the new plantations to get started.

In later years, we are on firmer ground regarding Abu Bakar’s
motivation. His subsequent policies show that he did indeed move
to exercise control over revenue through the agency of his
Kangchu. Turnbull's statement that Abu Bakar “'sacrificed any
attempts to better the position of his kangchus in favour of
protecting the interests of their Singapore creditors™ is inaccurate.
What she means is that he sacrificed the planters. There is some
confusion in her paper regarding the terms Kangchu and planter. A
part of the confusion appears to be rooted in the correspondence.
The petition from the Kangchu is signed “by 34 Chinese planters,
residents in Johore (heads of rivers)". A distinction should be made
between planters and heads of rivers. The planters, or “‘estate
owners' as they are styled in the Kanun Kangchu, were the actual
tillers of the soil. They were granted a piece of land, cleared it, and
planted it. They had no capital other than their plantation. The)
were responsible 1o Singapore taukehs for ad and pi
and were required to sell their produce to them at ﬁxcd prices.
There were between 1,000 and 1,200 planters in Johor at this time.

The Kangchus, while they too may have owned plantations,
were far more affluent individuals. They controlled entire river
valleys and received authority directly from the Johor government.
They were leaders of the planters on their rivers and also controlled
the revenue concessions. These individuals had always been of
crucial importance for the welfare of the agriculture and the ruler's
revenues. From this time on, their position was reinforced and
further legitimized. They were not only legally recognized as the
principal agent of the government on the plantations, but they also
became the primary instruments by which the ruler kept some
control over the raukehs of Singapore.

The question of revenue farms raises another point which can
be related to the Tanjong Putri controversy. The opium and spirit




ABU BAKAR TAKES COMMAND, 1860~ 1873 143

farms were Abu Bakar's major source of revenue. Before 1863, the
Temenggong must have been almost totally dependent on one or
two Chinese taukehs for his entire income. These faukehs were the
Singapore opium and spirit farmers. Until Tan Hiok Nee was
appointed as the revenue farmer for Johor Baharu, Cheang Hong
Lim and Tan Seng Poh were the major farmers for both Johor and
Singapore.”

While the Singapore and Johor farms were let separately after
1862, it is probable that they were both still controlled by the same
syndicate. W. G. Gulland has pointed out that all the potential
farmers combined into onc Kongsi to manage these valuable
concessions.

If the government can get two or three syndicates in the field
anxious to secure the Farm, then the letting is a comparatively
easy matter, but on the principle that half a loaf is better than
no bread these different factions sometimes combine and work
together against the Government. It is the duty of the head of
the Farm to judge of the means and position of any probable
opposition and to decide whether the new concern should be
fought, squared or to what extent taken into partnership.”

He also reported an incident which may have some bearing on
the rise of Tan Hiok Nee in 1863. Writing of Tan Seng Poh, who
was both a chief revenue farmer and a major pepper and gambier
merchant at this time, he tells of one of his dealings with Abu
Bakar:

Sometimes Seng Poh was not above trying on some excuse or

other to get a reduction on the rent during the term of the

agreement. One time he tried his little game on with the late

Sultan of Johore but came off second best. He was told that the

$8. The value of opium farms is perhaps the best gauge of Johor's expansion, In
1846, the Johor portion of the farm brought the ruler 300 per month. In 1855,
the valu of the farms had risen to $3,500 per month. By 1860, the Johor and
Singapore farms were still being let out jointly. The Johor ruler received 22.5%
which included $8,025 and $1,025 monthly for the opium and spirit farms
respectively. However, in 1861, according to the findings of Tan Soo Chye in
his academic exercisc (*British Relations with Johore 18551869, University
of Malaya, Singapore, 1951), “it was discovered that the Temenggong was
recciving through the Singapore treasury a sum considerably more than the
8ross sale of excisable articies in Johore amounted t0.” (pp. 3, 24) After 1861,
the Singapore and Johor Farms were let scparately.

$9. Quoted by Song Ong Siang, in One Hundred Years' History, p. 131.




144 PRINCE OF PIRATES

request would be considered and in a few days he was sent for,

when His Highness addressing him said: **Seng Poh, you know

I have always been your friend and nothing is further from my

wish than that you or anyone should lose money in Johore, so

as (naming some Johore Chinaman) is willing to pay me more
than you do, although he may not be so rich or so able as you,
still, I have decided to set you free and accept his offer.” This
was the last thing that Seng Poh had bargained for, as His

Highness very well knew, and he expressed himself as hurt that

mention should have been made of the matter to any third

party and ended by begging that His Highness would say
nothing more on the subject to anyone, as he would keep the

Farm on.*

Tan Hiok Nee had a dual purpose as far as the Temenggong
was concerned. During the period between 1863 and 1866, his
function was to police the flow of gambier and pepper out of the
country and the flow of opium into the country. When the ruler was
forced to repudiate the policy of registering and controlling the
state's exports, greater emphasis was placed on the latter function.
Tan Hiok Nee became the lever through which the ruler increased
his bargaining power with the Singapore opium and spirit farmers.

This position, of course, was to Tan Hiok Nee's advantage as
well. In 1871, he was taken into partnership with the Singapore
farmers. “The Daily Times reports the amalgamation of the
Singapore, Malacca, Rhio and Johore Opium Farms in November
1871, whereby the Syndicate was able to establish a uniform price
for chandu at the four Scttlements. The co-operation of Mr. Tan
Seng Poh, the Rhio Opium Farmer at the time, afforded valuable
assistance to the Syndicate in crushing out the organised system of
smuggling which had for some time robbed the farmers of a large
portion of the lawful fruits of their monopoly.™

Although Tan Hiok Nee was a great aid to the ruler at this
time, it may be that he later became too independent or too closely
associated with his Singapore partners. He apparently remained a
partner in the opium syndicate through 1875.* In that year he left

60, Ibid., p. 132,

61, Ibid., p. 159.

62. Singapore and Straits Directory, 1874 “Johore™, p. 4. The Johor opium and
spirit farmers for 1874~ 76 were Cheang Hong Lim, Tan Hiok Nee, and Tan
Seng Poh.
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Johor. It is impossible to shed any light on the circumstances of his
departure from Johor as none of the records pertaining to the sale
of his many concessions have been preserved. They may not have
been disposed of through the normal channels. He did not suffer,
however, and retired a wealthy and influential man.*

Abu Bakar, even during the 1860s, did not place his faith in
this one individual. There is ample evidence that wide-ranging
measures were taken to tighten up the entire system. The surar
sungai began to undergo modification both in form and, it seems, in
function. As was noted above, these were held increasingly by
merchants rather than by Kangchus. The Kongsi or partnership
which held the surar sungai was thus a small-scale corporation
formed only for the purpose of Iling the revenue i
The surat tauliah was the authority for the Kangchu only. This
separation of functions made it easier for the government to impose
controls on both parties.

The first modifications in the form of the surar sungai appeared
in about 1860, when Abu Bakar and his brother Ungku Abdul
Rahman began to take full control over Johor's affairs, Until this
time, the surat sungai were very rudimentary documents. They
originally gave very little information other than names, dates, and
a vague of taxation conditi S imes the Kangchu
was designated, and sometimes he was not. For these carly grants, it
is impossible to say whether or not this was an oversight or whether
it meant that the Kangchu was not among the owners of the river,*

From the 1860s, the basic form of the surar sungai began to
undergo a gradual process of modification. By about 1873, the
model surat sungai, which i h: for the indi
of the century, had come into use. The first significant change came
in 1860 when a surat sungai for Sungai Santi gave the carliest
notation of share distribution and showed how many shares were
held by each partner in the Kongsi.* This information soon became
a regular feature of all later surat sungai. A second innovation was
the regular designation of the Kangchu, if he was a member of the
Kongsi. This practice may mark the first attempts to separate the
Kangchu authority from the surar sungai.

63. Song Ong Siang, One Hundred Years' History, p. 335.
64 Trocki, “The Johor Archives™, pp. 2-3 and 11— 14,
65. SKMK-1. No. 26, 7 Scpiember 1860,
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Following these changes, a paragraph was added relating to
the disposition of timber in the neighbouring jungles. The first
known example of this ran as follows: “And furthermore, these
Chinese may not take timbers used for the construction of
wangkang [lighters used for the shipping of pepper and gambier to
Singapore]. If they wish to scll [these timbers] they must apply for a
licence. Once they get the licence, no one can forbid them, for we
have ruled it, and so if it is cut, it will not be illegal."* This
innovation obviously heralded the institution of a separate licence
for timber at about this time. The inclusion of such clauses had
become a standard practice by 1865,

It was in 1865 that the first samples of a thoroughly revised and
expanded surat sungai began to appear. These closely resembled the
surat sungai of later ycars. A few minor changes were added
between this date and 1873 when the form of the document appears
to have become stabilized and fixed. Hereafter, the only major
innovation came in 1881 when the Johor government began having
the documents in print rather than in handwriting. In 1873, the
surat sungai contained the following features:

(1) the name of the Kangchu, if he was a member of the

Kongsi;

(2) a statement of the share distribution;

(3) a more specific description of the area covered by the
grant;

(4) a requirement that Kongsi members inform the
government when appointing a successor or deputy;

(5) an injunction forbidding the cutting of valuable timbers
and the collection of jungle produce — the types of trees
and produce were listed by name;

(6) a direction that Chinese should not interfere with Malays,
their I , or livelihood within the
granted area;

(7) a requirement that planting should begin within one year
of the date of the grant;

(8) a direction that sharcholders should sell their shares within
the Kongsi rather than to outsiders; and

(9) a requircment to open a fixed number of plantations,
usually 100.*

66, SKMAK -1. No. 29, 29 October 1860.
67. Trocki, “The Johor Archives", pp. 12— 14.
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A final feature of this reorganization of the surar sungai was
the practice of regularly referring to previous grants when a river
was resold. These references always state the type of document the
river was originally held under, the date of its issue, and the
individuals and actions involved.* It has been possible to “restore™
a number of lost surat sungai as a result of these references.

After 1866, apparently in an effort to bring the Kongsi under
more strict control following the Tanjong Putri crisis, a new form of
document was introduced. This was the surat jual-beli or bill of sale,
the first of which was issued in 1867." These documents recorded
the buying and selling of some or all of the shares or various
concessions or property that the seller held under a surat sungai.
The surat jual-beli invariably included the following information:

(1) name of buyer(s) and seller(s);

(2) price;

(3) description of what was purchased;

(4) authority by which the seller held the property (for

example, surat sungai, surat jual-beli).

The surat jual-beli was used to record the purchase of entire
sural sungai grants, as well as for smaller portions of such grants
including a fixed number of plantations, cquipment such as
kangkar houses and boats, and one or more shares in the Kongsi.®

The surat jual-beli appears to have stood in place of the surat
sungai. Before 1867, whenever a river was sold or shares changed
hands it was necessary to issue a new surat sungai. We have already
noted that a large number of such reorganizational grants were
issued between 1863 and 1867. After the appearance of the surat
Jual-beli, no new surat sungai were issued when an area was sold. In
subsequent sales, the authority quoted in the next surat jual-beli was
the former surat jual-beli together with the original surat sungai.

One assumes that shares and property held under surar sungai
were being bought and sold on an informal basis right from the
beginning. There was always a tend towards the lidati

68. SKMK -1, No. 36, 25 December 1862, is the first grant in which such reference
to an earlier grant was made. However, it was not the first time successive surar
sungai had been written for the same arca.

69. The Johor Archives Register entitled Buku Daftar Surat' Jual dan Bell, Pajak
dan Gadai dan Hutan 12841301, A.D. 1867~ 1883, contains cighty-seven such
documents.

70. Trocki, “The Johor Archives”, pp. 14-15.
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of the shares. With the introduction of the surat jual-beli, this aspect
of Chinese cconomic activity became visible and more subject to
government controls. The new documents allowed for greater
fexibility within the system and also stood as a record of the
current value of any given revenue concession.

A i i i in the began during
these years. These included the surat tauliah or letter of Kangchu
authority. Other forms, such as the surat kuasa (power of attorney),
surat perjanjic ), and surat also came into use
but have not been preserved in any organized files or letter-books,
as have the surat sungai and surat jual-beli. There are a few of these

d d in the mi llection Kumpulan
Surat di-Simpan oleh Setia Usaha (Collection of Correspondence of
the State Secretary),” and many more are referred to in extant
correspondence. No copics of the surat tauliah have survived to the
present day, and it is fortunate that Coope has left us at least one
example of this.

All this shows that there was a substantial expansion of the
Malay administrative apparatus during these years. As we have
seen, the task of organizing a burcaucracy had been started in the
late 1850s when the first moves to settle Tanjong Putri were
undertaken. Johor's administration was staffed by such individuals
as Mohamad Salleh bin Perang and Enche Long. The most
important figure, however, was Abu Bakar's brother, Ungku Abdul
Rahman.

In 1863, he appears to have been given sole responsibility for
the issuing of surat sungai.” Hercafter until his death, sometime
after 1876, he signed all surar sungai. We are probably correct in
assuming that much of the reorganization and expansion of the
Kangchu system and the cultivation was under his direct charge. He
was, in fact, second in command of the state. In Abu Bakar's
absence, as when he left the country in 1866, Ungku Abdul
Rahman served as the Regent. The fact that he himselfl was a
member of several of the Kongsi which were granted surat sungai

n.

This collection contains about fifty items, all original documents, collected in
separated cavelopes. Most of them are licences, contracts, and promissory
notes. The carliest entry dates from 1843,

The first surar sungai to bear his, or any, signature was SKMK -1, No. 37, §
June 1863,

k2
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for west coast rivers, particularly, the Batu Pahat, suggests his close
involvement with this aspect of the expansion of the 1860s.”

In addition to the expansion of pepper and gambier
cultivation, other forms of agri prise were
at this time. Under the direction of Ungku Abdul Rahman, police
stations and coconut plantations were established at Tanjong
Kupang, Batu Pahat, and Padang. Hundreds of Javanese labourers
were brought into these places. Parit or canals were dug to drain the
land, coconuts planted, and roads built in these settlements.™ These
were outside the Kangchu system and there is no government
correspondence relating to them. Except for tin mines opened near
Padang in 1871, these were areas of Malaysian settlement rather
than Chinese. In addition to the Javanese coolies, it is reported that
there was one long-established Malay village at Padang. To oversee
the plantations and police stations, Abdul Rahman had Malays
brought in from Teluk Belanga. Thus, the *“Malay" population of
the state was being increased — Abdul Rahman was subsidizing it.

With such an able individual in charge of Johor's development,
Abu Bakar began seeking other means of ensuring and enhancing
his position. In 1866, as soon as the Tanjong Putri controversy had
been settled, the Temenggong travelled to England. Rupert
Emerson has noted the significance of this visit: **Recognizing that
Singapore was not the center of the Empire, [the Johor rulers] have
made themselves at home in London and discreetly thrown their
influence there into the balance against the local officialdom of
Malaya."” Henceforth, it became possible for Johor rulers to
bypass the British officials of Singapore and take their case directly
to the seat of the Empire. In ch izing Abu Bakar's catholici
Winstedt has noted: “He lived as a young man half in the
traditional Malay world and half in the world of a cosmopolitan
British port.™™ Emerson has further commented that “this division
of his time and personality continued, with the addition of Europe,

73. He was listed as a sharcholder in three different Kongsi on Batu Pahat,

SKMK - 1. Nos. 63, 65, and 87, dated 5 December 1864, 29 March 1865, and 17

July 1868.

Mohamed Ibrahiim Munshi, The Voyages of Mohamed Ibrahim Munshi, trans.

Amin Sweeney and Nigel Phillips (Kuala Lumpur, 1975), pp. 3-4,

7. Rupent Emcrson, Malaysia: A Study in Direct and Indirect Rule (Kuala
Lumpur, 1964), p. 198.

76. Winstedt, “A History of Johor™, p. 109,

.

I
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throughout his life to his great benefit and profit.”"” Abu Bakar's
visit laid the foundation for his dipl ic offensive which helped
to make him the most formidable ruler in the entire Malay world.
The Hikayat Johor has given an account of this visit, He was
accompanied by his chief minister, Ja'afar bin Haji Mohamed. In
England he was received by Queen Victoria and became a “close
friend” of the Prince of Wales, later King Edward VII. He also
received various awards and citations and was well received in the
courts of other European countries.™

One significant result of this trip sent him back to the most
traditional part of the Malay world, Riau. Winstedt writes:

Perhaps that visit had taught him that the title Temenggong
was unknown in Europe. Perhaps his gracious reception by
royalty set him thinking.... Why should he not assume a title
more in accord with his birth, his power and his place?
Accordingly on I8 April 1868, Abu-Bakar sent his cousin
Engku Haji Muhammad and his Dato’ Bentara (Ja'far bin
Haji Muhammad) to Riau to that gencalogist and prolific
historian Raja Haji Ali [the author of the Tufhar al-Nafis] (his
deceased uncle's brother-in-law) to needle the way to the
Yamtuan Muda and enquire if the Temenggongs could now
assume “'sovereign power"', — which in fact they had assumed
already, but at Riau it was a cuphemism for “‘a royal title”.”
Thus, with the approval of both the Governor of the Straits
Settlements and the Sultan of Lingga, Abu Bakar assumed the title
of Maharaja of Johor on 30 June 1868. Although once the most
prestigious of titles in the Malay world, it had long since fallen out
of usc among Malays." In the nineteenth century, Sri Maharaja was

7. Emerson, Malaysia, p. 199,

78. Mohamad Said, Hikayat Johor, pp. 12-13.

79. Winstedt, “A History of Johor™, p.109. Winsted('s account of this trip appears
to come from a Johor manuscript. A copy of this is on microfilm in the
University of Singapore Library, together with a number of other

A Johor including 1 could find no copics of
these documents in Johor and the microfilms scem 10 be the only available
copics. The documents on microfilm are apparently Winstedt's working copics
and contain notations scribbled in the margins. This particular onc marked
“The Trip to Riau™ is twelve pages long and printed in jawi.

80. The rulers of Srivijaya and the first rulers of Malacea had the title of Maharaja.
However, this practice had disappeared from Malay usage by the nincteenth
century.
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but an appendage to the title of T " However,
was then the title of the highest-ranking Indian princes and was
recognized throughout the world.

The trip to Riau was an important piece of symbolism. Riau,
even though only a quiet backwater by 1868, was still the spiritual
centre of the Malay world. Abu Bakar's envoy was proof of his
acknowledgement of the power of tradition among Malay rulers.
Legitimacy, as far as they were concerned, came from two sources:
the British and tradition. It was as necessary for Abu Bakar to
verify his genealogy and obtain the approval of the Sultan as it was
for him to visit the Queen. Abu Bakar had been on friendly terms
with the Riau court for some years. Examination of the genealogies
must have been largely a matter of form. It could have been no
surprise when Sultan Sulaiman told Enche Haji Muhammad that
he and the Yamtuan would like Abu Bakar to “become a Raj

Since he could not be called Sultan or Yamtuan, the
compromise title of Maharaja was decided on. Abu Bakar had to
wait another seventeen years before he could assume the title of
Sultan. In the meantime, however, the new title set him off from the
other Malay rulers of the Peninsula and gave him a more
universally recognized claim to princely status than did that of
Temenggong. Actually, Abu Bakar appears to have expropriated
the title on his own for this very reason. During his trip to England
in 1866, he had already begun to style himself Maharaja.”

Abu Bakar's trip to England was particularly well timed. It
allowed the Maharaja the opportunity to establish his name there
and to form connections just prior to the long-awaited transfer of
the Straits Settlements from the East India Company to the
Colonial Office.* When Sir Harry St. George Ord was installed as

81. Mohamad Said, Hikayar Johor, p. 13. This simply notes that the change

involved shortening of the title Temenggong Sri Maharaja: *... dengan

kesuka'an dan persetujuan orang negeri di-adakan suatu istia’adat mengubah

akan gelaran Raja Temenggong Tun Abu Bakar diringkaskan jadi Maharaja

Johor.”

Winstedt, “A History of Johor", p. 109.

Tarling, British Policy. p. 81, fn. 326, citing Kaye's Mem. of 10 May 1866, CO

273/15 (6997) notes that “In England he was styled not Temenggong Sri

Maharaja but Maharaja....”

84. C.N. Parkinson, British Intervention in Malaya, 1367 - 1877 (Singapore, 1960),
P- 1. The Straits Settlements were officially transferred 1o the Colonial Office
on I April 1867 and the new Governor, Harry St. George Ord, was sworn in at

<1
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the first British Governor, Abu Bakar took steps to continue the
intimate relationship which the Johor rulers had always maintained
with the Singapore governors. The Hikayat Johor reports: *Only a
short while after His Honour had arrived in Singapore, he had
already become a good friend of His Highness™.* Ord played an
important role in settling the still outstanding problem of Abu
Bakar's war with Pahang:

...one of Ord's first undertakings was the settlement of the
outstanding boundary dispute. Just before his arrival the
Temenggong offered to cede the islands north of 2°40' to the
Pahang chief. This broke the deadlock, and Ord was able to
take up the negotiations. In August, 1868 he visited the east
coast in the steam yacht Peiho. At Pahang, he arranged a
settlement between Abu-Bakar and Ahmad, with the Endau
river as the dividing line on land, and its latitude as the
dividing line through the islands. Ahmad was thus recognized
in Pahang. But the Temenggong remaincd the doyen of the
native chiefs..."

By 1873, Abu Bakar had been successful in consolidating his
position. The bourdaries of his state were fixed as were the limits of
his sovereignty. Johor's status as an economic dependency of
Singapore had been reluctantly acknowledged, but the ruler's
administrative controls gave him adcqua(: leverage wnhln the
system. If he had not been in ding the of
his state and in realizing its independence, he had not come away
empty-handed. He still retained great power to interfere in the other
states. By yielding when necessary and by adopting the trappings of
the British, he had risen in status both with Europeans and with
Malays. He was “civilized". According to Governor Ord:

The present Maharaja of Johore ... was born in his father's

house at Singapore where by Treaty the family have

considerable landed property adjoining the town and was
educated by an English Clergyman.... In his tastes and habits
he is an English Gentleman. As a Ruler, he is anxious to

the same time. Full accounts of the transfer and events leading up to it are given
in the Parliamentary Papers and also Buckley, An Anecdotal History, pp.
754-80, and L. A. Mills, British Malaya, pp. 263-75.

85, Mohamad Said, Hikayat Johor. p. 13.

$6. Tarling, British Policy, p. 81.
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promote in everything the advancement and civilization of his
people and is the only Rajah in the whole Peninsula or the
adjoining states who rules in accordance with the practice of
civilized nations.

He is deeply attached to the British Government and, feeling
that with their support and encouragement he is most likely to
benefit his country, he takes no step of importance in
administration without the advice of the local Government,
whilst he is ready at all times to place the whole resources of his
country at our disposal."

87. Quoted in Parkinson, British Intervention, p. 41.




6
Johor and the Maharaja
1873-1884

The 1870s and 1880s were turbulent years in the Malay world.
Johor, no less than any other state, was. deeply affected. Starting in
1874, the government of the Straits Settlements began its “forward
movement™. A decade later, the entire group of southern Malay
states had been taken under some type of formal British protection.
The states of Perak, Sclangor, and Negri Sembilan had British
Residents installed in their courts. Even though Johor possessed a
greater measure of political independence, it was even more
intimately linked with British Singapore by economic ties than the
other states. In 1885, Johor too agreed in principle to accept an
“adviser”, though none was appointed until 1914,

Between 1874 and 1885, Johor was at the peak of its wealth
and power. It was seen as an exemplary Malay state. Both the
British and the Maharaja were proud of it. Malays of other states
admired and envied Johor's position, and many of the other Malay
chiefs sought to emulate Abu Bakar. The English voiced the hope
that the others would indeed follow in his footsteps. But, for a
variety of reasons, no one managed to duplicate Johor.

There were several factors that made Johor seem attractive and
progressive. First of all, Abu Bakar himself was the state’s best
advertisement. His reception by Queen Victoria gave him the
opportunity to present himself as a civilized and cultured
gentleman, which indeed he must have been. He gained entry to the
world of the British aristocracy which at the time was a major
centre of international power. According to Parkinson, the British

i 'y was mainly ch ized by its peculiar dination of
commercial, maritime naval, military, and colonial policy, which
was ‘“achieved to some extent through such institutions as
Parliament, the Stock Exchange, Lloyds, and the Baltic, but more
through social relationships and a pattern of life created and
strengthened in public schools, universities, clubs, race-courses, and

154
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the hunting ficld".! As an accepted member of this society, Abu
Bakar was able to put forward the interests of his state and further
his own ambitions at the highest levels, both in Malaya and in
Britain.

More important than the ruler’s social status, however, was the
state. Johor offered a striking contrast to the other states of the
Peninsula. In 1874, it had a population of resident Chinese
numbering close to 100,000. These planters were, on the whole,
peaceful, orderly, and productive. The government consisted of a
small and tightly-knit group of Malay administrators and Chinese
businessmen. In general, an acceptable form of law and justice had
been instituted. Moreover, the ruler's word was respected by all his
subjects.

In the states of Perak, Selangor, and Negri Sembilan, there
were also thousands of Chinese engaged in productive activity.
However, their wealth was often squandered in warfare as rival
secret societies and dialect groups competed for domination of the
tin-ficlds. The Malays in these states scemed incapable of
controlling the Chinese. The Sultans of Perak and Selangor had
little authority over their own officials and minor chiefs, and in
Negri Sembilan there was no agency of central government at all.
Local chiefs such as the Mentri of Larut, Nga Ibrahim, and the
“Viceroy™ of Selangor, Tungku Kudin, were wealthier than their
Sultans. The ination of administrative di ization and
Chinese factional fighting created a situation of almost continual
warfare in all these states.’ By comparison, Johor was a “Garden of
Eden™.

In Pahang, the ruler was a formidable individual. Bendahara
Wan Ahmad had countered Abu Bakar’s attempt to dominate
Pahang in 1863 and had then secured his own position vis-g-vis the
minor chiefs. However, the state had little tin and was not yet open
to European capital. Though usually orderly, the government was
disturbed by sporadic conflicts between the ruler and some up-river
chiefs and thus offered no secure ficld for large-scale investment. It
remained poor and followed a much more traditional course.

1. Parkinson, British Intervention, p. xiii.
>

2. Ibid., Ch. 3, pp. 41-72, for Parkinson's discussion of the general situaticn in
these states in 1870.
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Again, Johor's wealth and relative degree of progress put Pahang in
a generally unfavourable light.’

This chapter will attempt to describe the rather unique system
of government that had evolved in Johor at the high point of its
prosperity under the pepper and gambier regime. In 1874, the
Singapore and Straits Directory (SSD) contained a seven-page
section on Johor.* This appears to be the ecarliest published
statement of the structure and composition of Abu Bakar's
government, It provides enough information to enable the historian
1o reconstruct the basic features of the state as it was at that time.
One striking detail :s the rclauvc]y small number of officials
actually employed the i Another remarkable
feature is that the “‘government” is shown to have been composed
of an almost equal number of Chinesc and Malays.

The Malay side of the government included a Council, a
Treasury Department, a Police Court, a jail, a Public Works and
Land Department, and a Commissariat. A railway was under
construction, and the Johor Free School had been established since
1864. These latter, together with the Arsenal, the Marine and its
three steamboats, and the Medical Department were under the
direction of privately hired European officials.

Nothing certain can be said of the functions of any of these
bodies. At this time, the state had no written constitution. The
Council scemed the most important. Its composition was as
follows: There were twenty-four members, including two Chinese,
Major Tan Hiok Nee and “Captain Tye Hiang™ (Seah Tee Heng);
the rest were Malays. Six of them were close relatives of the ruler,
cither brothers, cousins, or uncles. Most of these bore the title of
cither ungku or raja. Ungku Abdul Rahman, the ruler's brother,
appears to have been the ranking member of the Council. There
were also three Hajis and three others, presumably of Arabian
descent, who were called “Syed™. Ja'afar bin Haji Mohamed, the
Dato Bentara, and Mohamed Salleh bin Perang were also listed as
members. Very little can be said of the identity of the other
members of the Council. If Dato Ja'afar and Mohamed Salleh are
at all typical, perhaps all the rest were likewise either related by

3. W. Linchan, 4 History of Pahang, Ch. 8 (Kuala Lumpur, 1973), pp. 90 100.
First published as JMBRAS. v. 14, pt. 2 (May 1936), All quotations arc from
the reprint edition.

4. Singapore and Straits Directory 1874, “Johore™, p. 233.
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blood in some fashion to the ruling family or were the descendants
of the princi of earlier T 3
The Council appears to have formed the core of the
1ja's gove We are probably correct in ing that
all the Malays on it were Teluk Belanga people and represented the
principal following of the ruler. Onc assumes that the composition
of the group was essentially the same as the followings of
Temenggongs Ibrahim and Abdul Rahman. In other words, it was
a larger and latter-day version of the traditional group of kin,
supporters, and advisers which surrounded almost all the major
Malay chiefs. In this case, however, the following was given a more
formal status within the state and dignified with the title of
**Council”.

Since the only source of information regarding the
composition of the government at this time is the Directory which is
in English, it is impossible to give the Malay name for this body or
for the other departments. It appears that Abu Bakar had followed
contemporary British colonial models in organizing the state at this
time. This may have been only a matter of form rather than
substance. The local administrative set-up bears a strong

to traditi Malay g with the
of the titles.

When onc looks at the of local ini ion, a
dualism in the government is obvious. On the local level, there were
two seemingly separate groups of government servants, one Malay
and the other Chinese. The Malay administration appears to have
been a slight variation on the earlier pengulu-system which had been
set up by Temenggong Ibrahim around 1848.

In 1874, there were two *“*Commissioners”. Endau and the east
coast of Johor were under Ungku Abdullah. Muar, which at this
time was the northern border of the state, and the west coast were
under Ungku Abdul Majid. The state was further broken up into
thirteen smaller administrative divisions which were called
“Residencies”. Two of the Residents actually held the title of
pengulu and another was an orang kaya. The use of these traditional
titles suggest that the Residents were, in fact, pengulu or river chicfs.

5. Both Haji Mohamed, the father of Dato Ja'afar, and Panglima Perang, the
grandfather of Mohamed Salich, had been members of the Teluk Belanga
community and chicfs under Temenggongs Ibrahim and Abdul Rahman.
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The Residencies were (from ecast to west) Endau, Sedili,
Pengarang, Tanjong Surat, Johor Lama, Lenggui, Pasir Godung,
Tanjong Kupang, Tanjong Bulas, Senggarang, Batu Pahat,
Padang, and Muar (sce Map 5). There were also two
“Dependencies” which appear to have had roughly the same status
as the Residencics. These two were for the administration of the
islands off the Johor coast. One chief, Enche Mahmud, stationed at
Pulau Tinggi, was in charge of all the islands in the South China
Sca. The other, Pengulu Mirdang, ruled the islands in the Straits of
Malacca from Pulau Pisang.

In addition to the Residencies and Dependencies, there were
also thirteen police stations. Most of these were located at the
Residencies and were under police officers with the rank of
“Constable™ or “Duffadar”. The Directory also notes: “To each
station is attached onc or two Malay Sampans manned by Police
Peons."™ Police stations were located at Tanjong Kupang, Tanjong
Kukub, Satengah Lahu, Batu Pahat, Padang, Muar, Pulau Tinggi,
and Endau.” This whole “‘branch" of government (that is, police,
Residencies, and Di dencies) must i
the Temenggongs’ sea peoples.

There was a certain amount of duplication of personnel.
Allowing for spelling irr itics, about five Resid (or
Assistant Residents) also doubled as police constables. It is also
worth noting that about four of the Residents appear to have also
been members of the Council (that is, Syed Abdullah, Nong Yahya,
Enche Ali? and Enche Hoosman?).

In the “central” government, departments under Malay charge
were generally headed by members of the Council. The Treasury
was under Ungku Haji Mohamed. Enche Mohamad Sallech bin
Perang was Commissioner of Police. Enche Yahya Awal was the
Chief of Public Works Department. While the latter was not named
to the Council, it appears that his father, Enche Awal, was.

On the whole, the government of Johor was thus not a very
complex organization. It only included what may be termed the

6. Ibid, p. 3.

7. It has not been possible to locate all these places. The names may have been
changed. Tanjong Bulas (0nc of the Residencies) should be on Johor's west
coast somewhere near Pontian. Satengah Lahu (Laut?) should be in the same
area. Sungai Scluang should be somewhere on the western bank of the Johor
River.

p what of
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bare essentials of government: the ruler and a few close advisers;
treasury, police and land departments; and local administrators. In
all, there were only eighty Malays named in the Directory for 1874,
of which many were clerks. If the duplications are accounted for, it
appears that the number of actual officials cannot have exceeded by
far the membership of the Council,

On the Chinese side, the numbers are much more impressive.
Here, however, it is difficult to draw the line between administrative
and commercial listings. This section of the Directory includes the
spirit and opium farms, the office of Major Tan Hiok Nee, twenty-
two pepper and gambier shops in Johor Baharu, seventy-three
Kangchus, four Indian shopkeepers, a rice mill, two tapioca
factories, and cight tin mines.*

The opium farmers were Cheang Hong Lim, Tan Seng Poh,
and Tan Hiok Nee. Tan Hiok Nee was the only “Johor™ Chinese of
the three. The other two were the controlling partners in the much
larger syndicate which also ran the farms for Singapore, Riau,
Malacca, and perhaps for a number of other states on the
Peninsula. (Sce above, pp. 142-45.)

The list of seventy-three Kangchus is of great importance, for
this is the first listing of all current Kangchus and of the rivers on
which cultivation was in progress. It offers an opportunity to verify
the inf ion given in the collecti of Kangchu records in the
Johor Archives. There are a number of interesting discrepancies
between this list und the archival materials. The SSD list appears to
have been compiled from a body of data which was totally distinct
from the surat sungai.

Among the obvious contrasts are the failure of the SSD list
to mention the Kongsi — only the Kangchus are named.
Frequently, the names of these Kangchus are found nowhere in the
archival materials. In many cases, different place names are used
for the same kangkar. Even where correspondences do exist in the
two compilations, spelling differences are often radical. There is no
indication that one list or the other is wrong. Rather, each list seems
to have been compiled for different reasons. Thus, they represent
two different official views of the Kangchu system. These
discrepancies make it possible to push our enquiry a few steps
further. Utimately, they lead us to some tentative conclusions about

8. Ibid., pp. 4-7.
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the operation of the Kangchu system, the Johor government, and
the relationship between Johor and Singapore.

Mention has already been made of the changing status of the
Kangchu in Johor. As early as 1864, there was a tendency for the
surat sungai to be held by persons other than the Kangchu. In this
situation, the Kangchu became the deputy of the tuan sungai or
*““owner of the river", as Coope has termed him. A comparison of
the Directory's listing with my own compilation of all current surat
sungai, together with surat jual-beli and surat pajak, shows that
there was relatively little correspondence between the actual
Kangchu and the holders of surat sungai (sce Appendix B). Out of
the seventy-three Kangchus named in the SSD., only thirty, or
about forty-one per cent, appear as members of the river-holding
Kongsi given in the surat sungai or surat jual-beli, or as leaseholders
under surat pajak. This would suggest that the other forty-three
Kangchus were all deputies or managers employed by the holders
of the surat sungai or other relevant documents. Almost sixty per
cent of the Kangchu rights were held by absentee owners who
themselves were not Kangchus.

There is no way of knowing exactly how much of the original
government records have been preserved. Obviously, many of them
have been lost. The loss includes any collection of surat tauliah or
register of such Kangchu letters of authority. This register may
have been the source from which the SSD list for 1874 was
compiled. The missing data appear to represent one facet of the
government about which nothing can be said other than what is in
the Directories. The register was probably the one maintained by
the police which is referred to in Article 1 of the Kanun Kangchu:
““All persons who have been appointed Kangchus or who wish to
become Kangchus or their deputies or attorneys must come
forthwith to the State Police and enter their names in the register
kept by the Proper Officer.”™ The surat sungai and other records
that have been preserved were apparently gencrated by the Council,
This conclusion is supported by the fact that Ungku Abdul
Rahman, the ranking member of the Council, signed all such
documents between 1863 and 1875. In the latter year, he appears to
have dicd or retired from government scrvice. He was replaced by

9. Coope, “The Kangehu System", p. 252.
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his brother, Ungku Abdul Majid. In 1885, Abdul Majid headed the
Council and had been signing surar sungai since 1875,

We have noted and di some of the descriptions of the
Kangchu system offered by writers such as Coope, Tan Tek Soon,
Mary Turnbull, and James C. Jackson. Others have been written by
J. Eleum, the British administrator who dismantled it,” and F.
Lees." None of these accounts, however, except for Coope’s and
Elcum’s, discusses the archival documents which we have used to
reconstruct the sequence of the settlements. Only Coope and Elcum
have had access to them before. So far, no satisfactory
description of the relation between the Kangchu system and the
Johor government has been offered.

The Kangchu system cannot be treated separately from the
Johor government. It was more than a mere system of agricultural
pioncering. As revealed by the documents of the Johor Archives, it
appears to have been ing like a quasi-g
business, It is best to begin by describing the basic structure of the
Kangchu system as it appeared in the 1870s.

The first i is a more prehensi of
what a surat sungai in fact was. In the text of the document, it
clearly states it was a licence (keterangan) authorizing the opening
of gambier and pepper plantations in a given watershed, It also laid
down some of the laws applying to the activity of the holders and
planters. In this sensc it was a kind of contract. For example, it
stipulated that 100 plantations should be opened within a year. It
was not permitted to take valuable timbers, interfere with Malays,
or with miners. The surat sungai also stated the membership of the
Kongsi and the distribution of shares within it. It was thus also a
kind of letter of incorporation. "

10.J. Eleum, Johore in 1911 (Annual Report) Johor Baharu, 1912, pp. 3-7.

. F. Lees, “Chinese Scttlement in the Kulai Subdistrict of Johore, Malaysia", in
Geographers and the Tropics: Liverpool Essays. ed. Robert W. Steel and R. M.
Prothero (London, 1964), pp. 196-277.

12 In about 1874 an official letter of incorporation (sural kongsi) came into use.
There are only a few examples of this type of document scattered through the
collection of surat jual-beli They do not appear to have been written each time a
surat sungai ot surat jual-beli was issued but only when the holders of the river
decided to reorganize the Kongsi by bringing in new members. These
documents contained a statement of the authority under which the river was
originally held, the names of the new members, the share distribution, and
statement of the total capital invested in the concession. Often there was a
statement of why the reorganization was taking place.
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Although nowhere in the text of any surat sungai is there a
mention of the revenue farms, the remarks of Coope and other
writers indicate that the holder also held the usual monopolies. This
aspect of the surat sungai is also confirmed in related
correspondence, particularly the surat pajak bahagian sungai where
the farms are often enumerated. They included the right to sell
opium, spirits, and pork, together with concessions for gambling,
pawnbroking, and prostitution."”

The surat sungai thus had at least four functions. It was a
licence, firstly, for the opening of plantations and, secondly, for the
management of revenue farms. Thirdly, it was a contract between
the government and the holders. Fourthly, it was a letter of
incorporation. In the course of time, the surat sungai lost most of
these functions except for the f mlng licence. It ceased to
be an agricultural d. once the pl were blished
within the given area.

By 1863 there is evidence that, even in the initial stages of
opening up a river, the holders of the surat sungai were only
marginally concerned with agriculture. The multiple acquisitions of
Tan Hiok Nee at that time are the best indication that Chinese had
come to see the revenue-farming rights of the surat sungai as being
of major importance. It was not long before the government too
began treating them as such in an official manner. This awareness is
seen in the d of 1 y d such as the
surat jual-beli and the surat pajak

The use of such d incided with the of the
taukehs as primary figures in the Kangchu system. By the 1870s the
busmcss of opening up a river valley had dcvcloped into a highly

b and exp The lation that 100
plantations should be opened can probably be taken as a statement
of the optimum minimum in terms of revenue. It would certainly
have kept out the small-time operators.

Such an establishment required the mobilization of resources
on a large scale. One estimates that the necessary labour force
would have numbered about 500. If the average plantation was
about 50 acres, a total of some 5,000 acres of virgin jungle would

13, Register Surat Pajak Bahagian Sungai A. H. 1290~ 1300, Johor Archives. See
also, Trocki, “The Johor Archives”, pp. 4-5, 1517,
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have to be cleared." Tons of equipment and supplies would have
had to be transported to make such an undertaking possible. In all,
it must have taken about $100,000 to open up a river on this scale.
The cooperation of the taukehs was vital to the entire operation. In
fact, a combine of several pepper and gambier dealers would have
had to back the scheme and be willing to wait anywhere from one to
three years for a return on their investment.

Although the system by which the cultivation and planters
were organized and financed has already been observed, it will be
useful here to describe it in more detail. The best and perhaps the
only contemporary description of the process by which cultivation
was organized is that of Tan Tek Soon in his article “Chinese Local
Trade™.”

He states that first of all the Kangchu, or prospective Kangchu,
would sccure permission from the government to occupy the
region, which cost him $100. Tan is not clear about the nature of
this “permission”. One assumes he is referring to either a surar
sungai or a surat tauliah.

The system in vogue is usually somewhat as follows. A Chinese

who had previously succeeded in securing the confidence of a

number of gambier and pepper traders in town, generally five

or six, would first proceed to an unoccupied district in Johore
or Muar and select a tract of jungle land for his purposcs. This
land is usually situated close to the bank of some river or
stream navigable for boats.... Latterly his district has been
properly surveyed and demarcated, but formerly he usually
exercised control only from the river bank to the nearest
watershed. For opening up the jungle and planting he arranges
with a number of semi-dependent planters, to each of whom is
allotted sufficient acreage for present cultivation as well as for
future expansion. These planters are induced to undertake the

14. Coope. “The Kangchu System™, p. 248. Coope states that the size of a
plantation was somewhere between S0 and 250 acres. Other reports from the
period (e.g., SFP, 28 March 1839) indicate that a plantation required a labour
force of five o six men. James Low, The British Settlement of Penang (Oxford,
1972), p. 63, gives a slightly different set of statistics, which are also relevant for
the mid-1830s. Low states that the average plantation was about ten orlongs
(13% acres) and that the total cost for the first year amounted to $667. Unless
there was large-scale inflation, these costs should have been roughly equivalent
1o those of the 1870s.

Tan Tek Soon, “Chinese Local Trade™, pp. 90-93.
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enterprise by an arrangement under which for the first cighteen

months or so the kangchu has to supply them with all the

ies of life, impl of husbandry, seeds and

cuttings. The cost of these would be debited to planters’
account in the kangchu’s books. When the first crop is ready
for the market, a settlement would be made all around. The
kangchu then distributes the planters’ debts to each of his own
creditors, the town traders, apportions the plantations among
them, and transfers the produce only by legal deed called a
“pajak". Henceforth each planter would be financed by his
own town trader, but must dispose of his produce only to his
shop until his debt is all paid. The trader supplies him with
rice, groceries, and money for further planting, all at stipulated
prices, and receives his produce in exchange, with deductions
for weight according to a defined scale, and at prices regulated
by his guild, the Gambier and Pepper Society, about 30 per
cent below the actual market value."

This account gives a clear picture of the Kangchu's role,
towards the end of the century, in initiating settlement. According
to Tan Tek Soon, the Kangchu was essentially a labour recruiter.
He organized the founding of the settlement. From this account, it
is easy to sce why the Kanun Kangchu gave the Kangchu the duty
of ing the credit relationship between the faukeh and the
planters. He had been instrumental in organizing it in the first
place. It should also be noted that the pajak mentioned in the above
account had nothing to do with the archival collection of Surat
Pajak Bahagian Sungai. These latter documents were solely
concerned with the revenue farms and Kangchu rights in general,
and had nothing to do with plantations or pepper and gambier.
There were thus at least two different types of pajak. The one
described by Tan may be called the plantation pajak, and the one
collected in the Johor Archives can be styled the revenue pajak. The
former was an agreement between a planter and his creditor while
the latter wus between a revenue farmer and members of a Kongsi.

The system which Tan Tek Soon has described, however,
makes no mention of the Kongsi. In fact, no written description of
the Kangchu system or the pepper and gambier cultivation makes
any mention of this type of body. The only evidence of its existence

16 Ibid., pp. 91-92.

o ———s s
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is in the collection of surat sungai and related documents in the
Johor Archives. Since these documents are in no way descriptive,
an attempt must be made to identify the Kongsi and its functions as
shown in the documents.

In examining written descriptions of the Kangchu system, two
possibilities are suggested. One is that the Kongsi was made up of
planters; and the other is that they were pepper and gambier
traders. It seems possible to discount the first possibility. Since the
Kongsi had control of the Kangchu rights and the shares which
they held were often quite valuable, it is doubtful that they could
have been planters, for these were not very affluent individuals.
This conclusion is borne out by the fact that, in the few instances
where the names of some planters have been obtained, it has been
impossible to find any of their names on the surat sungai. This
leaves the taukeh

Tan Tek Soon has described one aspect of the system whnch
may be a hint of the existence of the Kongsi:

For the transportation of the produce from the plantations to
town another socialistic combination is effected. The several
traders interested in a river or its vicinity and the kangchu
would furnish the necessary capital between them to build a
gambicr tongkang of sufficient capacity to carry off the
produce in fortnightly or monlhly mps This boat would then
be manned by some half-a-d one as

and the others as assistants generally. The freight of produce is
placed at as low a rate as possible, chargeable to the planters. At
the end of the month this is divided among the boat-people at a
fixed proportion, the kangchu also receiving one share as
nominal owner. A deduction is also made monthly until the
capital account is paid off.... Owing to its importance and the
vested interests which have in time grown around this traffic,
no competition is ever permitted. Even when a boat is
undergoing repairs, the planters arc not allowed to ship their
produce by a ncighbouring boat. Should the market price of
their goods induce them to do this, they quietly submit to
double payment, once to their own boat-people and again to
the actual carrier."”

17, Ibid., p. 92.
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There are, however, some difficulties in relating this
information to that found in the surat pajak. The transportation
concession is never mentioned as a part of the lease. The stock
description of the rights included under the surat pajak is as follows:
*To sell opium, spirits, pork, gambling, pawn-broking and other
such rights which are attached to the above-mentioned river which
are held by all Kangchu in the territory of Johor." On rare
occasions, a surat pajak makes mention of the kangkar house and
other concessions such as the putting on of a wayang or Chincse
opera, but there is not a word about boats.

While it would have made sense for the Kangchu and/or the
pepper and gambicr traders to control the means of transportation
to and from the plantations, it scems that this concession was not
covered under the relevant documents — unless, of course, it was
taken for granted. However, it has proven difficult to identify very
many of the sharcholders named in the surat sungai, surat jual-beli,
etc., as having been pepper and gambier traders. While allowing for
the vagaries of spelling, if pepper and gambier traders were
regularly members of Kongsi, then onc would expect to find
frequent correspondences between the 1874 SSD’s list of twenty
pepper and gambier dealers located in Johor Baharu and the list of
shareholders taken from the surat sungai. There is, however, no
correspondence at all between these two lists of names.
Unfortunately, we have no good listing for the pepper and gambier
dealers in Singapore. The SSD for the 1880s do have lists;
however, they do not give personal names but only the firms' chap,
or trade mark." This being the case, onc fecls justified in concluding
that the Kongsi members were usually not active pepper and
gambier traders. And, cven if they were, there seems to be no
necessary correlation between the group of raukehs who supported
the planters on a given river and the Kongsi for that river. This
circumstance suggests that there was either an additional level to
the Kangchu system, which was not recognized by Tan Tek Soon or
other writers, or a supplementary hierarchy. Let us try to
diagrammatize the system Tan has described.

=

SSD for 1883, pp. 128-29; for 1884, pp. 133-34; SSD for 1885, p. 175; and
SSD for 1890, p. 306. Song Ong Siang is of little help in identifying the
individuals named on surar sungai, etc., and one assumes that outside of rare
cases like Tan Hiok Nee most of the Kongsi sharcholders and gambicr dealers
were not very important people in Singapore.
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Johor
Government

T Pepper and Gambier Taukeh
P Pepper and Gambier Planter
=== Credit line
—— Administrative line

Figure 4. Organizational Period:
Credit and Administrative Relations

In the “organizational” period (sce Figure 4), the Kangchu was
both the administrative and the credit agent. He contracted debts
with the various taukeh and also contracted with the Johor
government. He redistributed the debts among the planters and

acted as the government rep ive and tax polist of the
district. Thus, for this period, both the administrative and credit
lines were channelled through the Kangchu.

Once production began (see Figure 5), the Kangchu reassigned
the debts directly to the planters. The exchange of goods and credit
for produce was then carricd on directly between planters and
taukeh, with the taukeh presumably holding mortgages on the
plantations which they backed. As we know from the Kanun
Kangchu, the Kangchu apparently continued to monitor these
relationships even though he was now technically outside them.
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Figure 5. Productive Period:
Credit and Administrative Relations

As we can sce, this leaves no place for the Kongsi. One must
assume here that the Kongsi should perhaps be understood as a
special group of financial backers who were investing not in the
cultivation but in the office of the Kangchu and, more specifically,
in the opium, spirit, and other revenue farms under his control.
This was then an additional and separate level in the system. A
possible organization chart which includes the Kongsi might be as
shown in Figure 6.
Johor
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Figure 6. Productive Period:
Position of Kongsi in the Kangchu System
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The administrative link between the government and the Kongsi is
represented by the surat sungai, surat jual-beli, or surat pajak, while
that between the government and the Kangchu was the surat
tauliah. The Kangchu thus received authority both directly from the
government and indirectly through the Kongsi. From the latter, he
may also have received credit. The taukeh-planter relationship
appears to have been unaffected by the role of the Kongsi.

In this situation, the Kongsi shareholders would have had no
direct interest in the planters, but only in the profits of the revenue
farms and in the office of the Kangchu. The Kangchu himself, given
the rather inconsistent correspondence between the surat sungai and
the SSD lists, may or may not have been a member of the Kongsi.
In a number of cases, the Kangchu held the farms from the Kongsi
by means of a surat pajak, but this does not seem to have been a
consistent practice.

On the whole, the Kanun Kangchu has little to say about such
matters and never refers to anything like a Kongsi. Its main concern
appears to have been the regulation of planting and defining the
Kangchu's role as an administrator and overseer of the financial
arrangements between planters and pepper and gambier dealers.
We must look elsewhere for our definition of the Kongsi.

A number of considerations add weight to the hypothesis that
the Kongsi were corporate bodies formed to hold only the revenue
rights of the river. The first consideration is the Kangchu's own
need for capital. In order to assume such an office, an individual
had to be able to meet a number of initial expenses which had
nothing to do with the agriculture. These included building a
kangkar house; making initial purchases of taxable commodities
(opium, spirits, and pork), and financing the pawnbroking,

itution, and li i

A second factor is the membership of Tan Hiok Neein a large
number of Kongsi between 1863 and 1875. As he was the Major of
Johor and held the state revenue farms in 1864, it would have been
to his advantage to invest in as many of the Kangchu revenue farms
as possible. He invested in the most populous and thus most
profitable districts. A (hn‘d factor which suggests that the Kongsi
was a purely was the pi of a small
number of Malays and other non-Chinese in some of these Kongsi.
These people were not pepper and gambier dealers, and would have
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the plantations.

These Malays who held shares in the Kongsi are an interesting
phenomenon. As can be scen from the Chronological List, there
were relatively few of them." Table 6 gives a list of all Malays who
held shares in various rivers between 1860 and 1885 drawn from the
surat sungai and surat jual-beli.

over the produce of

TABLE 8
List of Malay Shareholders

Names  ~ Nd. of Kongsi Joined
*Nong Yahya. ..
Enche Sulong. .
Enche Hitam. ........
*Ungku Abdul Rahman
Ali bin Abdul Majid
*Enche Andak ...
*Ungku Osman bin Ungku Abdul Rahmaa. ..
*Tuan Haji Mohamad Salleh
Enche Wan Ibrahim bin Abdul Majid.
*Ungku Abdul Majid ..........
Wan Omar bin Abdul Majid ..
Enche Ja'afar bin Nong Yahya
*Tuan HajiOsman .............
Enche Aminah binte Ungku Abdul Majid .
*Ja‘afar bin Haji Mohamad. ...

RO = 00 = — N = — B

* Council Member

This list is not an exact statement of the number of shares that
each held; it is simply a compilation of all the different Kongsi to
which these Malays belonged. In a few cases, two of the
abovementioned individuals held shares in the same Kongsi. It is
also possible that a few have been counted twice because the Kongsi
was reorganized. But, at the very least, Malays held shares in thirty
different Kongsi. This is a significant number.

Here there is little difficulty in identifying these Kongsi
members. All those marked with an asterisk were members of the
Council in 1874. All the others shown were the children of these

19. Trocki, “The Johor Archives™, pp. 20-35.
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officials. The only doubtful ones are Enche Sulong and Enche
Hitam, and probably these two were similarly connected. Not only
were all these Malays connected with the Council but most appear
to have been blood relatives of the ruler. The practice of holding
shares appears to have been initiated in 1860. It was begun not by
the government but by two individuals, most significantly Tan
Hiok Nee and Nong Yahya, the Resident of Tanjong Surat.” After
one known objection, the ruler appears to have acquiesced in the
arrangement and it soon became a relatively frequent practice. The
biggest Malay sharcholders were also the biggest government
officials. By the 1870s, Malay membership in these Kongsi appears
to have been seen as a way in which certain officials could gain
direct profits from the revenue farms. It is noteworthy that in
addition to other types of Kongsi, Ungku Abdul Rahman became a
partner of Tan Hiok Nec when the latter began acquiring
concessions in the Sckudai arca.” Malays, however, also joined less
important Kongsi. In these cases, it may be that their presence in
the Kongsi was intended to the devel of outlying
areas. It is also possible that the Malay shares were gifts calculated
to win official favour. An example of this type of investment would
be the membership of Ungku Abdul Rahman and Ungku Abdul
Majid in a number of Batu Pahat Kongsi. The overwhelming
number of Malay-held shares were owned by these princes and their
children. These two brothers of Abu Bakar were the major officials

20. Nong Yahya, according to the SSD 1874, “Johore™, was both a member of the
State Council and the Resident of Tanjong Surat, (pp. 1 and 3). In 1860,
(SKMK - 1. No. 26, 7 September 1860) he was listed as holding one share in a
Kongsi which held Sungai Santi. A few weeks later, his name appearcd again
on u surat sungai for Temon (SKMK -1, No. 27, 25 Scptember 1860). The latter
document contains a rather puzzling injunction: “Ini suroh ganti jangan masok
Noag Yahya berkongsi sebab Unghu tiada beri Melayu berkongsi dengan China.”
(Translation: “This is an order 1o change; do not enter Nong Yahya in this
company because Ungku [Temenggong] docs not allow Malays to join
companies with Chinese.") However, the next paragraph of the document lists
him as holding onc share. In the future, while Malays did not join Kongsi on a
regular basis, it did happen quite often and Nong Yahya apparently continued
1o hold the shares he already had at the time, and later bought cven more. The
only conclusion one can draw is that, after having initially disapproved the
idea, the ruler later changed his mind. There is no statement reversing the
policy stated in the above document; however the policy was clearly ignored,
or, more correctly, Malay Kongsi membership was limited to Council
Members and their familics.

2. SJB, Nos. 15 and 16, 28 April 1873,
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of the state. Practically all surat sungai issued after 1863 were signed
by one of them. If the shares held by their children were purchased
by one of the two officials on their behalf, this would suggest that
Kongsi shares were treated very much as we treat shares of stock
today. One could simply hold the shares and collect “royalties”,
from the Kongsi.

It appears that the Kongsi members as individuals could hold
their shares simply as investments and not engage in the day-to-day
business of the river. The Chinese themselves often treated shares
similarly. In certain Kongsi, only one or two members were the
principal i and/or actual ini of the i
The others could easily have been wives, children, or other relatives.
This may explain why partners in many Kongsi share the same
surname. If we take as an example the Kongsi which received the
Kangchu rights to Sedili Besar in 1873, the share distribution was as
follows:*

Ngiu Lee Chew I share (Kangchu)
Ngiu Chang Poh 1 share
Ngiu Chang Hee 1share
Ngiu Chang Heng 1 share
Ungku Abdul Rahman 1 share

The fact that the second, third, and fourth members of the Kongsi
have the same clement *Chang'' in their given names indicates that
they are siblings. It is a traditional Chinese practice for all members
of the same generation in a family to share a given name in
common, The difference in the first member’s given name and the
fact that he is also the Kangchu indicate that he is the father.
Subsequent documents dealing with this concession further show
that the three children were all minors.”” Thus the picture of this
Kongsi is simplified. Ngiu Lee Chew was the principal investor and
had put up cither all or four-fifths of the capital. If Ngiu put up all
of the capital, then the Malay-held share was-a gift. Alternatively,
Ungku Abdul Rahman, perhaps wishing to encourage settlement
within this isolated region, put up the other fifth. Then, with the
hope of bringing his children into the family business and of giving
them some sort of income, the Kangchu gave them three of his
shares.

22. SKMK-I, No. 100, 5 December 1873.
23. SKMK -1, No. 101, ? October 1886.
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This is an “ideal” type of Kongsi in that it is possible to
identify the members. There are no “‘unknown" partners — the
Kongsi was simply the Kangchu, his dependents, and a friendly
silent partner. This pattern can probably be said to have held true
for many Kongsi, particularly in their initial stages. Of course, the
majority of Kongsi are not quite so simple. Frequently, one or two
years after the issue of a surar sungai, there would be some
manipulation of the shares. Partners would sell out; one member
might buy up all the other shares; people could die or return to
China. Things became more complicated, and the Kongsi had fewer
members — this is what happened in the Sedili Kongsi.

In 1874, the year after the concession was granted, Ngiu Lee
Chew died and whatever clearing had been done in the district was
stopped and the arca went back to jungle. In 1886 Ngiu's widow,
Chua Chun Kiok, formed a new Kongsi. She appears to have taken
over two of the family's original shares. Four other people, all
surnamed Ngiu, invested new capital in the venture, and a new
attempt was made at opening the river under a new Kangchu.* It
seems rather strange that the rights to a river could be held for as
long as thirteen years without any effort being made to open
plantations, or without the government's giving the concession to
someone else. This anomaly suggests that Abdul Rahman's share
had indeed been a gift. But, the isolation of Sedili in the 1870s and
the fact that no scttlements on that coast seem to have been
successful until the 1890s suggest another reason why no one took
an interest. It is doubtful that the government would have allowed
such neglect if officials really felt that any other group could be
successful.

When one examines other individual Kongsi, the picture
becomes increasingly complex. On the west coast, a Kongsi
comprising fifteen partners, all surnamed Koh, opened Sungai
Benut in 1865.* A few years later, the Kongsi went bankrupt and
one Tan Nong Kia, a partner in nearby Pontian,* began to buy out
as many partners as he could. After some litigation, he acquired full
rights to the river in 1874.” The SSD list for 1874 shows that he
was also the Kangchu even though he was not named as such in the

24, Ibid.

25. SKMK-I. No. 66, 5 November 1865.
26. SKMK -1, No. 75, 21 May 1866.

27. SKMK-1. No. 96, 14 April 1874.
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surat sungai. Tan organized no Kongsi other than himself; he was
both the sole owner and the Kangchu. A few years later, he opened
another concession on Pinggan, a tributary of Benut.” He also sold
off his Pontian concession at about the same time.” Since there are
no further d ding his ion with these holdings,
it is difficult to say what happened to him. In 1883, he was no
longer listed as a Kangchu for any river. It is possible that he hired
a deputy to look after his kangkar and retired to Singapore.
Assuming this was the case, this other “family” Kongsi which had
failed was subsequently bought out by a wealthier raukeh. After a
few years, the successful taukeh, in the fashion of Tan Hiok Nee,
farmed out his rights to a deputy.

Another pattern, or perhaps exception, was one Kongsi made
up entirely of Arabs (or perhaps Malays). It included two brothers,
Sayed Jand bin Omar al-Jand and Sayed Abu Bakar bin Omar al-
Jand, together with Shaik Abdul Raham bin Mohamad al-K hatib
and Shaik Mohamad bin Ali al-Tawi. The last-named individual
was also a member of the Council in 1874. Their Kongsi held
important concessions on Sckudai and took over the Tebrau rights
after they had been purchased from Kapitan Tan Cheng Hung by
Ja'afar bin Haji Mohamad.” Naturally, they too farmed out the
revenue rights to Chinese. If we collate all the available information
for Tebrau as of 1874, we find that the Arabs actually held Tebrau
through two intermediarics. In 1873, they leased the rights to
Tebrau by means of a pajak to one Seah Yau Sah.” However, the
SSD for 1874 shows that the Kangchu for Tebrau was Tan May Ah
Cha. One assumes he was Seah's deputy. (See Appendix B.)

The name of Seah Yau Sah appears on several other surat
sungai. He had bought Kapitan Tan Cheng Hung's Telar holding in
1871 and the SSD list shows him to have been the Kangchu therein
1874.” Thus, he too is one of the few individuals who can be classed
as both a raukeh and a Kangchu. In 1874 he controlled both the

28. SKMK-1. No. 115, 27 August 1879.

29. SJB, No. 50,9 May I875.

30. SKMK -1, No. 94, IS September 1872; SJ8, No. 20, 10 August 1873; 5/B, No.
74, 8 May 1883.

31, SPBS. No.2, 25 August 1873,

32. 78, No. 8,26 March 1871; SJ8, No. 77, 20 January 1884; SKMK - 11, No. 8,
12 August 1882.
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former Kapitan's holdings: one by means of a surat pajak and the
other through a surat jual-beli.

A fourth example is that of the Kongsi which acquired the
rights to Rengit, a tributary of the Batu Pahat in 1874, There were
three shareholders: the Kangchu, Buku Kia Lee, and Buku Ah
Tiam and Lim Ah Sim.” The picture is complicated by the fact that
the SSD gives Buku Tchew Kang as the name of the Kangchu.
Regardless of this problem, other evidence shows that the key
member of this Kongsi must have been Buku Ah Tiam (or Tian). In
the SSD for 1883, 1884, and 1885, he is listed as the owner of
Chop Seng Heng and was a member of the Kongkek Committee.™
Obviously, he was a wealthy raukeh and a pepper and gambier
dealer. In 1881, he held shares in two other rivers, Perah and Bukit
Ketam in Muar.”

Given these rather diverse examples, it is clear that one cannot
draw many firm conclusions about the usual composition of the
Kongsi. Sometimes surat sungai were held by a single individual
who could have been cither a wealthy raukeh or an indebted
Kangchu. Some of the Kongsi included the Kangchu and his
family, some the Kangchu and his backers. Others were held by the
backers only, and the Kangchu was merely a deputy. Malay
membership seems to have been possible in any of the different
combinations. Whatever the Malay role, however, most
sharcholders were Chinese. Some of them may have been pepper
and gambier dealers, but as far as can be determined, most were
not. Itis noteworthy also, that the very biggest pepper and gambier
dealers in Singapore, Seah Eu Chin and his children after him,
never held any surat sungai. In the final analysis, there seem to be so
many different types of Kongsi that the search for the typical one
may be a pointless task. There appears to be only one real
consistency in the Kongsi's function — the concern with the
revenue farms.

Because they controlled the revenue farms, the Kongsi were of
crucial importance to the state and, of course, to the wealthiest of
the taukeh. As time passed, affluent Chinese or government agents
(the latter could have been cither Malay officials or Chinese “'semi-
officials™) tended to take control of the most successful
33. SKMK-1, No. 102, 7 January 1874,

34, SSD, 1883, p. 128; SSD, 1884, p. 133; SSD, 1885, p. 172,
35. SKMK-1, No. 114, 17 May 1878; SKMK -1, No, 129, 14 June 1881.
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concessions. The first of these Chinese magnates was Tan Hiok
Nee. Besides being the Major of Johor, Tan Hiok Nee was the
biggest opium farmer, the biggest holder of Kangchu rights, a
member of the State Council in 1874, and a pepper and gambier
dealer. His many interests were obviously a part of his value to the
ruler and made it possible for Abu Bakar to defend Johor's interests
during the Tanjong Putri controversy and in the succeeding period.
His importance to Johor in the years between 1864 and 1875 cannot
be underestimated. It must have been a matter of great significance
when he, in the words of Song Ong Siang, “‘gave up entirely his
connection with Johore™ and retired to Singapore.* The

i sur ding his depa and his repl may
give us a clue as to the nature of the relationship between the opium
farmers and the group of pepper and gambier raukehs.

There are a number of problems connected with Tan Hiok
Nee's departure from Johor. First of all, it is interesting that the
““Major"" was not replaced. Song Ong Siang reports that Abu Bakar
asked Tan Seng Poh to take over the job in 1876, but the latter
refused.”” Given the fact that Seng Poh was the leading figure in the
Singapore-Johor opium and spirit farms, it is not difficult to see
why Abu Bakar offered him the position. Clearly the Maharaja
needed an alliance with a powerful Chinese to oversee the revenues
of Johor. Since neither Tan Hiok Nec nor Tan Seng Poh wanted the
position, Abu Bakar had to look clsewhere.

The second problem with Tan Hiok Nee's departure is that
there are no records showing the disposal of his substantial
personal holdings (Map 4). There are no surat jual-beli, surat pajak,
or additional surat sungai covering the areas which were formerly
held by the Major. What happened to them? A few picces of
cor d from the collection, Kumpulan Surat® di-Simpan
oleh Setia Usaha, may provide an answer. These show that in 1886,
the Johor government, acting through agents, purchased twenty-
one shares in the Singapore Opium Syndicate.” The Dato Mentri,
Ja'afar bin Haji Mohamad, borrowed $21,000 from the government

36. Song, One Hundred Years' History, p. 335.

37 Ibid. p. 132.

38. KSSSU. $-30, 30 March 1886, Hutang Dato’ Menteri Ja'afar kapada
Keraja'an Johor: S-31, 31 March 1886, Hutang Seah Ling Chai kapada
Keraja'an Johor: $-32, 31 March 1886, Hutang taukeh Seah Jim Quee kapada
Keraja'an Johor.
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and lent it to two prominent Johor Chinese, Seah Ling Chai and
Seah Jim Kui (no relation). Ling Chai owned thirty-two shares in
the Syndicate and he sold five of them back to the government, Jim
Kui owned twenty-eight shares, sixteen of which he turned over to
the government. It appears that shares in the Syndicate at this time
cost $1,000 cach. Why was the government holding twenty-one
shares of its own revenue farms?

The most reasonable explanation seems to be that the
government itself had taken over Tan Hiok Nee's former
concessions. It may be that it was impossible to find any Chinese
who were willing to finance them. Rather than taking one wealthy
Chinese into collaboration, the government appears to have joined
with two, or perhaps three, of the more prominent Johor raukehs,
to represent the state's interests in Singapore's financial circles. Of
major importance in this group was Scah Ling Chai.

Seah Ling Chai was the son of Johor's second Kapitan, Seah
Tee Heng. Both father and son held Kangchu rights in the Sckudai
arca in the 1880s.” Seah Tee Heng also owned a pepper and
gambier firm in Johor. The Kapitan died in 1884 and Ling Chai
took over his pepper and gambier shop and his Kangchu rights in
Sckudai.* This acquisition made him, like Tan Hiok Nee before
him, the most important raukeh in Johor. He was another
exceptional individual, being a pepper and gambier dealer, a
Kangchu and a major revenue farmer. In addition to his Sekudai
holdings, which appear to have been crucial to his position, he also
held many other concessions. By the time his father died, he held
shares in cight rivers." Seah Ling Chai was neither a Kapitan nor a
Major. His official position in Johor was Johor Manager of the
Kongkek.®

The shopkeepers had banded themselves together into an
organization called the Kongkek, or Pepper and Gambier Society.

39. Seah Tee Heng held, SKMA - £, No. 99, 20 October 1873; and Seah Ling Chai
held, SKMK ~ 11, No. 15, 19 November 1882; SKMK -1, No. 18, 7 December
1882, and the $.5.0., 1874, also shows Scah Ling Chai as a Kangchu on
Sckudai in that year. (Sce Appendix B)

40. SKMK-1. No. 147, 6 August 1884,

Panti, 7B, No, 31, 8 August 1874; Kesang, SKMK - 11, No. 9. 12 September

1882; Reling, SKAK - 11, No. 11, 20 September 1882; Semberong, SKMA - 11,

No. 17,6 December 1882; Rengit, SKMA - 11, No. 19, 4 February 1883; Terap,

SKMK~11, No, 25, 14 March 1884,

42. SSD. 1883, p. 128: 1884, p. 13; 1885, p. 172.
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Information regarding the origin of this body is lacking. It is not
mentioned in the SSD for 1874; however, this should not be taken
to mean that it did not exist then. The pepper and gambier dealers
had acted in concert to protect their interests in 1864 during the
Tanjong Putri controversy in petitioning the Singapore
government. This action marked the first known instance of some
combination amongst them. It may also mark the foundallon of the
Kongkek, but on the basis of available evidence, it is impossible to
answer this question in any definitive way. Whatever the origins,
the group was most active and prominent in the 1870s and 1880s.
The Kongkek fixed prices, dardized weights and and
in general looked after the interests of the taukehs. It was a kind of
prototypical Chinese Chamber of Commerce.” The evidence
suggests that the Kongsi shareholders, as a group, were outside this
organization. Even though individual sharcholders may have
belonged to ll lherc is no indication that lhe latter had a separate
Shareh,

formal Iders and k should be
treated as two functionally distinct groups. Song Ong Smng
suggests that the Chinese th “In

the ‘eighties the *Kong-kek' Cup was regularly presemed by the
Gambier and Pepper Socicty, and the ‘Kang-chu’ Cup by the
Kang-chus of Johore for the Spring and Autumn Race meetings."*

It would seem logical that the **Kang-chu" Cup was sponsored
by the holders of surat sungai in Johor rather than by the actual
Kangchu. Most of these shareholders must also have been partners
in the Opium Syndicate.” Tan Hiok Nee, listed by the SSD and
mentioned by Song Ong Siang as a partner in the Opium Syndicate,

43. Song, 0nr Ilundml Years' History, p. 38, Tan Tek Soon, *“Chinese Local
Trade™. p. 92, and Coope, “The Kangchu System", p. 259, are the only sources
of mrmmalmn at the writer's disposal on the topic of the Kongkek. The names
of the Committee members were listed in the SSO for the 1880s. Only one
available document of the Johor Archives makes any reference to it. In 1896,
on taking over the government after his father's death, Sultan Ibrahim
appointed the Committee members of the K ongkek and recognized the chap of
the members. Article 67 of the Kanun Kangchu (Coope, above) also indicates
that the Kongkek sat in judgement to regulate disputes between planters and
taukeh. Coope describes the organization as a “Chamber of Commerce™.
Song. One Hundred Years' History, p. 38.

This is the writer's own term. At the time, this body was called the Opium and
Spirit Farm, The farms were run by a syndicate, or Kongsi, made up of all the
important revenue farmers of the region.

&




180 PRINCE OF PIRATES

was only the “tip of the iceberg”. The various kangkar represented
small subdivisions of the Syndi. harehold

. The listed on the
surat sungai, Malays included, were thus all members of the
Syndicate. It is clear that the Johor government was closely linked
to the Opium Syndicate through its many Kangchu concessions
and, ultimately, through the wealthiest Chinese in the state, who
were always revenue farmers.

The Kongsi, grouped within the Opium Syndicate, and the
taukeh, grouped in the Kongkek, merged at the top as a result of a
kind of interlocking directorate. In the period of the Tanjong Putri
dispute, there appears to have been no Kongkek. But the 101
merchants who signed the petition protesting against the
Temenggong's policy were probably dominated by the most
affluent dealers in Singapore. Someone like Scah Eu Chin would
have been the logical organizer. The fact that later SSD show that
Seah Leang Seah, his son, was the President of the Kongkek*
confirms the suggestion that Seah Eu Chin enjoyed a similar status
in his day — the 1850s and carly 1860s.

The Seah family was linked by marriage to Tan Seng Poh.
When Seah Eu Chin retired from business in 1864, Tan Seng Poh
(his brother-in-law), who had been an assistant in the firm for some
years previously, became manager and carried on the business in
conjunction with the two clder sons of the founder until 1876, when
he retired.”” Thus, between 1874 and 1876 at least, Tan Seng Poh
was not only one of the major partners in the Opium Syndicate
(significantly not representing the Johor branch), but he was also
manager of one of the largest pepper and gambier concerns and
controlled through indebtedness many of the smaller traders and
numerous planters.

He probably was also a controlling member of the Kongkek.
There is no available list of the organization’s membership in the
1870s. However, it seems certain that cither Tan Seng Poh or one of
Seah Eu Chin's other sons was on the Committee of the Kongkek in

46. SSD for 1885, p. 172, lists Seah Leang Seah as the President of the Kongkek,
Seah Ling Chai as the Johor Manager, Wee Yong Keng as the Singapore
Manager, and Heng Sco Lew as the Singapore Manager and Secretary. There
was also a Committee made up of twelve other pepper and gambier dealers. Of
these fifteen individuals, only Scah Ling Chai and Buku Ah Tiam (one of the
Committee members) were listed as holders of surat sungai in Johor.

47, Song, One Hundred Years' History, p. 131.
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these years. Song notes that Seah Song Seah, another of Eu Chin's
sons, was at onc time a partner in the Opium and Spirit Farm.* It
thus scems that both the pepper and gambier industry and the
opium-farming business were dominated by the Seah-Tan clan. The
“controlling strings™ of Johor's economy were in their hands, and
probably always had been.

Emily Sadka, in discussing the relationship between revenue
farming and mining ventures, has shown that there was, in fact, a
general ion between ic devel and revenue
farming. While her remarks are relevant mainly for the Protected
Malay States in the 1880s and carly 1890s, they show a system
similar to what was operating in Johor. ““The economic significance
of the farming system was that it provided, at least in theory, a
means of attracting Chinese capital and labour to the states. The
success of the farmer's speculation depended, of course, on the
consumption of opium and spirits and the volume of business in the
gambling houses, and he therefore had an incentive to increase
consumption by investing in mines and other enterprises and
introducing labour into the state.”” European administrators,
according to Sadka, were well aware of this connection. *Estimates
of the economic initiative to be expected from applicants for the
farms played an important part in the calculations of government
when farm tenders were being considered.”

The combination between revenue farming in Johor and
pepper and gambier planting was a natural one. Sadka shows this
to have also been the pattern in other Malay states. “Capitalists
who already had a large stake in the country were in a strong
position when it came to tendering for the farms, for a number of
reasons; they were in a position to expand their enterprises if their
applications were successful, and restrict production and
immigration in an attempt to break the farm if they were not; and
since their prosperity was of some importance to the state, there
was an incentive to support them financially by giving them the
farms."*

In regard to their relationship with the government, Sadka
concludes by showing that the farmers really took very little risk.
Their ventures were so big that a collapse of the farms would wreck

48, Ihid., p. 21.
49. Emily Sadka, The Protected Malay States 1874~ 1895 (Kuala Lumpur, 1968),
pp. 333-34.
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the entire economy. She quotes Swettenham's remarks on this
eventuality: *...the failure of the signatories to the contract means
almost invariably the ruin of a large number of people who are
interested in the Farm or who depend upon the Farmer 's assistance
in lhelr various industries, it means fi ion and the

of confid; the of supphs and the closing
of some avenues to capital; it means a fall in the value of real
property, possible immediate loss to the Revenue and almost
certain reduction at the next reletting of the Farms.”*

Her comments on the farmer's economic position regarding
the government show that the Chinese were well protected. “If the
price of tin was high and immigration boomed, they made large
profits; if trade was depressed and they were unable to meet their
commitments, they were able to plead for relief, usually with some
success, since the government could not afford to risk the financial
collapse of large local interests.

As a group, the Kongsi shareholders were differentiated from
the group of raukehs who backed the planters by the treatment they
reccived from the government. Since the Kangchu-Kongsi
combmnuon represented the basic unit of the state’s revenue-

pp the go kept fairly close control over
it by requiring that their activities be registered under surar sungai
and other legal documents.

The Kanun Kangchu which describes the Kangchu's
administrative responsibility on behalf of the government makes no
mention of his revenue-collecting function. Stress is placed rather
on his reponsibility for assuring that planters observed their debts
to the taukeh. It would appear that the failure of Kanun Kangchu
to lay down conditions for the regulation of Kongsi and

hareholders is a further indication that the Kongsi was treated as a
separate body by the government. It is significant that no set of laws
has been discovered which deals with the Kongsi in a systematic
fashion. All our remarks on the topic must therefore be based on

30. Swettenham to CS, 28 September 1890, quoted in Sadka, The Protected Malay
States, p. 335.
S Ibid.
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the apparent circumstances. The revenue farmers of the Kongsi
were not regulated by a code of Johor laws but by the conditions
laid down in their contracts with the government, in the surat
sungai, surat jual-beli, surat kongsi, surat pajak, and other related
documents.

In trying to fill out the picture of the Johor government at this
time, one must bear in mind that the government shared
responsibility with the Chinese. From the economic point of view,
government isted in the binati d by the formal
state administration, the Kongkek, and the Opium Syndicate. In
fact, it appears that the Malay government was largely built up on
the foundation of the Chinese side of the Kangchu system.

In Singapore, the Chinese had full control of the economic
system of the pepper and gambier cultivation. There, the Kongkek
(or its prototype in earlier years) and the Opium Syndicate were
supreme. The pepper and gambier taukehs held the planters in

ic thrald They lized both the production and
consumption of the cultivators. The Opium Syndicate, operating
through individuals who were also called Kangchu, was prepared to
absorb the remainder of the planter’s meagre earnings. Here too, in
the 1840s and 1850s, one would imagine that the Kangchu was
usually a secret society chieftain. He would have needed some sort
of military force to police the monopoly. There were thus two
parallel hierarchics, cach controlling different aspects of the
economic system. To a certain extent they were competitive, in that
cach was trying to extract as much as possible from the planters. It
was only natural that they eventually joined forces to a certain
extent. However, it is impossible to say whether or not the relative

ion of the hi ies was ever eli d. As we have seen,
in Johor, they did remain separate despite the dual role of some of
the more affluent taukehs such as Tan Hiok Nee and Seah Ling
Chai.

In Johor the centralization of a large number of Kangchu
concessions in the hands of one individual meant that the large
cconomic interests of Singapore had to deal with the Johor
Kangchus as a block. The system thus assumed a pyramid shape as
suggested in Figure 7.
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Kangchu
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finance opium

xongd— family ties —— Syndicate

Figure 7 Kangchu Finance Structure

This was the foundation of the Johor government. The
government, in fact, was superimposed over this structure (see
Figure 8).

Appointments

Kongkek =====~ " Syndicate

Figure 8. Governmental Controls on Kangchu Systems

The formal apparatus of control was the Kanun Kangchu which
governed the Kangchu's activities so far as the cultivation was
concerned. This, of course, affected relations with the Kongkek. A
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further control over the Kongkek was the Johor government’s
power to appoint the officers and committee members who
controlled this body.

The Kangchu documents that we have examined and the
Kongsi itself were the apparatus which gave the government
control on the revenue-collecting side of the Kangchu system.
Government influence was further expressed by the Malay
shareholders in a number of Kongsi (all of them connected with the
State Council) and by the Chinese officials in the Johor
government. The latter included the Major, the Kapitans, and other
individuals who succeeded them.

This was the shape of the Johor government as it appears in the
materials that have been considered here. It was locked tightly into
the Chinese cconomic system. The latter was characterized by the
peculiar relationship between the iers and the opium farmers.
As Sadka has shown, the same state of affairs prevailed in the tin
industry as well. The arrangement which had evolved in Johor
appears to have been unique. Neither the British nor any other
Malay ruler appears to have come to terms with the Chinese in
quite the same fashion. So far as the ruler and his council were
concerned, it was a highly successful operation. There were,
however, potential problems. Among these were the gradual
deterioration of the agriculture in Johor, the decline of the opium
business in Malaya and a change in the ruler's relationship with the
English.

As shown here, the Johor government was in fact a business.
While the state obviously possessed a certain measure of police
power, it seems clear that by the 1880s this was on the decline. The
cconomic aspects of the state had become of far greater importance
to the ruler than the military/police aspects of government. This
was one of the real changes which the colonial era had brought into
Malaya. The Johor ruler had been systematically discouraged from
maintaining and using a military force. The Pahang war had been
his last venture of this kind, and its failure seems to have marked
the change in orientation. After 1863, the power-holders in the state
were not soldiers, generals, pirates, or other martially-inclined
individuals but scribes, bureaucrats, and businessmen. The criteria
for leadership had changed from the martial arts to the scribal and
cconomic arts. Just as the Chinese secret society headmen had been
replaced by taukehs, so had the Malay pirates been transformed into
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burcaucrats. The government was no longer held together by tics of
personal loyalty and kinship but by written, contractual
obligations.

While the above analysis of the Kangchu system has placed
great stress on the content of the documents, a far more important
factor is the very exi: of the d in th 1 The
regular use of written contracts by a Malay ruler represents a clear
break with the past. Even though the Johor state of 1885 can hardly
be considered modern, the agency of change was already reshaping
the nature of power relations within the polity. The Malay maritime
format had been preserved in the riverine nature of settlement and
the administrative divisions of the state. The locus of power within
the state i ic and traditional in its ori ion and
aspirations. The Malay masses, however, had been replaced by
Chinese coolies. The pengulu had been turned into Kangchus. The
ruler and his small group of followers ruled over a Chinese state. In
the traditional state, the bonds between the ruler and the ruled were
those of personal loyalty, kinship, and economic dependence. These
had now been overridden by a system of written contracts which
had been borrowed from the English. The traditional bonds did not
cease (0 exist, nor do they appear to have decreased in importance
at this time. The important change took place not in these

lationships but in the g itself where the paperwork, by
itself, created the need for bureaucrats, filing systems, and all the
other personnel and apparatus that constitute a linear media
system. In short, the state had been rationalized.

A final point is that Johor in 1885 could hardly have been
considered autonomous or self-sufficient. It was an appendage of
Singapore that had somehow been taken over by an independent-
minded Malay chief. The ruler's authority was ultimately rooted in
the colonial military establishment and not in his own forces. The
economy, likewise, was simply an extension of the port's. The
Chinese had conquered the jungle and populated the land and the
taukehs probably took most of the profits. The British sold opium
to the Chinese and advised the Malays to protect their own interest
in Johor. The Malays maintained the legitimacy of Malay rule and
tried to survive between these two overwhelming forces.




7
Johor in 1885
Prospects

For the state of Johor and its ruler, the year 1885 represented
the climax of the efforts of the past four decades. It was a high point
of Johor's economic prosperity under the pepper and gambier
regime. Politically, the ruler was at a peak of his power and
popularity. In this year, he signed a treaty with Britain which
stabilized Anglo-Johor relations and which recognized him as
Sultan of Johor.' However, many changes had taken place in the
world. For Southeast Asia, the most significant of these were the
decided advances of Europ and imperialism during
the last twenty-five years of the nincteenth century.

Of particular importance in this period were the technological
advances which served to bring Malaya much closer to Britain,
These included the completion of the Suez Canal in 1869 and the

blish legraphi ication between Singap
and London in 1871, Parkinson has noted that the canal made
steam communication between Europe and East Asia economically
feasible: **...the best passage from London to Singapore in 1867 was
made by the Eileen Radford in 116 days, whereas the Shantung
steamed from Glasgow to Singapore in 1870 in forty-two days.” He
also notes that the telegraph brought an i diate revival of
Singapore's sagging commerce in 1871-72.}

In the next fifteen years, these shifts were to wipe out many of
Abu Bakar's gains. The first set-backs came in the area of the
traditional political relationship between the Johor ruler and the
British, particularly with regard to their policy towards the other
states of the Peninsula. Between 1874 and 1885, Abu Bakar had
been actively involved in the colonial advances in the Malay world.
The disturbances in Perak and Selangor had led to British
intervention and the eventual posting of Residents to those states.
During these events the Maharaja had placed the resources of his

1. Maxwell and Gibson, Treaties, p. 125.

2. Parkinson, British Intervention, p. 35.

187




188 PRINCE OF PIRATES

state at the disposal of the English. This included allowing British
agents Lo use onc of his steamships on missions to the west coast
states." On some occasions, he also appears to have sent his own
officials to assist them. Thus, Mohamad Ibrahim (later Johor's
Dato Bentara Dalam) accompanied Birch and Irving on missions to
Perak and Sclangor in 1871 and 1872.* The Maharaja himself took
a hand in some of the negotiating with dissident chiefs and gave
asylum in Johor to such individuals as Raja Mahdi of Selangor.*

None of these scrvices were without some ulterior motive —
the advancement of the Maharaja's own ambitions. Governor Ord
was happy to let Abu Bakar take charge of Mahdi since he thought
it left the field in Selangor clear for his own candidate, the Viceroy
Tungku Kudin. However, Parkinson points out:

-t is far from clear that the Maharajah was well disposed
towards the Viceroy, who was brother-in-law of Sultan Ali's
daughter — Sultan Ali of Muar being the dispossessed
claimant to the kingdom of Johore. In fact the Maharajah was
rather friendly than otherwise towards Mahdie as a useful
obstacle to Tunku dia Oodin’s ambitions. The Maharajah was
clearly on the side of Raja Musa, with whom the Viceroy had
quarrelled. More than that, the Maharajah had friends in
Singapore who were of his way of thinking.... Mr. Thomas
Braddell (whose advice Ord had followed) was in the
Maharajah’s pay.*

In 1876, Abu Bakar was recognized as the official intermediary
between the chiefs of the various states of Negri Sembilan. Article
Six of the agreement signed before the Governor of Singapore reads
as follows: “And we agree that in case of any dispute or difficulty
arising among our States which we are unable to settle, we will refer
for advice to His Highness the Maharajah of Johore."’

3. Parkinson, in British Intervention, notes the use of several Johor steamships
during the period 1874-76 by the Straits authoritics, eg., the S.5. Johore

(PP 123, 127): S.5. Pulai (p. 187); and the S.S. Pantal (p. 301),

Mohamad Ibeahim, Kesah. pp. 19, 2534, 35-69. Ibrahim gives his account of

these voyages.

Parkinson, British Intervention. pp. 62-66: and Eunice Thio, British Policy in

the Malay Peninsula 18%0-1910.'v. | (Singapore. 1969), pp. 20-21.

Parkinson, British Intervention, p. 64

Ibid., p. 326.
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In 1877, when Sultan Ali died, there was a succession dispute
and so Colonel Anson, who was then administering the Straits
government, asked Abu Bakar to take charge of the territory of
Muar until such time as the controversy was settled. This was
quickly decided by Abu Bakar himself, and by 1879 he had
officially annexed the state, thus totally dispossessing the old line of
the Sultans of Johor."

In his study of the disturbances in Negri Sembilan, Gullick has
drawn attention to Abu Bakar's ubiquitous involvement in the
politics of the Peninsula during this period. “It is a striking fact that
the rebels in the three States Perak, Selangor and Negri Sembilan

Ithough not in ication with cach other, were all in
correspondence at some time or other with the Maharaja of Johore.
The Maharaja owed his own position in Johore to a policy of
identifying himself with the British regime in the Straits
Settlements. He would hardly have planned a revolt against his own
patrons. But he was seeking to restore the ancient position of the
Johor Sultanate as overlord of all Malay states.” He notes that Abu
Bakar could gain no allies by supporting the pro-British parties in
these states, thus he acted on behalf of the rebels. He presented their
cause directly to the British, *‘describing the struggle in the Malay
States as a Malay civil war in which the British had become
identificd with the wrong side.... He hoped by this means to bring
the British to terms with the ‘rebels’ who would thus become
indebted to him for obtaining British ition of their claims."”

Whether or not Gullick's conclusions are accurate, they reflect
the thinking of British administrators who once again became very

ici of the Maharaja. His tak of Muar raised a great
controversy in Singapore and appears to have used up a good deal
of his influence.” Once Anson, who had been very favourably
disposed towards Abu Bakar, left Singapore in 1878, the Maharaja
faced a relatively hostile public and a succession of aggressively im-

(]

Winstedt, “A History of Johor", pp. 112-16.
. J. M. Gullick, “The War with Yamtuan Antah™, JMBRAS, v. 27, pt. | (May
1954), p. 5.

10. Thio, British Policy. pp. xxx-xxxiii. Thio discusses the opposition raised
against Maharaja Abu Bakar in Singaporc as a result of his annexation of

Muar. One of the most vocal of his opponents was Frank Swettenham. His

version of the history of relations between the Straits government and the two

native chicls of Singapore, given in his British Malaya (London, 1920), pp.

84103, was largely coloured by the take-over.
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perialist governors who saw no place in the empire for native
chiefs."

According to Eunice Thio, what opposition there was to
further territorial expansion by the British was in the Colonial
Office. The new Governor, Sir Fredrick Weld, had objected
strongly to the traditional policy which he conceived to be: *...to let
the British government remain as much as possible in the
background, to throw all possible influence into the Maharaja’s
hands and extend his actual territory as occasion may serve.... In
accordance with this policy the Maharaja has received the GCMG
and the KCSI — decorations which have a great effect upon
Malays, which have not been conferred upon any Governor of the
Straits Settlements, nor upon Malays of much higher rank than the
Maharaja.""

The Colonial Office was inclined to let well enough alone and
one official, **Herbert, the Permanent Under Secretary, alleged that
Weld was ‘unconsciously rather jealous of “‘our good fricnd" the
Maharaja of Johore and his decorations’." However, they were
swayed by Weld's arguments and from this time on the traditional
policy was changed. No longer would the British continue the
“‘experiment of relying on the Maharaja to further their interests in
the Malay States”. Weld was informed that he had the right to
intervene in Negri Sembilan without reference to Abu Bakar
“should necessity arise”. Likewise, he was given the go-ahead to
extend British influence in Pahang."

This meant that the special relationship which the Straits
government had intained with the T since 1836,
when Ibrahim began his career as a private suppressor, was at an
end. Weld, having destroyed this, was’eager to move even further
and appoint a Resident to Johor. This was how matters stood in
1885 when Abu Bakar and Weld both travelled to England to draw
up a new treaty.

c g which ded the original treaty
of 1824 between Temenggong Abdul Rahman and the East India
Company, was the result of six months of hard bargaining on both
sides. Abu Bakar was recognized as Sultan, but so as to ensure that

- Thio, British Policy. pp. xv~xvi.
id.. p. 24
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no one thought this meant a revival of the old Johor Sultanate, he
was to be known as “*Sultan of the State and Territory of Johore".
Johor's sovereignty was recognized but was also qualified in that
the Colonial Office was given charge of Johor's foreign relations
and a provision was made for the appointment of a British agent.”

Weld, for his part, was satisfied that the new treaty would
make the Sultan more am:nahlc lo cnnlrcl hy the Governor of the
Straits 1 and g an agent to Johor
and gradually bringing the state under formal direction. This,
however, was not to be the case. Despite Weld's expectations, “the
treaty did not either make Abu Bakar more amenable to the
Governor's advice, or strengthen the latter’s hold over Johore. On
the contrary, after his recognition as Sultan, Abu Bakar tricd even
harder to make Johore ‘the greatest Malay power, to keep her free
and to make her rich'.... More important from the practical point of
view was the formation of a Johore Advisory Board in London
which enabled him to communicate directly with the Colonial
Office.”

Abu Bakar judiciously appointed high-ranking retirees of the
Colonial Office to the Johor Advisory Board such as General
William Fielding and Cecil Smith. They not only advised the
Sultan, but took over the role of negotiating for him with the
Colonial Office, thus short-circuiting the position of the Colonial
Governor. “By this move Abu Bakar improved the machinery for
obtaining British advice without adopting a position subordinate to
the Colony or submitting to formal control.”"*

Abu Bakar saw that he would now need inﬂucmial
connections more than ever. The E was
at an alarming rate and somehow he had lo “*swim with lhc llde“
He had already begun to experiment and probe for new openings.
He moved in a number of directions, both attempting to forestall a
British take-over and seeking additional resources. First of all, he
expanded the government. Secondly, he attempted to diversify the
slnl: s agriculture. Thnrdly. he sought massive European

through I P schemes. Fmally, and
perhaps most he put on a flamb
offensive to make friends, influence people, and slmply gain status
in the world at large.

15, Maxwell and Gibson, Treaties, p. 125.
16 Thio, British Policy, pp. 108-9.
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Let us look first at what was happening to Johor's government
in 1885, The structure of the state’s administration had grown
considerably. Between 1883 and 1885, the Dircctories show a
decided growth in the formal apparatus of the State. At the centre
was the Council of State and a Secretariat. The latter was made up
of the Dato Mentri's Office and the Office of the Dato Bentara
Dalam. A Supreme Court had been added with a European
magistrate in addition to the Hakim and Mufti who judged cases
under Moslem law. The old Public Works and Land Department
had been broken up and in its place was a Public Works
Department, a Survey Department, and a Land Department. There
was also an Education Department, six schools in the state, a Postal
Department, and a Government Printing Office."”

The picture of local administration had changed somewhat.
The police department had been expanded and the headquarters
employed fifteen people. There were also twenty-one regional
police stations. The old local Residencies seem to have been
abolished. Instead there was a west coast Residency which
administered Muar and Padang; and an east coast Residency at
Endau. The west coast islands were under a Commissioner or
penggawa and another had charge of the east coast islands.

The Malays named in the administration now numbered about
130, again most of these being clerks or policemen. Authority was
still not spread very far. The most important officials — the Dato
Mentri, Ja'afar bin Haji Muhamad; the Dato Bentara Luar,
Mohamad Salleh bin Perang; the Dato Bentara Dalam, Mohamad
Ibrahim bin Munshi Abdullah; and the Commissioner of Police,
Abdullah bin Tahir — controlled the most important government
departments. All but the Land Department and the Supreme Court
were cither under onc of the above officials or were run by
Europeans. The Survey Department seems to have been the most
important. Both the Dato Bentaras and the Police Commissioner
held posts within it.

What emerges from this picture is an administration controlled
by Abu Bakar's few loyal and tested officials. All of them had
served Johor since the 1860s or longer. Together with Ungku Abdul
Majid, these were the people whom he took on trips to Europe,
China, and Japan. Alternatively, when one or two did not g0, they

17. SSD 1885, pp. 168-71.
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stayed home and ran Johor. All these officials were younger than
Abu Bakar. After he died, they outlived him by about ten years.
They became a kind of regency to look after the state while Sultan
Ibrahim, who succeeded in 1895, became accustomed to
government.

These changes represented mere expansion of already existing
administrative bodies. There is no indication that the aims of Malay
government had gone beyond the basic functions of servicing the
state’s agriculture (by means of roads and surveys), collecting
revenue, and maintaining law and order. The Johor Archives
documents show that there was a trend towards the formalization
of the state's executive in the collections of Surat® Titah Perentah
and the Buku Peringatan Dato Mentri which began to appear at this
time.

There was also a group of European “advisors" and friends.
These included Abu Bakar's secretary, William Hole, Howard
Bentley, “Dato" James Meldrum, and of course Paterson &
Simons, Rodyk & Davidson, the lawyers, and Metcalfe Larken.
Most of these men appear to have had money invested in Johor.
Larken represented one group of Europeans whom Abu Bakar was
trying very hard to encourage; he was a planter.™

Abu Bakar was aware that the state had overspecialized in
pepper and gambier. He was, no doubt, also conscious of his
economic dependence on the Kongkek and the Opium Syndicate.
The introduction of European planters in the 1880s was an attempt
to diversify the state’s agriculture. It was also a move designed to
end the state’s di d on the Chi y of
gambier and one which would introduce more capital into Johor.

In the 1870s, many European coffec planters left Ceylon after
the failure of the agriculture there." One of these planters, Thomas
Heslop Hill, visited Johor in 1878. In 1879, he wrote a glowing

=

Metcalfe Larken was a prominent figure in Johor in the 1880s. He owned the
Castlewood Estate located near Tebrau and also built the road in Johor Baharu
which today bears his name.

19. Jackson, Planters and Speculators. p. 177. “In 1869 the fungus Hemileia
vastatrix appeared on the coffee estates of Ceylon; it spread rapidly, causing
considerable devastation, and within a matter of twenty years had destroyed
the Ceylon coffee industry.™
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report of the potentialities of Johor for the planting of tea and
coffee.™

He climbed a number of hills in south Johor and pronounced
them suitable for the cultivation of tea, coffee, and cocoa. Among
the sites he observed were Gunong Pulai, Gunong Panti, Gunong
Blumit, and Gunong Muntaha. He also noted the government's
cagerness to encourage planting enterprises: “The Maharaja is so
well known to be favourably disposed to those about to open up the
Country that the natives would in no way be inimical, were they so
disposed, which they do not appear to be.” He went on to stress
that the state was peaceful and there were relatively few Malays, but
the government's orders were received everywhere with respect.
Regarding communications in Johor, he noted that in addition to
the many rivers there was a road from Johor Baharu to *“*Chukang”
(probably Tan Chukang, or Tebrau) which was nine miles long.

His remarks on the population included rather detailed
information on the labour force. Chinese could be hired for twenty
cents per day, Javanese for cighteen cents and Tamils for sixteen to
twenty cents. Malays could also be employed on contract for house-
building and felling and clearing. The latter cost $8.00 per acre. He
also announced a special land policy, especially for European
planters. Applications for land leases were handled by Paterson &
Simons in Singay Lease were ilable for blocks of 1,000
acres with separate contiguous blocks of at least 300 acres. Terms of
these leases were for ninety-nine years. His report appears to have
given positive encouragement to Ceylon planters and the Straits
Daily Times reported, the week after Hill's report was published,
that a number of planters from Ceylon had arrived in Singapore in
May 1879 and had gone to Johor.™

The SSD for 1881 reports that ten plantations had been
established. These were located in the places which Hill had
described in his report — Panti, Pulai, Sekudai, and Batu Pahat.®
By 1885, this nucleus of planters had grown considerably.
“European pioncers have, in the last few years, made some
cxperiments in planting, on a large scale, sago, tobacco, coffee, tea,

20 Thomas Heslop Hill, “"Report on Johore”, Pamphict (Singapore, 1879), p. 22.
This was also published in the Straits Daily Times in serial form; SDT, 6,9, 23,
and 24 May 1879.

21 SDT. 13 May 1879,

2. SSD 1881, p. 101,
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and cocoa. These have grown in six different districts — Batu
Pahat, Pulau Kokob, Pulei, Panti, Johor Bahru, and Pangerang;
but none of them have yet been planted long enough to be
considered established industries.””

The Directory for 1885 noted that European planters had
opened cighty-five plantations and held leases on 44,052 acres.
Most of this, however, was only on paper. Only-2,727 acres were
reported as actually being under cultivation.*

This early move by European planters to begin estates in Johor
was short-lived and soon failed. By 1890, these plantations were no
longer listed in the Directory. Problems included a decline in coffee
prices in the mid-1880s, discase, communications difficultics, and
labour shortages. In other states of Malaya, coffee planting
experienced a boom in the carly 1890s, but this was too late to help
Johor.* In 1895, the Singapore Free Press reported: “Some twenty
years ago Sultan Abu Bakar took a vast deal of interest, and spent a
good sum of money, in promoting European planting, and it was
hoped that great things would come of coffee planting. The
cxpenditure was futile, for the enterprise turned out to be
unproductive."*

No definite statement beyond Jackson's general remarks can
be made as to why the European plantations in Johor failed. It
appears that labour was the most significant problem. Most of
these planters were from Ceylon and thus preferred to employ
Tamils. While there were obviously some Tamils in Johor at the
time, they do not seem to have been very numerous. According to
the census report of 1911, the first systematic survey of the state’s
population, there were only 5,600 Indians in Johor.”” This shortage
of Indians was probably why Metcalfe Larken, in opening his estate
at Castlewood, near Tebrau, brought in Javanese and Hainanese
labourers.™

23. SSD 1885, p. 166.

24. Ibid., pp. 176-77.

25. Jackson, Planters and Speculators, pp. 188-89. “Slavery was abolished in
Brazil in 1888, temporarily dislocating the coffee industry in the world's major
producing centre. Prices began to rise and reached a peak of over $40 per pikl
in 1894 and 1895."

26 SFP. 11 Junc 1895.

27, Elcum, Johore in 1911, p. 1.

28. lnterview with Mr. Wee Chee Ming, Local Commissioner of Tebrau, 7
February 1971.
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The labour problem was one aspect of what was in fact, a deep-
scated conflict between two very different economic systems. Johor
was a pepper and gambier state. Despite anything the ruler could
have done to encourage European planters, he still had to attend to
the needs and requirements of the Chinese. The organization of the
gambier agriculture was the antithesis of everything that Europeans
demanded.

The European system of estatc management, then as now,
placed heavy emphasis on long-term capital investment. The
capitalist owned the property and labourers were hired on contract
and given a fixed wage. The management of planting was
centralized and directed from the top. Profits were derived from the
ditference between overhead and sales of the produce.

The contrast to the Chinese system was striking. The most
significant difference was the fact that all the planters were
independent. The capitalists did not own the estates. Here control
was exercised through the debt structure. Planters were given a
grub-stake and were treated as entreprencurs. They were free to
manage their estates as they saw fit, and were only directed by the
Kangchu, who was neither the owner nor the manager but the
revenue farmer. Real profits came not only from produce but also
from the interest on loans and from the sale of taxable commodities
such as opium and spirits. In theory, it was possible for every
planter to become successful and independent, and this illusion was
perhaps the real strength of the system. In practice, the pyramid of
control brought large profits to the raukehs and the revenue
farmers, and the planters were left with almost nothing.

The nature of the system also prevented the Chinese from
trying other agricultural crops. Jackson noted that coffee planting
was not taken up by the Chinese at this time: **A final point worthy
of note is the very limited interest shown by the Chinese in coffee
planting. Apart from nutmegs and cloves, this was the first type of
plantation agriculture to appear in Malaya that did not owe much
of its early development to Chinese enterprise. One reason for this
situation is the fact that Chinese planters were already involved in
the cultivation of several other remunerative crops.”

In addition, coffee required a long-term investment. Capitalists
could not expect returns until the fifth year. The whole style of
Chinese business in nineteenth-century Malaya was strictly limited
to short-term, quick-return investments. For the Chinese, interest
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rates were very high, thus they preferred to seek profits in fast-
producing crops which could be easily replanted. These included
tapioca, gambier, and sugar, which were “better suited to the
requirements and methods of financing” practised by Chinese at
this time.*

The basic economic and political systems of all the Malay
states had not altered significantly by the 1880s. Indeed, there was
to be no major alteration in this arca until the 1890s and the
introduction of large-scale European enterprise. Until that time, the
exploitation of the resources of the Malay Peninsula was in the
hands of Asians. It was only Asians who controlled the media
necessary for organizing plantation agriculture and mining at that
time. The media through which power was exercised were
inaccessible to Europeans except through Asian intermediaries.
Thus, until the 1890s, all European enterprise was largely of a
commercial or tertiary nature. Primary and secondary production
was strictly controlled by Asians who monopolized the only lines of
communication to the labour force. These included languages
which the Europeans did not understand and systems of loyalty
that Europeans could not penetrate. It was not until European
technology had progressed to a point where traditional systems had
become largely irrelevant that Europeans could themselves begin
directly to exploit the resources of the Peninsula.

The incompatibility of the European and Chinese systems of
commercial agriculture could have been overcome if it had been
possible for the Europeans to bring in their own labour force, the
Tamils. This would have freed them from the need to rely on
Chinese workers and on the opium farmers and coolie brokers.
However, the Straits government threw obstacles in the way here.
Unlike the Chinese, the Tamils emigrated from a British territory;
thus their entry to Malaya was more strictly controlled than that of
the Chinese. In 1882, the Straits government demanded that Johor
permit the Governor of the Straits Settlements to appoint a
European official as the Protector of Indian Immigrants.® This
move appears to have stopped Indian immigration to Johor. After
this time, the only Malay state which was allowed to bring in
Indians was Perak. It was not until 1890 that the Johor government
29. Jackson, Planters and Speculators, p. 186.

30.. British Parliamentary Papers, C~3458, No. 6, Kimberlcy to Weld, 31 August
1882, p. 40.
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appointed Howard Bentley, one of Abu Bakar's officials, to this
post.”” But, by this time, the planting had already begun to die out.

Abu Bukar's attempts to free himself of the constricting effects
of the Chinese and, it appears, of Singaporc as well were not
restricted to new ventures in agriculture alone. In the years between
1878 and 1882, he also tried to organize Iarge scal: mves(mcnl
projects which, although seriously p P
of the state, would hnvc placed control of the economy in Europe,
rather than Singapore. Two of these so-called charter schemes have
been described by Keith Sinclair.

The first was a concession which was granted to Johannes
Mooyer of Great Winchester St., London. This charter amounted
to a virtual monopoly over Johor's economy for ninety-nine years,
It allowed Mooyer's company the right to act as sole agents for the
state in terms of banking, mercantile activities, planting, mining,
and to be the sole proprictors of railway, bridge, and ferry
companies, The firm would have been exempt from taxes, have
preferential rights on all public works contracts, and also have the
right to issue notes and to hold the government bank account. It
also had the sole right to loan money to the government at six per
cent on temporary loans as well as the right to loan to planters. It
also gave the company the rights to 100,000 acres for its own
plantations. All other such charters were forbidden. The company
was to be capitalized at £500,000, only ten per cent of which had to
be paid up.”

This scheme not only caused concern in Singapore but also in
the Colonial Office in London. Sinclair points out that the Colonial
Office, fully expecting at some future date to take over Johor, could
see no benefit in allowing a private firm to acquire such sweeping
rights. These would only have to be bought out or otherwise
compensated once full control was established. Thus, pressures
were brought to bear on Abu Bakar and he was forced to disavow
the scheme in the same year.

Not to be di: however, he pted the same thing
again a few years later. This time he took the precaution of
including powerful Singapore interests in the combination. The

3. SSTP. Nos. 12, 15, and 16, all dated 27 February 1890,

32, Keith Sinclair, “Hobson and Lenin in Johare: Colonial Office Policy towards
British Concessionaires and Investors 1878~ 1907, Modern Asian Studies, v. 1,
Pl 4 (1967), p. 339.
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second charter scheme, launched in 1881, was called the Malay
Peninsular  Agency Ltd. and was promoted by Rodyk and
Davidson, the Singapore legal firm which had advised Abu Bakar
and Ibrahim for many years. This company was to have all of the
rights initially given to the Mooyer company plus sole rights to all
mineral leases and a total monopoly on the bank issue. It was
initially advertised as being capitalized at £1,000,000, of which
£300,000 had to be paid up. This was later reduced to a capital of
only £300,000, with £50,000 paid up. The chairman was to be
Charles Clifford, Governor Weld's cousin.”

The failure of these charter schemes and of the European
plantations were not only set-backs for the ruler’s attempts to
diversify and expand the Johor economy but they further clouded
relations between the ruler and the European community of
Singapore. From the late 1880s on, there were continual complaints
about the Sultan’s personal extravagance and his lack of attention
to the development of Johor.*

In response, the Sultan took to publicity. A regular column
was published in the Singapore Free Press entitled “Johore™ which
carried a selection of chatty incidents and glowing descriptions of
development in the state. One such column described the
rescttlement programme which had been launched in Kesang. The
area had been depopulated in the 1870s while various factions
fought over Muar.

Now, however, that the country is under the prosperous rule

of the Maharaja of Johore, the people are rapidly returning.

Over one hundred families have now resumed their former

i and with the N ja's sub i i in

the shape of money and buffaloes, this abandoned district is

beginning to look quite prosperous and cheerful once again.

As an cncouragement to families to return to their former

homes, 1 hear the Johore government have informed the
people that there will be no taxes levied on their crops....”*

Another side of Abu Bakar's publicity campaign was his

foreign travels and local entertainments. Following his trip to

London in 1866, Abu Bakar began to make regular excursions

33, Ibid., pp. 339-40,
3. Thio, British Policy, p. 223.
35. SFP. 11 April 1885.




200 PRINCE OF PIRATES

abroad, where he began to associate with European royalty.
Winstedt reports that he visited Calcutta in 1875 to meet the Prince
of Wales. In 1878, he was in London again, making plans for a
continental tour to ltaly, Paris, and Vienna. In the early 1880s, he
made the circuit of East and Southeast Asia, stopping at Java,
Hongkong, China, and Japan. Winstedt writes, **For her Jubilee in
1887, he had presented Queen Victoria with a silver model of the
Albert Memorial, which she treasured at Windsor."*

These activities were all very expensive. In 1889-90, he again
travelled to Europe and was lavishly received in Cairo, Athens,
Constantinople, and Vienna. “Flattered by all this attention, Abu
Bakar was led to ‘cut a great dash’ involving heavy expenditure
which Johore could not afford since the state had yet to pay off a
debt of about $100,000 incurred by the Sultan on his previous trip.
The governor therefore reported privately to the Secretary of State
that the Sultan's personal extravagance ‘seriously retarded’ the
development of Johore proper.”™”

The criticisms of Abu Bakar's ambitions, of his extravagance,
and of his “neglect™ of Johor's “‘progress” failed to bring any
positive action by the Colonial Office at this time. The ruler had
played his cards quite well. But, doxically, these three probl,

— ambition, extravagance, and neglect — were linked. He had
taken his one resource, an empty picce of land, and allowed the
Chinese to fill it up and produce revenue from it. His
“administration” did little more than manage the revenue. This
income provided him with the funds to go on jaunts around the
world and *“cut a great dash”, but not much more. It would,
however, be short-sighted to judge these expenditures as no more
than personal gratification on Abu Bakar's part. Rather, they may
also be secen as a well publicity ign to gain
recognition and status beyond the limited world of Singapore. Abu
Bakar, and his father before him, had dcpendcd on cordml personnl
lati with the p hold: who ul
Johor's fate. Ibrahim had concentrated on the merchanls and
governors of the Straits Scttlements. Abu Bakar pushed beyond this
to England and Europe. He gained a congenial entry into the
European aristocracy. It is true that his vast expenditures for trips

36 Winstedt, “A History of Johore™, p. 119.
37. Thio. British Policy. p. 223
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to Europe, for the building and outfitting of lavishly appointed
palaces at Johor Baharu, Tyresall in Singapore, and at Muar, and
for his frequent and bountiful entertainments put a severe drain on
the shrinking resources of the state. However, it was just this sort of
thing that kept Johor independent during these years. The
Governors of Singapore were perhaps right in calling attention to
his extravagance. When he died, the state was some £200,000 in
debt and even the members of the Johore Advisory Board in
London felt that the state would soon be taken over.”

Abu Bakar must have been aware of this dilemma. With the
failure of European development schemes in Johor and the gradual
decline of gambier cultivation, he appears to have accepted that
there was little he could do to bolster the state's economy. He did
have an ample supply of cash and apparently very good credit, but
he saw no way of investing it in the material resources of the state.
Thus, the diplomatic effort. In addition to this, he also invested in
the state’s human resources and began training an elite to take over
from him. The archetype of the new Malay clite was Enche Abdul
Rahman bin Andak, the Sultan’s personal secretary in his last
years. He was also given the title of Dato Sri Amar di Raja, made
Secretary to the Johor Government, and sat on the State Council.
“Abdul Rahman, a nephew of the Sultan, was ‘a very clever’
English-educated Malay who became the Sultan’s private
secretary.... Cecil Smith suspected that it was Abdul Rahman who
drafted the Sultan of Johore's replies to communications from the
Singapore authorities,""

While he was the most well known, perhaps most notorious, as
far as the Straits government was concerned, there was a whole
group of English-educated Malays now coming to maturity in
Johor. When Florence Caddy visited Johor in 1889, she met two of
the Sultan's nephews, both of whom were English-educated. One
was a surveyor and the other an engineer. “The Sultan kept his
nephews waiting at a distance in their launch till the Duke came on
board the Pantie, when he called them alongside and on board and
introduced them. Mr. Swan, who understands Malay, told us he

38, Ibid., p. 228.
9. Ibid,, p. 225.
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said to them quite sharply, ‘Now mind you talk to these English
people; if you can’t talk sense, talk nonsense, only talk plenty.’ "
Judging, however, from the training of his successor, Abu
Bekar's aim was not so much producing English-educated Malays
but Malays who were capable of conducting themselves like English
gentlemen.
Sultan Ibrahim, a young man of twenty-two, had little
administrative experience when he ascended the throne. After
a very brief period of schooling, he joined the Johore Military
Forces and on being commissioned as Second Lieutenant,
became his father's aide-de-camp. He paid the first of many
subsequent visits to Europe before he was seventeen because
his father wanted to introduce him to European royalty.
Proclaimed Crown Prince in 1891, he was given only routine
duties. He worked off his energies on the sports field
apparently, rather than in preparation for the throne.”

Given that Abu Bakar was well aware that Johor would be
taken over by the British soon after his death, one wonders whether
Ibrahim did not have everything he needed to know when his father
died. The state already possessed a corps of loyal and capable
officials. With the British take-over seen as inevitable, a ruler who
was also a capable administrator would have been quickly put out
of a job. What was needed, in Abu Bakar's estimation, was not an
administrator but a respectable figure-head who could uphold the
dignity of the office of Sultan and who knew the kind of people a
sovereign ought to know.

The resurgence of the state's economy could not come until the
British took over in Johor. Writing in 1937, Rupert Emerson could
say that Johor had been bypassed by large-scale development until
relatively late. He noted that although gambier and pepper
cultivation had “achieved some proportions"”, planting in Johor
was relatively unsuccessful until the twenticth century.

European planters did not take an interest in Johor until after
1909. This waited on a number of developments. Among these were

40.  Mrs. Florence Caddy, To Siam and Malaya in the Duke of Sutherland's Yacht
“San Peur”, Chs. 10 and 11 (London, 1889), pp. 231 - 60, 261~ 79. These two
chapters are devoted to the ten days, 4~ 14 March 1888, which the ducal party
spent as the guests of Sultan Abu Bakar.

41, Thio, British Policy, p. 227
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the appointment of a British Advisor to Johor in 1910 and the
completion of the railroad crossing the state from the Federation to
Singapore. The major crop of this period was of course rubber,
which did not get underway until the late 1890s. At that time,
European attention turned first towards the Malayan states which
were already under British protection. Johor had to wait until
available land in the Federated States was appropriated before
rubber planters began to look clsewhere.*

The slippage which had taken place in Johor's economic
position was an inevitable product of the gambier and opium
cconomy of the Kangchu system. Another factor was the rapid
development now taking place in the Malay states which had
recently been brought under British protection. By 1890, large
numbers of gambier planters were settling in Selangor, Negri
Sembilan, and Malacca. The decline of the tax-farming system in
the British settlements, which also occurred in the 1890s, had
serious repercussions for the individuals who had financed the
Johor economy. The opium and gambier regime was dying. The
road to prosperity in Johor lay in new directions and, at the time,
no one was certain what these were. The fact that the state's entire
administrative system had been structured around the Kangchu
system appears to have limited the options of Johor's rulers. In
addition, the blocks which the Colonial Office placed in the way of
Abu Bakar's grandiose devel ies also
European investments.

The state was going through a traumatic change whose
magnitude was only matched by the one which had taken place in
the period 1825-50. During the carlier period, Temenggong
Ibrahim had ended his dependence on the orang laut and had
shifted his base of power to the Chinese. Had Abu Bakar been
twenly years younger in 1885, perhaps he would have expended
more energy and creativity in making this second transition, from
the Chinese to Europeans. Thus lacking viable alternatives for the
development of the state, he chose to employ his resources in the
work of building up his personal prestige at the cost of everything
else.

It is important to ber that the T were not
accorded very high status by the other ruling families of the
Peninsula. Even though the Johor rulers were wealthier and more

42, Emerson. Malaysia, pp. 213~ 14
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influential during this period, other Malays regularly called
attention to their supposedly meaner origins. The Hikayat Johor
Serta Pahang has preserved a Kampong Gelam pantun commenting
on Abu Bakar's clevation to the rank of Sultan:

The gaudy lantern is bound in rattan

Humble kemuning wood holds the kris.

The Temenggong has become a Sultan

Through his royal forcbears the Bugis.*

In the face of this disdain, Abu Bakar’s ambitions exceeded the
Sultanate which he gained. There is undoubtedly some truth in
Gullick's conclusion that he sought to make himself the Sultan of
most of Malaya. The British, of course, had never seen the need for
such a ruler; so in 1885 they acknowledged the sentiments of the
other chiefs and served their own interests by qualifying Abu
Bakar's title and made him only Sultan of the **State and Territory™
of Johor. Denied the worlds he had meant to conquer in Malaya,
Abu Bakar sought status among European royalty, built palaces,
bought steamboats and other “baubles™, and “laid a fine table™.

In 1885, personal independence meant a great deal more to
him than it did to the rulers of the other states. In Perak, Selangor,
and Negri Sembilan, British intervention increased the power of the
rulers and acted to downgrade the regional chiefs. In Johor, the
situation had been quite different. There were no regional chiefs
whose power challenged that of the ruler. The Temenggongs had
bccn autocrats from the beginning und the Mn|ay side of the state’s

ion was, by d: , highly li

The acceptance of a British R:sld:nl in Johor at that time would
have meant the loss of the very things on which the ruler based his
somewhat questionable prestige — his personal wealth, his freedom
of movement, and his ability to accumulate what he considered to
be the appurtenances of kingly power. This pursuit of prestige,
independence, and the forms of power came to characterize the
policies of the state’s rulers for the next twenty-five years.

From a humanitarian point of view and from a practical
cconomic standpoint, this policy did very little to benefit the state
or its subjects. The economy deteriorated, the investors lost money,
and the state went into debt while the ruler used Johor's wealth and

43, Hikayat Johor Serta Pahang. p. 10. Tanglong simpai rotan/ Kemuning sampir
kris/ Temenggong menjodi Sultan/ Asal-nya dari Raja Bugis
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whatever he could borrow to buy friends in London and in Europe.
Abu Bakar’s activity perhaps best reflects the mentality of the
maritime chiefs who were his ancestors. As port and sea chicfs, they
saw the land as a place from which one gained wealth, not as a place
in which one invested resources. The business of governing a picce
of land was not the proper occupation of a true maritime ruler. Abu
Bakar, and to a large extent his son after him, continued to see
Singapore and the world beyond it as their appropriate sphere of
activity.

This attitude is best shown by the fact that the aims of the
Malay administration in Johor were highly limited. Revenue
management appeared to be the major preoccupation. The day-to-
day administration of the population and of the state’s economic
life was in the hands of the Chinese. According to the sociological
study done by F. Lees, the result of the Kangchu system was that
*Chinese colonies had been established in an area where previously
only a few aboriginies had lived. They were completely Chinese in
nature, the culture of the inhabitants being modified only to suit the
needs of colonization of a tropical climate. Hardly any of the
settlers learned to speak Malay and the sole contact with the Malay
Government of Johore was through the Kang Chue."*

Thus the Malay administration did nothing to integrate this
alien population. If we are to assign responsibility for the
communal split in modern Malayan society, it seems logical to
conclude that it was created by traditional rulers operating
according to the priorities of the ancient maritime political system.
It has been common for Malays and some British historians to fix
the blame for the Chinese presence with the colonial power. If we
can learn one thing from the history of Johor, it is that the Malay
rulers themselves, in their pursuit of power, were largely responsible
for this situation.

The British contribution here was that they left the Malay
rulers no alternative. They had displaced the traditional rulers by
taking over the entrepot. Their elimination of the orang laut and the
maritime peoples who had once formed the military and
administrative infrastructure of the traditional state left the Malay
chiefs without a subject class. This situation was most acute for
Johor's rulers, the Temenggongs, whose entire “state” had once
been maritime. The Malay rulers were driven from the seas and

44, F. Lees, "Chinese Settlement”, pp. 28283,
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driven from the port and left only with the hostile and unfamiliar
environment of lhc Iand Thus, the Malay rulers turned to the
Chinese whose i bers and adaptabls hnols

made them the first human beings to conquer the Malayan
rainforest. It was only by using these resources and by making the
compromises required by the situation that the Johor Malays
managed to survive the radical changes that had overtaken them.




8
The Transformation of the
Maritime Polity

The aim of this study has been to identify and explore the
dimensions of change in the traditional Malay state system during
the nineteenth century. Until 1800 or so, the Malay political system
had been characterized by the division between land and sea
peoples, by the depend on sea-borne icati and by
the strategic location of the port and the power of the Johor ruler. It
is a fundamental conclusion of this study that this political
structure had not been destroyed by the century of British
occupation before 1885. It had actually been taken over by the
colonial power.

The British take-over in the Malay world was in fact a process
of substitution, at least in its initial stages. When Raffles founded
Singapore, he restored the maritime empire, but this time it was
under the auspices of the British East India Company. By taking
over the entrepot and at the same time by assisting in the

limination of the Sull the British th became the
focal point of the Malayan political system. When the British forces
collided with the fabric of the ongoing Malayan state system, their
power tended to flow through previously established channels and
to express itself in traditionalistic patterns. In 1885, the power
structure of British Malaya bore a striking resemblance to old
Johor. Territorially, the size of the state had shrunk because
" Singapore had no political authority in the Dutch possessions, but
the port’s economic network, regardless of political authority
boundarics, came very close to duplicating the traditional one. The
major differences were that the Malays had been completely ousted
from the port and driven from the seas, and that a vast number of
Chinese had moved into the area.

On this point the writer parts company with the prevailing
trend in Malayan hi: phy. It is I d, at least
implicitly, that the British built a new state on the long-dead ruins
of old Johor. While a full-scale critique of this school of thought is

207
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out of place here, this study has dealt extensively with two of the
relevant problems — piracy and slavery. The historians of British
Malaya since Frank Swettenham have filled their books with the
intentions and policics of a small group of men who rarely left
Singapore. They exhibit a tendency to ignore, or at least
inadequately explain, the vast gap that generally existed between
stated policies and ultimate results. On the other hand, they tend to
treat the Malay political system as an obstacle in the way of
progress rather than what it appears here to have been: a
communications system which in fact made most of their progress
possible.

The anti-pi ign was | hed in the name of free
trade and pcar:cful commerce. Ultimately these aims were in fact
achieved. When the archipelago trade came to be carried only in
square-rigged ships owned by British, Chinese, and Arab
merchants, there was free trade. When British men-of-war and
steam gunboats had swept the seas clean of pirates and razed their
bases, there was peaceful commerce. For the Malays it was the
peace of oblivion, as the English solution was to wipe out native
commerce altogether. Control of the scas was one of the first steps
in the traditional state-building cycle. Of course, the Malay empires
had uchnev:d this by uml’)mg the sea peoples; the British did it by

ing them and sub ing their own naval and merchant

forces.

An integral part of the anti-piracy campaign was the
climination of slavery. The pirates had been the major slave traders
and generally sold the victims of their raids. Raffles had objected to
this and slavery and slave-trading were forbidden at Singapore. It is
probable that most Malay empires in the past had been built on an
enslaved population. Singapore likewise needed a population which
could be similarly exploited. Singapore’s economy was supported
by the production and ion of several hund h
Chmcsc coolies who were locked in a perpetual cycle of

debted and opium addicti Many of these resided in
Singapore but the vast majority lived and worked in Johor, Riau,
Sumatra, and other nearby settlements. Personal slavery had ended
only to be replaced by a system of servitude which was probably far
more destructive than old-style slavery had ever been. In the past,
people were felt to be responsible for the welfare of their slaves, but
no one cared for the coolies. The elimination of piracy brought an
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additional benefit to Singapore since it meant that the coolie ships
from China could reach the port unmolested. Thus, the labour
supply was pi and lized by Si which then
became the major coolie market of the region.

In the final analysis, the British followed the traditional
scenario for conquering the area, and by 1885 appear to have
controlled it very much on the same basis as had former Johor
rulers. In 1819, Raffles seized the most strategic location in the
region. His successors built up the port and grew wealthy. Next
they took over the seas and enslaved an agricultural population.
Then they followed the trade routes and reestablished the

ditional ic depend of the riverine principalities,
Finally, they d the traditi power ion of the
old maritime state. They took on the legitimizing and arbitrating
functions of the former Sultan. In 1885, British Malaya was a
maritime state ruled largely from the market-place and the deck of
a ship. This had often been the casc before, but this time the
difference was in the size of the market, the kind of ship, and in the
ultimate loyalties of the men who controlled them.

The proof offered for this viewpoint is the history of the
Temenggongs. Their story tells us what it was like to be colonized —
to see onc's institutions scized by another more powerful agency
and then turned against oneself. The Temenggongs' unique
relationship with the Singapore government was one of the primary
mechanisms by which the British were assimilated into the Malayan
state system. These chiefs must be treated as the partners of the
British. It was the T gs who led the Europ to the well-
springs of power in the Malayan state system and acted as their
guides through the tangled web of Malay politics. While the
Temenggongs were, in every event, secking power for themselves,
they did not at first ive of a signi distinction between
their own interests and those of the port. As port officials from the
very start, they acted consistently as agents of the port in regard to
the surrounding territories. The ultimate effect of their activities
was to spread the power of Singapore and conversely to weaken the
autonomy of the riverine states. The paradox was that, as the
Temenggongs led the British from prize to prize, they found
h 1 ively disp by the E

The dispossession began with Raffles' occupation of
Singapore, the most strategic base, which Temenggong Abdul
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Rahman already controlled with his own navy. The establishment
of the Company's factory was, the first appropriation. When it
became clear that the entrepot possessed manifold economic
resources, the Temenggong claimed the most lucrative of these for
himself. This state of affairs was found to be highly “inconvenient
and embarrassing”. So the British took over the tax farms
themselves and forbade the Temenggong from taxing the native and
the Chinese traders. Full control of the entire island was claimed in
1824. They felt forced to do this because the Temenggong would
have laid and was in fact laying claim to whatever privileges and

i lies that the Europeans did not specifically claim
for themselves or otherwise forbid to him. Theoretically,
Crawfurd’s move then made it possible for the British to govern the
port and its trade without reference to the native authorities. This
was a serious mistake in the short run, and perhaps in the very long
run too. It caused immediate trouble because this legal take-over
was not backed up by adequate material resources. They had bitten
off more than they could chew. The British suddenly found
themselves alone in a sea of very angry Malays. For the next
decade, the unhappy ghost of Temenggong Abdul Rahman lurked
in the swamps and shoals and took vengeance on Singapore.

Between 1825 and 1836, the Straits authorities faced a sporadic
and fitful guerrilla-style war waged by small men in small boats —
mostly against each other, A Malay civil war was actually taking
place — or so it would scem. More research needs to be done on
this period. This conclusion is suggested by Tarling's evidence,
which shows that after a decade of “piracy”, Bonham decided that
the British could not handle the situation on their own. His solution
was Lo accept Daing Ibrahim's offer to assist in ameliorating the
“pirates”. This constituted intervention because it automatically
gave the T tacit ition as the “poli " of
Singapore. This was the first in a remarkable serics of diplomatic
coups which mark the career of Temenggong Ibrahim.

It was he who led the British on their next steps towards
involvement in Malay politics. After 1836-37, he appears to have
brought about some lessening of “piracy”. He negotiated with
Pahang on the Company's behalf and formed alliances with Riau
and perhaps Sclangor. These moves paved the way for economic
penetration by the agents of the port — Chinese and British
merchants. The Temenggong also dragged the Europeans into his
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long, desultory campaign against the successors of Sultan Hussain.
But if the Temenggongs sought to replace the Sultan, they were
doomed to disappointment. It was the English themselves who fell
heir 1o the authority once exercised by the Sultanate. The
Temenggongs had to be content with the title to Johor — the jungle
and swamp at Singapore's back door.

The foundation of Johor was, in the first instance, a purely
Chinese undertaking. The state’s agriculture was established by
pepper and gambier planters who had been crowded out of
Singapore. It is one of the paradoxes of Malayan history that, as the
British built their government on the foundation of the Malay
maritime state, the ousted Malay rulers of Johor built their state on
the foundation of a Chinese ic system. The ition from
the sea to the land, and from the port to the hinterland, was not an
easy onc for the Temenggongs. Unlike many other Malay chiefs,
they really had no government on the land before the 1840s. The
Temenggongs had always been port officials or sea chiefs. The true
innovators in the Malay world at this time were the Chinese.

With very little reference to cither Malays or Europeans, the
Chinese had set up their own economy based on planting, tin
mining, and opium taxing. The foundations of this economic
establishment can be traced back to the mid-cighteenth century.
The beginnings of an indigenous yet purely Chinese economy date
from the fall of Riau. By the mid-nineteenth century, the gambier
taukehs and the opium farmers of Singapore had come to control
a vast system of plantation agriculturc held together by a
combination of debt slavery, secret society terror, and opium
addiction. These men financed the Temenggong's state in Johor
from the very outset.

The Temenggong's government in Johor came to be a blend of
three el At the f ion was the Chi domi

system of agricultural settlements under the Kangchu. Built on
these was the system of surar sungai which, while it was derived
from a traditional-style kuasa, or letter of authority to a pengulu,
also owed much to the Temenggong's British lawyers. By the 1870s,
the Malay in which these documents were written was full of direct
borrowings from English legalese. Despite the webbing of paper
being woven around them, the Temenggongs followed traditional
institutional models for the control of forcign communities and
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appointed a Kapitan to govern the Kangchu. This individual in the
first instance was the secret society chieftain, Tan Kee Soon.

The cap-stone of the Johor government was the following of
the ruler. The small group of kin and associates from Teluk Belanga
became the managers of the Chinese agricultural and tax-farming
system. This group developed into the State Council and eventually
grew into the Malay administration. Individuals such as Ungku
Abdul Rahman and Abdul Majid, Dato Mohamad Sallch bin
Perang, Dato Mohamad Ibrahim bin Munshi Abdullah, and Dato
Mentri Ja'afar bin Haji Mohamad managed day-to-day relations
with the Chinese. Their primary function seems to have been the
issuing of revenue farms and, beyond that, laying down the ground
rules within which the Chinese were to operate. In establishing
relations with the Chinese on a systematic basis, they laid the
foundation I'or the paucms of political and economic domlnauon
which to the p t-day Fed of
Malaysia.

The key to understanding the nature of the Temenggong's
comrol oI‘Johor is to be l‘uund in the position which he held as an

i of the Singap ROV As the chief
pirate supprmr. his authority was first established in Singapore's
off-shore waters. From here it was a natural step to begin policing
the coast of neighbouring Johor. The spread of the gambier
cultivation from Singapore to Johor is seen as a mere extension of
the port. As the policeman of Singapore's frontier zone, the
Temenggong came to control this agriculture. The statements in the
carliest surat sungai, that the Kangchu was subject to the same laws
as those laid down by the Company in Singapore, add weight to this
argument. It was not until Temenggong Ibrahim died that any
attempt was made to resolve the ambiguities and anomalies in the
status of the Temenggong and of Johor.

The early 1860s were another watershed period. The treaty of
1855 had given the Temenggong full control of Johor. However, no
move was made Lo establish an effective government there, let alone
attempt to separate the state from Singapore, until Abu Bakar
succeeded his father. Abu Bakar appears to have taken the initiative
here and decided that the time for ambiguities had ended. Taking
the offensive in the Pahang civil war, he sought to translate
Ibrahim’s intermediary role into one of outright hegemony. His
failure here appears to have resolved the question of Johor's
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military domination of the Peninsula once and for all, From this
time until 1885, he retained the intermediary status and continued
to make his influence felt on the Peninsula as an agent of the
entrepot, but his dreams of empire were checked.

Whether or not the Temenggong's policies regarding the
gambier traffic can be construed as an aggressive act, or as a
reaction to the current cconomic crisis, may remain a matter of
dispute. The Tanjong Putri controversy demonstrated a few more
realities of the Temenggong's position. The first was that the
Johor/Singap y was indivisible. The second was that the
Temenggong would be allowed no economic preserves inside the
port. Abu Bakar could only claim Johor revenues and not a portion
of Singapore revenues as both his father and grandfather had done.
The Temenggong had retreated another step and the British had
taken over what he left behind.

If these were sel-backs for Abu Bakar's grand design, he
certainly found ways of compensating for them. He became the first
internationally recognized Malay ruler. In his day, he was the only
Malay to hold such status. His connections with British and
European royalty opened a channel of communications which did
have an impact on British policy. He was the only Malay who,
despite years of “‘cooperation”, could face the colonial rulers on
their own ground. It may have had only symbolic significance, but
in the years after 1885 the best any Malay could offer the imperial
advance was token resistance. Sultan Abu Bakar reversed his
relationship with Singapore when he was forced out of his port
official status by Weld. He had been transformed, at long last, from
an agent of the port to one of the hinterland. He then assumed an
adversary stance towards the port and the colonial government.

Singapore has generally been treated by historians only in its
function as an entrepot. The fact that it possessed a rather broad
and sound agricultural base in the nincteenth century has been
virtually ignored. Naturally the gambier agriculture did not feed the
urban populace of the port — it simply provided onc of its exports,
and a relatively minor one at that. However, its status as an export
provides no accurate measure of the crop's significance. Its real
importance was in the number of people for which it provided a
living. This vast population of Chinese planters and coolies, living
not only on Singapore Island but also in Johor and the islands of
the Riau Archipelago and, by the 1890s, in Malacca, Negri
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Sembilan, and Perak, by their ption of cheap Europ:
manufactures and Indian opium, provided an important market for
English merchants and the East India Company. They likewise
provided the economic base for the newly emerging native states
and their ancient dynasties — particularly that of Johor. It is also
important to recognize that the revenues of the opium monopoly
provided the greatest share of Singapore's tax base, thus making it
possible to have a free port and still pay for the government. In no
year during the nineteenth century did the return from the opium
monopoly constitute less than sixty per cent of Singapore’s total
revenue.

Even these factors, however, pale to insignificance when one
considers the social, political, and economic structures which grew
up around the gambier agriculture. Starting in 1836, gambier
became one of the first major tropical crops cultivated
commercially to service the European industrial revolution. In
these days of rubber and plastic, it is easy to forget the role which
leather (the tanning of which gambier was destined to aid) once
played in the industrial mechanisms and the horse-drawn
transportation system of the period. Malaya's role as a producer of
primary crops to fuel the industrial west — its role as a dependent

dity prod — was well established long before the advent

of rubber and the expansion of tin production, both of which

occurred in the 1890s. Needless to say, this condition continues to
h ize the Malaysi; y even today.

Viewing the vastly more important role which rubber has come
to play in the international economy today, these remarks on
gambicr may seem to inflate its importance. However, it should be
understood that gambier, in almost every respect, was the pioncer
of the rubber economy. Not only did rubber replace much of the
leather, both in industry and in transportation, but it also replaced
the gambier crop. It took over the land, the labour force, and the
capital which had been accumulated as a result of the gambier
agriculture.

Locally, the gambier/opium economy provided the means
whereby a few Chinese in and around Singapore became very
wealthy. This not only gave them great social and political
infl but it bli ions of capital which made
future Chinese economic ventures feasible. Thus, the foundation of
the Chi domi Malaysi ic system was laid. The
vast population of coolies provided the i which the
taukehs dominated, first economically, then, as Lee Poh Ping has
shown, socially through the clan and other organizations, and
finally, after independence, politically.




THE TRANSFORMATION OF THE MARITIME POLITY 215

The T g ibution to tury Malaya
is still not clearly understood. This study has attempted to
demonstrate that a number of currently significant aspects of
modern Malaya resulted from the historical experience of the
Temenggongs. Johor was the first new model Malay state to emerge
in the colonial situation. The Temenggongs and Johor were the first
testing-ground for traditional institutions and the birth-place of
new ones. The British policy of indirect rule, which characterized
the colonial government in Malaya, seems to have been born out of
the rel hip with the T The same is true of the
bureaucratic nature of the new Malayan polity and such hallmarks
of modern Malaya as the Chinese problem, the ethnic division of
labour, and the Singapore/Malaysia split.

With the Temenggong's help, the British had recreated a state
shaped very much like the traditional maritime empire in 1885.
After this date, the Europeans introduced some important
innovations. Their technology now allowed them permanently to
alter the Malayan environment, This threw the traditional
ccosystem out of balance. They were thus able to move very quickly
from the coasts onto the land after 1885. This move brought the
forces of the port into direct command of the land — something
which had never happ before. This ion was effected by
the introduction of railroads, rubber trees, Indian labourers,
bicycles, motor-cars, good roads, and finally electricity. The entire
traditional aristocracy, which had always been military by
profession, was transformed into a bureaucracy. The Malayan
naval and military clite was gone by the turn of the century. It had
been swept away with the pirates, the Johor Sultanate, the native
maritime population and their culture — the old maritime world
had disappeared.

In its place stood the rather diverse collection of colonial
dependencies known as British Malaya. This, with minor
modifications, would ultimately gain independence as the
Federation of Malaysia. The two mainstays of the economy, rubber
and tin, and the emphasis on primary production were already well
established. Likewise fixed were the social and economic patterns
which characterize the state today. The changes of the post-war era
have simply permitted the indigenous economic elites which were
established in the nineteenth century to assume full political power.




Appendix A: Reports on Piracy

There are four more or less contemporary (1825-50) reports
on the “pirates” of the Riau-Lingga Archipelago. Most important
are the Tufhat (especially p. 296); Presgrave, “Report on Piracy";
and the report of the Dutch Resident of Riau, Angelbeek, dated 14
August 1825, quoted in J. R. Logan, “The Piracy and Slave Trade
of the Indian Archipelago™, Jid, v. 3 (1849), pp. 584-85, 634.
There is also a detailed list of the maritime peoples of the Riau-
Lingga Archipelago in Begbie, The Malayan Peninsula, pp.
270~72, which lists almost every “tribe" or suku of orang laut and
gives population figures.

Table 1 is the composite picture they give. Tufhat claims that
the islands of Buru and Karimon had been under the Temenggong
and also names Galang, Moro, Sugi and Pekaka as piratical (p.
296). Begbie's list indicates that Pekaka is the same as Bulang.
Presgrave reports that Galang, Moro, Sugi, and Trong were under
the Temenggong. Trong is not listed by Begbie, but the map in
Moor, Notices, pp. 268-69, shows a *'S. Trang™ on Batam Island
as well as a village. Perhaps this was the base of suku Trong which
Presgrave mentions. In addition to being pirates, he claims that
they collected agar-agar and sold it to the Temenggong for a fixed
price. Angelbeek, as quoted by Logan, (p. 634) claimed that the
Temenggong ruled a fleet ““consisting of 48 vessels and about 1,200
men, which had seven places of rendezvous, Galang, Timian, Pulo
Bocaya, Salat Singapura, Sughi, Pakako and Bollang™. Angelbeek
reported that the chicf of these islands was “the Raja Lang in the
island of Bulang, under whom are all the Rayats of Gallang, of
Bulang and some other islands situated at or near the entrance of
the straits of Malacca™.
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Appendix B. Comparative List of Kangchu and Surat
Sungai

The list on pp. 218-26 is intended to show that by 1874 a real
separation had come into being between the holder of the surar sungai (or
related authority, c.g. surat jual-beli and surat pajak) and the office of
Kangchu,

The left-hand columns contain the names of the Kangchu and his river
or district as given in the Singapore and Straits Directory for 1874,
*“Johore™, pp. S-6. They are given in the same order as presented in the
SSD. | have not altered the spelling given in the SSD. The rivers are listed
in geographical order from east to west following the Johor coastline.

The right-hand columns contain the information given for what I take
1o be the same river or district as based on the documents of the Johor
Archives. In most cases, the source is a surat sungai from the collection,
SKMK - 1. However, the most recent (before 1874) authority may also be a
surat jual-beli (SIB) or surat pajak (SPBS). The source and date is given at
the far right-hand side.

The name of the river is based on spelling given in the map “Johore”,
Survey Dept., Federation of Malaya, No. 178 - 1958. The name of the river
or district is given twice because of discrepancics in spelling and the
occasional use of different names for the same place.

The centre column on the right gives the names of the members of the
river-holding Kongsi as listed in the surat sungai or other authority. The (k)
beside a name in the Kongsi indicates that he was named Kangchu at the
time the document was issued. He may or may not be the Kangchu named
in the SSD list.

In cases where one of the members of the Kongsi appears to be
identical with the name given in the SSD as Kangchu, the name of that
Kongsi member is in Italics. It appears that out of the seventy-three
Kangchu named in the SSD only thirty or about forty-one per cent are
also named in a surat sungai or related authority. In the cases where they
are not, it is assumed that the Kangchu was not the “owner" of the river,
but was a deputy or manager hired by the Kongsi.



Directory 1874 (55D) Johor Archives Records (JAR)
Kangchu River River Kongsi Source
Eue Lye Tchue Sedeli Besar Sedili Besar Ngiu Lee Chew (k) SKMK -1 No. 100
Ngiu Chang Poh 5 Dec. 1873
Ngiu Chang Hee
Ngiu Chang Meng
Ungku Abdul Rahman
Ting Atong Tingar Tengar Ngiu Tee Soon SKMK -1 No. 85
Teng Ah Teng 16 Dec. 1863
Tchew Ah Tcheya Tanjong Balow Tanjong Balau Chua Ah Long (k) SKMK -1 No.97
(Tengar) 21 July 1873
Tchew Ah Heog Lee Pungai Punggai Soon Poo Yang SKMK -1 No.43
Chua Nam Seng 31 July 1863
Chua Ah Kui
Chu Ah Kau
Chua Ng Moo
Chua Ah Yong
Ban Yang Seng
Tchew Ah Tylee Ringat Renggit Chua Tee Lee SPBS No. |
SJuly 1873
Tchew Ah Esing Cussam Kesam Kechil and Chua Seng Huar? SKMK -1 No. 35
Besar 14 Sept. 1863
Tan Ah Thak Palawan Pelawan Tan Ah Ngok ? SJB No. 14
I Nov. 1872




Ang Ah Hee
Goh Ah Pick

Goh Hak

Goh Ah Sing

Eng Kik Kang

Eng Amang

Eng Kek Kum

Eoa Kim Cha

Eoa Yim Kwang
Eoa Chee Kor

EuAh Mee

Eu Ah Kubah

Joolootong

Santee

Rayah

Seening

Labuan

Chimarang

Pe’chi Perok

Papan

Grarue

Meng Choo

Lyo

Johore

Jelutong

Santi

Raya (& Sening)
Sening (& Raya)
Lebam
Chemarang

Pecha Periok
(& Tembaga)

Papan (Mengchoh
& Layu)

?
Mengchoh (Papan &
Layu)

Layu (Papan &
Mengchoh)

?Johore

none

Goo Loon Hee

Koo Leng Kee
Koo Seng Oon

Koo Leng Kee
? Koo Seng Oon

Ng Gek Kang
Ng Ah Mang (k)

Tiong Sit

Tiong Luat
Tiong Yau Hoon
Ngiu Chee Kor
Ngiu Tiang Teck

Ngiu Chee Kor
Ngiu Tiang Teck

Ngiu Chee Kor
Ngiu Tiang Teck

None

SKMK -1 No. 38
8 July 1863

SKMK -1 No. 37
5 June 1863

SKMK -1No. 37
5 Junc 1863

SKMK -1 No. 104
21 March 1875
SKMK -1 No. 104
21 March 1875

SKMK -1No. 11
16 Oct. 1852

SKMK -1 No. 55
3 March 1864

SKMK -1 No. 55
3 March 1864

SKMK -1 No. 55
3 March 1864




SSD JAR
Kangchu River River Kongsi Source

Eu Layang Sayang Timoan Temon Ng Yang Lek SKMK -1 No.27
Ng Ah Lee 25 Sept. 1860 &
Ng Ah Kun SJBNo. 3,4 Sept. 1868
Ng Yok Seng SIBNo. 12,3 Oct. 1871
Ng Ton SJB No. 18, 15 July 1873
Ng Yong Wan (k)

Tan Chew Wan Nipah Nipah Tan Chiu Kuan SKMK -1No. 25

9 March 1862
Tan Tean Nahak Silooyut Seluyut Tan Tin Mok ? SKMK -1 No. 25

Tan Teck Sing

Ang Ack Sing.

Tan Twaet Tow
Kee Ah Yang

Tanjong Pootus

Perseesei

Libah
Samangah

Tanjong Putus
(Panti)

Persisek
(Panti)

)

Semanggar

Tan Teck Seng

Ng Hock Seng
Ng Ah San (k)
Ng See Tong
Ng Ah Swee
Ng Seng Heng

Kee Ah Yang (k)
Kee Ah Koi
Kee Heng Huat
Nong Yahya

9 March 1862

SKMK~1 No. 10
3 August 1874

[ SKMK -1 No. 73
22 May 1866

SKMK -1 No. 82
20 Sept. 1866




Seah Yew Sah

Tan Yok Tye

Tan Bwoan Tye

Tan Tean Ee
Tan Ang Tye

Lim Tchyong

Lim Keep Soon
Seah Ling Wat
Woo Kwong Tye

Tan Chin Peow

Ching Kedang

Pankalong Putai

Brengan

Serayah
Raidan

Teerum Tingah

Teerum Elier

Kong Kong

Kong Kim

Booloo

Telar

2
Bukit Berangan
2

Redan

Tiram Uly

Tiram Hilir
Kong Kong, (Kering
kim & Tukang)

Keringkim (Kong
Kong & Tukang)?

Buloh Besar

Seah Yau Sah
Scah Tee Seng
alias

Scah Chiu Hong
Seah Chee Yang

Tan Ban Tee

Yang Ah Yang
Tan Ah Tim?

Lim Ban Soon (k)
Lim Ah Sui

Lim Gee Sok
Lim Chai Wong
Lim Ak Sui

Lim But

Lim Kiok Soon
Lim Seng Lee

Tan Hiok Nee

Tan Hiok Nee

Tan Ah Ji
Tan Ann (k)

SJB No. 8

26 March 1871
also SJB No. 77
20 Jan. 1884

SKMK -1No. 79
22 August 1866

SKMK -1 No. 34
17 March 1862

SKMK -1 No. 51
4 Jan. 1864

SJB No. 26

28 April 1874

SKMK -1 No. 64
16 Jan. 1865

SKMK-1No. 45
5 Sept. 1863
SKMK -1 No. 45
5 Sept. 1863

SKMK-1No.9
29 Nov. 1845




SSD JAR
Kangchu River River Kongsi Source
Lee Kik Soon Massai Masai Lee Kek Soon (k) SKMK -1 No.76
Lee Kek Lee 18 June 1866
Lee Kiok Lee
Lee Kiok Loi
Goh Joon Hue
Gok Soon Long Ko Longkor Lee Gek Soon SKMK -1 No. 39
Lee Cheo Guan 24 July 1863
also SJB No. 33
27 May 1875
Ting Meah Pees Long Chew Lunchu ? Chin Ah Lin SKMK -1 No. 6
(& Paksi) Kee Nga 27 Oct. 1845
Ah Tin
Ah Yoo
AhJi
Ang Yeong Tuen Railway Sekudai ? *Tan Hiok Nee? SJBNo.9
(right bank, down- 22 April 1871 &
stream) SJBNo. I5
28 April 1873
Tan Ah Tong Railway Sekudai, ulu Tan Ah Tong SKMK -1 No. 138
23 Oct. 1873
Ang Ah Ah Secoodai Sekudai *Seah Tee Heng ? SKMK -1 No.99
19 Oct. 1873




Ang Eye Yew Ding Uloo Danga? Ng Ah Koo SKMK -1 No. 61
Ng Chai Chang 13 July 1864
Ang Ting Kak Ding Elier Danga? Ng Ah Koo SKMK -1 No. 61
INg Chai Chang 13 July 1864
Bu Koh Kian Wan Malayu Elier Melayu Ah Meng SKMK -1 No. 28
26 Sept. 1860
Chia Apoo Tik Malayu Uloo Melayu i
Chia Tchew Chee Pandas Pendas Baa Li SKMK-1No.7
Baa Ning 26 April 1846
Ting Song Lie Plantong Pelentong Lim Ah Sooi SKMK -1 No. 93
(Tiram & Pandan) 1 July 1871
Chew Keng Pandan Pandan (Tiram & Lim Ah Soi SKMK -1 No. 93
Pelentong) 1July 1871
Tan My Ah Cha Tubrow Tebrau Shaik Abdul Rahman  |SJB No. 20
bin Mohd. Al-Khatib| 10 August 1873 &
Shaik Mohd. bin Ali  |SPBS No. 2
Al-Tawi (Seah Yau |25 August 1873
Sah) pajak
Tan Chong What Singquan Sengkuang Tio Nguan Lee SKMK -1 No. 52
29 April 1864
Lue Bon Hen Nibong Nibong Lau Boo Nian SKMK -1 No. 92
Lau Boo Tong (k) 15 May 1871




SSD JAR
Kangchu River River Kongsi Source
|
Tan Wee Chen Railway Sckudai? *Tan Hiok Nee? SIBNo. 1
(left bank, downstrez 11 March 1867
& SJBNo. I5
28 April 1873
Seah Ling Tchi Railway Sekudai Seak Ling Chai (ref) SKMK -1 No. 138
23 0c1.1873
Teow Ah Him Poah Tiram Duku Teo Ah Hock SKMK -1 No. 13
(Po’ Besar & Teo Ah Hin 13 July 18457
Po’ Kechil) Tan Soon Heng SIBNo. 10
5July 1871
Tan Ah Kim Teerum Dookoo Tiram Duku Teo Ah Hock SKMK -1 No. 13
(Po' Besar & Teo Ah Hin 13 July 18457
Po’ Kechil) Tan Soon Heng SJB No. 10
5 July 1871
Bu Koh Leoman Glam Pata Tajun Galang Patah Bu Koh Ah Kow SKMK -1No. 12
Bu Koh Ah Noi 11 April 1853
Bu Koh Boo Hin
Ang Yong Nooa Pulai Pulai utu Ng Too Beng (k) SKMK -INo. 19
21 Oct. 1853
Tchew Ming Key Tcho Choh Teng Heng Kee SKMK -1 No. 14

18 April 1853



Tan Nootee

Teow Low Say

Tching Tchan What

Tan Noong Keai

Low Keah Tyng Wat

Low Assat

Law Ah Team

Pontean Kechil

Ayer Etam

Pontean Besar

Bunoot

Kerim Chop

Ayam

Sooloo

Pontian Kechil

Pontian Besar
(Ayer Hitam)

Pontian Besar

Benut

Kerichap

Ayam (Buloh)

Suloh

Tan Moo Kiang
Tan Too Nee!

Chin Ah Chit
Tan Koi Soon

Tan Yong Sck
Chan Kong Chu
Tiong Kan Chang
Chau Ah Hock
Lau Koo Tung

Tan Nong Kia

Lau Kang Foo (k)
Lau Ah Teng

Lau Ah Sad (k)
Lau Ah Kee
Lau Tan Mui

Lau Ah Tiam (k)
Lau Ah Wee
LauAhJi

Lau Ah Koo

SKMK -1 No. 75
21 May 1866

SKMK -1No.81
22 August 1866

SKMK -1 No. 88
25 August 1868

SKMK -1 No. 96
1S April 1873

SKMK -1 No. 71
29 April 1864

SKMK-1No.72
29 April 1864

SKMK-1No. 70
29 April 1864

*This association of these three holdings may be mixed up. Tan Hiok Nee had two holdings on Sekudai; Seah Tee Heng had

one. From the available information there is no way of telling which of the three Railway kangkar they held.




SSD JAR
Kangchu River River Kongsi Source

Low Eye Ow Koris Kuris Lau Kit Ngo (k)? SKMK -1 No.67
Lau Ah Teng 6 Nov. 1865
Lau Ah Kun
Lau Lee Poh
Ali bin Abdul Majid

Bu Koh Tchew Kang | Batu Pahat Rengit Bu Koh Ki Ki (k) SKMK -1 No. 102

(Batu Pahat) Bu Koh Ah Tiam 7Jan. 1874

Lim Ah Sin

Teu Ah Lim Batu Pahat Batu Pahat Tio Ah Lui (k)? SKMK -1No. 65

(Simpang-kiri) Tio Ah Sud 29 March 1865

Tio Ah Liok
Tio Ah Heng
Tio Ah Goo
Tio Ah Cheng
Ungku Abdul Rahman

Tan Ah Bit Railway

Yeo Kik Keo Tubrow Rd. ?

Lim Ah Sway Teerum Rd. Tiram ulu Lim Ah Swee SJB Nos. 24 & 25
Lim Chai Wong 23 April 1874

SJBNo. 26
28 April 1874




Glossary

Unless otherwise stated, all words defined below are Malay. Chinese
terms are designated by “Ch.". Where possible the Chinese characters have
also been given. All Chinese terms are romanized according to their
pronunciation in the Teochew dialect.

amok To attack fiercely in battle; to run “amuck", a
culturally conditioned form of insanity common
among Maulays whereby the disturbed individual
arms himself and then goes out and kills, indiscrimi-
nately, every person that he meets until he himself is

killed.

atap Roofing, thatch, usually made from the fronds of
the nipa palm.

arak Whisky, any distilled alcoholic drink.

bahagian A division, a share.

bangsal Lit. shed, booth, coolie lines; also a plantation.

batin A pagan proto-Malay headman.

beli Buy, purchase. (surat jual-beli — bill of sale)

bendahara Chief minister, commander-in-chief.

bentara Court herald, Johor government minister.

benua Continent, land. (erang benua — land people)

besar Big, great. (orang besar — “‘big man" magnate,
notable)

chandu Opium.

chap Trade mark, seal,

chukang Ch. i # — the name of a kangkar, or river-mouth

scttlement, usually prefixed by a surname, such as
HH i@ . Tan Chukang — peculiar to the pepper
and gambier agriculture of Singapore, Johor, and

Riau.
daing Bugis title of nobility. (also daeng)
dalam Inside, in, interior.
dato’ Grandfather, grandsire; Malay title of distinction.
gadai Mortgage, pawn. (pajak gadai — pawnshop)
getah Sap, latex, rubber. (getah taban — gutta-percha or

Blanca palaguim)

21
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gunong
hikayat
hilir
hui

hulu
hutang
Jawi

Jati
Jennang
Jual

Judi
kampong
kang
Kangchu

kanghar

kanun

kaya

keraja’an
kongkek

kongsi

PRINCE OF PIRATES

Mountain.

History, story.

Down-river

Ch. % — any kind of social organization or
assembly. Also spelt “hue”, “*hooee”, ctc. Often used
to refer to branches of the Chinese Triad. or sceret
societies, e.g. X 3% £ Ngee Heng Hue, or % i &
T'ien Ti Hue, Heaven and Earth Society.

Upriver. Var. of ulu.

Debt, owing, duc.

Arabic script; Malay written in Arabic script.
Pure, native-born,

Assistant to a batin, proto-Malay headman.

Sell. (surat jual-beli — bill of sale)

Gambling, pajak fudi, gambling concession.
Village, Malay settlement.

Ch. # — port or river mouth.

Ch. ift & — Chinese river headman. Peculiar to the
pepper and gambier agriculture of Singapore, Johor,
and Riau in the nineteenth century.

Ch. it ¥ — Lit. “river foot™, the settlement of the
Kangchu, usually located at the foot of the river. Sce
chukang.

Law code.

Rich, wealthy. (orang kaya — magnate, notable,
minor official)

The government.

Ch. 2k} — title of the Chinese Pepper and
Gambicr Socicty of Singapore in the nineteenth
century. It was said to function as a kind of Chamber
of Commerce. It was an organization of pepper and
gambier traders which fixed weights and measures,
settled disputes, fixed prices, and governed economic
relations within the agricultural system.

Ch, 2% i} — here the term generally means a business

or company, ized to capitalize the
revenue farms of the Kangchu. In the nineteenth
century the word was used to describe a wide range
of communal cfforts (usually economic, but not




GLOSSARY

kuala
laksamana
laut

luar
menaban
muda
negeri
orang
padang

pajak
pegangan
penggawa
pengulu
perahu

peranakan

perompak
pulau
pukat
ra‘ayat

sejarah
selat
shahbandar

29

always) such as Chinese sccret societies, groups of
miners, the long row-houses inhabited by any kind of
labourers, etc. Today the word means any kind of
small business.

River mouth, confluence, swamp.,

Admiral, eighteenth-century Malay court official.
The sca. (orang laut, sea nomads, sca gypsies, sca
peoples)

Outside, exterior.

(v) To gather getah taban or gutta-percha.

Young, minor. (raja muda, heir apparent)
Country, state, nation.

Man, people, human being.

Open ficld used for a public mecting-place, markets,
fairs, and sports.

Monopoly. (surat pajak, monopoly lease)

Holding, feudal territory.

Government official, clerk.

Headman of a small district or of a river.

Malay canoe, usually about twenty feet long and
capable of carrying seven or cight men, There were
also larger versions of this vessel used for warfare
and raiding. These had a burden of about a thousand
pounds, and were capable of carrying twenty men
and two or three small cannons.

A person who has been locally born. Here, this
generally refers to Bugis who had been born at Riau
and distinguishes them from the native Bugis, or jari,
and from the Malays.

Pirate, sea rover, raider.

Island

Chinese junk or coasting vessel, sampan pukar.
The people, the common people, the masses. (orang

ra'ayat — the subject class; ra'ayar laur — sea
peoples)

History, story.

Strait.

Harbour master.
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suku
sungai
Surat

taban
tanah

tanjong

taukeh

tawarikh
temenggong

tope
tuah
tuan

tun
tungku

ulu

ungku

wan

yamtuan

yang di-pertuan

PRINCE OF PIRATES

Clan or tribe of proto-Malay people.

River.

Letter or official document. (surat sungai — “river
document™, the document given by the ruler of Johor
to the Chinese Kangchu which authorized him to
open pepper and gambicr plantations within a
given watershed)

A tree whose sap yiclds gutta-percha.

Land, carth, country. (tanah Melayu — land of the
Malays)

A peninsula or any picce of land surrounded by
water on three sides. It is also applied to the land
enclosed by a bend in a river or an outcropping of a
hill.

Ch. % % — Chinese merchant, trader, financier,
capitalist, boss.

History.

Police chief, port official, Malay minister in charge of
defence and markets.

Siamese or Victnamese junk or trading vessel.

Old, aged — of people. (orang tuah — old man)
Gentleman, lord; polite form of address to a
superior.

Malay prince.

Malay prince of royal blood. Also ungku.

Up-river or up-country. Also hulu.

Malay prince of royal blood. Var. of tungku.
Malay princely title.

Var. of yang di-pertuan

Lit. “*he who is made lord™, official title of a ruler or
Sultan. (yang di-pertuan besar — Sultan; yang di-
pertuan muda — heir-apparent) In cighteenth-century
Riau, this title was held by the Bugis prime minister.
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